



Doctoral Program in Agrifood and Environmental Sciences

Giulia Mencattelli

West Nile virus in Italy: beyond the bird routes

Supervisors Dr. Annapaola Rizzoli, Dr. Giovanni Savini Tutor Prof. Roberto Rosà

35° Cycle, 2023

To my grandmother Ada

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research has been financially supported by an international PhD initiative including Fondazione Edmund Mach (FEM), University of Trento (UniTn), Istituto Zooprofilattico of Teramo (IZSAM), and Institut Pasteur de Dakar (IPD). I would like to give a thanks to all the partners included in this initiative because they made my project possible.

I would like to give a special thanks to my supervisors, Annapaola Rizzoli (FEM), Roberto Rosà (Unitn), and Giovanni Savini (IZSAM), for their invaluable advice, continuous support, and patience during my PhD study. Their immense knowledge, plentiful experience, kindness, and humanity have encouraged me in all the time of my academic research and daily life. I have been very lucky to have them as my guiding light in this intense and exciting journey.

I would like to thank Giovanni Marini (FEM), Federica Monaco (IZSAM), Oumar Faye (IPD), Moussa Moise Diagne (IPD), and Marie Henriette Dior Ndione (IPD), for their precious technical support and assistance during my PhD.

I would also like to thank all the team members at IZS, with a special thought towards Liana Teodori, Valentina Curini, Federica Iapaolo, Marco Di Domenico, Andrea Polci, Alessandra Leone, Annapia Di Gennaro, Maura Pisciello, Cesare Cammà, Massimo Ancora ... and all the other researchers and technicians who are part of the IZSAM institution and who were always kind and helpful with me. Abruzzo is a beautiful region, beautiful landscape, mountains, sea, arrosticini, and funny people with nice sense of humor. I was really feeling at home, and I want to thank everybody at IZSAM for that. I will miss it. A special thanks to Elisa Mancuso, not only a colleague but a friend, who introduced me to the lovely word of birds, with our first trip together at the ringing station of Ventotene island, which I will never forget. Thanks Eli!

I also want to thank the FEM team, and in particular Gonzalo Cervantes for his IT support, Daniele Arnoldi, always ready to help for the field mission organization, Valentina Tagliapietra, and all the members of the Unit. A special thanks also to Andrea Silverj and Omar Rota Stabelli, for the nice collaboration we had in the last part of my PhD. Andrea is a master in phylogenetic and phylogeographic analyses and we had a lot of fun working together.

A special thanks also to the Institut Pasteur de Dakar teams, and in particular to the Virology and Entomology Unit, with a taught to Dr. Mawlouth Diallo, Alioune Gaye and all the entomologists for the collection of samples, and to Ousmane Faye, Gamou Fall, Martin Faye, Moufid Mhamadi, and all the colleagues of the Virology Unit for their help and support during my activities there. A special thanks to the two Cheikh, Cheik Fall, because he was the first giving me the idea of the subject of my thesis and for the nice conversations we had about politics and society, and Cheikh Tidiane Diagne, because he believed in me when I arrived in Senegal and introduced me to the lovely world of virology.

A special thanks to Marina Rogato and Ilaria Pertot of Unitn, and Elisabetta Perini of FEM for their support in the PhD organization and procedures.

A big thanks to Sandro Pedrini of MUSE and all the people collaborating with him at the ringing station of "Bocca di Caset", among them Franco Rizzoli, Elena Roversi, Federica Bertola, and many many other nice scientists, technicians, and volunteers, who made possible my field sampling missions. It was lovely to be for two consecutive years in that dreaming place!

I want to give a special thanks to my boyfriend Luca Rossi, for always being with me and for his tremendous understanding and encouragement. This PhD has been an intense journey and I have been always traveling and changing places, but he always supported me to complete my study, standing next to me in any difficult and happy moment, so much that he has almost become an expert in West Nile virus too!

I would like to express my gratitude to my family, and, in particular, to my parents and to my sister, who are always there and without whom I wouldn't be the person I am. Thanks to Pallino for transmitting to me his ability of taking life with lightness, his sense of humor, and his attitude of living a life full of adventures and different passions. Thanks to Nina for teaching how important it is to be generous, friendly, and welcoming. Her sensibility and kindness with people will always be an example to me. And thanks to Stellina for her sisterhood, friendship, and for being so funny in her funniest moments. Their constant love is something special.

I would also like to thank all my friends, and in particular "La Tambu", "La Mimmi", Margina, Fili, Lidi, Lulu, Chiari & nanis, Vio, Moni, and all my other many friends I have around the world ... because they are one of the best parts of my life! A special thought goes also towards my uncles and aunts, and, in particular, to my uncle Mauro. A thanks also to Luisa Mucci and Marco Rossi, a second family to me... and to Brunicchio... My perfect cat!

Last, but not least thanks to all the birds that, as the great Franco Battiato used to sing "Aprono le ali Scendono in picchiata Atterrano Meglio di aeroplani Cambiano le prospettive al mondo Voli imprevedibili ed Ascese velocissime Traiettorie impercettibili Codici di geometria esistenziale Migrano gli uccelli migrano....", and constantly spread West Nile, making possible my PhD Thesis.

5

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
ABLE OF CONTENTS
IST OF TABLES
IST OF FIGURES
IST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS
ABSTRACT
CHAPTER 1. General introduction
1.1 Arthropod-Borne Diseases
1.2 West Nile virus
1.2.1 West Nile virus transmission cycle
1.2.2 WNV in humans
1.2.3 WNV genetic organization and viral replication
1.2.4 West Nile virus genetic diversity and distribution
1.2.5 WNV diagnosis and genetic characterization

1.2.6	Aims and objectives:
1.3 Ref	Serences
CHAPTER 2	2. Epidemiology of West Nile virus in Africa: An underestimated threat
2.1 Ab	stract
2.1.1	Background 65
2.1.2	Methodology and principal findings
2.1.3	Conclusions
2.2 Au	thor summary
2.3 Intr	roduction
2.4 Ma	terial and methods 69
2.4.1	Search strategy and selection criteria
2.5 Res	sults
2.5.1	Genomics and phylogeography70
2.5.2	West Nile virus vectors in Africa
2.5.3	West Nile virus epidemiology in African vertebrates
2.5.4	West Nile virus distribution in humans
2.6 Dis	cussion

2.7	Conclusions	118
2.8	Supporting information	120
2.9	Acknowledgments	121
2.10	Author Contributions	121
2.11	Funding1	121
2.12	Competing interests	122
2.13	References	122
CHAPT	ER 3. Novel West Nile virus amplicon-based sequencing approach	146
3.1	Abstract	148
3.2	Keywords	148
3.3	Introduction	148
3.4	Methods	150
3.4	.1 Primers Design for WNV tiled amplicons-based Sequencing systems	150
3.4	.2 WNV primer pools validation	150
3.5	Results	153
3.5	.1 WNV oligonucleotide primers sets	153
3.5	.2 WNV primers sets validation	158

3.6	Discussion	5
3.7	Funding statement	7
3.8	Conflict of interest	7
3.9	Author contributions	7
3.10	References	8
3.11	Supplementary materials19	2
CHAPT	ER 4. West Nile virus: a virtual bridge that links Africa and Europe	8
4.1	Abstract	9
4.2	Keywords	0
4.3	Introduction	0
4.4	Materials and Methods 20	12
4.4	.1 Sample collection in Senegal and Italy	12
4.4	.2 Sample analysis	12
4.4	.3 Sequence retrieval and dataset preparation	13
4.4	.4 Sequence quality-filtering and formatting	4
4.4	.5 Alignment, recombination detection and model selection	15
4.4	.6 Maximum-likelihood phylogenies	15

4.4	1.7 Molecular clock and phylogeographic analysis	. 205
4.5	Results	. 206
4.5	5.1 Genome sequence analysis	. 206
4.5	5.2 Phylogenetic and phylogeographic inferences of WNV	. 206
4.6	Discussion and conclusions	. 213
4.7	Bibliography	. 218
4.8	Supplementary Materials	. 224
4.9	Author contributions	. 225
4.10	Data availability statement	. 225
4.11	Acknowledgements	. 226
4.12	Funding	. 226
4.13	Conflict of interest	. 226
СНАРТ	TER 5. West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Italy: Newly Introduced or a Re-Occurrence	of a
Previou	sly Circulating Strain?	. 228
5.1	Abstract	. 229
5.2	Keywords	. 229
5.3	Introduction	. 229

5.4 Materials and Methods	
5.4.1 Bird conditions and laboratory analyses	
5.4.2 Virus strain and Laboratory Tests (IZSAM)	
5.4.3 Phylogenetic analyses	
5.5 Results	
5.5.1 Strain Characterization and Phylogenetic Analysis	
5.6 Discussion	
5.7 Conclusions	
5.8 Supplementary Materials	
5.9 Author Contributions	
5.10 Data Availability Statement	
5.11 Acknowledgments	
5.12 Funding	
5.13 Conflicts of Interest	
5.14 References	
CHAPTER 6. Origin and Evolution of West Nile virus lineage 1 in Italy	
6.1 Abstract	
	11

5.1	.1 Ba	ackground	
5.1	.2 M	ethodology and principal findings	
5.1	.3 Co	onclusions	
6.2	Key	words	
6.3	Intr	oduction	
6.4	Mat	erials and Methods	
6.4	.1	Sample collection	
6.4	.2	Sample analysis	
6.4	.3	Sequence data preparation and retrieval	
6.4	.4	Sequence data cleaning and formatting	
6.4	.5	Alignment, recombination detection and model selection	
6.4	.6	Maximum-likelihood phylogenies	
6.4	.7	Molecular clock and phylogeographic analysis	
6.4	.8	Full-Length Polyprotein Sequencing	292
6.5	Res	ults	293
6.5	.1	Genome sequence analysis	293
6.5	.2	Phylogenetic Tree Inferred with Maximum-Likelihood Analysis	
			12

6.5	5.3 Phylogeographic analysis of the WNV L1 Western Mediterranean clade	296
6.5	5.4 Amino acid sequence analysis	298
6.6	Discussion	300
6.7	Conclusion	
6.8	Supporting information	
6.9	Author contribution	
6.10	Data availability statement	
6.11	Acknowledgements	
6.12	Funding	
6.13	Conflict of interest	
6.14	References	
СНАРТ	TER 7. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Overwintering in Italy	
7.1	Abstract	
7.2	Keywords	
7.3	Introduction	
7.4	Materials and Methods	
7.4	4.1 Case Report	
		13

7.4	4.2 Laboratory Analyses	320
7.5	Results	323
7.6	Discussion	325
7.7	Conclusions	328
7.8	Supplementary Materials	329
7.9	Author Contributions	329
7.10	Funding	330
7.11	Data Availability Statement	330
7.12	Acknowledgments	330
7.13	Conflicts of Interest	330
7.14	References	330
СНАРТ	FER 8. Epidemiological and Evolutionary Analysis of West Nile Virus Lineage	2 in Italy
	339	
8.1	Abstract	341
8.2	Keywords	341
8.3	Introduction	341
8.4	Materials and Methods	345

8.4.1	Sample and Data Collection	
8.4.2	Sample Analysis	
8.4.3	Epidemiological Data Analysis	
8.4.4	Sequence Data Preparation and Retrieval	
8.4.5	Phylogenetic Analysis	
8.4.6	Ecological and Epidemiological Modelling	
8.5 R	esults	
8.5.1	Epidemiological Scenario	
8.5.2	Genetic Scenario	
8.5.3	Epidemiological and Ecological Modelling	
8.6 D	iscussion	
8.7 C	onclusions	
8.8 Si	upplementary Materials	
8.9 A	uthor Contributions	
8.10	Funding	
8.11	Data Availability Statement	
8.12	Acknowledgments	
		15

8.13	Conflicts of Interest	
8.14	References	
CHAPT	TER 9. West Nile Virus and Usutu Virus: A Post-Mortem Monitoring S	tudy in Wild Birds
from Re	escue Centers, Central Italy	
9.1	Abstract	
9.2	Keywords	
9.3	Introduction	
9.4	Materials and Methods	
9.4	4.1 Animals	
9.4	4.2 WNV and USUV Molecular Detection	
9.4	4.3 Histopathology and Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	
9.4	4.4 Geographical Distribution Analysis	
9.5	Results	
9.6	Discussion	
9.7	Conclusions	
9.8	Supplementary Materials	
9.9	Author Contributions	396

9.10	Funding	397
9.11	Institutional Review Board Statement	397
9.12	Acknowledgments	
9.13	Conflicts of Interest	397
9.14	References	397
CHAPTEI	R 10. General discussion	402
10.1	Recapitulation	402
10.2	Main findings	402
10.3	Conclusion and future perspectives	407
10.4	References	408

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 West Nile virus structural and non-structural proteins and their functions.

Table 2.1 West Nile virus isolation and availability of vector competence studies for different mosquito species in Africa.

Table 2.2 Quantitative information related to WNV vector competence studies carried out on different mosquito species in Africa.

Table 2.3 Viral isolation and laboratory vector competence experiments on hard and soft African ticks.

Table 2.4 West Nile virus records in avian species in Africa.

Table 2.5 West Nile virus records in equids in Africa (period 1975–2015).

Table 2.6 West Nile Virus records in other vertebrate species.

Table 2.7 West Nile virus seroprevalence studies carried out in humans between 1950 and 2019.

Table 3.1 Sequences of the West Nile virus primers sets A and B.

Table 3.2 Inclusivity test of the West Nile virus set A primers.

Table 3.3 Sensitivity test of the West Nile virus set A primers.

Table 3.4 Test of the West Nile virus set A primers with WNV-L1 homogenates. (*Samples with multiple viral species/WNV lineage).

Table 3.5 Test of the West Nile virus set A primers with WNV-L2 homogenates. (*Samples with multiple viral species/WNV lineage).

Table 3.6 Inclusivity test of the West Nile virus set B primers.

Table 3.7 Sensitivity test of the West Nile virus set B primers.

Table 3.8 Test of the West Nile virus set B primers with WNV-L2 homogenates.

Table 3.9 Test of the West Nile virus set A+B primers with WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 homogenates.

Table S3. 1 List of 15 WNV different lineage sequences used to perform a sequence comparison with primer set A.

Table S3. 2 List of 82 WNV L2 sequences used to perform a sequence comparison with primer set B

Table 5.1 Relevant data regarding the isolates used for the present study.

Table 5.2 Amino acid sequence comparison of MW627239 (goshawk, Italy, 2020) and representative WNV-L1 Italian, European, and American strains, conducted using BioEdit v. 7.2 software.

Table 5.3 Nucleotide versus amino acid similarities of representative WNV Italian, European, and American strains.

Table 9.1 Summary of examined avian species, migratory behavior and WNV RT-PCR results. Data on USUV RT-PCR are not included as results were negative for all the birds.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 West Nile virus transmission cycle. Figure 1.1 West Nile virus transmission cycle

Figure 2.1 West Nile virus lineages reported for 17 African countries.

Figure 2.2 Map of West Nile virus distribution in Africa based on sero-epidemiological surveys carried out on humans and animals, and viral isolation in mosquitoes.

Figure S2. 1 Flow chart of the study selection process

Figure 4.1 Phylogenetic inference of West Nile virus lineage 1 strains.

Figure 4.2 Phylogenetic inference of West Nile virus lineage 2 strains. Clusters 1-4 are indicated with C1-4 codes.

Figure 5.1 Geolocation of sites where the two wild birds were found.

Figure 5.2 Maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree of the WNV complete and partial genome sequences analyzed in this study.

Figure 5.3 Maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree of the WNV complete and partial genome sequences analyzed in this study.

Figure 6.1 Geo-localization of West Nile virus Lineage 1 sequenced sample collection sites.

Figure 6.2 Maximum-likelihood tree of West Nile virus Lineage 1 sequences.

Figure 6.3 Phylogeographic analysis of the WNV L1 Western Mediterranean clade.

Figure 6.4 Amino acid sequence analysis.

Figure 7.1 Map of geo-localization site.

Figure 7.2 Evolutionary analysis inferred by using the maximum-likelihood method and the general time reversible model.

Figure 8.1 Geo-localization of WNV L2 sequenced sample collection sites.

Figure 8.2 Mapped WNV cases recorded in mosquito pools, birds, horses, and humans.

Figure 8.3 West Nile virus worldwide time tree.

Figure 8.4 Phylogeographic analysis of WNV L2 sequences, part of the identified Italian clade.

Figure 8.5 Birth-death skyline serial analysis of WNV L2 sequences of the identified Italian clade.

Figure 8.6 WNV circulation suitability.

Figure 9.1 Geographical distribution of sampling sites and positive case location (QGIS map).

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- ABD Arthropod Borne Diseases
- AIC Akaike Information Criterion
- **BIC** Bayesian Information Criterion
 - C Capsid protein
- CAR Central African Republic
- CEC Central European Clade
- CFT Complement fixation test
- CHIKV Chikungunya virus
 - CSF Cerebrospinal fluid
- DENV-2 Dengue 2 virus
 - DRC Democratic Republic of Congo
 - E Envelope protein
 - ELISA Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
 - ER Endoplasmic reticulum
 - FEM Edmund Mach Foundation
 - HIA Haemagglutination-inhibition test
 - IFA Immunofluorescent assay
 - IgM Immunoglobulin M
 - IgG Immunoglobulin G
 - IPD Institut Pasteur de Dakar
- IZSAM Istituto Zooprofilattico of Abruzzo and Molise, Teramo
 - Kb Kilobases

- KDGV Kedougou virus
- KOUTV Koutango virus
 - KUNJ Kunjin virus
 - JEV Japanese Encephalitis virus
 - L Lineage
 - L1a Lineage 1 clade 1a
 - M Membrane protein
 - NGS Next Generation Sequencing technology
 - mNGS Nucleic acids metagenomic
 - NS Non-structural proteins
 - nt Nucleotides
 - ORF Open reading frame
 - PrM Pre-membrane protein
- PRNTs Plaque reduction neutralization tests
 - RNA Ribonucleic acid
- RT-qPCR Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
 - **RVFV** Rift Valley Fever virus
 - SoHO substance of human origin
 - TDR Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases
 - WHO World Health Organization
 - W-Med Western Mediterranean
 - WNF West Nile fever
 - WNND West Nile neurological disease
 - WNV West Nile virus
 - WSLV Wesselsbron virus

- USA United States of America
- USUV Usutu virus
 - UTR Untranslated region
 - YFV Yellow Fever virus
- ZIKV Zika virus

ABSTRACT

Context: West Nile virus (WNV) is an arthropod-borne virus considered a One Health challenge because of its increasing impact on human and animal health. It is one the most widely distributed viruses of the encephalitic *Flaviviruses*. It may cause severe neurological symptoms in humans and animals and is recognized as a serious public health problem also because of its impact on blood transfusion and organ transplantation. First identified in Africa in 1937, it was later introduced and spread in Italy, where in many regions it is now endemic, due to the increasingly favorable climatic and environmental conditions.

Aim: The main objectives of this study, based on an interdisciplinary One Health approach, were: (1) to characterize the geographical distribution within specific host and vector populations in Africa; (2) to describe its phylogeographical patterns between Africa and Europe; (3) to define the genetic structure and epidemiology of Italian WNV strains, giving an insight of the viral circulation dynamics in the Italian territory.

Methodology: Ecological and epidemiological studies were combined with molecular and phylogenetic analyses, carrying out field sampling activities, cellular culture, viral infection, immunofluorescent assay, multiplexed RT-PCR, sequencing, data analysis, and novel technique design. These activities were carried out both in Italy and in Senegal.

Results: Our study evidences: (i) the circulation of several WNV lineages [Lineage 1 (L1), 2 (L2), 7 (L7), and 8 (L8)] in the African Continent; (ii) the presence of diverse competent mosquito vectors in Africa, mainly belonging to the *Culex* genus; (iii) the lack of vector competence studies for several other mosquito species found naturally infected with WNV in Africa; (iv) the need of more vector

competence studies on ticks; (v) the circulation of WNV among humans, animals and vectors in at least 28 African countries; (vi) the lack of knowledge on the epidemiological situation of WNV for 19 African countries, and (vii) the importance of carrying out specific serological surveys in order to avoid possible bias on WNV circulation in Africa (objective 1). Furthermore, a new set of WNV L1 and L2 genome-specific primers for tiled-amplicon sequencing have been designed and a consistent dataset of 64 WNV L2 and 31 WNV L1 Italian genomes and of 3 WNV L2 and 7 WNV L1 Senegalese genome sequences from samples collected in Italy and Senegal between 2006 and 2022 has been produced. Twenty more WNV L1 and L2 Senegalese sequences obtained from samples collected in Senegal between 1985 and 2018 have been shared by the Institut Pasteur Dakar of Senegal and added to the dataset. This allowed the conduction of phylogenetic and phylogeographic analyses, evidencing: (viii) the presence of a strong viral connection between Africa and Europe, with intercontinental circulation supported by birds crossing international boundaries while migrating through the African-Eurasian flyways; (ix) the WNV L1 Western-Mediterranean cluster probable spread from Senegal, where the virus was first reported in 1979, to Italy, where the lineage first appeared in Europe in 1998, and to France in 2000, and the presence of back re-introductory events from Italy, Spain, and France to North and West Africa from the 2010s; and (x) the first African introduction of WNV L2 in Europe in Hungary in 2004, possibly from South African countries (objective 2). Our study also gives an insight of the dynamics of the viral circulation in Italy, demonstrating: (xi) the endemic presence of WNV L1 and L2 in part of Italy supported by resident wild birds and vector competent mosquitoes mainly belonging to the *Culex* genus; (xii) the current existence of two diverse WNV L1 strains circulating in Italy, one in the North-East, and one circulating intra-regionally in the Campania region; (xiii) suggested characteristic silent periods observed for WNV L1 in the country, with unnoticed circulation lasting sometimes for more than 10 years; (xiv) the 2022 WNV L1 increasing incidence of neurological disease cases in humans; (xv) the presence of genetically stable WNV L2 strains in Italy

with continuous circulation throughout the time; (xvi) the presence of overwintering mechanisms supported by bird-to bird, rodent-to bird, or mosquito-to bird transmission routes; (xvii) the existence of WNV L1 and L2 co-infections in birds and mosquitoes; (xviii) the existence of a continuous transmission of the two strains between Western Mediterranean countries, supported by short distance migratory birds; and (xix) the crucial importance of the surveillance system other than the strategic role of wildlife rescue centers in monitoring both the introduction and circulation of avian emerging zoonotic diseases in Italy (**objective 3**).

Conclusion: Our work points out the existence of high genetic diversity of WNV strains in Africa, the spread of L1 and L2 strains from Africa to Europe, and the existence of continuous transmission episodes among several Western-Mediterranean countries, with few recently suspected back introductory events from Europe to Africa. The progressive increase of the WNV L2 circulation both temporally and spatially in the Mediterranean countries and the WNV L1 re-appearance in Europe, both associated with a significant impact on humans and animal health, other than the strong WNV incidence in Italy and its endemization in part of its territory, evidence a solid WNV epidemic risk for Italy and a persistent threat for WNV spread into new areas. To predict and control future epidemics, it is crucial to constantly monitor the circulation and evolution of WNV in Europe and Africa, and to implement coordinated surveillance plans in both Continents, even in areas which are not currently affected.

CHAPTER 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Arthropod-Borne Diseases

"Arthropod-Borne Diseases" (ABD) are intended as a group of human and animal infections caused by a series of pathogenic microorganisms transmitted by the bite of hematophagous arthropods or by few other transmission routes [1]. It is commonly known that the infectious diseases transmitted by arthropods are mainly affecting tropical and subtropical regions, nevertheless some of them are still common also in many temperate regions, where, despite being often maintained under surveillance and control, they are becoming a source of rising concern [2]. Indeed, ABD incidence are increasing worldwide, due to several factors such as climate change, population growth, urbanization, and the intensification of global travels [3]. These factors act as drivers for the rapid spread of infections across new areas over their natural range, emerging in countries and continents which have never experienced these diseases before [3]. The threat from new emerging and re-emerging viruses has markedly increased in recent decades. At present, they account for about 50% of the global infectious diseases reported every year to the WHO/TDR (https://tdr.who.int/), comprising 17% of all communicable diseases in humans, and causing one billion cases and one million deaths per year [4]. The "heavy" economic and public health impact of ABD is expected to continue and increase shortly, profoundly restricting the socio-economic status and development of the poorest tropical and subtropical countries. On the other hand, a sudden epidemic of an inexperienced tropical disease occurring in a large city of a developed country could have a devastating impact [2].

One of the most widespread ABD worldwide is West Nile virus (WNV) [5], which was first isolated in 1937 in Uganda [6] and then spread throughout the world [7].

1.2 West Nile virus

WNV is the most widely distributed virus of the encephalitic flaviviruses, belonging to the genus *Flavivirus*, family *Flaviviridae*, and member of the Japanese Encephalitis virus (JEV) serocomplex, that includes other viruses such as Usutu virus, Kokobera, Stratford, Saint Louis encephalitis, Alfuy encephalitis, Murray Valley, and Japanese encephalitis [5,8–11]. It is a vector-borne pathogen of global importance, affecting human and animal populations [12]. WNV was isolated for the first time in Africa in 1937 in the West Nile district of the Northern province of Uganda, following a campaign aimed at monitoring the circulation of the Yellow Fever virus [6]. In the beginning, it was not considered a highly pathogenic virus, but it soon started being detected in many other African countries [11,13,14], then spreading outside East Africa since the 1950s, and soon reaching Europe, America, Asia, and Oceania, becoming a serious public health concern worldwide [15].

1.2.1 West Nile virus transmission cycle

The virus is maintained in nature among vector-competent mosquitoes and a wide variety of reservoir host bird species [16]. The main mosquito vectors belong to the *Culex* complex in Europe [17,18] and in Africa [14,19–21]. Other mosquitoes, such as *Aedes* or *Ochlerotatus* can also act as bridge vectors, although they are considered less efficient transmitters [22,23]. Adult female mosquitoes might take an infected blood meal from a viremic host, contracting the virus horizontally. Mosquitoes can also contract the virus through vertical transmission, during which the adult female mosquito transmits the virus to its offspring, although at low rate [24–26]. Evidence for vertical transmission is proved by the detection of adult male mosquitoes naturally infected by WNV [26]. Once inside the mosquito body, the virus replicates in the midgut cells and moves to the salivary glands, from where it can be transmitted to other hosts during a new mosquito blood meal [22]. Other WNV vectors include ticks, although their vectorial capacity is considered low [14,27,28].

Birds are the main reservoir hosts and ensure the spread of the virus from affected to unaffected regions through their migratory flows [29]. Bird species most involved in the viral cycle are the ones belonging to the order Passeriformes [16], but the virus has been detected also in the orders of Piciformes, Columbiformes, Charadriiformes, Falconiformes, Strigiformes, Anseriformes, Psittaciformes, and Galliformes [5]. Even though the majority of WNV infections in birds are usually mild or asymptomatic [30], some species, such as birds of prey, jays, and crows, are highly susceptible and can develop severe and even fatal encephalitis [16,30,31]. Clinical symptoms associated with WNV infection have been mainly reported in the orders of Passeriformes (corvids, blue jays, magpies) and Falconiformes (birds of prey) in Europe and the USA [32,33]. In Europe, fatal infections have been for example described in European eagles in Spain [34,35], and geese and poultry in Hungary [36]. In Africa, no clinical signs have been reported in birds so far, except one pigeon in Egypt in 1953 [37].

Many other vertebrate hosts, such as reptiles, amphibians, and mammals are susceptible to the virus [38]. Humans and horses are considered dead-end hosts, meaning that they are susceptible to the infection but with a low level of viraemia, being unable to further infect mosquitoes [5,39]. For this reason, the WNV epidemiology is primarily driven by avian hosts and vector mosquitoes, and not by humans, as in the case of other flaviviruses or parasites such as Dengue or Malaria [12,14].



Figure 1.1 West Nile virus transmission cycle.

1.2.2 WNV in humans

WNV is often asymptomatic in humans (80%), however, some infections (20%) can lead to febrile illness (West Nile Fever, WNF), characterized by fevers and maculopapular rash (50% of cases), headache, myalgia, arthralgia, malaise, anorexia, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, abdominal pain, retroorbital pain, pharyngitis, and lymphadenopathy [40–44]. In 1% of these cases, mainly in elderly or immunocompromised people, it can lead to neurological disease (West Nile Neuroinvasive Disease WNND) characterized by encephalitis, meningitis, and acute flaccid paralysis [40–44]. In 0.1% of people, the virus can lead to fatal outcomes [45]. Pancreatitis, orchitis, myocarditis, hemorrhagic fever, nephritis, hepatitis, and rhabdomyolysis may be rare non-neurological infections associated with WNV [42]. A biphasic fever, usually helpful for WNV diagnosis, is an additional characteristic feature [46]. After recovery, patients may present long-term sequelae, such as persistent movement disorders, functional disabilities, weakness, cognitive impairments, and, in some cases, early death [47,48]. WNV is mostly transmitted to humans naturally through mosquito bites. Other transmission routes include the possibility of infection through substances of human origin (SoHO) such as blood transfusion, organ, tissues, or cell transplantation from an infected donor. Breastfeeding and intrauterine transmission have also been documented [49–51]. Technician and laboratory workers may also be infected by WNV during manipulations of infected material through percutaneous injections or potentially through the inhalation of droplets [50–55]. Human behavior can influence the likelihood of contracting WNV disease [14]. In fact, the exposure to mosquito bites, when coupled with the presence of infected mosquitoes and birds, can result in an increased probability of getting infected [14]. The incubation period may vary between 2 and 15 days after exposure to the virus which can last for 3 to 6 more days [14,42]. Acute form of WNV may persist for up to 60 days and can be characterized by a biphasic condition [14]. No treatment or specific prophylaxis has been proven to be effective for WNV infection. The only available therapy is supportive (intravenous fluids, nursing care and pain medication), solely affecting WNV clinical manifestations [43]. Despite the presence of treatments and vaccination in horses, vaccines are still not available in humans [5,52,56].

1.2.3 WNV genetic organization and viral replication

The West Nile virion has an icosahedral symmetry and a diameter of about 50 nm. Its structure is made of an envelope with a nucleocapsid enclosing the genome [57]. Like other Flaviviruses, WNV is a single-stranded, positive-sense RNA virus, constituted of about 11 kilobases (kb), containing one long single open reading frame (ORF) confined at each side by one 5' and one 3' untranslated-region (UTR), respectively [12,58,59]. The WNV 5'UTR region, made of 96 nucleotides (nt) and highly conserved compared to other members of the flavivirus family, contains two stem-loops, the SLA and SLB, involved in viral cyclization, replication, and virulence [60,61]. The single ORF encodes for a polyprotein that is processed in three structural proteins - capsid (C), pre-membrane (prM) and envelop (E) - and seven non-structural proteins (NS1, NS2A, NS2B, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5) [12,62]. Each of the viral proteins, either structural or non-structural, play a different and specific role

in the biology and/or the pathogenesis of WNV infections. The three structural proteins make up the mature virion and are responsible for host specificity, tissue tropism, replication capacity, and cells T and B response induction [63–65]. The non-structural proteins are multifunctional and play critical roles in the viral RNA synthesis, virion assembly, cellular signaling, and in mechanisms of host's immune response evasion [12].

A summary of the structural and non-structural protein functions is shown in Table 1.1.

Proteins	Type of protein	Main functions	References
Capsid (C)	Structural	Genomic RNA packaging into nucleocapsid structures; prM protein translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER).	[61,64,66]
Pre-membrane (prM)/Membrane (M)	Structural	prM: promotes the correct folding of the E protein during transit through the secretory pathway and is involved in the virion assembly; M: small proteolytic fragment of the precursor prM, protects the immature virion from a	[12,61]

Table 1.1 West Nile virus structural and non-structural proteins and their functions

Proteins	Type of protein	Main functions	References
		premature fusion with the host cell.	
Envelop (E)	Structural	WNV cell tropism determination through the binding to entry receptors and the fusion with target cells.	[63–65]
NS1	Non-structural	Virus replication and maturation; innate immune system regulation and evasion; viral stability in the host cells; and complement system down- regulation.	[12,67–73]

Proteins	Type of protein	Main functions	References
NS2A	Non-structural	RNA replication; host immune modulation; induction of inhibition of the host α/β interferon; virus virulence regulation.	[61,74]
NS2B	Non-structural	NS2B/NS3 stable complex formation; cleavage of the flavivirus polyprotein necessary for viral infection; viral replication.	[61,75]
NS3	Non-structural	Protease activity through cleaving the other non- structural proteins from the polyprotein (NS2B/NS3);	[61,62,76–80]
Proteins	Type of protein	Main functions	References
----------	-----------------	---	---------------
		antiviral target (NS2B/NS3);	
		RNA helicase (NS2B/NS4);	
		and NTPase (NS2B/NS5).	
NS4A		Proteolytic processes; virus	
		replication; viral RNA	
		synthesis; immune evasion;	
	Non-structural	viral membrane rearrangement;	[62,76,81–83]
		interferon α/β host response	
		inhibition; NS3 helicase	
		ATPase activity regulation.	
NS4B		Interferon α/β antagonist;	
	Non-structural	Immune evasion; virus	[84]
		replication.	

Proteins	Type of protein	Main functions	References
		Virus replication; RNA	
		capping; evasion of the innate	
NS5	Non-structural	immune response and	[61,64,76,85–88]
		virulence determinant;	
		interferon α/β antagonist	

1.2.4 West Nile virus genetic diversity and distribution

WNV is characterized by high genetic diversity, with a single serotype and at least eight different lineages: Lineage 1 (L1) to Lineage 8 (L8) [89]. The most widespread and pathogenic are L1 and Lineage 2 (L2), responsible for numerous outbreaks and deaths in humans and animals [5,90,91]. L1 is characterized by three clades: a, b, and c [9]. Clade 1a (L1a) is the most widespread in Africa, America, and Europe [9]. Clade 1b, also known as Kundjin virus, has been registered only in Australia [92], while clade 1c is mainly distributed in India [93], showing only one endemic genotype for each of these two countries, probably due to one single successful introduction [11].

L1a has a wide geographical distribution. It was first detected in Northern African countries, causing numerous neurological disorders and deaths in Egypt (1951), Algeria (1994), Morocco (1996), and Tunisia (1997) [36,94], the latter reporting a big number of outbreaks and severe human encephalitis and deaths [41,52,95,96]. It has also been detected in other African countries, such as South Africa [97], Senegal [5,21], Central African Republic (CAR), Kenya, and Cote d'Ivoire, but a significant impact has not been observed in these countries [8,98]. It spread to the Middle East in 1998 (Israel) and to the USA (state of New York) in 1999 [99].

In Europe, WNV L1a was observed for the first time in the middle 1960s in France, Portugal, and Cyprus [100–102]. It re-appeared more than 30 years later in Italy in 1998 and in France in 2000, causing numerous infections among humans and animals [103,104]. The clade responsible for these epidemics belonged to the Western-Mediterranean (W-Med) clade [104]. In the same years, another clade, the Eastern-European clade, was responsible for human infections in Romania (1996) and Russia (1999) [105,106]. In the early 2000s, WNV L1 infections belonging to the W-Med clade were reported again in France and Romania [107,108]. Since 2005, WNV L2 appeared in Europe and co-circulation of both lineages was observed [36,109], with WNV L2 exponentially increasing, and WNV

L1 being reported only sporadically in Spain, France, Portugal, Romania, Bulgaria, Turkey, Cyprus, and Serbia [64,102,110–113].

In Italy, after its first appearance in 1998, WNV L1 re-appeared in 2008 in North-Eastern regions, causing severe infections in humans and horses [114,115], and spread to Southern Italian regions in 2010-11 [116]. Progressively, it started being reported only sporadically in the country in North-Eastern regions (2012–2014, 2017), Sardinia (2015–2016), and Campania (2020) until 2021-22, when it re-emerged causing severe neurological cases and deaths in humans and horses, and infections in wild birds and mosquitoes [117].

L2 emerged around 1936 in Africa, with uncertainties on the exact area of its origin: the most quoted hypothesis is Uganda with few studies addressing South Africa, where it is often detected, probably due to its high circulation and to the efficiency of the public health system [118]. It is characterized by several clades. Clade a, probably originated in Uganda, was first detected in the 1960s and includes a sequence isolated in Uganda in 1963, and two sequences isolated in Senegal in the 1990s. Clade b, probably originated in South Africa in 1949, includes several European and Russian sequences, other than other subclades with sequences from Madagascar and South Africa. Besides clade a and b, an outgroup is formed by a sequence isolated in Uganda in 1937 [118].

In Africa, L2 is endemic in Southern Africa and Madagascar, other than being detected in Mozambique, Botswana, Namibia, Uganda, Senegal, Kenya, and CAR [21,39,119–121]. It was for a long time regarded as less pathogenic than L1, until it provoked severe pathological conditions in South Africa and encephalitis among birds and humans in Europe [5], where it was detected for its first time in Hungary in 2004 [36,122].

The strain, belonging to the Central European clade (CEC), was again reported in Hungary and Austria between 2008 and 2009 [123], in Italy and Greece in 2010 and 2011 [123–126], and in Serbia in 2012 [127], spreading faster to many other European countries [39,94,123]. At the same time, a different

clade, the Russian/Romanian clade, emerged in Russia in 2004-07 [128], spreading to Romania in 2010 [129]. The strain belonging to CEC kept circulating in Europe where an exceptional number of infections occurred in 2018, considered the year with the largest L2 outbreak observed in Central and Southern Europe, with over 2000 symptomatic human cases, most of them reported in Italy [130–132]. More recently, cases were detected in France [102], Germany [133], Czech Republic [134], Netherlands [135], Spain [89], and Italy, the latter being again one of the most affected countries, reporting co-circulation with the L1 strain, and numerous infections in humans and animals [117]. Nowadays, L2 is the most prevalent lineage circulating in the European Continent [102,136].

Other less widespread lineages are L3, also known as Rabensburg virus, present in southern Moravia and Czech Republic [137]; L4, isolated and reported in Russia from ticks, mosquitoes and frogs [138]; L5, isolated in India [93], L6, based on a small gene fragment, isolated in Spain and probably evolving from distinct introductions into the Northern Hemisphere [112], and putative L9, isolated in *Uranotaenia unguiculata* mosquitoes in Austria [139].

While six lineages have been so far identified in Europe [140], in Africa four different lineages have been detected until now: L1, L2, L7, and L8 [147,5]. L7, isolated in ticks and rodents in Senegal [141], and in sandflies in Niger [142], was considered a separate lineage, but it is nowadays classified as a different virus: the Koutango virus (KOUTV) [143].

All lineages are phylogenetically very similar among them, suggesting local and long-range WNV circulation through migratory and resident birds [98,103].

1.2.5 WNV diagnosis and genetic characterization

WNV can be diagnosed by different molecular and serological tests. Serological tests are not able to distinguish WNV different lineages, while rapid molecular tools can be used to recognize the great genetic diversity of the virus [144]. In particular, the reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

(RT-qPCR) assay is a molecular test that allows viral detection (WNA RNA) in the acute phase of the disease. WNV RNA can be present in the urine of patients for several weeks after the symptoms onset while in sera and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) is not always detectable [43].

Serological analyses include i) immunoglobulin M (IgM) antibody capture enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), used to investigate a WNV recent infection, and ii) immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibody sero-conversion (ELISA), used to examine the presence of previous infections [43,46,145]. IgM antibodies appear during the first week of illness (2-8 days), peak at the second week of infection, and slowly decrease, persisting for up to two months in the 50% of patients. IgG antibodies appear after IgM antibodies (generally at 12 days from the beginning of symptoms) and persist for many years after symptomatic or asymptomatic infections [145,146]. Serological tests are not 100% specific and reliable due cross-reactions between diverse flaviviruses [40,46]. Consequently, plaque reduction neutralization tests (PRNTs) are used, only in reference laboratories, to confirm the presence of anti-WNV specific antibodies, detected by ELISA assays, as well as titration method [146]. Besides that, hemagglutination-inhibition test (HIA), complement fixation test (CFT), micro-sphere immunoassay, indirect immunofluorescent (IFA) assays, and virus isolation in Vero, mosquito cell lines, or mice brain tissues are used to detect WNV. However, they are not very convenient because they are time-consuming, characterized by low sensitivity to early infections, and technically difficult [14,146].

Nowadays, many studies within the One Health context are focusing on the design of novel techniques for the characterization of emergent virus diverse strains. The genetic characterization might help to track the routes of viral introduction, being critical in epidemic management. Many approaches can be used to obtain viral whole genomes [147–149]. Among them, the multiplex PCR-based target enrichment or amplicon-based protocol appears to be characterized by high specificity and sensibility,

allowing to directly sequence clinical samples also with low input titers and under resource-limited conditions, as shown during the COVID-19 pandemic, when it was used for the SARS-CoV-2 genomic surveillance [150–153]. Since WNV has a broad range of hosts and a profound impact on human and animal health, it might be the right target for the development of a fast, reliable, and cost-effective sequencing tool.

1.2.6 Aims and objectives:

The main objectives of this study were: (1) to characterize the geographical distribution of WNV within specific host and vector populations in Africa (Chapter 2); (2) to describe WNV phylogeographical patterns between Africa and Europe (Chapter 3 & 4); and (3) to define the genetic structure and epidemiology of Italian WNV strains, giving an insight of the viral circulation dynamics in Italy (Chapters 5 - 9).

1.3 References

- Beugnet F, Marié JL. Emerging arthropod-borne diseases of companion animals in Europe. Vet Parasitol. 2009 Aug 26;163(4): 298–305.
- 2. Romi R. Arthropod-borne diseases in Italy: from a neglected matter to an emerging health problem. Ann Ist Super Sanita. 2010; 46(4): 436–43.
- 3. Baker RE, Mahmud AS, Miller IF, Rajeev M, Rasambainarivo F, Rice BL, et al. Infectious disease in an era of global change. Nature reviews. Microbiology, 20(4), 193–205.
- Nikolay B. A review of West Nile and Usutu virus co-circulation in Europe: how much do transmission cycles overlap? Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 2015 Oct; 109(10): 609–18.

- Fall G, Di Paola N, Faye M, Dia M, Freire CC de M, Loucoubar C, et al. Biological and phylogenetic characteristics of West African lineages of West Nile virus. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017 Nov; 11(11): e0006078.
- Smithburn KC, Hughes TP, Burke AW, Paul JH. A Neurotropic Virus Isolated from the Blood of a Native of Uganda1. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 1940 Jul 1; s1-20(4): 471–92.
- Kramer LD, Styer LM, Ebel GD. A global perspective on the epidemiology of West Nile virus. Annu Rev Entomol. 2008;53: 61–81.
- Berthet FX, Zeller HG, Drouet MT, Rauzier J, Digoutte JP, Deubel V. Extensive nucleotide changes and deletions within the envelope glycoprotein gene of Euro-African West Nile viruses. J Gen Virol. 1997 Sep; 78 (Pt 9): 2293–7.
- Charrel RN, Brault AC, Gallian P, Lemasson JJ, Murgue B, Murri S, et al. Evolutionary relationship between Old World West Nile virus strains. Evidence for viral gene flow between Africa, the Middle East, and Europe. Virology. 2003 Oct 25; 315(2): 381–8.
- Lwande OW, Lutomiah J, Obanda V, Gakuya F, Mutisya J, Mulwa F, et al. Isolation of Tick and Mosquito-Borne Arboviruses from Ticks Sampled from Livestock and Wild Animal Hosts in Ijara District, Kenya. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2013 Sep; 13(9): 637–42.
- May FJ, Davis CT, Tesh RB, Barrett ADT. Phylogeography of West Nile virus: from the cradle of evolution in Africa to Eurasia, Australia, and the Americas. J Virol. 2011 Mar; 85(6): 2964–74.

- Habarugira G, Suen WW, Hobson-Peters J, Hall RA, Bielefeldt-Ohmann H. West Nile Virus: An Update on Pathobiology, Epidemiology, Diagnostics, Control and "One Health" Implications. Pathogens. 2020 Jul 19; 9(7): 589.
- Chancey C, Grinev A, Volkova E, Rios M. The global ecology and epidemiology of West Nile virus. Biomed Res Int. 2015; 2015: 376230.
- 14. Sule WF, Oluwayelu DO, Hernández-Triana LM, Fooks AR, Venter M, Johnson N. Epidemiology and ecology of West Nile virus in sub-Saharan Africa. Parasites & Vectors. 2018 Jul 13; 11(1): 414.
- Pierson TC, Diamond MS. The continued threat of emerging flaviviruses. Nat Microbiol. 2020 Jun; 5(6): 796–812.
- Komar N, Langevin S, Hinten S, Nemeth N, Edwards E, Hettler D, et al. Experimental infection of North American birds with the New York 1999 strain of West Nile virus. Emerg Infect Dis. 2003 Mar; 9(3): 311–22.
- 17. Vogels CB, Göertz GP, Pijlman GP, Koenraadt CJ. Vector competence of European mosquitoes for West Nile virus. Emerg Microbes Infect. 2017 Nov 8;6(11): e96.
- Brugman VA, Hernández-Triana LM, Medlock JM, Fooks AR, Carpenter S, Johnson N. The Role of Culex pipiens L. (Diptera: Culicidae) in Virus Transmission in Europe. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018 Feb 23; 15(2): 389.
- Amraoui F, Krida G, Bouattour A, Rhim A, Daaboub J, Harrat Z, et al. Culex pipiens, an experimental efficient vector of West Nile and Rift Valley fever viruses in the Maghreb region. PLoS ONE. 2012; 7(5): e36757.

- 20. Vermeil C. [New contribution to the study of the Culex pipiens complex in Tunisia]. Bull Soc Pathol Exot Filiales. 1954; 47(6): 841–3.
- 21. Ndione MHD, Ndiaye EH, Faye M, Diagne MM, Diallo D, Diallo A, et al. Re-Introduction of West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Senegal from Europe and Subsequent Circulation in Human and Mosquito Populations between 2012 and 2021. Viruses. 2022 Dec 6; 14(12): 2720.
- 22. Turell MJ, Sardelis MR, Dohm DJ, O'Guinn ML. Potential North American vectors of West Nile virus. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001 Dec; 951: 317–24.
- 23. Turell MJ, Sardelis MR, O'Guinn ML, Dohm DJ. Potential vectors of West Nile virus in North America. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2002; 267: 241–52.
- 24. Anderson JF, Main AJ. Importance of vertical and horizontal transmission of West Nile virus by Culex pipiens in the Northeastern United States. J Infect Dis. 2006 Dec 1; 194(11): 1577–9.
- 25. Anderson JF, Main AJ, Delroux K, Fikrig E. Extrinsic incubation periods for horizontal and vertical transmission of West Nile virus by Culex pipiens pipiens (Diptera: Culicidae). J Med Entomol. 2008 May; 45(3): 445–51.
- 26. Reisen WK, Wheeler SS. Overwintering of West Nile Virus in the United States. J Med Entomol.2019 Oct 28; 56(6): 1498–507.
- 27. Lawrie CH, Uzcátegui NY, Gould EA, Nuttall PA. Ixodid and argasid tick species and west nile virus. Emerging Infect Dis. 2004 Apr; 10(4): 653–7.

- 28. Lwande OW, Venter M, Lutomiah J, Michuki G, Rumberia C, Gakuya F, et al. Whole genome phylogenetic investigation of a West Nile virus strain isolated from a tick sampled from livestock in north eastern Kenya. Parasit Vectors. 2014 Nov 28; 7:542.
- Marini G, Rosà R, Pugliese A, Rizzoli A, Rizzo C, Russo F, et al. West Nile virus transmission and human infection risk in Veneto (Italy): a modelling analysis. Scientific Reports. 2018 Sep 18; 8(1): 14005.
- 30. Gamino V, Höfle U. Pathology and tissue tropism of natural West Nile virus infection in birds: a review. Vet Res. 2013; 44(1): 39.
- Pérez-Ramírez E, Llorente F, Jiménez-Clavero MÁ. Experimental infections of wild birds with West Nile virus. Viruses. 2014 Feb 13; 6(2): 752–81.
- Nemeth NM, Kratz GE, Bates R, Scherpelz JA, Bowen RA, Komar N. Clinical evaluation and outcomes of naturally acquired West Nile virus infection in raptors. J Zoo Wildl Med. 2009 Mar; 40(1): 51–63.
- 33. Ziegler U, Angenvoort J, Fischer D, Fast C, Eiden M, Rodriguez AV, et al. Pathogenesis of West Nile virus lineage 1 and 2 in experimentally infected large falcons. Vet Microbiol. 2013 Jan 25; 161(3–4): 263–73.
- 34. Höfle U, Blanco JM, Crespo E, Naranjo V, Jiménez-Clavero MA, Sanchez A, et al. West Nile virus in the endangered Spanish imperial eagle. Vet Microbiol. 2008 May 25; 129(1–2): 171–8.
- 35. Jiménez-Clavero MA, Sotelo E, Fernandez-Pinero J, Llorente F, Blanco JM, Rodriguez-Ramos J, et al. West Nile virus in golden eagles, Spain, 2007. Emerg Infect Dis. 2008 Sep; 14(9): 1489–91.

- Bakonyi T, Ivanics É, Erdélyi K, Ursu K, Ferenczi E, Weissenböck H, et al. Lineage 1 and 2 Strains of Encephalitic West Nile Virus, Central Europe. Emerg Infect Dis. 2006 Apr; 12(4): 618– 23.
- 37. Taylor RM, Work TH, Hurlbut HS, Rizk F. A Study of the Ecology of West Nile Virus in Egypt1.The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 1956 Jul 1; 5(4): 579–620.
- 38. Rizzoli A, Jimenez-Clavero MA, Barzon L, Cordioli P, Figuerola J, Koraka P, et al. The challenge of West Nile virus in Europe: knowledge gaps and research priorities. Euro Surveill. 2015 May 21; 20(20): 21135.
- 39. Venter M, Swanepoel R. West Nile virus lineage 2 as a cause of zoonotic neurological disease in humans and horses in southern Africa. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2010 Oct; 10(7): 659–64.
- 40. Zeller HG. [West Nile virus: a migrating arbovirus of current interest]. Med Trop (Mars). 1999; 59(4 Pt 2): 490–4.
- 41. Monastiri A, Mechri B, Vázquez-González A, Ar Gouilh M, Chakroun M, Loussaief C, et al. A four-year survey (2011–2014) of West Nile virus infection in humans, mosquitoes and birds, including the 2012 meningoencephalitis outbreak in Tunisia. Emerging microbes & infections. 2018; 7(1): 1–10.
- 42. Kolawole OM, Seriki AA, Irekeola AA, Ogah JI. The Neglect and Fast Spread of Some Arboviruses: A Note for Healthcare Providers in Nigeria. Diseases. 2018 Nov 5; 6(4).
- 43. Parkash V, Woods K, Kafetzopoulou L, Osborne J, Aarons E, Cartwright K. West Nile Virus Infection in Travelers Returning to United Kingdom from South Africa. Emerging Infect Dis. 2019; 25(2): 367–9.

- 44. García-Carrasco JM, Muñoz AR, Olivero J, Segura M, Real R. An African West Nile virus risk map for travellers and clinicians. Travel Med Infect Dis. 2022 Dec 19; 52: 102529.
- 45. Barrett ADT. (2018). West Nile in Europe: an increasing public health problem. Journal of travel medicine, 25(1), 10.1093/jtm/tay096
- 46. Estival JL, Skowron F, Dupin M, Combemale P. [Primary infection with West-Nile virus]. Ann Dermatol Venereol. 2001 May; 128(5): 656–8.
- Hughes JM, Wilson ME, Sejvar JJ. The long-term outcomes of human West Nile virus infection. Clinical infectious diseases. 2007; 44(12): 1617–24.
- Sejvar JJ. The long-term outcomes of human West Nile virus infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2007 Jun 15; 44(12): 1617–24.
- 49. Benjelloun A, El Harrak M, Belkadi B. West Nile Disease Epidemiology in North-West Africa: Bibliographical Review. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2016 Dec; 63(6): e153–9.
- Hayes EB, Komar N, Nasci RS, Montgomery SP, O'Leary DR, Campbell GL. Epidemiology and Transmission Dynamics of West Nile Virus Disease. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005 Aug; 11(8): 1167– 73.
- Hayes EB, O'Leary DR. West Nile virus infection: a pediatric perspective. Pediatrics. 2004;
 113(5): 1375–81.
- Benjelloun A, El Harrak M, Belkadi B. West Nile Disease Epidemiology in North-West Africa: Bibliographical Review. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2016 Dec; 63(6): e153–9.

- 53. Nir Y, Beemer A, Goldwasser RA. West Nile Virus infection in mice following exposure to a viral aerosol. British journal of experimental pathology. 1965; 46(4): 443.
- Control C for D, Prevention (CDC. Laboratory-acquired West Nile virus infections–United States,
 2002. MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report. 2002; 51(50): 1133.
- 55. Control C for D, Prevention (CDC. West Nile virus infection among turkey breeder farm workers– Wisconsin, 2002. MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report. 2003; 52(42): 1017.
- 56. Ulbert S. West Nile virus vaccines current situation and future directions. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2019; 15(10): 2337–42.
- 57. Hayes EB, Sejvar JJ, Zaki SR, Lanciotti RS, Bode AV, Campbell GL. Virology, pathology, and clinical manifestations of West Nile virus disease. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005 Aug; 11(8): 1174–9.
- 58. Tuplin A, Evans DJ, Buckley A, Jones IM, Gould EA, Gritsun TS. Replication enhancer elements within the open reading frame of tick-borne encephalitis virus and their evolution within the Flavivirus genus. Nucleic Acids Res. 2011 Sep 1; 39(16): 7034–48.
- 59. Firth AE, Atkins JF. A conserved predicted pseudoknot in the NS2A-encoding sequence of West Nile and Japanese encephalitis flaviviruses suggests NS1' may derive from ribosomal frameshifting. Virol J. 2009 Feb 5; 6: 14.
- 60. Zhang B, Dong H, Stein DA, Iversen PL, Shi PY. West Nile virus genome cyclization and RNA replication require two pairs of long-distance RNA interactions. Virology. 2008 Mar 30; 373(1): 1–13.

- Fiacre L, Pagès N, Albina E, Richardson J, Lecollinet S, Gonzalez G. Molecular Determinants of West Nile Virus Virulence and Pathogenesis in Vertebrate and Invertebrate Hosts. Int J Mol Sci. 2020 Nov 30; 21(23): 9117.
- Brinton MA. The molecular biology of West Nile Virus: a new invader of the western hemisphere. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2002; 56: 371–402.
- 63. Nybakken GE, Nelson CA, Chen BR, Diamond MS, Fremont DH. Crystal Structure of the West Nile Virus Envelope Glycoprotein. J Virol. 2006 Dec; 80(23): 11467–74.
- Martín-Acebes MA, Saiz JC. West Nile virus: A re-emerging pathogen revisited. World J Virol.
 2012 Apr 12; 1(2): 51–70.
- 65. Colpitts TM, Conway MJ, Montgomery RR, Fikrig E. West Nile Virus: Biology, Transmission, and Human Infection. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2012 Oct; 25(4): 635–48.
- 66. Hunt TA, Urbanowski MD, Kakani K, Law LMJ, Brinton MA, Hobman TC. Interactions between the West Nile virus capsid protein and the host cell-encoded phosphatase inhibitor, I2PP2A. Cell Microbiol. 2007 Nov; 9(11): 2756–66.
- 67. Jastroch M, Divakaruni AS, Mookerjee S, Treberg JR, Brand MD. Mitochondrial proton and electron leaks. Essays Biochem. 2010; 47: 53–67.
- 68. Hall RA, Khromykh AA, Mackenzie JM, Scherret JH, Khromykh TI, Mackenzie JS. Loss of dimerisation of the nonstructural protein NS1 of Kunjin virus delays viral replication and reduces virulence in mice, but still allows secretion of NS1. Virology. 1999 Nov 10; 264(1): 66–75.

- 69. Muller DA, Young PR. The flavivirus NS1 protein: molecular and structural biology, immunology, role in pathogenesis and application as a diagnostic biomarker. Antiviral Res. 2013 May; 98(2): 192–208.
- 70. Chung KM, Liszewski MK, Nybakken G, Davis AE, Townsend RR, Fremont DH, et al. West Nile virus nonstructural protein NS1 inhibits complement activation by binding the regulatory protein factor H. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Dec 12; 103(50) :19111–6.
- 71. Macdonald J, Tonry J, Hall RA, Williams B, Palacios G, Ashok MS, et al. NS1 protein secretion during the acute phase of West Nile virus infection. J Virol. 2005 Nov; 79(22): 13924–33.
- 72. Prow NA, Setoh YX, Biron RM, Sester DP, Kim KS, Hobson-Peters J, et al. The West Nile viruslike flavivirus Koutango is highly virulent in mice due to delayed viral clearance and the induction of a poor neutralizing antibody response. J Virol. 2014 Sep 1; 88(17): 9947–62.
- 73. Suen WW, Uddin MJ, Wang W, Brown V, Adney DR, Broad N, et al. Experimental West Nile Virus Infection in Rabbits: An Alternative Model for Studying Induction of Disease and Virus Control. Pathogens. 2015 Jul 14; 4(3): 529–58.
- 74. Liu WJ, Wang XJ, Clark DC, Lobigs M, Hall RA, Khromykh AA. A single amino acid substitution in the West Nile virus nonstructural protein NS2A disables its ability to inhibit alpha/beta interferon induction and attenuates virus virulence in mice. J Virol. 2006 Mar; 80(5): 2396–404.
- 75. Wahaab A, Mustafa BE, Hameed M, Stevenson NJ, Anwar MN, Liu K, et al. Potential Role of Flavivirus NS2B-NS3 Proteases in Viral Pathogenesis and Anti-flavivirus Drug Discovery Employing Animal Cells and Models: A Review. Viruses. 2021 Dec 28; 14(1): 44.

- 76. Li Z, Zhang J, Li H. Chapter 7 Flavivirus NS2B/NS3 Protease: Structure, Function, and Inhibition. In: Gupta SP, editor. Viral Proteases and Their Inhibitors [Internet]. Academic Press;
 2017 [cited 2023 Jan 5]. p. 163–88. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128097120000071
- 77. Chappell KJ, Stoermer MJ, Fairlie DP, Young PR. West Nile Virus NS2B/NS3 protease as an antiviral target. Curr Med Chem. 2008; 15(27): 2771–84.
- 78. Wengler G, Czaya G, Färber PM, Hegemann JH. In vitro synthesis of West Nile virus proteins indicates that the amino-terminal segment of the NS3 protein contains the active centre of the protease which cleaves the viral polyprotein after multiple basic amino acids. J Gen Virol. 1991 Apr; 72 (Pt 4): 851–8.
- 79. Mastrangelo E, Milani M, Bollati M, Selisko B, Peyrane F, Pandini V, et al. Crystal Structure and Activity of Kunjin Virus NS3 Helicase; Protease and Helicase Domain Assembly in the Full Length NS3 Protein. Journal of Molecular Biology. 2007 Sep 14; 372(2): 444–55.
- 80. Li K, Phoo WW, Luo D. Functional interplay among the flavivirus NS3 protease, helicase, and cofactors. Virol Sin. 2014 Apr; 29(2): 74–85.
- Londono-Renteria B, Colpitts TM. A Brief Review of West Nile Virus Biology. Methods Mol Biol. 2016; 1435: 1–13.
- 82. Shiryaev SA, Chernov AV, Aleshin AE, Shiryaeva TN, Strongin AY. NS4A regulates the ATPase activity of the NS3 helicase: a novel cofactor role of the non-structural protein NS4A from West Nile virus. J Gen Virol. 2009 Sep; 90(Pt 9): 2081–5.

- 83. Ambrose RL, Mackenzie JM. A conserved peptide in West Nile virus NS4A protein contributes to proteolytic processing and is essential for replication. J Virol. 2011 Nov; 85(21): 11274–82.
- 84. Wicker JA, Whiteman MC, Beasley DWC, Davis CT, McGee CE, Lee JC, et al. Mutational analysis of the West Nile virus NS4B protein. Virology. 2012 Apr 25; 426(1): 22–33.
- 85. Li XD, Shan C, Deng CL, Ye HQ, Shi PY, Yuan ZM, et al. The interface between methyltransferase and polymerase of NS5 is essential for flavivirus replication. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2014 May; 8(5): e2891.
- 86. Hall RA, Tan SE, Selisko B, Slade R, Hobson-Peters J, Canard B, et al. Monoclonal antibodies to the West Nile virus NS5 protein map to linear and conformational epitopes in the methyltransferase and polymerase domains. J Gen Virol. 2009 Dec; 90(Pt 12): 2912–22.
- Baleotti FG, Moreli ML, Figueiredo LTM. Brazilian Flavivirus phylogeny based on NS5. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz. 2003 Apr; 98(3): 379–82.
- Best SM. The Many Faces of the Flavivirus NS5 Protein in Antagonism of Type I Interferon Signaling. J Virol. 2017 Feb 1; 91(3): e01970-16.
- Aguilera-Sepúlveda P, Napp S, Llorente F, Solano-Manrique C, Molina-López R, Obón E, et al. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Spreads Westwards in Europe and Overwinters in North-Eastern Spain (2017-2020). Viruses. 2022 Mar 9; 14(3): 569.
- Murgue B, Murri S, Triki H, Deubel V, Zeller HG. West Nile in the Mediterranean Basin: 1950-2000. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2001; 951(1): 117–26.

- 91. Lanciotti RS, Ebel GD, Deubel V, Kerst AJ, Murri S, Meyer R, et al. Complete Genome Sequences and Phylogenetic Analysis of West Nile Virus Strains Isolated from the United States, Europe, and the Middle East. Virology. 2002 Jun 20; 298(1): 96–105.
- 92. Hall RA, Scherret JH, Mackenzie JS. Kunjin virus: an Australian variant of West Nile? Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001 Dec; 951: 153–60.
- 93. Bondre VP, Jadi RS, Mishra AC, Yergolkar PN, Arankalle VA. West Nile virus isolates from India: evidence for a distinct genetic lineage. J Gen Virol. 2007 Mar; 88(Pt 3): 875–84.
- 94. Calistri P, Giovannini A, Hubalek Z, Ionescu A, Monaco F, Savini G, et al. Epidemiology of West Nile in Europe and in the Mediterranean Basin. Open Virol J. 2010 Apr 22; 4: 29–37.
- 95. Triki H, Murri S, Le Guenno B, Bahri O, Hili K, Sidhom M, et al. West Nile viral meningoencephalitis in Tunisia. Medecine tropicale : revue du Corps de sante colonial. 2001; 61(6) : 487.
- 96. Fares W, Gdoura M, Dhrif H, Touzi H, Hogga N, Hannachi N, et al. Genetic characterization of West Nile Virus strains during neuroinvasives infection outbreak in Tunisia, 2018. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2020 Oct 30; 68(4), 2414–2421.
- 97. Venter M, Human S, van Niekerk S, Williams J, van Eeden C, Freeman F. Fatal neurologic disease and abortion in mare infected with lineage 1 West Nile virus, South Africa. Emerging Infect Dis. 2011 Aug; 17(8): 1534–6.
- 98. Burt FJ, Grobbelaar AA, Leman PA, Anthony FS, Gibson GVF, Swanepoel R. Phylogenetic relationships of southern African West Nile virus isolates. Emerging Infect Dis. 2002 Aug; 8(8): 820–6.

- 99. Sejvar JJ. West nile virus: an historical overview. Ochsner J. 2003; 5(3): 6–10.
- Filipe AR, Pinto MR. Survey for antibodies to arboviruses in serum of animals from southern Portugal. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1969 May; 18(3): 423–6.
- Joubert L, Oudar J, Hannoun C, Beytout D, Corniou B, Guillon JC, et al. [Epidemiology of the West Nile virus: study of a focus in Camargue. IV. Meningo-encephalomyelitis of the horse].
 Ann Inst Pasteur (Paris). 1970 Feb; 118(2): 239–47.
- 102. Beck C, Leparc Goffart I, Franke F, Gonzalez G, Dumarest M, Lowenski S, et al. Contrasted Epidemiological Patterns of West Nile Virus Lineages 1 and 2 Infections in France from 2015 to 2019. Pathogens. 2020 Oct 30; 9(11).
- 103. Autorino GL, Battisti A, Deubel V, Ferrari G, Forletta R, Giovannini A, et al. West Nile virus epidemic in horses, Tuscany region, Italy. Emerg Infect Dis. 2002 Dec; 8(12): 1372–8.
- 104. Sotelo E, Fernández-Pinero J, Llorente F, Vázquez A, Moreno A, Agüero M, et al. Phylogenetic relationships of Western Mediterranean West Nile virus strains (1996–2010) using full-length genome sequences: single or multiple introductions? Journal of General Virology. 2011; 92(11): 2512–22.
- 105. Cernescu C, Nedelcu NI, Tardei G, Ruta S, Tsai TF. Continued transmission of West Nile virus to humans in southeastern Romania, 1997–1998. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2000; 181(2): 710–2.
- 106. Platonov AE, Shipulin GA, Shipulina OY, Tyutyunnik EN, Frolochkina TI, Lanciotti RS, et al. Outbreak of West Nile virus infection, Volgograd Region, Russia, 1999. Emerg Infect Dis. 2001; 7(1): 128–32.

- 107. Campbell GL, Ceianu CS, Savage HM. Epidemic West Nile encephalitis in Romania: waiting for history to repeat itself. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001 Dec; 951: 94–101.
- 108. Del Giudice P, Schuffenecker I, Vandenbos F, Counillon E, Zellet H. Human West Nile virus, France. Emerg Infect Dis. 2004 Oct; 10(10): 1885–6.
- 109. Magurano F, Remoli ME, Baggieri M, Fortuna C, Marchi A, Fiorentini C, et al. Circulation of West Nile virus lineage 1 and 2 during an outbreak in Italy. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2012 Dec; 18(12): E545-547.
- 110. Bravo-Barriga D, Aguilera-Sepúlveda P, Guerrero-Carvajal F, Llorente F, Reina D, Pérez-Martín JE, et al. West Nile and Usutu virus infections in wild birds admitted to rehabilitation centres in Extremadura, western Spain, 2017-2019. Veterinary Microbiology. 2021 Feb 24; 109020.
- 111. Napp S, Petrić D, Busquets N. West Nile virus and other mosquito-borne viruses present in Eastern Europe. Pathogens and global health. 2018; 112(5): 233–48.
- 112. Vázquez A, Sánchez-Seco MP, Ruiz S, Molero F, Hernández L, Moreno J, et al. Putative New Lineage of West Nile Virus, Spain. Emerg Infect Dis. 2010 Mar; 16(3): 549–52.
- 113. Casimiro-Soriguer CS, Perez-Florido J, Fernandez-Rueda JL, Pedrosa-Corral I, Guillot-Sulay V, Lorusso N, et al. Phylogenetic Analysis of the 2020 West Nile Virus (WNV) Outbreak in Andalusia (Spain). Viruses. 2021 May 5; 13(5): 836.
- 114. Calistri P, Giovannini A, Savini G, Monaco F, Bonfanti L, Ceolin C, et al. West Nile virus transmission in 2008 in north-eastern Italy. Zoonoses Public Health. 2010 May; 57(3): 211–9.

- 115. Monaco F, Lelli R, Teodori L, Pinoni C, Di Gennaro A, Polci A, et al. Re-emergence of West Nile virus in Italy. Zoonoses Public Health. 2010 Dec; 57(7–8): 476–86.
- 116. Monaco F, Goffredo M, Briguglio P, Pinoni C, Polci A, Iannetti S, et al. The 2011 West Nile disease outbreak in Sardinia region, Italy. Vet Ital. 2015 Mar; 51(1): 5–16.
- 117. Barzon L, Pacenti M, Montarsi F, Fornasiero D, Gobbo F, Quaranta E, et al. Rapid spread of a new West Nile virus lineage 1 associated with increased risk of neuroinvasive disease during a large outbreak in northern Italy, 2022: One Health analysis. J Travel Med. 2022 Nov 4; taac125.
- 118. Ciccozzi M, Peletto S, Cella E, Giovanetti M, Lai A, Gabanelli E, et al. Epidemiological history and phylogeography of West Nile virus lineage 2. Infect Genet Evol. 2013 Jul;17: 46–50.
- 119. Guggemos HD, Fendt M, Hieke C, Heyde V, Mfune JKE, Borgemeister C, et al. Simultaneous circulation of two West Nile virus lineage 2 clades and Bagaza virus in the Zambezi region, Namibia. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2021 Apr 2; 15(4): e0009311.
- 120. Zehender G, Veo C, Ebranati E, Carta V, Rovida F, Percivalle E, et al. Reconstructing the recent West Nile virus lineage 2 epidemic in Europe and Italy using discrete and continuous phylogeography. PLoS ONE. 2017; 12(7): e0179679.
- 121. Jupp PG. The ecology of West Nile virus in South Africa and the occurrence of outbreaks in humans. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001 Dec; 951: 143–52.
- 122. Hernández-Triana LM, Jeffries CL, Mansfield KL, Carnell G, Fooks AR, Johnson N. (2014). Emergence of West Nile virus lineage 2 in Europe: a review on the introduction and spread of a mosquito-borne disease. Frontiers in public health, 2, 271.

- Bakonyi T, Ferenczi E, Erdélyi K, Kutasi O, Csörgő T, Seidel B, et al. Explosive spread of a neuroinvasive lineage 2 West Nile virus in Central Europe, 2008/2009. Veterinary Microbiology. 2013 Jul 26; 165(1): 61–70.
- Bagnarelli P, Marinelli K, Trotta D, Monachetti A, Tavio M, Del Gobbo R, et al. Human case of autochthonous West Nile virus lineage 2 infection in Italy, September 2011. Euro Surveill. 2011 Oct 27; 16(43).
- 125. Papa A, Bakonyi T, Xanthopoulou K, Vázquez A, Tenorio A, Nowotny N. Genetic Characterization of West Nile Virus Lineage 2, Greece, 2010. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011 May; 17(5): 920–2.
- 126. Savini G, Capelli G, Monaco F, Polci A, Russo F, Di Gennaro A, et al. Evidence of West Nile virus lineage 2 circulation in Northern Italy. Vet Microbiol. 2012 Aug 17; 158(3–4): 267–73.
- 127. Petrović T, Blazquez AB, Lupulović D, Lazić G, Escribano-Romero E, Fabijan D, et al. Monitoring West Nile virus (WNV) infection in wild birds in Serbia during 2012: first isolation and characterisation of WNV strains from Serbia. Euro Surveill. 2013 Oct 31; 18(44): 20622.
- 128. Platonov AE, Karan' LS, Shopenskaia TA, Fedorova MV, Koliasnikova NM, Rusakova NM, et al. [Genotyping of West Nile fever virus strains circulating in southern Russia as an epidemiological investigation method: principles and results]. Zh Mikrobiol Epidemiol Immunobiol. 2011; (2): 29–37.
- 129. Sirbu A, Ceianu CS, Panculescu-Gatej RI, Vazquez A, Tenorio A, Rebreanu R, et al. Outbreak of West Nile virus infection in humans, Romania, July to October 2010. Euro Surveill. 2011 Jan 13; 16(2): 19762.

- 130. Pacenti M, Sinigaglia A, Franchin E, Pagni S, Lavezzo E, Montarsi F, Capelli G, Barzon L. Human West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Infection: Epidemiological, Clinical, and Virological Findings. Viruses. 2020 Apr 18; 12(4): 458.
- 131. Riccardo F, Monaco F, Bella A, Savini G, Russo F, Cagarelli R, et al. An early start of West Nile virus seasonal transmission: the added value of One Heath surveillance in detecting early circulation and triggering timely response in Italy, June to July 2018. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin, 23(32), 1800427.
- 132. Barzon L, Montarsi F, Quaranta E, Monne I, Pacenti M, Michelutti A, et al. Early start of seasonal transmission and co-circulation of West Nile virus lineage 2 and a newly introduced lineage 1 strain, northern Italy, June 2022. Eurosurveillance. 2022 Jul 21; 27(29): 2200548.
- 133. Ziegler U, Santos PD, Groschup MH, Hattendorf C, Eiden M, Höper D, et al. West Nile Virus
 Epidemic in Germany Triggered by Epizootic Emergence, 2019. Viruses. 2020 Apr 15; 12(4):
 E448.
- 134. Zelená H, Kleinerová J, Šikutová S, Straková P, Kocourková H, Stebel R, et al. First Autochthonous West Nile Lineage 2 and Usutu Virus Infections in Humans, July to October 2018, Czech Republic. Pathogens. 2021 May 24; 10(6): 651.
- 135. Vlaskamp DR, Thijsen SF, Reimerink J, Hilkens P, Bouvy WH, Bantjes SE, et al. First autochthonous human West Nile virus infections in the Netherlands, July to August 2020. Euro Surveill. 2020 Nov; 25(46): 2001904.

- 136. Veo C, Della Ventura C, Moreno A, Rovida F, Percivalle E, Canziani S, et al. Evolutionary Dynamics of the Lineage 2 West Nile Virus That Caused the Largest European Epidemic: Italy 2011-2018. Viruses. 2019 Sep 3; 11(9).
- Hubálek Z, Halouzka J, Juricová Z, Sebesta O. First isolation of mosquito-borne West Nile virus in the Czech Republic. Acta Virol. 1998 Apr; 42(2): 119–20.
- 138. Lvov DK, Butenko AM, Gromashevsky VL, Kovtunov AI, Prilipov AG, Kinney R, et al. West Nile virus and other zoonotic viruses in Russia: examples of emerging-reemerging situations. Arch Virol Suppl. 2004; (18): 85–96.
- Pachler K, Lebl K, Berer D, Rudolf I, Hubalek Z, Nowotny N. Putative new West Nile virus lineage in Uranotaenia unguiculata mosquitoes, Austria, 2013. Emerging Infect Dis. 2014 Dec; 20(12): 2119–22.
- 140. West Nile Virus spread in Europe phylogeographic pattern analysis and key drivers | bioRxiv
 [Internet]. [cited 2023 Feb 17]. Available from: https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.11.10.515886v1.full
- 141. Fall G, Diallo M, Loucoubar C, Faye O, Sall AA. Vector competence of Culex neavei and Culex quinquefasciatus (Diptera: Culicidae) from Senegal for lineages 1, 2, Koutango and a putative new lineage of West Nile virus. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2014 Apr; 90(4): 747–54.
- 142. Fall G, Diallo D, Soumaila H, Ndiaye EH, Lagare A, Sadio BD, et al. First Detection of the West Nile Virus Koutango Lineage in Sandflies in Niger. Pathogens. 2021 Feb 24; 10(3): 257.
- 143. Genus: Flavivirus | ICTV [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jan 5]. Available from: https://ictv.global/report/chapter/flaviviridae/flaviviridae/flavivirus

- 144. Fall G, Faye M, Weidmann M, Kaiser M, Dupressoir A, Ndiaye EH, et al. Real-Time RT-PCR Assays for Detection and Genotyping of West Nile Virus Lineages Circulating in Africa. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2016; 16(12): 781–9.
- 145. Tardei G, Ruta S, Chitu V, Rossi C, Tsai TF, Cernescu C. Evaluation of immunoglobulin M (IgM) and IgG enzyme immunoassays in serologic diagnosis of West Nile virus infection. Journal of clinical microbiology. 2000; 38(6): 2232–9.
- 146. Dauphin G, Zientara S. West Nile virus: recent trends in diagnosis and vaccine development.Vaccine. 2007 Jul 26; 25(30): 5563–76.
- 147. Chiu CY, Miller SA. Clinical metagenomics. Nat Rev Genet. 2019 Jun; 20(6): 341–55.
- 148. Gaudin M, Desnues C. Hybrid Capture-Based Next Generation Sequencing and Its Application to Human Infectious Diseases. Front Microbiol. 2018; 9: 2924.
- 149. Singh R. R. (2022). Target Enrichment Approaches for Next-Generation Sequencing Applications in Oncology. Diagnostics (Basel, Switzerland), 12(7), 1539.
- 150. Tyson JR, James P, Stoddart D, Sparks N, Wickenhagen A, Hall G, et al. Improvements to the ARTIC multiplex PCR method for SARS-CoV-2 genome sequencing using nanopore. bioRxiv. 2020 Sep 4; 2020.09.04.283077.
- 151. Arana C, Liang C, Brock M, Zhang B, Zhou J, Chen L, et al. A short plus long-amplicon based sequencing approach improves genomic coverage and variant detection in the SARS-CoV-2 genome. PLoS One. 2022; 17(1): e0261014.

- 152. Liu H, Li J, Lin Y, Bo X, Song H, Li K, et al. Assessment of two-pool multiplex long-amplicon nanopore sequencing of SARS-CoV-2. J Med Virol. 2022 Jan; 94(1): 327–34.
- 153. Lambisia AW, Mohammed KS, Makori TO, Ndwiga L, Mburu MW, Morobe JM, et al. Optimization of the SARS-CoV-2 ARTIC Network V4 Primers and Whole Genome Sequencing Protocol. Front Med (Lausanne). 2022; 9: 836728.

CHAPTER 2. EPIDEMIOLOGY OF WEST NILE VIRUS IN AFRICA: AN UNDERESTIMATED THREAT

Plos Neglected Tropical Diseases 16(1): e0010075. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0010075 (2022)

by

Giulia Mencattelli^{1,2}, Marie Henriette Dior Ndione³, Roberto Rosà^{1,2}, Giovanni Marini¹, Cheikh Tidiane Diagne³, Moussa Moise Diagne³, Gamou Fall³, Ousmane Faye³, Mawlouth Diallo⁴, Oumar Faye³, Giovanni Savini⁵, Annapaola Rizzoli^{1,*}

¹ Department of Biodiversity and Molecular Ecology, Research and Innovation Centre, Fondazione Edmund Mach, San Michele all'Adige, Trento, Italy,

² Center Agriculture Food Environment, University of Trento, San Michele all'Adige, Trento, Italy,

³ Department of Virology, Fondation Institut Pasteur de Dakar, Dakar, Senegal,

⁴ Department of Zoology, Fondation Institut Pasteur de Dakar, Dakar, Senegal,

⁵ Department of Public Health, OIE Reference Laboratory for WND, Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e del Molise "G. Caporale", Teramo, Italy

* Corresponding author: Annapaoala Rizzoli (annapaola.rizzoli@fmach.it)

2.1 Abstract

2.1.1 Background

West Nile virus is a mosquito borne *Flavivirus* which has been posing continuous challenges to public health worldwide due to the identification of new lineages and clades and its ability to invade and establish in an increasing number of countries. Its current distribution, genetic variability, ecology, and epidemiological pattern in the African continent are only partially known despite the general consensus on the urgency to obtain such information for quantifying the actual disease burden in Africa other than to predict future threats at global scale.

2.1.2 Methodology and principal findings

References were searched in PubMed and Google Scholar electronic databases on January 21, 2020, using selected keywords, without language and date restriction. Additional manual searches of reference list were carried out. Further references have been later added accordingly to experts' opinion. We included 153 scientific papers published between 1940 and 2021.

This review highlights: (i) the co-circulation of WNV-lineages 1, 2, and 8 in the African continent; (ii) the presence of diverse WNV competent vectors in Africa, mainly belonging to the *Culex* genus; (iii) the lack of vector competence studies for several other mosquito species found naturally infected with WNV in Africa; (iv) the need of more competence studies to be addressed on ticks; (iv) evidence of circulation of WNV among humans, animals and vectors in at least 28 Countries; (v) the lack of knowledge on the epidemiological situation of WNV for 19 Countries, and (vii) the importance of carrying out specific serological surveys in order to avoid possible bias on WNV circulation in Africa.

2.1.3 Conclusions

This study provides the state of art on WNV investigation carried out in Africa, highlighting several knowledge gaps regarding i) the current WNV distribution and genetic diversity, ii) its ecology and transmission chains including the role of different arthropods and vertebrate species as competent reservoirs, and iii) the real disease burden for humans and animals. This review highlights the needs for further research and coordinated surveillance efforts on WNV in Africa.

2.2 Author summary

Since its discovery in the African continent in 1937, West Nile virus expansion and invasion into new regions represent a serious concern today for an increasing number of countries worldwide. Although about 80% of infected individuals are asymptomatic, this zoonotic virus is pathogenic for humans other than for some animal species, displaying a range of clinical manifestation spanning from influenza-like symptoms to severe neurological complication and death. This study provides an updated overview on the current knowledge of WNV epidemiology in each African country, summarizing available data on incidence of the infection in humans and animals, the circulating lineages and clades, other than an updated list of the principal arthropod vectors found naturally infected and the availability of vector competence studies. However, this review highlights also the lack of knowledge regarding the occurrence and intensity of circulation of WNV in many African countries. Therefore, considering the sensitivity of WNV transmission system to climate and other environmental changes, along with the increasing level of interconnections among continents due to globalization, the intensification of the research activities on WNV and a promotion of a coordinated surveillance actions across African and European countries would provide the information of utility for a better evaluation of the actual risk of WNV and disease burden at trans-continental scale.

2.3 Introduction

West Nile virus (WNV) is a mosquito-borne virus, part of the genus *Flavivirus*, family *Flaviviridae* and member of the Japanese Encephalitis virus serocomplex which includes other closely related viruses such as Saint Louis encephalitis, Usutu, Kunjin, Kookaburra, Stratford, Alfuy and Murray Valley encephalitis [1,2]. WNV is endemo-epidemic in Africa, Europe, Middle East, Asia, and the New World, representing an emerging threat for public and animal health due to the continuous expansion of its range [2,3]. The first description of WNV dates back to 1937 when it was reported from Omogo, in the West Nile district of the Northern province of Uganda following a campaign aimed at monitoring the circulation of Yellow Fever virus [4]. The principal vectors of WNV are mosquitoes, mostly belonging to *Culex* spp. and *Aedes* spp. [5]. Other arthropods found naturally infected with WNV are ticks, although their role as competent vector is still not well understood [6,7]. WNV has been identified in several vertebrate species, especially birds belonging to the order Passeriformes [8]. Other species in which WNV has been reported include Piciformes, Columbiformes, Charadriiformes, Falconiformes, Strigiformes, Anseriformes, Psittaciformes, and Galliformes [2]. The role of these species as real competent reservoir hosts has been proved only for a limited subset [7]. Humans, horses, and other vertebrate hosts are considered WNV dead-end hosts, since they are susceptible to the infection but unable to transmit the virus to mosquitoes [7]. WNV infection is mostly asymptomatic, but a range of clinical forms and symptoms are reported for humans, horses, and birds [7]. In humans, around 20% of cases develop influenza-like symptoms (West Nile fever, WNF), while less than 1% develop the West Nile Neuroinvasive Disease (WNND) with encephalitis, meningitis, acute flaccid paralysis, and occasionally death [2]. The severity of symptoms generally depends on WNV strains involved other than to the general physical conditions of the patients [5]. In domestic animals, such as horses, only 20% of WNV-infected individuals show mild symptomatic infections while 1–10% are characterized by severe neurological disease with a mortality rate of about 33% [7]. Among birds, corvids and raptors appear highly susceptible to WNV infection, resulting in higher incidence with severe neurological signs that lead the individuals to death [9,10]. WNV currently includes up to nine phylogenetic lineages, identified through phylogenetic analyses: WNV lineage 1 (WNV-L1) to lineage 9 (WNV-L9) [11]. WNV-L7 has been recently classified as a distinct flavivirus, the Koutango virus (KOUTV) [2,12]. Among all these observed lineages, only WNV-L1, L2, and L8, other than the KOUTV, have been detected in Africa [2]. WNV-L1 and L2 are the most important from the public health point of view because they are most pathogenic and widespread, and implicated in several outbreaks worldwide [3,7]. WNV-L1, mainly diffused in Central and Northern Africa, emerged in Europe in the 1960s [3]. After 30 years of silence, it started causing epidemics in North America, Northern African, Western, and Eastern European countries [3]. The main actor of the European scenario was WNV-L1 up to 2004 when WNV-L2, considered endemic in Southern Africa and Madagascar, was reported for the first time in Hungary [3]. Since 2010, it started causing several outbreaks in central Europe and it is nowadays one of the main lineages responsible for WNV infections in Europe [3,7]. Other less widespread lineages are WNV-L3, also known as Rabensburg virus, present in Czech Republic; WNV-L4, isolated and reported in Russia; WNV-L5, isolated in India and often considered as the clade 1c of WNV-L1, and WNV-L6, based on a small gene fragment, isolated in Spain [1,2]. Finally, putative lineage 9, often considered a sub lineage of WNV-L4, has been isolated from *Uranotaenia unguiculata* mosquitoes in Austria [11]. These lineages, never isolated in Africa, might have evolved from distinct introductions into the Northern Hemisphere [13]. Translocation of diverse WNV lineages from the original ecological niches to new geographic areas is generally thought to occur mainly through migratory birds, although the final chain of events that lead to the introduction or reintroduction of the virus into new continents needs further explanations [7]. For example, phylogenetic analyses revealed that all European WNV-

L1 and 2 strains are derived from a limited number of initial independent introductions, most likely directly from Africa, followed by local amplification and spread [14,15]. WNV current distribution, genetic variability, ecology, and epidemiological pattern in the African continent are only partially known despite the general consensus on the urgency to obtain such information for quantifying the actual disease burden in Africa other than to predict future threats at continental and global scale. Therefore, we performed a systematic review with the aim to provide an updated overview of the current knowledge regarding WNV epidemiology in Africa, its major features in terms of geographical distribution, molecular diversity and phylogeography, principal vectors and hosts, human and animal epidemiological patterns. This information would provide an updated overview and data of utility for better quantifying the actual risk and disease burden in Africa other than predicting future threats at global scale.

2.4 Material and methods

2.4.1 Search strategy and selection criteria

Pertinent articles were searched, screened, and incorporated in the Systematic Review according to PRISMA and QUORUM criteria [16]. Relevant background information was obtained by searching on the PubMed and the Google Scholar electronic databases on January 17, 2020 (n = 375), using the search terms "West Nile virus" and "Africa" with no restrictions on the earliest date of the articles returned. Additional records have been identified through contact with experts (n = 33). Studies were classified by topic (West Nile vector-borne disease) and Continent (Africa). Each search was conducted with common variations of the virus name, specifically: West Nile virus, WNV; and the geographic region intended to be studied, specifically: Africa. Full-text original articles were searched. After removal of duplicates, two reviewers independently screened articles by title and abstract. Finally, pertinent records were selected for full-text screening and, if relevant, included in

the review (for details see S2.1 Fig). Documents were included if containing the following information: i) general overview of WNV features and distribution; ii) WNV phylogenetics, including a description of the biology, phylogenetic and phylogeography of WNV lineages over all continents but focusing mainly on Africa; iii) WNV main vectors and animal hosts; and iv) human epidemiology, with all the information related to the virus and the human infection along with a detailed report of molecular and serological studies. Two reviewers processed the document evaluation based on articles designed for full-text review.

2.5 Results

Article's selection process

We identified 408 articles. After duplicates were removed, the remaining 395 records were screened by title, abstract, and full text, resulting in 84 studies which were finally included into the review. Reference lists of the included studies were further screened for relevant research. Following the same eligibility criteria, 69 citations were incorporated in the study. Finally, a total of 153 studies, including 84 full-text reviewed articles and 69 citations were considered.

2.5.1 Genomics and phylogeography

WNV is a biologically diverse virus, characterized by several genotypic and phenotypic changes [2,7]. Phylogenetic analysis, performed through the construction of evolutionary trees, predicted the time for the WNV most common ancestor (tMRCA) to be between the 16th and the 17th century in Africa [2]. The virus evolution led to the formation of two new branches, one characterized by WNV-L1 and L5, and the other by WNV-L2, L3, L4, L8 and L9 (not enough information is available regarding WNV-L6). WNV-L1 was successfully introduced into Europe in the 1960s while it appeared for the first time in North America in 1999, subsequently becoming endemic across both continents [1].

WNV-L2, after its first appearance in Hungary in 2004, showed multiple introductions into Europe [1,2,17]. WNV-L1 is widespread and frequently associated with symptomatic infections in humans and horses [3]. It includes 3 clades (A, B, and C) and several sub-clades [1,2,15,18]. Only Clade A is widespread in the African continent. Clade A is composed by 6 sub-clusters [14]. Among them, the sub-clusters 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6 have been detected in different areas of the Continent [1]. WNV-L1-Clade A strains belonging to the diverse sub-clusters are all phylogenetically very similar to each other, suggesting local and long-range WNV circulation probably through migratory birds [19]. Following the introduction of WNV-L1 in the New World, a huge number of sequences have been obtained overtime [3,14,20]. Interestingly, phylogenetic analysis demonstrated that the strain *PaH001* isolated in Tunisia in 1997 roots the tree of WNV-L1 circulating in North America [14,21]. Furthermore, phylogenetic and genetic distance studies evidenced that the Tunisian strain *PaH001* is closely related to a group of highly conserved viruses collected in America and Israel between 1998 and 2000, suggesting that viruses circulating in the Middle East / North Africa are related to those circulating in North America [14]. A possible introduction of WNV-L1 in Europe from Morocco is also suspected: the closest ancestor of the European strains could be a Moroccan strain which appears to be closely genetically related to French and Italian isolates (France: 2000, 2006; Italy: 1998, 2008) [3]. Up to date, WNV-L1 has been reported in the following African countries: Algeria, Central African Republic, Egypt, Côte d'Ivoire, Kenya, Morocco, Tunisia, Senegal, and South Africa [1,2,14,15,18,19,21–23]. WNV-L2 was considered for a long time to be less pathogenic than WNV-L1, until it evolved [six amino acid substitutions at the level of the E (V159I), NS1 (L338T), NS2A (A126S), NS3 (N421S), NS4B (L20P) and NS5 (Y254F) proteins] becoming more virulent and causing also severe disease forms in South Africa other than among humans and birds in Europe [2,17,18]. It is now endemic, and it is the most prevalent lineage circulating in several African and European countries [18,24]. In Africa, WNV-L2 circulation has been reported in Botswana, Central

African Republic, Congo, Djibouti, Madagascar, Mozambique, Namibia, Senegal, South Africa, Tanzania, and Uganda [1,2,13,17–19,22,23,25–27]. WNV-L2 includes 4 clades (A-D) all circulating in Africa [17,18,27]. Clade A is characterized by strains circulating in Madagascar, Senegal, and Uganda. Clade B is composed of three main subclades: Cluster 1, 2 and 3. Among them only cluster 3 occurs in Africa (Madagascar, Namibia, and South Africa) [17,27]. Clade C is characterized by strains circulating in Madagascar while Clade D, the most widespread, is composed of strains circulating in Central African Republic, Congo, Namibia, Senegal, South Africa, and Uganda [17,27]. The exact origin of WNV-L2 strains and the following route of introduction into Europe are not clear [3,28]. Detected for the first time in Hungary in 2004, WNV-L2 then spread into many European wetland areas, such as the Aliakmonas Delta in northern Greece (2010), and the Po Delta in northeast Italy (2011) [28]. These areas are along the major flyways of birds migrating from Africa, thus supporting the hypothesis of a possible role of migratory birds for the introduction of WNV from African countries into Europe [12,28]. Additional lineages were discovered in Africa as WNV-L7 (KOUTV) and putative Lineage 8 [12,22]. WNV-L7, reported for many years as a separate lineage of WNV [14], has been recently classified as the KOUTV, which is now considered a distinct flavivirus (https://talk.ictvonline.org/ictv-reports/ictv_online_report/positive-sense-rna-

viruses/w/flaviviridae/360/genus- flavivirus). KOUTV, discovered in the Koutango district of the Kaolack region of Senegal, has been isolated from ticks, rodents, and sandflies [12]. Important studies showed a high virulence of Koutango virus in mice and a potential risk for humans has been highlighted following a severe accidental infection in a Senegalese lab worker [2,22]. KOUTV is exclusively present in Africa, circulating in Senegal, Gabon, Somalia, and Niger [12]. Its invasion into other Continents could represent a possible future threat worldwide. Putative lineage 8 has been isolated from *Culex perfuscus* mosquitoes in 1992 in the Kedougou region of Senegal [22]. It is characterized by low virulence, and this might represent a good feature for making the lineage a good
candidate for a new WNV vaccine [2]. Fig 2.1 shows the currently known WNV lineages reported for 17 countries in Africa.



Figure 2.1 West Nile virus lineages reported for 17 African countries.

Map was generated using publicly available shapefiles, https:// smart.servier.com/category/generalitems/world-maps/. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0010075.g001

2.5.2 West Nile virus vectors in Africa

In Africa, the most widespread WNV vectors mainly belong to the *Culex pipiens* complex (*Cx. pipiens* s.l.) [7,29–31] which includes *Cx. p. pipiens* Linnaeus, *Cx. p. pipiens* biotype molestus Forskal, *Cx. p. quinquefasciatus* Say, *Cx. p. pallens* and *Cx. torrentium* Martini [32,33]. As summarized in Table 2.1, WNV has been isolated from at least 46 mosquito species but studies to assess their vectorial competence have been carried out, between 1972 and 2016, only for 8 mosquito species (*Cx. quinquefasciatus, Cx. univittatus, Cx. vansomereni* Edwards, *Ma. uniformis, Ma. Africana, Cx. pipiens, Cx. theileri*, and *Cx. neavei*) in Madagascar, the Maghreb region (Algeria, Morocco, Tunisia), Senegal, Kenya, and South Africa (Table 2.2) [19,22,23,26,27,29,34–50]. These studies provide evidence of the vector competence of *Cx. pipiens, Cx. quinquefasciatus, Cx. vansomereni, Cx. quinquefasciatus, Cx. theileri*, and *Cx. neavei* mosquitoes in Africa [22,29,33–35,48,51].

Species	Country	Virus isolation	Vector competence experiment	References
Anopheles brunnipes	Madagascar	+	-	[36°,51°]
Anopheles coustani	Madagascar	+	-	[56 ^b]
Anopheles maculipalpis	Madagascar	+	-	[36°,51°]
Anopheles pauliani	Madagascar	+	-	[56 ^b]
Anopheles scotti	Madagascar	+	-	[36°,51°]
Anopheles spp.	Kenya	+	-	[37 ^b]
Aedeomyia africana	Senegal	+	-	[36 ^c ,38 ^a]
Aedeomyia madagascarica	Madagascar	+	-	[56 ^b]
Aedes albocephalus	Madagascar	+	-	[36 ^c]
Aedes (Aedimorphus) dalzieli	Madagascar	+	-	[56 ^b]

Table 2.1 West Nile virus isolation and availability of vector competence studies for different mosquito species in Africa

Aedes juppi + caballus	South Africa	+	-	[34 ^c]
Aedes vexans	Senegal	+	-	[36 ^c ,39 ^a]
Aedes madagascariensis	Madagascar	+	-	[36 ^c ,56 ^b]
Aedes albothorax	Kenya	+	-	[36 [°]]
Aedes circumluteolus	Madagascar, South Africa	+	-	[34 ^c ,36 ^c ,56 ^b]
Aedes aegypti	Madagascar	+	-	[12,35 ^a ,36 ^c ,51 ^c ,56 ^b]
Aedes aegypti	Senegal	-	+ (KOUTV)	[12,54,55]
Aedes africanus	Central African Republic	+	-	[36 ^c]
Aedes spp.	Kenya	+	-	[37 ^b]
Aedes spp.	Senegal	+	-	[12 ^c]
Culex antennatus	Egypt, Madagascar, Senegal	+	-	[36 ^c ,38 ^a ,40 ^a ,48 ^c]
Culex decens group	Madagascar	+	-	[36 ^c ,56 ^b]
Culex ethiopicus	Ethiopia, Senegal	+	-	[36 ^c ,38 ^a]

Culex guiarti	Ivory Coast	+	-	[35 ^a ,36 ^c]
Culex neavei	Senegal, South Africa	+	+	[22 ^a ,34 ^c ,38 ^a ,40 ^a]
Culex nigripes	Central African Republic	+	-	[36 ^c]
Culex perfuscus	Ivory Coast, Central African Republic, Senegal	+	-	[36 ^c]
Culex perexiguus	Algeria	+	-	[23 ^b]
Culex pipiens	South Africa, Egypt, Algeria, Morocco, Tunisia	+	+	[21 ^b ,29,31 ^c ,34 ^c ,36 ^c ,41 ^b ,4 2 ^b ,45 ^c ,48 ^c ,49 ^c]
Culex pipiens spp. torridus	Djibouti	+	-	[26 ^b]
Culex poicilipes	Senegal	+	-	[36 ^c ,38 ^a ,43 ^a]
Culex pruina	Central African Republic	+	-	[36°]
Culex quinquefasciatus	Djibouti, Madagascar	+	+	[26,35 ^a ,36 ^c ,51 ^a]
Culex scottii	Madagascar	+	-	[36 ^c]
Culex spp.	Algeria, Kenya	+	-	[19,37 ^b ,44 ^{a,b}]

Culex theileri	South Africa	+	-	[34 ^c]
Culex tritaeniorhynchus	Madagascar	+	+	[35 ^a ,36 ^c ,38 ^a ,51 ^a]
Culex univittatus	Madagascar, Egypt, Kenya, Namibia, South Africa	+	+	[27 ^{a,b} ,34 ^c ,36 ^c ,45 ^c ,46 ^a ,47 ^{a,} ^b ,48 ^c ,49 ^c ,51 ^a]
<i>Cx. vansomereni</i> Edwards	Kenya	-	+	[50]
Culex weschei	Central African Republic	+	-	[36 ^c]
Coquillettidia metallica	Uganda	+	-	[36 ^c]
Coquillettidia microannulata	South Africa	+	-	[34°,36°]
Coquillettidia richiardii	South Africa	+	-	[34°,36°]
Mansonia africana	Senegal	+	+	[35ª,38ª]
Mansonia uniformis	Senegal, Ethiopia, Madagascar	+	+	[35 ^a ,36 ^c ,38 ^a ,40 ^a ,43 ^a ,51 ^a ,5 6 ^b]
Mimomyia hispida	Senegal	+	-	[36 ^c ,38 ^a]
Mimomyia lacustris	Senegal	+	-	[36 ^c ,38 ^a]

Mimomyia splendens	Senegal	+	-	[36 ^c ,38 ^a]
Mimomyia sp.	Senegal, Kenya	+	-	[36 ^c ,38 ^a]

+ At least one study report with positive results found; — no available studies; ^a = "virus isolation on cell cultures / injection into suckling mice. Viruses detected by immunofluorescence assay using specific mouse immune ascitic fluids"; ^b = "RNA molecular detection"; ^c = "viral isolation, not specified if ^a and/or ^b"; no apical letters = studies indicating only vector competent experiments. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0010075.t001

Country	Days post infection	Infection rate	Transmission rate	Dissemination rate	Species [lineage; virus titer]	References
Madagascar	()	16%	< 16%	()	Aedes aegypti	[35,50]
Madagascar	()	8-86%	2-52%	()	Culex quinquefasciatus	[35,50]
Madagascar	()	10-90%	100%	()	Culex tritaeniorhynchu s	[35,50]
Madagascar	()	51%	100%	()	Culex univittatus	[35,50]
Madagascar	()	43%	()	()	Mansonia uniformis	[35,50]
Algeria, Morocco, Tunisia	3	()	5%	()	Culex pipiens	[29]
Algeria, Morocco, Tunisia	14	()	40%	59·1% - 100%	Culex pipiens	[29]
Algeria, Morocco, Tunisia	21	()	80%	()	Culex pipiens	[29]
Senegal	4	14.28%	()	0%	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L1, Titer 10^6]	[22]

Table 2.2 Quantitative information related to WNV vector competence studies carried out on different mosquito species in Africa

Senegal	8	14.28%	()	0%	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L1, Titer 10^6]	[22]
Senegal	12	25%	()	0%	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L1, Titer 10^6]	[22]
Senegal	15	55%	83.3%	54.5%	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L1, Titer 10 ⁶]	[22]
Senegal	4	0%	()	()	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L2, Titer: 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	8	0%	()	()	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L2, Titer: 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	12	0%	()	()	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L2, Titer: 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	15	6.67%	()	50%	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L2, Titer: 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	4	0%	()	()	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L8, Titer: 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	8	0%	()	()	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L8, Titer: 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	12	0%	()	()	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L8, Titer: 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	15	5.55%	()	100%	<i>Culex neavei</i> [L8, Titer: 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	4	25%	()	0%	Culex quinquefasciatus [L1, Titer 10^6]	[22]

Senegal	8	25%	()	0%	<i>Culex</i> <i>quinquefasciatus</i> [L1, Titer 10^6]	[22]
Senegal	12	25%	()	0%	Culex quinquefasciatus [L1, Titer 10^6]	[22]
Senegal	15	75.86%	()	18.18%	Culex quinquefasciatus [L1, Titer 10^6]	[22]
Senegal	4	0%	()	()	<i>Culex</i> <i>quinquefasciatus</i> [L2, Titer 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	8	0%	()	()	<i>Culex</i> <i>quinquefasciatus</i> [L2, Titer 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	12	0%	()	()	<i>Culex</i> <i>quinquefasciatus</i> [L2, Titer 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	15	5.26%	()	0%	<i>Culex</i> <i>quinquefasciatus</i> [L2, Titer 10^5]	[22]
Senegal	4	0%	()	()	<i>Culex</i> <i>quinquefasciatus</i> [L8, Titer 10^6]	[22]
Senegal	8	0%	()	()	<i>Culex</i> <i>quinquefasciatus</i> [L8, Titer 10^6]	[34,53]

Senegal	12	0%	()	()	Culex quinquefasciatus [L8, Titer 10^6]	[34,53]
Senegal	15	0%	()	()	Culex quinquefasciatus [L8, Titer 10^6]	[34,53]
Senegal	15	0%	()	()	Culex quinquefasciatus [L8, Titer 10^5]	[34,53]
South Africa	21	97%	()	()	Culex neavei	[34,53]
South Africa	13-29	24%	()	()	Culex neavei	[34,53]
South Africa	15-18	4%	()	()	Culex neavei	[34,53]
South Africa	15-18	8%	()	()	Culex neavei	[34,53]
South Africa	17	100%	97%	()	Culex univittatus	[34,53]
South Africa	()	100%	33%	()	Culex univittatus	[34]
South Africa	()	84%	()	()	Culex univittatus	[34]
South Africa	()	41%	()	()	Culex univittatus	[34,52]
South Africa	()	()	0%	()	Culex theileri	[34,52]
South Africa	()	()	25%	()	Culex theileri	[34,52]

Infection rate (number of infected mosquito bodies per 100 mosquitoes tested); Dissemination rate (number of mosquitoes with infected legs/wings); (··) Not defined; 100 mosquitoes infected); Transmission rate (number of mosquitoes with infected saliva per 100 mosquitoes with infected legs/wings); (··) Not defined; [] Lineage and virus titer (PFU/mL). *Cx. pipiens*, characterized by high dissemination and transmission rates, are indicated by numerous reports as the most important vector species of WNV [29,31,34,36,41,42,45,48,49]. High ornithophilic and low anthropophilic *Cx. univittatus* mosquitoes are considered both highly susceptible and efficient transmitters of WNV [34]. WNV vertical transmission has been described under field conditions in *Cx. univittatus* males in the Rift Valley province of Kenya [38]. *Cx. theileri* is a less efficient WNV vector: despite being highly susceptible to the virus it has a lower transmission rate [34,52]. Vector competent experiments highlight that this mosquito species can be infected as much as *Cx. univittatus*, but probably due to its host preferences (less ornithophilic than *Cx. univittatus* and feeding mostly at ground level) there are very few WNV isolates obtained from wild populations, classifying this species as a poor vector [52].

Cx. quinquefasciatus, shown to be a competent species for WNV-L1 and -L8, is widespread in urban environments and active all year-round, and might be considered as another important WNV vector, especially in urban settings [22]. Furthermore, vector competence studies highlighted that *Cx. quinquefasciatus* mosquitoes were not competent for KOUTV [22].

Cx. neavei, attracted by both horses and birds, and widespread in different types of lands, might have a possible role as bridge vectors in the sylvatic transmission cycle [22]. This mosquito species has been shown to be more efficient vectors for WNV-L1 than L8, and to be susceptible to WNV-L2 and KOUTV infections [22]. However, WNV transmission has not been observed for WNV-L2 and KOUTV [22]. As shown in Table 2.2, experimental infections conducted on *Cx. neavei* in South Africa [34,53] showed high transmission rate but a 50% infection threshold, observed after exposing birds with different viraemias to this mosquito species, of 4.4 logs per ml, that was higher than those observed in *Cx. univittatus* mosquitoes (2.1 logs per ml) [53]. Furthermore, the time taken by *Cx. neavei* and *Cx. quinquefasciatus* mosquitoes to develop WNV after infection (extrinsic incubation period, EIP) has been estimated to last 15 days at 27°C [22]. However, the infective life survival rate has been estimated to be comprised between 0.75 and 0.88 for *Cx. neavei* and between 0.87 and 0.88 for Cx. quinquefasciatus mosquitoes [22]. Based on these data, only 1.3% to 10.4% of Cx. neavei and 12.59% to 15.45% of Cx. quinquefasciatus mosquitoes have been estimated to survive at 15 days post infection by the authors of the study [22]. Despite Cx. quinquefasciatus and Cx. neavei mosquitoes being widely distributed in the African continent and their proven competence for distinct lineages of WNV, such findings imply a low probability of WNV transmission to new hosts in the African continent and they might indicate a low impact of Cx. neavei and Cx. quinquefasciatus mosquitoes in WNV circulation in Africa [22]. However, the small number of mosquitoes tested, as reported in reference [22], and the lack of experimental infection at different temperatures would require further studies. Interestingly, KOUTV viral dissemination and vertical transmission have been observed in Ae. aegypti mosquitoes in Senegal [12,54,55] while WNV vector competence experiments have never been conducted for this mosquito species in the African continent. The ability of different mosquito species to transmit specific lineages of WNV highlights a direct correlation between vector competence and genetic variability [22]. Besides mosquitoes, ticks have been suggested as possible WNV hosts in Africa even though they are generally considered less competent as vectors compared to mosquitoes [6,7]. The role of ticks in WNV ecology and transmission is still an open question due to the little number of studies carried out so far on this topic [6,7,36,45,57–62]. Ticks are characterized by a protracted life cycle, holding the virus for a long time [61]. Furthermore, the transstadial maintenance of WNV in hard and soft ticks has been demonstrated [60,63,64]. Particular attention should be given to Ornithodoros savignyi and Argas arboreus ticks as potential vectors of WNV in the African continent. In Egypt, experimental infections of adult soft tick O. savignyi, using a local strain of WNV (Ar-248), showed that the species got infected without being competent. However,

after parenteral infection, *O. savignyi* could transmit the virus to infant mice and WNV isolation could be obtained from its coxal fluid [57].

Argas arboreus ticks are also shown to be WNV competent vectors and vertical and horizontal transmission has been observed for this species. The virus titer was detected to be 10⁴ PFU/mL at 4 days post infection (pi), remaining constant at 10³ PFU/mL from day 6 to day 50 pi. After 20 days from experimental infections, *A. arboreus* adults could transmit the virus to uninfected chickens. Furthermore, F1 *A. arboreus* larvae from WNV experimentally infected females could also transmit the virus to uninfected chickens. WNV was isolated from *A. arboreus* salivary glands, synganglia, and coxal fluids [59]. A large number of ticks are carried around the world by mammals and by birds during their migration paths [61]. Further studies are needed to assess the possible contribution of ticks on the maintenance, transmission, and spread of WNV over long distances and extensive periods of time. Considering that WNV competent hosts are characterized by relatively short viremic duration periods, the role of ticks as WNV vectors should be further evaluated especially for better explaining the biological mechanism which favors virus translocation from the African continent into the others [6,65]. Results of laboratory vector competence experiments and WNV isolation in hard and soft ticks are shown in Table 2.3.

Year	Species	Country	Viral Isolation	Competenc e experiments	WNV Strain / Titer	Infection	Transmissio n	References
()	Ornithodoros capensis	Egypt	+	+	-	Yes	No	[7,36°]
()	Ornithodoros erraticus	Egypt	_	+	()	Yes	No	[36 ^c ,45 ^c ,60 ^a]
1950s	Ornithodoros savignyi	Egypt	_	+	Ar-248 strain	Yes	No	[45 ^c ,60 ^a]
1950s	Ornithodoros savignyi	Egypt	+	+	()	Yes	Yes	[57ª]
1993, 2003	Argas hermanni	Egypt, Senegal	+	+	10 ^{5.5} TCID50/mL	Yes	No	[7,36 ^c ,45 ^c ,59 ^a ,61]
1993, 2003	Argas hermanni	Egypt, Senegal	+	+	10 ^{6·2} TCID50/mL	Yes	No	[7,36 ^c ,45 ^c ,59 ^a ,61]
1993, 2003	Argas persicurs	Egypt, Senegal	-	+	10 ^{5.5} TCID50/mL	Yes	No	[57 ^a ,59 ^a ,61]

Table 2.3 Viral isolation and laboratory vector competence experiments on hard and soft African ticks

1993, 2003	Argas persicurs	Egypt, Senegal	-	+	10 ^{6·2} TCID50/mL	Yes	No	[57ª,59ª,61]
1993, 2003	Argas arboreus	Egypt	-	+	10 ^{5.5} TCID50/mL	Yes	No	[57 ^ª ,59 ^ª]
1993, 2003	Argas arboreus	Egypt	-	+	10 ^{6·2} TCID50/mL	Yes	Yes	[59ª]
()	Rhipicephalu s turanicus	Central African Republic	+	-	-	No	No	[36 ^c ,66 ^a]
()	Rhipicephalu s lunulatus	Central African Republic	+	-	-	-	-	[66 ^ª],IPD ^c
()	Rhipicephalu s muhsamae	Central African Republic	+	-	-	-	-	[12 ^a ,66 ^a],IP D ^c
()	Amblyomma variegatum	Central African Republic, Ivory Coast	+	-	-	No	No	[7 ^c ,36 ^c ,66 ^a],I PD
2010-2012	Rhipicephalu s pulchellus	Kenya	+	_	_	No	No	[62 ^{a,b}]

()	Hyalomma	Africa	+	-	-	No	No	[7 ^c]
2010-2012	Amblyomma gemma	Kenya	+	-	-	No	No	[7 ^c ,62 ^{a,b}]
()	Dermacentor marginatus	Africa	+	+	-	No	No	[7 ^c ,62 ^{a,b}]

2.5.3 West Nile virus epidemiology in African vertebrates

Several avian species are exposed to WNV infection as ascertained through sero-epidemiological studies or virus isolation but only for a subset of species their role as competent reservoir has been tested [7,8]. Susceptibility of birds to WNV infection is dependent on bird species other than to the viral strain involved [10]. In Europe and the United States, Passeriformes and Falconiformes appear to be highly susceptible to WNV-L1 and L2, showing neurological symptoms and variable mortality rates [7,10,67]. On the contrary, clinical signs have been rarely reported in birds in the African continent, with exception of one moribund pigeon affected by WNND in Egypt in 1953 [45].

However, the high viral circulation among birds in Africa is documented by seroprevalence studies carried out in Algeria, Egypt, Morocco, Tunisia, Southern Sudan, Senegal, Madagascar, and South Africa, as summarized in Fig 2.2 and Table 2.4 [34,41,45,56,68–76].



Figure 2.2 Map of West Nile virus distribution in Africa based on sero-epidemiological surveys carried out on humans and animals, and viral isolation in mosquitoes.

Map was generated using publicly available shapefiles, https://smart.servier.com/

Table 2.4 West Nile virus n	records in avian	species in Africa
-----------------------------	------------------	-------------------

Species	Country	Antibodies detection	Viral detection	Case of illness	Experimental infection	References
Acrocephalus gracilirostris	South Africa	+	-	-	-	[34 ^d]
Anas erythrorhyncha	South Africa	+	-	-	-	[34 ^d]
Anas platyrhynchos domesticus	Egypt, Madagascar	+	-	-	-	[45 ^e ,56 ^f]
Anas undulata	South Africa	+	-	-	-	[34 ^d]
Anas platyrhynchos	Tunisia	+	-	-	-	[41 ^f]
Anthus trivialis	Senegal	+	-	-	-	[68 ^f]
Antichromus minutus	Central African Republic	-	+	-	-	IPD ^c
Bubulcus ibis	Egypt, Southern Sudan, Nile Delta, South Africa	+	-	-	+	[34 ^d ,45 ^e ,70 ^g]
Cercotrichas podobe	Senegal	+	-	-	-	[68 ^f]

Cercotrichas galactotes	Senegal	+	-	-	-	[68 ^f]
Cettia cetti	Morocco	+	-	-	-	[71 ^h]
Columba livia	Egypt	+	+	+	+	[45 ^{c,e} ,70 ^g]
Coracopsis vasa	Madagascar	-	+	-	-	[72°]
Corvus corone sardonius	Egypt, Southern Sudan, Nile Delta	+	+	-	+	[45 ^{c,e} ,70 ^g]
Anas platyrhynchos	Tunisia	-	+	-	-	[41 ^b]
Egretta garzetta Linnaeus	Madagascar	-	+	-	-	[72°]
Estrilda melpoda	Central African Republic	-	+	-	-	IPD ^c
Euplectes orix	South Africa	+	-	-	-	[34 ^d]
Falco tinnunculus	Egypt, Southern Sudan, Nile Delta	+	-	-	+	[45 ^e ,70 ^g]
Fulica cristata	South Africa	+	-	-	+	[34 ^d]

Gallus gallus	Egypt; Madagascar; Tunisia	+	+	-	+	[21 ^b ,45 ^{c,e} ,56 ^{b,f} ,73 ^b]
Goose [Anatidae]	Egypt, Madagascar	+	-	-	-	[45 ^e ,56 ^f]
Guinea fowl [Numididae]	Madagascar	+	-	-	-	[56 ^f]
Hippolais opaca	Senegal	+	-	-	-	[68 ^f]
Hirundo rustica	Zimbabwe	-	+	-	-	[74 ^b]
Jynx torquilla	Senegal	+	-	-	-	[68 ^f]
Lanius senator	Senegal	+	-	-	-	[68 ^f]
Meleagris	Madagascar	+	-	-	-	[56 ^f]
Milvus migrans aegyptius	Egypt	+	-	-	-	[45 ^e]
Oena Capensis	Senegal	+	-	-	-	[68 ^f]
Passer domesticus	Egypt, Southern Sudan, Nile Delta, Morocco, Algeria	+	-	-	+	[45 ^e ,70 ^g ,71 ^h ,75 ^e]

Pelecanus onocrotalus	Senegal	+	_	-	-	[76 ^f]
Ploceus cucullatus	Senegal	+	-	-	-	[68 ^f]
Ploceus velatus	Senegal, South Africa	+	-	-	+	[34,68 ^f]
Quelea quelea	South Africa	+	-	-	+	[34 ^d]
Riparia paludicola	Zimbabwe	-	+	-	-	[74 ^b]
Streptopelia vinacea	Senegal	+	-	-	-	[68 ^f]
Streptopelia senegalensis	Egypt, Southern Sudan, Nile Delta, Senegal, South Africa	+	-	-	+	[34 ^d ,45 ^e ,68 ^f ,70 ^g]
Threskiornis aethiopicus	South Africa	+	-	-	+	[34 ^d]
Tchagra australis	Central African Republic	-	+	-	-	IPD ^c
Turdus merula	Morocco	+	-	-	-	[71 ^h]
Turdus philomelos	Algeria	+	_	-	_	[75 ^e]

Urocolius macrourus S	Senegal	+	-	-	-	[68 ^f]
--------------------------	---------	---	---	---	---	--------------------

+ At least one study report with positive results found; — no available studies; IPD: Institut Pasteur de Dakar, Senegal, personal communication. ^a = "virus isolation on cell cultures / injection into suckling mice. Viruses detected by immunofluorescence assay using specific mouse immune ascitic fluids", ^b = "RNA molecular detection", ^c = "viral isolation, not specified if ^a and/or ^b"; antibodies detection via ^d = "hemagglutination-inhibition test (HIT)", ^e = "serological surveys, type of antibodies detection tests non specified", ^f = "epitope-blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)", ^g = "virus-neutralization test (VNT)", ^h = "micro virus-neutralization test (micro-VNT)", ⁱ = "immunoglobulin M (IgM)-specific ELISA", ¹ = "plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT)", m = "Flavivirus microsphere immunoassay (MIA)". Reference numbers with no apical letters refer to experimental infections or cases of illness. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0010075.t004

Among equids, symptomatic infections and fatalities have been reported in Morocco [WNV-L1] and South Africa (WNV-L2) [7,77–79]. In South Africa, WNV-L1 is rare and was detected only once in a lethal neurological case involving a mare and its aborted fetus during an eight yearlong observational study [79].

Seroprevalence studies carried out on horses and other equids and aimed at assessing the circulation of WNV infection have been carried out in Morocco, Tunisia, Egypt, Algeria, Nigeria, South Sudan, Democratic Republic of Congo, Chad, South Africa, Gabon, Côte d'Ivoire, Senegal, and Djibouti, as shown in Fig 2.2 and Table 2.5 [7,13,42,44,61,78–93].

Country	Year of the study	Viral Isolation	Antibody detection	Seroprevalence rate	References
Algeria	1975	-	+	96.6%	[44 ^e]
Chad	2003	-	+	97%	[78 ^{f,n}]
Djibouti	2004–2005	-	+	9%	[78 ^{f,n}]
Democratic Republic of Congo	2004	-	+	30%	[78 ^{f,n}]
Egypt	1963	-	+	54%	[80 ^g]
Gabon	2004	-	+	3%	[78 ^f]
Ivory Coast	2003	-	+	79%	[81 ^f]
Ivory Coast	2003–2004–2005	-	+	28%	[78 ^f]
Morocco	1996 (42 deaths)	+	-	-	[7 ^b]
Morocco	After the epizootic of 1996	-	+	42–57%	[82 ^e]
Morocco	2003 (5 deaths)	+	-	-	[83 ^f]

Table 2.5 West Nile virus records in equids in Africa (period 1975–2015)

Morocco	2010 (8 deaths)	+	-	-	[44 ^f]
Morocco	2011	-	+	31%	[84 ^{f,g}]
Morocco	2018	-	+	33.7%	[42 ^{f,h,m}]
Nigeria	2011–2012	-	+	90.3%	[85 ^{f,i}]
Nigeria	2014	-	+	11.5%	[86 ^g]
Nigeria	2014	-	+	8.5% (donkeys)	[86 ^g]
Senegal	2002–2003, Dakar	-	+	92%	[78 ^{f,1}]
Senegal	2003, Ferlo area	-	+	78.3%	[61 ¹]
Senegal	2005, Senegal river basin	-	+	85%	[87 ^{f,g}]
Senegal	2014, North-west Senegal	-	+	68.7%	[88 ^f]
Senegal	2014, Keur Momar Sarr	-	+	86.2%	[88 ^f]
South Africa	2001	_	+	15% (foals)	[89 ¹]
South Africa	2001	-	+	11% (yearlings)	[89 ¹]

South Africa	2001	-	+	75% (dams)	[89 ¹]
South Africa	2007–2008	-	+	21.8%	[13 ^{f,g}]
South Africa	2008–2015	-	+	7.4%	[79 ^{f,g}]
Tunisia	1980	-	+	0.35%	[90 ^e]
Tunisia	2005	-	+	25%	[91 ^e]
Tunisia	2005	-	+	37% (donkeys & mules)	[91 ^e]
Tunisia	2007	-	+	IgG 30%	[92 ^f]
Tunisia	2007	-	+	IgM 0.78%	[92 ^f]
Tunisia	2008	-	+	27.1%	[93 ^f]

+ At least one study report with positive results found; — no available studies; () specified when not horses ^a = "virus isolation on cell cultures / injection into suckling mice. Viruses detected by immunofluorescence assay using specific mouse immune ascitic fluids", ^b = "RNA molecular detection", ^c = "viral isolation, not specified if ^a and/or ^b"; antibodies detection via ^d = "hemagglutination-inhibition test (HIT)", ^e = "serological surveys, type of antibodies detection tests non specified", ^f = "epitope-blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)", ^g = "virus-neutralization test (VNT)", ^h = "micro virus-neutralization test (micro-VNT)", ⁱ = "immunoglobulin M (IgM)-specific ELISA", ¹ = "plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT)", ^m = "flavivirus microsphere immunoassay (MIA)", ⁿ = "immunoblotting method (WB)." https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0010075.t005. Besides in birds and equids, WNV has been reported in other animal species [94,95]. Fig 2.2 and Table 2.6 summarize the recording of WNV exposure in other vertebrates in African countries although their role in the transmission cycle is not well understood yet [15,19,34,66,77,79,86,88,94–102].

Species	Country	Antibodies detection	Viral detection	Case of illness	Experimental infection	References
African forest buffalo, Syncerus caffer nanus	Democratic Republic of Congo, Gabon, South Africa	+	+	-	-	[95 ¹ ,96 ^b]
African elephant, Loxodonta	Zambia	+	-	-	-	[95 ¹]
Calves, domestic bovid, Bovidae	South Africa	+	+	-	+	[34 ^q ,66 ^q ,96 ^b ,98 ^d ,1 03 ⁿ]
Domestic dog, Canis lupus familiaris	South Africa, Senegal, Botswana	+	+	+	+	[7 ^{p,d,g} ,19 ^{c,r} ,34 ^q ,88f ,94 ^r ,96 ^b ,97 ^{d,g,o,p,q}]
Donkey, Equus asinus	Algeria, Senegal, Nigeria	+	-	-	-	[44 ^e ,86 ^g ,88 ^f]
Fallow deer, Dama dama	South Africa	-	+	-	-	[96 ^b]
Giraffe, Giraffa	South Africa	-	+	-	-	[96 ^b]
Goat, Capra aegagrus hircus	Senegal, Nigeria, South Africa	+	+	-	+	[34 ^q ,88 ^f ,96 ^b ,98 ^d]

Table 2.6 West Nile Virus records in other vertebrate species

Humped camel, Camelus bactrianus	Morocco, Nigeria	+	-	-	-	[86 ^d ,88 ^{f,} 98 ^d ,99 ^{f,g} ,103 ⁿ]
Lemur, Galago senegalensis	Senegal	-	+	-	-	[66 ^c]
Lion, Panthera leo	South Africa	-	+	-	-	[96 ^b]
Livestock	South Africa	+	+	+	-	[79 ^{b,f,g,r}]
Mountain gorillas, Gorilla beringei beringei	Uganda, Rwanda, DRC	+	-	-	-	[95 ¹]
Oxen, Bos	Madagascar	+	-	-	-	[7 ^e]
Pigs, Sus	South Africa	-	-	-	+	[7 ^q ,66 ^q]
Roan antelope, Hippotragus equinus	South Africa	-	+	-	-	[96 ^b]
Small rodents, <i>Rodentia</i>	Nigeria, Morocco, Tunisia, South Africa	+	+	-	+	[77 ^c ,94 ^{d,n,q} ,100 ^{p,q} , 102 ^d]
Wild rodents	Senegal, Somalia, Central African Republic	-	+ (KOUTV)	-	-	[12 ^c]

Sheep, Ovis aries	South Africa, Nigeria	+	-	+	+	[66 ^{o,p,q} ,98 ^d ,101 ^{r,q}]
Kuhl's pipistrelle, Pipistrellus kuhli	Tunisia	+	-	-	-	[102 ^d]
Wildlife	South Africa	+	+	+	-	[79 ^{b,f,g}]
White rhinoceros Ceratotherium simum	South Africa	+				[96 ^f]

+ At least one study report with positive results found; — no available studies ^a = "virus isolation on cell cultures / injection into suckling mice. Viruses detected by immunofluorescence assay using specific mouse immune ascitic fluids", ^b = "RNA molecular detection", ^c = "viral isolation, not specified if ^a and/or ^b"; antibodies detection via ^d = "hemagglutination-inhibition test (HIT)", ^e = "serological surveys, type of antibodies detection tests non specified", ^f = "epitope-blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)", ^g = "virus-neutralization test (VNT)", ^h = "micro virus-neutralization test (micro-VNT)", ⁱ = "immunoglobulin M (IgM)-specific ELISA", ¹ = "plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT)", ^m = "flavivirus microsphere immunoassay (MIA)", ⁿ = "complement fixation test (CFT)"; "Experimental infection" means: ^o = "disease" ^p = "antibodies" or ^q = "attempt without any clinical signs/development of viraemia" ^r = "case of illness". https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0010075.t006.

Several WNV outbreaks in humans were registered in the African continent starting from the 1950s [2,13,21,34,41,44,46,49,104–106]. Neurological cases and fatalities related to WNV-L2 were reported in South Africa (1976, 1980, 1984) while in the Mediterranean basin, hundreds of cases of encephalitis and deaths related to WNV-L1 (clade A) were registered in Tunisia between 1997 and 2018 (1997, 2003, 2007, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2016, 2018) [21,41,44,104,107]. In addition, WNV-L1 human infections were recorded for the first time in 1994 and 1996 in Algeria and Morocco, respectively [44,82,105]. Real time PCR analysis confirmed the WNV circulation in the Central African Republic, Guinea, Ghana, Gabon, Nigeria, Senegal, and Sierra Leone between 1983 and 2020 [26,61,108–112] while serological surveys reported WNV circulation in humans in Algeria, Central African Republic, Democratic Republic of Congo, Egypt, Ethiopia, Gabon, Ghana, Kenya, Madagascar, Mali, Morocco, Mozambique, Namibia, Nigeria, Senegal, Sierra Leone, South Africa, South Sudan, Sudan, Tanzania, Tunisia, Uganda, and Zambia, as shown in Fig 2.2 and Table 2.7 [7,19,21,34,44,45,49,51,61,65,66,69,90,91,103–107,109–147].

Country	Year of the study	Seroprevalence rate	References
Algeria	1965	0%	[44 ^e ,113 ^e]
Algeria	1973, 1975	14.6%	[44 ^e ,113 ^e]
Algeria	1973, 1975	58.3%	[44 ^e ,113 ^e]
Algeria	1973, 1975	3.5%	[44 ^e ,113 ^e]
Algeria	1976	37.5%	[44 ^e ,113 ^e]
Algeria	1976	19%	[44 ^e ,113 ^e]
Algeria	1994	83.3%	[44 ^e]
Burundi	1980–1982	0%	[114 ^e]
Cameroon	1990	0%	[115 ^{f,o}]
Cameroon	2000–2003	6.6%	[116 ¹]
Central African Republic	1964	High arbovirus circulation (··)	[117 ^e]

Table 2.7 West Nile virus seroprevalence studies carried out in humans between 1950 and 2019

Central African Republic	1975–1976	2.3%	[117 ^e]
Central African Republic	1979	WNV-positive results (··)	[118 ^{d,n}]
Democratic Republic of Congo	1998	66%	[119 ⁱ]
Egypt	1950	70%	[105 ^{g,n}]
Egypt	1951–1954	61% (44% < 15 years old; 72% > 15 years old)	[105 ^{g,n}]
Egypt	1952	()	[148 ^e]
Egypt	1999–2002	35% Upper Egypt	[106 ^{f,1}]
Egypt	1999–2002	27% Middle Egypt	[106 ^{f,1}]
Egypt	1999–2002	14% Lower Egypt	[106 ^{f,1}]
Egypt	1999–2002	1% North Sinai	[106 ^{f,1}]
Egypt	1999–2002	7% South Sinai	[106 ^{f,1}]
Ethiopia	1959–1962	()	[149 ^e]
Gabon	1975	()	[121 ^f]
------------	--------------	--	---
Gabon	1975	KOUTV (··)	[12 ^e]
Gabon	21st century	27.2%	[121 ^f]
Ghana	2008	Children: 1.4% IgM, 4.8% IgG; Adults: 27.9%	[109 ^f]
Kenya	1959–1962	()	[149 ^e]
Kenya	1966–1968	3.2% Central Nyanza	[122 ^d]
Kenya	1966–1968	13.8% Kitui District	[122 ^d]
Kenya	1966–1968	65.3% Malindi district	[122 ^d]
Kenya	1987	0.9%	[123 ^p]
Kenya	2009–2012	12.4%	[124 ^f ,125 ^{f,1}]
Kenya	2016–2017	10.2% Turkana	[126 ¹]
Madagascar	Since 1975	()	[51 ^d]
Madagascar	1996	2.1%	[127 ^e]

Madagascar	1999	10.6%	[127 ^e]
Madagascar	2011	IgM antibodies	[128 ^{1,f}]
Mali	2009–20013	0.27% IgM	[129 ^f]
Mali	2009–20013	39.1% IgG	[129 ^f]
Morocco	2011	11.8% (4.5% Meknès; 12% Rabat; 18.8% Kenitra)	[130 ¹]
Morocco	2019	4.39% positive to flaviviruses (75% of which confirmed WNV + by VNT)	[69 ^{f,g}]
Mozambique	2012–2013	0%	[131 ^{f,o}]
Mozambique	()	()	[34 ^e]
Namibia	1983	%	[132 ^e]
Nigeria	1970s	28%	[133 ^d]
Nigeria	1990s	65%	[133 ^d]
Nigeria	2008	25%	[107 ^f]
Nigeria	2011–2012	73.2%	[134 ^{f,l}]

Nigeria	2013	0% IgM	[135 ⁱ]
Nigeria	2016	7.5% IgM	[136 ⁱ]
Nigeria	21st century	1.2% IgM; 80.16% IgG	[7f,1]
Nigeria	21st century	40%	[7d,f]
Senegal	1972–1975	()	[120 ^{d,}]
Senegal	1988–1990	IgM < 15 years old (4.6% out of 456 and 3.5% out of 396 children tested)	[137 ^f]
Senegal	1989	80% (5–15 years old; 45% < 5 years old; 98% > 15 years old)	[61 ¹ ,66 ^f]
Senegal	1991	22.7% of adults; 18% < than 15 years old	[66 ^f]
Sierra Leone	2006–2008	IgG in 50% of patients presenting severe symptoms, IgM 1/4 of them	[111 ^f]
Sierra Leone	2006–2008	1.2% IgM	[138 ⁱ]
South Africa	1950	2.6%	[139 ^e]
South Africa	1960s	4.7%	[140 ^d]

South Africa	()	1%	[141 ^{d,g}]
South Africa	1962–1964	10.22%	[140 ^d]
South Africa	1970s	7% Central Highveld Region; 17% Karoo; 2% Kwazulu Natal	[7f,o]
South Africa	1974	55% - 85%	[19 ^e ,49 ^e]
South Africa	2009	17.47%	[142 ^{f,g}]
South Africa	2017	woman (IgM positive—2 weeks later IgG positive), man (IgM and IgG at 5 days after the beginning of the symptoms)	[143 ^f]
South Sudan	1951–1954	40%	[45 ^e ,105 ^{g,n}]
Sudan	After the epidemics of 1998	59% IgG antibodies	[144 ^p]
Tanzania	1971	17.4%	[145 ^g]
Tunisia	1968	1.80%	[90 ^{d,f}]
Tunisia	1970s	4.7% (3.8% Djerba region; 7.8% Tunis; 7% Gabes; 9% other Tunisian regions)	[91 ^{g,o}]

Tunisia	1997	86%, including 5 fatalities	[7 ^{f,i} ,105 ^{n,n} ,107 ^f]
Tunisia	1997	9 IgM positive results	[7 ^{f,i} ,105 ^{n,n} ,107 ^f]
Tunisia	2007	12.5% (27.7% Kerouan, 7.5% Sfax, 0.7% Bizerte)	[91 ^{g,o} ,104 ^{f,l}]
Tunisia	2018	24%	[21 ⁱ]
Uganda	1984	16% of anti-flavivirus antibodies (probably due to WNV)	[146 ^d]
Zambia	2010	10.3%	[147 ^f]

(\cdot) Not defined; antibodies detection via ^d = "hemagglutination-inhibition test (HIT)", ^e = "serological surveys, type of antibodies detection tests non specified", ^f = "epitope-blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)", ^g = "virus-neutralization test (VNT)", ^h = "micro virus-neutralization test (micro-VNT)", ⁱ = "immunoglobulin M (IgM)-specific ELISA", ¹ = "plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT)", ^m = "flavivirus microsphere immunoassay (MIA)", n = "complement fixation test (CFT)", o = "indirect immunofluorescent assays (IFA)", p = "enzyme immunoassay (EIA)". https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0010075.t007.

On the contrary, no WNV antibodies were detected in sero-surveys conducted in Algeria [113], Burundi [114], Cameroon [115], Mozambique [131], and Nigeria [135]. In more than 20 countries (Angola, Benin, Botswana, Burkina Faso, Chad, Congo Brazzaville, Eritrea, Equatorial Guinea, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Côte d'Ivoire, Lesotho, Liberia, Malawi, Libya, Mauritania, Niger, Rwanda, Somalia, Swaziland, The Gambia, Togo, Western Sahara, and Zimbabwe) no WNV seroprevalence studies on humans have been conducted so far. Therefore, the real disease burden for the African human population is currently largely underestimated.

2.6 Discussion

This study, based on the analysis of 153 scientific papers published between 1940 and 2021, provides updated knowledge and data on the state of art on WNV investigation carried out in Africa, highlighting several knowledge gaps related to fundamental aspects of WNV ecology and epidemiology. They include the partial knowledge on the actual WNV distribution and genetic diversity, its ecology and transmission chains including the role of different arthropods and vertebrate species as competent reservoirs, and the real disease burden for humans and animals, therefore emphasizing the needs for further research studies to be addressed with high priority in this Continent. Numerous reports highlight the circulation of WNV-L1, 2, and 8 in the African continent, where the most common ancestor originated between the 16th and 17th century, followed by the introduction of WNV-L1 into Europe and the Americas, and WNV-L2 into Europe [2,3]. The KOUV, highly virulent in mice and associated with a symptomatic infection in a clinical laboratory worker, is also occurring in the African continent. Its potential spread into Europe and the Americas, and a possible impact on human and animal health should be considered [2,12,22,150].

Nowadays, little is revealed about the spatio-temporal epidemiology of WNV, and genetic relationships between African, European, and American strains are mostly unknown [14]. All the strains circulating in America seem to be derived from a single introduction of WNV-L1, detected in North America in the 1999 [5]. Phylogenetic analyses support the hypothesis that this introduction was originated from Israel, as highlighted by genetic similarity of American strains with certain Israeli strains [14]. These strains, grouped in the Israeli-American cluster, are characterized by wild bird mortality and fatal encephalitis in humans and horses [5,8]. A close similarity has been observed between the Israeli-American strains (1998-2000) and the PaH001 Tunisian strain of 1997, supporting the hypothesis of a possible flow of WNV between Africa and the New World via the Middle East [14]. This hypothesis is corroborated by i) the enormous avian biodiversity of Tunisia, considered an important flyway for birds migrating from Africa to northern countries [73]; ii) the circulation of WNV in Cx. pipiens competent mosquitoes, birds, horses, and humans in the country [41,91] and iii) the WNV-L1 meningo-encephalitis outbreak, characterized by 173 human cases and 8 deaths, occurred in Tunisia in 1997, one and three years before the first detection of WNV in Israel and United States, respectively [44,104,107].

In Europe, WNV-L1, first detected in the 1960s, re-emerged in the Continent in the 1990s [5]. Since then, WNV-L1 strains, belonging to the Western-Mediterranean clade (Morocco 1996, Italy 1998, France 2000) and to the Eastern-European clade (Romania 1996, Russia 1999), caused numerous outbreaks in European countries and North Africa [3]. These strains were characterized by moderate pathogenicity for horses and humans and limited or no pathogenicity for birds [5]. A possible European WNV-L1 introduction from Morocco is suggested: the closest ancestor of the European strains may be a Moroccan strain which appears to be genetically related to French and Italian isolates (France: 2000, 2006; Italy: 1998, 2008) [3,6,20,83].

WNV-L2, for long time believed to be restricted to Sub-Saharan Africa and considered not pathogenic, is nowadays endemic and the most prevalent in several African and European countries, provoking clinical symptoms (main neurologic signs of infection include ataxia, weakness, recumbence, seizures and muscle fasciculation) among horses in South Africa [7,79], and pathogenesis among horses, humans and birds in Europe [3]. The exact origin of WNV-L2 strains and the following route of introduction into Europe is not clear [3,6]. In Europe, WNV-L2 was reported for the first time in Hungary in 2004 [3,15,151]. Since 2008, an increase in its transmission has been observed in many European countries (Austria, Greece, Italy, Serbia, Bulgaria, Romania, Spain, and Germany) [3]. Interestingly, in Africa WNV-L2 has been reported in Sub-Saharan African countries (Botswana, Central African Republic, Congo, Djibouti, Madagascar, Mozambique, Namibia, Senegal, South Africa, Tanzania, and Uganda) but never in Northern African countries, suggesting a possible flow between Sub-Saharan Africa and Europe, via the Nile Delta and the Mediterranean Sea through migratory birds. These reports evidence the active circulation of WNV-L1 and L2 in Africa and the possible viral spread into Europe and the Americas, further emphasizing the need of a coordinated surveillance in Africa and Europe and the necessity of intensifying WNV research.

In Africa, WNV isolation on cell cultures and RNA molecular detection have been obtained from 46 mosquito species, as shown in Table 2.1. Many of these mosquito species have not been tested for their competence for WNV (Table 2.2) and therefore they should be the future subject for WNV laboratory vector competence experiments. Vector competence experiments conducted in Madagascar, Algeria, Morocco, Tunisia, Senegal, Kenya, and South Africa highlight the vector competence of *Cx. pipiens*, *Cx. quinquefasciatus*, *Cx. univittatus*, *Cx. theileri*, *Cx. vansomereni*, and *Cx. neavei* mosquitoes in Africa [c]. In particular, our review highlights the high competence of *Cx. pipiens* and *Cx. univittatus* mosquitoes while transmission rates in *Cx. neavei* and *Cx. quinquefasciatus* seem to be lower, due to estimated short longevity and long EIP [22]. Further

research is needed to confirm these findings and assess their impact on WNV circulation in Africa. Particular attention should be paid towards Ae. aegypti mosquitoes in Africa. Although WNV has been isolated in wild specimens belonging to this species [51], which was also found to be capable of KOUTV transmission in Senegal [22,54,55], Ae. aegypti African populations have never been tested for WNV vectorial competence so far. However, laboratory studies conducted in the USA demonstrated the vector competence of local Ae. aegypti strains for WNV, although the species was efficient found to be less than Cx. pipiens [152]. Interestingly, unusual cases of WNV transmission have been highlighted in O. savignyi and A. arboreus ticks in Egypt [57,59]. In particular, O. savignyi has been proven to be competent after parenteral infection while vertical and horizontal transmission have been shown for A. arboreus tick species. The role of ticks in transmission and maintenance of WNV should therefore be further explored.

Several WNV seroprevalence studies carried out on humans and animals have been reported, providing evidence of an intense WNV circulation in the Continent. In particular, as illustrated by Fig 2.2 and reported by the studies of Tables 2.4, 2.5, 2.6 and 2.7, seropositivity in humans and animals to WNV has been reported in Morocco, Tunisia, Algeria, Egypt, Mali, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Ivory Coast, Gabon, Ghana, Cameroon, Nigeria, Chad, Sudan, South Sudan, Djibouti, Ethiopia, Kenya, Tanzania, Central African Republic, Rwanda, Uganda, Zambia, Namibia, Botswana, South Africa, and Madagascar. Diverse serological methods have been used in different countries, ranging from HIT, ELISA, VNT, micro-VNT, PRNT, MIA, CFT, IFA, WB, and EIA. For 19 out of 99 serological studies (19.19%) [41,56,57,66,68,76,88,92,93,96,107,109,111,121,124,129,137,143,147] only ELISA test was carried out without a specific WNV neutralization test, and therefore potential of cross-reactivity with closely related pathogens, such as Usutu virus, St. Louis encephalitis virus, or Japanese Encephalitis virus cannot be excluded [91]. Finally, detailed information on the serological

carried available for 18 of studies (18.18%)tests out are not these [12,19,34,44,45,49,75,82,90,91,113,114,117,127,132,139,148,149]. It would be extremely important, in the next future surveys, to carry out WNV confirmation tests with standard methods such as micro-VNT or PRNT, in order to obtain specific serological responses, particularly in areas characterized by circulation of several Flaviviruses [121]. Unfortunately, many times the low volume of collected samples does not allow to perform further laboratory tests. Despite these limitations, these serologic findings associated with viral isolation through cell culture and RNA molecular detection in mosquitoes, few ticks, birds, horses, humans, and other mammals indicate that WNV is actively circulating in many areas of the African continent. There are no studies available on WNV for Angola, Benin, Burkina Faso, Congo Brazzaville, Eritrea, Equatorial Guinea, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Lesotho, Liberia, Malawi, Libya, Mauritania, Niger, Somalia, Swaziland, The Gambia, Togo, and Western Sahara, highlighting the lack of information for several African countries. For this reason, the real burden of WNV infections in Africa may differ from what is currently reported by the published literature. However, despite the limitations due to a lack of observational and clinical data for a number of countries, the available information summarized in this review contribute to fill an existent knowledge gap on the phylogeography, ecology and epidemiology of WNV in Africa.

2.7 Conclusions

Since its discovery in 1937 in Uganda, WNV has spread beyond its original ecological niches, becoming one of the most widespread viruses in the world and a serious public and veterinary health concern. Given the global burden of the virus, a deepened knowledge of its phylogeny, epidemiology and circulation in the African continent acquires increasing importance to predict, identify and control WNV, but also other viruses as KOUTV future epidemics. The actual epidemiological situation in most countries of the African continent is unknown, due to: i) the non-specificity of clinical signs of

WNV infection with respect to other arboviruses, very often indistinguishable from each other and from other tropical diseases such malaria, typhoid fever or undifferentiated febrile illness [7,126]; ii) the poor information management and sharing of public health data system of most African countries [153]; iii) the possible bias obtained by serological analysis due to the utilization of non-specific WNV neutralization assays, where the risk of cross-reactivity among closely related pathogens cannot be excluded, and iv) the restricted availability of diagnostic capacity, lack of awareness and inconsistent surveillance, with most investigations performed only during outbreak periods [7,78,125]. All these factors make quantification of the yearly WNV circulation at continental level difficult, with only limited accurate data available in North and Sub-Saharan Africa. New surveillance strategies for preventing and control WNV in Africa need to be implemented not only to better assess the current health impact but also to prevent and control future outbreaks, and therefore limit disease transmission. National and district levels should cooperate with Ministries of Health, and other international partners such as the WHO and European public and veterinary health bodies, to implement national surveillance programs in African countries and to coordinate surveillance actions between Africa and Europe. These programs core objectives should i) minimize the suffering and damage, ii) prevent national and international spread, and iii) contain outbreaks through strong surveillance for early detection and rapid response, as done before for other viruses, as the Yellow Fever and Poliomyelitis viruses.

The ability to accurately identify pathogens in a timely and accurate way has grown in the last few decades, and it has become increasingly clear that the implementation of a collaborative international and multidisciplinary One Health action, based on the analyses of the interconnection among environmental, humans' and animals' health factors in different Continents, will be crucial to allow a more accurate risk assessment and thus an early response to West Nile virus but also to other emerging zoonotic pathogens by public human and veterinary health actors.

2.8 Supporting information



Figure S2. 1 Flow chart of the study selection process

2.9 Acknowledgments

The contents of this publication are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Commission.

2.10 Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Giulia Mencattelli, Roberto Rosà, Giovanni Marini, Mawlouth Diallo, Giovanni Savini, Annapaola Rizzoli; Data curation: Giulia Mencattelli; Formal analysis: Giulia Mencattelli; Funding acquisition: Giovanni Savini, Annapaola Rizzoli, Methodology: Giulia Mencattelli, Roberto Rosà, Giovanni Marini; Project administration: Roberto Rosà, Giovanni Savini, Annapaola Rizzoli; Resources: Marie Henriette Dior Ndione, Giovanni Marini, Moussa Moise Diagne, Mawlouth Diallo, Giovanni Savini; Supervision: Roberto Rosà, Giovanni Marini, Annapaola Rizzoli; Validation: Marie Henriette Dior Ndione, Roberto Rosà, Giovanni Marini, Cheikh Tidiane Diagne, Moussa Moise Diagne, Gamou Fall, Mawlouth Diallo, Oumar Faye, Giovanni Savini, Annapaola Rizzoli; Visualization: Marie Henriette Dior Ndione, Roberto Rosà, Giovanni Marini, Ousmane Faye, Mawlouth Diallo, Giovanni Savini, Annapaola Rizzoli; Writing – original draft: Giulia Mencattelli; Writing – review & editing: Giulia Mencattelli, Marie Henriette Dior Ndione, Roberto Rosà, Giovanni Marini, Cheikh Tidiane Diagne, Moussa Moise Diagne, Gamou Fall, Mawlouth Diallo, Oumar Faye, Giovanni Savini, Annapaola Rizzoli.

2.11 Funding

The authors received no specific funding for this work. This study was partially funded by the EU Horizon 2020 Framework Program, grant 874850 MOOD and is catalogued as MOOD 22. This study was supported by an international PhD initiative including Fondazione Edmund Mach, University of Trento, Istituto Zooprofilattico of Teramo, and Institut Pasteur of Dakar. The funders

had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

2.12 Competing interests

The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

2.13 References

1. May FJ, Davis CT, Tesh RB, Barrett ADT. Phylogeography of West Nile virus: from the cradle of evolution in Africa to Eurasia, Australia, and the Americas. J Virol. 2011; 85(6): 2964–74. https://doi.org/10. 1128/JVI.01963-10 PMID: 21159871

2. Fall G, Di Paola N, Faye M, Dia M, Freire CC de M, Loucoubar C, et al. Biological and phylogenetic characteristics of West African lineages of West Nile virus. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017; 11(11): e0006078. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0006078 PMID: 29117195

3. Beck C, Leparc Goffart I, Franke F, Gonzalez G, Dumarest M, Lowenski S, et al. Contrasted Epidemiological Patterns of West Nile Virus Lineages 1 and 2 Infections in France from 2015 to 2019. Pathog Basel Switz. 2020; 9(11): 908. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens9110908 PMID: 33143300

4. Smithburn KC, Hughes TP, Burke AW, Paul JH. A Neurotropic Virus Isolated from the Blood of a Native of Uganda. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1940; s1-20(4): 471–92.

5. Calistri P, Giovannini A, Hubalek Z, Ionescu A, Monaco F, Savini G, et al. Epidemiology of West Nile in Europe and in the Mediterranean Basin. Open Virol J. 2010; 4: 29–37. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874357901004020029 PMID: 20517490

6. Lwande OW, Venter M, Lutomiah J, Michuki G, Rumberia C, Gakuya F, et al. Whole genome phylogenetic investigation of a West Nile virus strain isolated from a tick sampled from livestock in north eastern Kenya. Parasit Vectors. 2014; 7: 542. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-014-0542-2 PMID:25430727

Sule WF, Oluwayelu DO, Hernandez-Triana LM, Fooks AR, Venter M, Johnson N.
 Epidemiology and ecology of West Nile virus in sub-Saharan Africa. Parasit Vectors. 2018; 11(1):
 414. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13071-018-2998-y PMID: 30005653

8. Komar N, Langevin S, Hinten S, Nemeth N, Edwards E, Hettler D, et al. Experimental infection of North American birds with the New York 1999 strain of West Nile virus. Emerg Infect Dis. 2003; 9(3): 311–22. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0903.020628 PMID: 12643825

Monaco F, Savini G, Calistri P, Polci A, Pinoni C, Bruno R, et al. 2009 West Nile disease epidemic in Italy: first evidence of overwintering in Western Europe? Res Vet Sci. 2011; 91(2): 321–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2011.01.008 PMID: 21334703

10. Vidaña B, Busquets N, Napp S, Pérez-Ramìrez E, Jiménez-Clavero MA´, Johnson N. The Role of Birds of Prey in West Nile Virus Epidemiology. Vaccines. 2020; 8(3): 550. https://doi.org/10.3390/ vaccines8030550 PMID: 32967268

 Pachler K, Lebl K, Berer D, Rudolf I, Hubalek Z, Nowotny N. Putative new West Nile virus lineage in *Uranotaenia unguiculata* mosquitoes, Austria, 2013. Emerging Infect Dis. 2014; 20: 2119– 2122. 12. Fall G, Diallo D, Soumaila H, Ndiaye EH, Lagare A, Sadio BD, et al. First Detection of the West Nile Virus Koutango Lineage in Sandflies in Niger. Pathog Basel Switz. 2021; 10(3): 257. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/pathogens10030257 PMID: 33668365

Venter M, Human S, Zaayman D, Gerdes GH, Williams J, Steyl J, et al. Lineage 2 West Nile
 Virus as Cause of Fatal Neurologic Disease in Horses, South Africa. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009; 15: 877–
 884. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1506.081515 PMID: 19523285

14. Charrel RN, Brault AC, Gallian P, Lemasson J-J, Murgue B, Murri S, et al. Evolutionary relationship between Old World West Nile virus strains. Evidence for viral gene flow between Africa, the Middle East, and Europe. Virology. 2003; 315: 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0042-6822(03)00536-1PMID: 14585341

Bakonyi T, Ivanics E´, Erdelyi K, Ursu K, Ferenczi E, Weissenbock H, et al. Lineage 1 and 2
 Strains of Encephalitic West Nile Virus, Central Europe. Emerg Infect Dis. 2006; 12(4): 618–23.
 https://doi.org/ 10.3201/eid1204.051379 PMID: 16704810

16. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA Statement for Reporting Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses of Studies That Evaluate Health Care Interventions: Explanation and Elaboration. PLOS Med. 2009; 6(7): e1000100. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000100 PMID: 19621070

17. McMullen AR, Albayrak H, May FJ, Davis CT, Beasley DWC, Barrett ADT. Molecular evolution of lineage 2 West Nile virus. J Gen Virol. 2013; 94(Pt 2): 318–25. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.046888-0 PMID: 23136360

18. Ciccozzi M, Peletto S, Cella E, Giovanetti M, Lai A, Gabanelli E, et al. Epidemiological history and phylogeography of West Nile virus lineage 2. Infect Genet Evol J Mol Epidemiol Evol Genet Infect Dis. 2013; 17: 46–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2013.03.034 PMID: 23542457

19. Burt FJ, Grobbelaar AA, Leman PA, Anthony FS, Gibson GVF, Swanepoel R. Phylogenetic relationships of southern African West Nile virus isolates. Emerg Infect Dis. 2002; 8(8): 820–6. https://doi.org/ 10.3201/eid0808.020027 PMID: 12141968

20. Monaco F, Lelli R, Teodori L, Pinoni C, Di Gennaro A, Polci A, et al. Re-emergence of West Nile virus in Italy. Zoonoses Public Health. 2010; 57(7–8): 476–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1863-2378.2009.01245.x PMID: 19638165

21. Fares W, Gdoura M, Dhrif H, Touzi H, Hogga N, Hannachi N, et al. Genetic characterization of West Nile Virus strains during neuroinvasives infection outbreak in Tunisia, 2018. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13905 PMID: 33128297

22. Fall G, Diallo M, Loucoubar C, Faye O, Sall AA. Vector competence of *Culex neavei* and *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Diptera: Culicidae) from Senegal for lineages 1, 2, Koutango and a putative new lineage of West Nile virus. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2014; 90(4): 747–54. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.13-0405 PMID: 24567319

23. Failloux A-B, Bouattour A, Faraj C, Gunay F, Haddad N, Harrat Z, et al. Surveillance of Arthropod-Borne Viruses and Their Vectors in the Mediterranean and Black Sea Regions Within the MediLabSecure Network. Curr Trop Med Rep. 2017; 4(1): 27–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40475-017-0101-y PMID: 28386524

24. de Heus P, Kolodziejek J, Camp JV, Dimmel K, Bago´Z, Huba´lek Z, et al. Emergence of West Nile virus lineage 2 in Europe: Characteristics of the first seven cases of West Nile neuroinvasive disease in horses in Austria. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2020; 67(3): 1189–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed. 13452 PMID: 31840920

25. Berthet FX, Zeller HG, Drouet MT, Rauzier J, Digoutte JP, Deubel V. Extensive nucleotide changes and deletions within the envelope glycoprotein gene of Euro-African West Nile viruses. J Gen Virol. 1997; 78 (Pt 9): 2293–7. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-78-9-2293 PMID: 9292017

26. Faulde MK, Spiesberger M, Abbas B. Sentinel site-enhanced near-real time surveillance documenting West Nile virus circulation in two *Culex* mosquito species indicating different transmission characteristics, Djibouti City, Djibouti. J Egypt Soc Parasitol. 2012; 42(2): 461–74. https://doi.org/10.12816/0006332 PMID: 23214223

27. Guggemos HD, Fendt M, Hieke C, Heyde V, Mfune JKE, Borgemeister C, et al. Simultaneous circulation of two West Nile virus lineage 2 clades and Bagaza virus in the Zambezi region, Namibia.
PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2021; 15(4): e0009311. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0009311 PMID: 33798192

28. Hernandez-Triana LM, Jeffries CL, Mansfield KL, Carnell G, Fooks AR, Johnson N.
Emergence of West Nile Virus Lineage 2 in Europe: A Review on the Introduction and Spread of a Mosquito-Borne Disease. Front Public Health (Internet). 2014; 2:271.
https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2014.00271 eCol- lection 2014. PMID: 25538937

29. Amraoui F, Krida G, Bouattour A, Rhim A, Daaboub J, Harrat Z, et al. *Culex pipiens*, an experimental efficient vector of West Nile and Rift Valley fever viruses in the Maghreb region. PloS One. 2012; 7(5): e36757. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036757 PMID: 22693557

30. Turell MJ. Members of the *Culex pipiens* complex as vectors of viruses. J Am Mosq Control Assoc. 2012; 28(4 Suppl): 123–6. https://doi.org/10.2987/8756-971X-28.4.123 PMID: 23401952

31. Vermeil C. (New contribution to the study of the *Culex pipiens* complex in Tunisia). Bull SocPathol Exot Filiales. 1954; 47(6): 841–3. PMID: 14378927

32. Weitzel T, Collado A, Jost A, Pietsch K, Storch V, Becker N. Genetic differentiation of populations within the *Culex pipiens* complex and phylogeny of related species. J Am Mosq Control Assoc. 2009; 25(1): 6–17. https://doi.org/10.2987/08-5699.1 PMID: 19432063

Becker N, Jost A, Weitzel T. The *Culex pipiens* complex in Europe. J Am Mosq Control Assoc.
2012; 28 (4 Suppl): 53–67. https://doi.org/10.2987/8756-971X-28.4s.53 PMID: 23401944

34. Jupp PG. The ecology of West Nile virus in South Africa and the occurrence of outbreaks in humans. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001; 951: 143–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb02692.x PMID: 11797772

35. Tantely ML, Goodman SM, Rakotondranaivo T, Boyer S. Review of West Nile virus circulation and outbreak risk in Madagascar: Entomological and ornithological perspectives. Parasite. 2016; 23:49. https://doi.org/10.1051/parasite/2016058 PMID: 27849515

36. Huba'lek Z, Halouzka J. West Nile fever—a reemerging mosquito-borne viral disease in
Europe. Emerg Infect Dis. 1999; 5(5): 643–50. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0505.990505 PMID:
10511520

37. LaBeaud AD, Sutherland LJ, Muiruri S, Muchiri EM, Gray LR, Zimmerman PA, et al. Arbovirus Prevalence in Mosquitoes, Kenya. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011; 17(2): 233–41. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1702.091666 PMID: 21291594

38. Traore´-Lamizana M, Fontenille D, Diallo M, Ba Y, Zeller HG, Mondo M, et al. Arbovirus surveillance from 1990 to 1995 in the Barkedji area (Ferlo) of Senegal, a possible natural focus of Rift Valley fever virus. J Med Entomol. 2001; 38(4): 480–92. https://doi.org/10.1603/0022-2585-38.4.480 PMID:11476327

39. Fontenille D, Traore-Lamizana M, Diallo M, Thonnon J, Digoutte JP, Zeller HG. New vectors of Rift Valley fever in West Africa. Emerg Infect Dis. 1998; 4(2): 289–93. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0402. 980218 PMID: 9621201

40. Ndiaye EH, Diallo D, Fall G, Ba Y, Faye O, Dia I, et al. Arboviruses isolated from the Barkedji mosquito-based surveillance system, 2012–2013. BMC Infect Dis. 2018; 18(1): 642. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-018-3538-2 PMID: 30541472

41. Monastiri A, Mechri B, Vázquez-González A,, Ar Gouilh M, Chakroun M, Loussaief C, et al. A four-year survey (2011–2014) of West Nile virus infection in humans, mosquitoes and birds, including the 2012 meningoencephalitis outbreak in Tunisia. Emerg Microbes Infect. 2018; 7(1): 1– 10. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41426-017-0002-0 PMID: 29323102

42. Assaid N, Mousson L, Moutailler S, Arich S, Akarid K, Monier M, et al. Evidence of circulation of West Nile virus in *Culex pipiens* mosquitoes and horses in Morocco. Acta Trop. 2020; 205: 105414. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2020.105414 PMID: 32088277

43. Diallo M, Nabeth P, Ba K, Sall AA, Ba Y, Mondo M, et al. Mosquito vectors of the 1998– 1999 outbreak of Rift Valley Fever and other arboviruses (Bagaza, Sanar, Wesselsbron and West Nile) in Mauritania and Senegal. Med Vet Entomol. 2005; 19(2): 119–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0269-283X.2005.00564.x PMID: 15958020 44. Benjelloun A, El Harrak M, Belkadi B. West Nile Disease Epidemiology in North-West Africa: Bibliographical Review. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2016; 63(6): e153–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed. 12341 PMID: 25753775

45. Taylor RM, Work TH, Hurlbut HS, Rizk F. A Study of the Ecology of West Nile Virus in Egypt. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1956; 5(4): 579–620. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.1956.5.579 PMID: 13354882

46. Uejio CK, Kemp A, Comrie AC. Climatic controls on West Nile virus and Sindbis virus transmission and outbreaks in South Africa. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis Larchmt N. 2012; 12(2): 117–25. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2011.0655 PMID: 21995260

47. Ochieng C, Lutomiah J, Makio A, Koka H, Chepkorir E, Yalwala S, et al. Mosquito-borne arbovirus surveillance at selected sites in diverse ecological zones of Kenya; 2007–2012. Virol J. 2013; 10:140. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-10-140 PMID: 23663381

48. Taylor RM, Hurlbut HS. Isolation of West Nile Virus from Culex Mosquitoes. J Egypt Med Assoc. 1953; 36(3): 199–208. PMID: 13084817

49. McIntosh BM, Jupp PG, Dos Santos I, Meenehan GM. Epidemics of West Nile and Sindbis viruses in South Africa with *Culex (Culex) univittatus* Theobald as vector. South Afr J Sci. 1976; 72(10): 295–300.

50. Lutomiah JL, Koka H, Mutisya J, Yalwala S, Muthoni M, Makio A, Limbaso S, Musila L, Clark JW, Tur- ell MJ, Kioko E, Schnabel D, Sang RC. Ability of selected Kenyan mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) species to transmit West Nile virus under laboratory conditions. J Med Entomol. 2011; 48:1197–201. https://doi.org/10.1603/me11062 PMID: 22238879

51. Fontenille D. (Arbovirus transmission cycles in Madagascar). Arch Inst Pasteur Madagascar.
1989; 55(1): 1–317. PMID: 2751393

52. Jupp PG, McIntosh BM, Dickinson DB. Quantitative experiments on the vector capability of *Culex (Culex) theileri* Theobald with West Nile and Sindbis viruses. J Med Entomol. 1972; 9(5):393–
5. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmedent/9.5.393 PMID: 5080426

53. Jupp PG, McIntosh BM, Blackburn NK. Experimental assessment of the vector competence of *Culex (Culex) neavei* Theobald with West Nile and Sindbis viruses in South Africa. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1986; 80(2):226–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/0035-9203(86)90019-2 PMID: 3024364

54. de Araújo Lobo JM, Christofferson RC, Mores CN. Investigations of Koutango Virus Infectivity and Dis- semination Dynamics in *Aedes aegypti* Mosquitoes. Environ Health Insights. 2014; 8: 9–13. https://doi.org/10.4137/EHI.S16005 PMID: 25574140

55. Coz J, Valade M, Cornet M, Robin Y. [Transovarian transmission of a Flavivirus, the Koutango virus, in *Aedes aegypti* L]. C R Acad Hebd Seances Acad Sci D. 1976; 283: 109–110. PMID: 827342

56. Maquart M, Boyer S, Rakotoharinome VM, Ravaomanana J, Tantely ML, Heraud J-M, et al. High Prevalence of West Nile Virus in Domestic Birds and Detection in 2 New Mosquito Species in Madagascar. PLOS ONE. 2016; 11(1): e0147589. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147589 PMID: 26807720

57. Hurlbut HS. West Nile Virus Infection in Arthropods. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1956; 5(1):76–
85. https:// doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.1956.5.76 PMID: 13292654

58. Vermeil C, Lavillaureix J, Beeb E. Sur la conservation et la transmission du virus West Nile par quelques arthropodes. Bull Société Pathol Exot. 1960; 53(2).

59. Abbassy MM, Osman M, Marzouk AS. West Nile virus (*Flaviviridae:Flavivirus*) in experimentally infected Argas ticks (Acari:Argasidae). Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1993; 48(5): 726–37. https://doi.org/10. 4269/ajtmh.1993.48.726 PMID: 8517492

60. Lawrie CH, Uzcátegui NY, Gould EA, Nuttall PA. Ixodid and argasid tick species and west nile virus. Emerg Infect Dis. 2004; 10(4): 653–7. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1004.030517 PMID: 15200855

61. Chevalier V, Lancelot R, Diaité A, Mondet B, Sall B, De Lamballerie X. Serological assessment of West Nile fever virus activity in the pastoral system of Ferlo, Senegal. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2006; 1081: 216–25. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1373.026 PMID: 17135514

62. Lwande OW, Lutomiah J, Obanda V, Gakuya F, Mutisya J, Mulwa F, et al. Isolation of Tick and Mos- quito-Borne Arboviruses from Ticks Sampled from Livestock and Wild Animal Hosts in Ijara District, Kenya. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2013; 13(9): 637–42. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2012.1190PMID: 23805790

Anderson JF, Main AJ, Andreadis TG, Wikel SK, Vossbrinck CR. Transstadial transfer of West Nile virus by three species of ixodid ticks (Acari: Ixodidae). J Med Entomol. 2003; 40(4): 528–33. https://doi.org/10.1603/0022-2585-40.4.528 PMID: 14680122

64. Răileanu C, Tauchmann O, Vasić A, Neumann U, Tews BA, Silaghi C. Transstadial Transmission and Replication Kinetics of West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Laboratory Reared *Ixodes*

ricinus Ticks. Pathog Basel Switz. 2020; 9(10): 780 https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens9100780 PMID: 32987685

65. Pascucci I, Di Domenico M, Capobianco Dondona G, Di Gennaro A, Polci A, Capobianco Dondona A, et al. Assessing the role of migratory birds in the introduction of ticks and tick-borne pathogens from African countries: An Italian experience. Ticks Tick-Borne Dis. 2019; 10(6): 101272. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2019.101272 PMID: 31481344

66. Murgue B, Zeller H, Deubel V. The ecology and epidemiology of West Nile virus in Africa, Europe and Asia. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2002; 267: 195–221. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-59403-8_10 PMID: 12082990

67. Ziegler U, Angenvoort J, Fischer D, Fast C, Eiden M, Rodriguez AV, et al. Pathogenesis of West Nile virus lineage 1 and 2 in experimentally infected large falcons. Vet Microbiol. 2013; 161(3–4): 263–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.07.041 PMID: 22909991

 Chevalier V, Reynaud P, Lefrançois T, Durand B, Baillon F, Balança G, et al. Predicting West Nile virus seroprevalence in wild birds in Senegal. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis Larchmt N. 2009; 9(6): 589–96. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2008.0130 PMID: 19196131

69. Assaid N, Arich S, Ezzikouri S, Benjelloun S, Dia M, Faye O, et al. Serological evidence of West Nile virus infection in human populations and domestic birds in the Northwest of Morocco. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis. 2021; 76: 101646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cimid.2021.101646 PMID: 33845402

70. Work TH, Hurlbut HS, Taylor RM. Indigenous wild birds of the Nile Delta as potential West Nile virus circulating reservoirs. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1955; 4(5): 872–88. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.1955.4. 872 PMID: 13259011

71. Figuerola J, Baouab RE, Soriguer R, Fassi-Fihri O, Llorente F, J'ımenez-Clavero MA. West Nile Virus Antibodies in Wild Birds, Morocco, 2008. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009; 15(10): 1651–3. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1510.090340 PMID: 19861065

72. Mathiot C, Clerc Y, Rodhain F, Digoutte JP, Coulanges P. Le virus West-Nile et Madagascar. Virus West-Nile Madag. 1984; 51(1): 113–24.

73. Amdouni J, Monaco F, Portanti O, Sghaier S, Conte A, Hassine TB, et al. Detection of enzootic circulation of a new strain of West Nile virus lineage 1 in sentinel chickens in the north of Tunisia. Acta Trop. 2020; 202: 105223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2019.105223 PMID: 31647898

74. Caron A, Chiweshe N, Mundava J, Abolnik C, Capobianco Dondona A, Scacchia M, et al. Avian Viral Pathogens in Swallows, Zimbabwe: Infectious Diseases in Hirundinidae: A Risk to Swallow? Eco- Health. 2017; 14(4): 805–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-017-1282-5 PMID: 29098490

75. Arab K, Laouti Yassine DE. Oiseaux et virus West Nile: Étude éco-épidémiologique dans les regions Tizi-Ouzou et Bouira. Thesis, Institut des Sciences Veterinaire—Université blida 1. 2017. Available: http://di.univ-blida.dz:8080/jspui/handle/123456789/2737

76. Bureau E, Murri S, Kane Y, Clerquin Y, Zeller H, Lena P. Serological evidence of West Nile virus in the great white pelican (*Pelecanus onocrotalus*). Vet Rec. 2008; 163(2): 52–3. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.163.2.52 PMID: 18621998

77. Hayes EB, Komar N, Nasci RS, Montgomery SP, O'Leary DR, Campbell GL. Epidemiology and Transmission Dynamics of West Nile Virus Disease. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005; 11(8): 1167–73. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1108.050289a PMID: 16102302

78. Cabre O, Grandadam M, Marié J-L, Gravier P, Prangé A, Santinelli Y, et al. West Nile Virus
in Horses, sub-Saharan Africa. Emerg Infect Dis. 2006; 12(12): 1958–60.
https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1212.060042 PMID: 17326952

79. Venter M, Pretorius M, Fuller JA, Botha E, Rakgotho M, Stivaktas V, et al. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 in Horses and Other Animals with Neurologic Disease, South Africa, 2008–2015. Emerg Infect Dis. 2017; 23(12): 2060–4. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2312.162078 PMID: 29148375

80. Schmidt JR, Elmansoury HK. Natural and experimental infection of Egyptian equines with West Nile virus. Ann Trop Med Parasitol. 1963; 57: 415–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/00034983.1963.11686194 PMID: 14101930

81. Cabre O, Durand JP, Prangé A, Gomez J, Maurizi L, Tolou H, et al. (West Nile virus infection: serologi- cal investigation among horses in France and in Africa). Med Trop Rev Corps Sante Colon.
2005; 65(5): 439–43. PMID: 16465812

El Harrack M, Le Guenno B, Gounon P. Isolement du virus West Nile au Maroc. Virologie.
 1997; 1(3): 248–9.

83. Schuffenecker I, Peyrefitte CN, el Harrak M, Murri S, Leblond A, Zeller HG. West Nile Virus in Morocco, 2003. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005; 11(2): 306–9. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1102.040817
PMID:15752452

84. Benjelloun A, El Harrak M, Calistri P, Loutfi C, Kabbaj H, Conte A, et al. Seroprevalence of West Nile virus in horses in different Moroccan regions. Vet Med Sci. 2017; 3(4): 198–207. https://doi.org/10. 1002/vms3.71 PMID: 29152314

85. Sule WF, Oluwayelu DO, Adedokun RAM, Rufai N, McCracken F, Mansfield KL, et al. High seroprevelance of West Nile virus antibodies observed in horses from southwestern Nigeria. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis Larchmt N. 2015; 15(3): 218–20. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2014.1706 PMID: 25793479

86. Baba SS, NNnadi OD, Hamman KD, Saidu A, Yuguda AE, Oderinde BS. Preliminary Study on the Prevalence of West Nile Virus Antibody among Horses, Donkeys and Camels in Borno State, Nigeria. J Appl Virol. 2014; 3(2): 39–45.

87. Chevalier V, Dupressoir A, Tran A, Diop OM, Gottland C, Diallo M, et al. Environmental risk factors of West Nile virus infection of horses in the Senegal River basin. Epidemiol Infect. 2010; 138(11): 1601–9. https://doi.org/10.1017/S095026881000035X PMID: 20175940

88. Davoust B, Maquart M, Roqueplo C, Gravier P, Sambou M, Mediannikov O, et al. Serological Survey of West Nile Virus in Domestic Animals from Northwest Senegal. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis Larchmt N. 2016; 16(5): 359–61. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2015.1881 PMID: 27002305

89. Guthrie AJ, Howell PG, Gardner IA, Swanepoel RE, Nurton JP, Harper CK, et al. West Nile virus infection of Thoroughbred horses in South Africa (2000–2001). Equine Vet J. 2003; 35(6): 601–5. https:// doi.org/10.2746/042516403775467180 PMID: 14515962

90. Haddad N. Contribution à l'étude séro-epidemio clinique du virus WN chez les équidés de Tunisie (PhD Thesis). Thèse de médecine vétérinaire, Tunis; 1980. http://www.carnivoreconservation.org/files/ thesis/hajem_2005_dvm.pdf

91. Bargaoui R. Épidémiologie de la fièvre West Nile en Tunisie (Internet) (thesis). UM2; 2012. https:// agritrop.cirad.fr/567538/Contribution à l'etude des maladies nerveuses de groupe chez les Équidés en Tunisi

92. Boubaker M. e. These Me'd Ve't Ecole Natl Vet Sidi Tabet Sidi Tabet Tunis. 2008; https://agritrop.cirad.fr/567538/1/document_567538.pdf.

93. Ben Hassine T, Hammami S, Elghoul H, Ghram A. (Detection of circulation of West Nile virus in equine in the north-west of Tunisia). Bull Soc Pathol Exot 1990. 2011; 104(4): 266–71. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s13149-011-0173-1 PMID: 22001953

94. van der Meulen KM, Pensaert MB, Nauwynck HJ. West Nile virus in the vertebrate world. Arch Virol. 2005; 150(4): 637–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-004-0463-z PMID: 15662484

95. Kading RC, Borland EM, Cranfield M, Powers AM. Prevalence of antibodies to alphaviruses and flaviviruses in free-ranging game animals and nonhuman primates in the greater Congo basin. J Wildl Dis. 2013; 49(3): 587–99. https://doi.org/10.7589/2012-08-212 PMID: 23778608

96. Steyn J, Botha E, Stivaktas VI, Buss P, Beechler BR, Myburgh JG, et al. West Nile Virus in
Wildlife and Non equine Domestic Animals, South Africa, 2010–2018. Emerg Infect Dis. 2019;
25(12): 2290–4. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2512.190572 PMID: 31742510

97. Blackburn NK, Reyers F, Berry WL, Shepherd AJ. Susceptibility of dogs to West Nile virus:
A survey and pathogenicity trial. J Comp Pathol. 1989; 100(1): 59–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/00219975(89) 90090-x PMID: 2537346

98. Olaleye OD, Omilabu SA, Ilomechina EN, Fagbami AH. A survey for haemagglutinationinhibiting antibody to West Nile virus in human and animal sera in Nigeria. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis. 1990; 13(1): 35–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/0147-9571(90)90006-f PMID: 2323182

99. Touil N, Cherkaoui Z, Lmrabih Z, Loutfi C, Harif B, Harrak ME. Emerging Viral Diseases in Dromedary Camels in the Southern Morocco. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2012; 59(2): 177–82 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1865-1682.2011.01282.x PMID: 22222004

100. Mcintosh BM. Susceptibility of some African wild rodents to infection with various arthropodborne viruses. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1961; 55:63–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/0035-9203(61)90041-4 PMID: 13774008

101. Venter M, Human S, van Niekerk S, Williams J, van Eeden C, Freeman F. Fatal neurologic disease and abortion in mare infected with lineage 1 West Nile virus, South Africa. Emerg Infect Dis.
2011; 17 (8): 1534–6. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1708.101794 PMID: 21801644

102. Chastel C, Rogues G, Beaucournu-Saguez F, Hellal H, Le FG, Beaucournu JC. Mixed seroepidemiologic study of arbovirus-arenavirus in the small mammals of Tunisia. Bull Soc Pathol Exot Filiales. 1977; 70(5): 471–9. PMID: 615674

103. Omilabu SA, Olaleye OD, Aina Y, Fagbami AH. West Nile complement fixing antibodies in
Nigerian domestic animals and humans. J Hyg Epidemiol Microbiol Immunol. 1990; 34(4): 357–63.
PMID: 2100749

104. Bahri O, Dhifallah I, Ben A-BN, Fekih H, Gargouri J, Triki H. Sero-epidemiological study of West Nile virus circulation in human in Tunisia. Bull Soc Pathol Exot 1990. 2011; 104(4): 272.

105. Murgue B, Murri S, Triki H, Deubel V, Zeller HG. West Nile in the Mediterranean Basin:
1950–2000. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001; 951(1): 117–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.17496632.2001.tb02690.x PMID: 11797769

106. Soliman A, Mohareb E, Salman D, Saad M, Salama S, Fayez C, et al. Studies on West Nile virus infection in Egypt. Journal of infection and public health. 2010; 3: 54–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2009.11.002 PMID: 20701892

107. Triki H, Murri S, Le Guenno B, Bahri O, Hili K, Sidhom M, et al. West Nile viral meningoencephalitis in Tunisia. Med Trop Rev Corps Sante Colon. 2001; 61(6): 487. PMID: 11980397

108. Jentes ES, Robinson J, Johnson BW, Conde I, Sakouvougui Y, Iverson J, et al. Acute Arboviral Infections in Guinea, West Africa, 2006. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2010; 83(2): 388–94. https://doi.org/10.4269/ ajtmh.2010.09-0688 PMID: 20682888

109. Wang W, Sarkodie F, Danso K, Addo-Yobo E, Owusu-Ofori S, Allain J-P, et al. Seroprevalence of West Nile virus in ghana. Viral Immunol. 2009; 22(1): 17–22 https://doi.org/10.1089/vim.2008.0066 PMID: 19210224

110. Baba M, Logue CH, Oderinde B, Abdulmaleek H, Williams J, Lewis J, et al. Evidence of arbovirus co-infection in suspected febrile malaria and typhoid patients in Nigeria. J Infect Dev Ctries.
2013; 7(01): 051–9. https://doi.org/10.3855/jidc.2411 PMID: 23324821

111. Boisen ML, Schieffelin JS, Goba A, Oottamasathien D, Jones AB, Shaffer JG, et al. Multiple circulating infections can mimic the early stages of viral hemorrhagic fevers and possible human

exposure to filoviruses in Sierra Leone prior to the 2014 outbreak. Viral Immunol. 2015; 28(1): 19– 31. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/vim.2014.0108 PMID: 25531344

112. Mandji Lawson JM, Mounguengui D, Ondounda M, Vandji J, Tchoua R. A case of meningoencephalitis due to West Nile virus in Libreville, Gabon. Med Trop Rev Corps Sante Colon. 2009;
69(5): 501–2. PMID: 20025184

113. Metallaoui, A. 2008: Rapport du projet GCP/RAB/002/FRA de renforcement de la surveillance et des systèmes d'alerte pour la fièvre catarrhale ovine, la fièvre du Nil occidentale et la rage au Maroc, Algérie et Tunisie. FAO. Available at http://www.fao.org/3/ak151f/ak151f.pdf

114. Rodhain F, Carteron B, Laroche R, Hannoun C. (Human arbovirus infections in Burundi: results of a seroepidemiologic survey, 1980–1982). Bull Soc Pathol Exot Filiales. 1987; 80(2): 155–61. PMID: 3038355

115. Vicens R, Robert V, Pignon D, Zeller H, Ghipponi PM, Digoutte JP. [Yellow fever epidemic in the extreme North of Cameroon in 1990: first yellow fever virus isolation in Cameroon]. Bull World Health Organ. 1993; 71: 173–176. PMID: 8490979

116. Kuniholm MH, Wolfe ND, Huang CY -h, Mpoudi-Ngole E, Tamoufe U, Burke DS, et al. Seroprevalence and distribution of Flaviviridae, Togaviridae, and Bunyaviridae arboviral infections in rural Cameroonian adults. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2006; 74(6): 1078–83. PMID: 16760524

117. Sureau P, Jaeger G, Pinerd G, Palisson MJ, Bedaya-N'Garo S (Sero-epidemiological survey of arbovirus diseases in the Bi-Aka pygmies of Lobaye, Central African Republic). Bull Soc Pathol Exot Filiales. 1977; 70: 131–7. PMID: 579613

118. Saluzzo JF, Gonzalez JP, Herve JP, Georges AJ. Serological survey for the prevalence of certain arboviruses in the human population of the south-east area of Central African Republic (author's transl). Bulletin de la Société de pathologie exotique et de ses filiales. 1981; 74: 490–499. PMID: 6274526

119. Nur YA, Groen J, Heuvelmans H, Tuynman W, Copra C, Osterhaus AD. An outbreak of West
Nile fever among migrants in Kisangani, Democratic Republic of Congo. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1999;
61(6): 885–8. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.1999.61.885 PMID: 10674664

120. Renaudet J, Jan C, Ridet J, Adam C, Robin Y. Enquête sérologique pour les arbovirus dans la population humaine du Sénégal [A serological survey of arboviruses in the human population of Senegal]. Bull Soc Pathol Exot Filiales. 1978. 71 (2): 131–40. PMID: 33772

121. Pourrut X, Nkoghe´ D, Paweska J, Leroy E. First serological evidence of West Nile virus in human rural populations of Gabon. Virol J. 2010; 7:132. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-7-132
PMID: 20565765

122. Geser A, Henderson BE, Christensen S. A multipurpose serological survey in Kenya. BullWorld Health Organ. 1970; 43(4):539–52 PMID: 5313066

Morrill JC, Johnson BK, Hyams C, Okoth F, Tukei PM, Mugambi M, et al. Serological evidence of arboviral infections among humans of coastal Kenya. J Trop Med Hyg. 1991; 94(3): 166.PMID: 2051522

Mease LE, Coldren RL, Musila LA, Prosser T, Ogolla F, Ofula VO, et al. Seroprevalence and distribution of arboviral infections among rural Kenyan adults: a cross-sectional study. Virol J. 2011;
8:371. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-8-371 PMID: 21794131

125. Tigoi C, Lwande O, Orindi B, Irura Z, Ongus J, Sang R. Seroepidemiology of selected arboviruses in febrile patients visiting selected health facilities in the lake river basin areas of Lake Baringo, Lake Naivasha, and Tana River, Kenya. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2015; 15(2): 124–32. https://doi.org/10. 1089/vbz.2014.1686 PMID: 25700043

126. Chepkorir E, Tchouassi DP, Konongoi SL, Lutomiah J, Tigoi C, Irura Z, et al. Serological evidence of Flavivirus circulation in human populations in Northern Kenya: an assessment of disease risk 2016–2017. Virol J. 17 2019; 16(1): 65. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-019-1176-y PMID: 31101058

127. Lonchampt C, Migliani R, Ratsitorahina M, Rabarijaona LP, Ramarokoto CE, Rakoto Andrianarivelo M, et al. (Persistence of an endemic circulation of the West Nile virus in Madagascar). Arch Inst Pasteur Madagascar. 2003; 69(1–2): 33–6. PMID: 15678813

128. Larrieu S, Cardinale E, Ocquidant P, Roger M, Lepec R, Delatte H, et al. A Fatal Neuroinvasive West Nile Virus Infection in a Traveler Returning from Madagascar: Clinical, Epidemiological and Veterinary Investigations. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2013; 89(2): 211–3. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.12-0003 PMID: 23751400

129. Safronetz D, Sacko M, Sogoba N, Rosenke K, Martellaro C, Traore´ S, et al. Vector Borne
Infections, Mali. Emerg Infect Dis. 2016; 22(2): 340–2. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2202.150688
PMID: 26812625

130. El Rhaffouli H, El Harrak M, Lotfi C, El Boukhrissi F, Bajjou T, Laraqui A, et al. Serologic evidence of West Nile virus infection among humans, Morocco. Emerg Infect Dis. 2012; 18(5): 880–
1. https://doi. org/10.3201/eid1805.110826 PMID: 22516366

131. Gudo ES, Lesko B, Vene S, Lagerqvist N, Candido SI, Razão de Deus N, et al.
Seroepidemiologic Screening for Zoonotic Viral Infections, Maputo, Mozambique. Emerg Infect Dis.
2016; 22(5): 915–7. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2205.151002 PMID: 27088316

132. Joubert JJ, Prozesky OW, Lourens JG, van Straten AM, Theron JW, Swanevelder C, et al.
Prevalence of hepatitis virus and some arbovirus infections in Kavango, northern SWA/Namibia.
South Afr Med J Suid-Afr Tydskr Vir Geneeskd. 1985; 67(13): 500–2. PMID: 3983734

133. Fagbami AH, Fabiyi A. Arbovirus studies in two towns in western state of Nigeria. Trop GeogrMed. 1975; 27(1): 59–62. PMID: 1138452

134. Sule WF, Oluwayelu DO. Serologic evidence of exposure to West Nile virus among humans in Ibadan, southwestern Nigeria. Sudan J Med Sci. 2016; 11(3): 111–24.

135. Opaleye OO, Olawumi BG, Odewale GB, Ojo JA. Absence of serological evidence of West Nile virus in blood donors in South Western Nigeria. Sudan J Med Sci. 2014; 9(4): 235–8.

136. Kolawole OM, Seriki AA, Irekeola AA, Ogah JI. The Neglect and Fast Spread of Some Arboviruses: A Note for Healthcare Providers in Nigeria. Dis Basel Switz. 2018; 6(4): 99. https://doi.org/10.3390/ diseases6040099 PMID: 30400643

137. Monlun E, Zeller H, Le Guenno B, Traore´-Lamizana M, Hervy JP, Adam F, et al. (Surveillance of the circulation of arbovirus of medical interest in the region of eastern Senegal). Bull Soc Pathol Exot 1990. 1993; 86(1): 21–8. PMID: 8099299

Schoepp RJ, Rossi CA, Khan SH, Goba A, Fair JN. Undiagnosed acute viral febrile illnesses,
Sierra Leone. Emerg Infect Dis. 2014; 20(7): 1176–82. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2007.131265
PMID:24959946

139. Kokernot RH, Smithburn KC, Weinbren MP. Neutralizing Antibodies to Arthropod-Borne
Viruses in Human Beings and Animals in the Union of South Africa. J Immunol. 1956; 77(5): 313–
23. PMID: 13385500

140. Dickinson DB, Mcgillivray GM, Mcintosh BM, Winter P a. D. Antibodies against Certain Arboviruses in Sera from Human Beings and Domestic Animals from the South-Western and North-Western Regions of the Cape Province of South Africa. S Afr J Med Sci. 1965; 30(1, 2): 11–8.

141. Mcintosh BM, Serafini ET, Dickinson DB, Weinbren MP. Antibodies against Certain Arbor Viruses in Sera from Human Beings Resident in the Coastal Areas of Southern Natal and Eastern Cape Provinces of South Africa. S Afr J Med Sci. 1962; 27(4): 77–86.

142. Zaayman D, Venter M. West Nile virus neurologic disease in humans, South Africa,
September 2008- May 2009. Emerg Infect Dis. 2012; 18(12): 2051–4.
https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1812.111208 PMID:23171668

143. Parkash V, Woods K, Kafetzopoulou L, Osborne J, Aarons E, Cartwright K. West Nile Virus
Infection in Travelers Returning to United Kingdom from South Africa. Emerg Infect Dis. 2019;
25(2): 367–9. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2502.172101 PMID: 30666938

144. Watts DM, El-Tigani A, Botros BA, Salib AW, Olson JG. Arthropod-Borne Viral Infectious Associated with a Fever Outbreak in the Northern Province of Sudan. Naval medical research unit no 3 Cairo (Egypt) dept of medical zoology; 1994; 97: 228–30.

145. Manson-Bahr PE, Downie AW. Persistence of tanapox in Tana River valley. Br Med J. 1973;
2(5859): 151–3. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.2.5859.151 PMID: 4349335

Rodhain F, Gonzalez J-P, Mercier E, Helynck B, Larouze B, Hannoun C. Arbovirus infections and viral haemorrhagic fevers in Uganda: a serological survey in Karamoja district, 1984. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1989; 83(6): 851–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/0035-9203(89)90352-0 PMID: 2559514

147. Mweene-Ndumba I, Siziya S, Monze M, Mazaba ML, Masaninga F, Songolo P, et al. Seroprevalence of West Nile Virus specific IgG and IgM antibodies in North-Western and Western provinces of Zambia. Afr Health Sci. 2015; 15(3): 803–9. https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v15i3.14 PMID: 26957968

Southam CM, Moore AE. Induced Virus Infections in Man by the Egypt Isolates of West Nile
Virus 1, 2. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1954; 3(1): 19–50. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.1954.3.19 PMID:
13114588

149. Rodhain F, Ardoin P, Metselaar D, Salmon AM, Hannoun C. An epidemiologic and serologic study of arboviruses in Lake Rudolf basin. Trop Geogr Med. 1975; 27: 307–12. PMID: 242102

150. Pérez-Ramìrez E, Llorente F, del Amo J, Fall G, Sall AA, Lubisi A, et al. Pathogenicity evaluation of twelve West Nile virus strains belonging to four lineages from five continents in a mouse model: discrimination between three pathogenicity categories. J Gen Virol. 2017; 98(4): 662–70. https://doi.org/ 10.1099/jgv.0.000743 PMID: 28475031

151. McLean RG, Ubico SR, Bourne D, Komar N. West Nile virus in livestock and wildlife. Curr
Top Microbiol Immunol. 2002; 267: 271–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-59403-8_14 PMID:
12082994
152. Turell M, O'Guinn ML, Dohm DJ, Jones JM. Vector competence of North American mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) for West Nile virus. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2001; 38, 130–134. https://doi.org/10.1603/0022-2585-38.2.130 PMID: 11296813

153. Kaseje D a. NCO, Juma P, Oindo M. Public health in Africa: What is new—The context, the gains, the losses, the renewed public health, and the way forward. Kidney Int. 2005; 68: S49–59. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.09810.x PMID: 16108972

CHAPTER 3. NOVEL WEST NILE VIRUS AMPLICON-BASED SEQUENCING

APPROACH

Viruses, 15(6), 1261; https://doi.org/10.3390/v15061261

(2023)

by

Moussa Moïse Diagne ^{1,*,†}, Marie Henriette Dior Ndione ^{1,†}, Giulia Mencattelli ^{2,3,4,†}, Amadou Diallo ⁵, El hadji Ndiaye ⁶, Marco Di Domenico ², Diawo Diallo ⁶, Mouhamed Kane ¹, Valentina Curini ², Ndeye Marieme Top ⁵, Maurilia Marcacci ², Maïmouna Mbanne ¹, Massimo Ancora ², Barbara Secondini ², Valeria Di Lollo ², Liana Teodori ², Alessandra Leone ², Ilaria Puglia ², Alioune Gaye ⁶, Amadou Alpha Sall ¹, Cheikh Loucoubar ⁵, Roberto Rosà ³, Mawlouth Diallo ⁶, Federica Monaco ², Ousmane Faye ¹, Cesare Cammà ², Annapaola Rizzoli ⁴, Giovanni Savini ² and Oumar Faye ¹

¹ Virology Department, Institut Pasteur de Dakar, Dakar BP220, Senegal; marie.ndione@pasteur.sn (M.H.D.N.); mouhamedkane2015@gmail.com (M.K.); maimounambanne16@gmail.com (M.M.); amadou.sall@pasteur.sn (A.A.S.); ousmane.faye@pasteur.sn (O.F.); oumar.faye@pasteur.sn (O.F.)

² Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e del Molise, 64100 Teramo, Italy; giulia.mencattelli@unitn.it (G.M.); m.didomenico@izs.it (M.D.D.); v.curini@izs.it (V.C.); m.marcacci@izs.it (M.M.); m.ancora@izs.it (M.A.); b.secondini@izs.it (B.S.); v.dilollo@izs.it (V.D.L.); l.teodori@izs.it (L.T.); a.leone@izs.it (A.L.); i.puglia@izs.it (I.P.); f.monaco@izs.it (F.M.); c.camma@izs.it (C.C.); g.savini@izs.it (G.S.)

³ Centre Agriculture Food Environment, University of Trento, 38010 San Michele all'Adige, Italy; roberto.rosa@unitn.it (R.R.)

⁴ Research and Innovation Centre, Fondazione Edmund Mach, 38010 San Michele all'Adige, Italy; annapaola.rizzoli@fmach.it (A.R.)

⁵ Epidemiology, Clinical Research and Data Science Department, Institut Pasteur de Dakar, Dakar BP220, Senegal; amadou.diallo@pasteur.sn (A.D.); ndeyemarieme.top@pasteur.sn (N.M.T.);

cheikh.loucoubar@pasteur.sn (C.L.)

⁶ Medical Zoology Department, Institut Pasteur de Dakar, Dakar BP220, Senegal;

elhadji.ndiaye@pasteur.sn (E.h.N.); diawo.diallo@pasteur.sn (D.D.); alioune.gaye@pasteur.sn

(A.G.); mawlouth.diallo@pasteur.sn (M.D.)

* Correspondence: moussamoise.diagne@pasteur.sn

[†] These authors contribute equally to the work.

3.1 Abstract

West Nile virus is a re-emerging arbovirus whose impact on public health is increasingly important as more and more epidemics and epizootics occur, particularly in America and Europe, with evidence of active circulation in Africa. Because birds constitute the main reservoirs, migratory movements allow the diffusion of various lineages in the world. It is therefore crucial to properly control the dispersion of these lineages, especially because some have a greater health impact on public health than others. This work describes the development and validation of a novel whole genome ampliconbased sequencing approach to West Nile virus. This study was carried out on different strains from lineage 1 and 2 from Senegal and Italy. The presented protocol/approach showed good coverage using samples derived from several vertebrate hosts and may be valuable for West Nile genomic surveillance.

3.2 Keywords

West Nile virus, lineages, Nest-Generation-Sequencing, Amplicon-based sequencing.

3.3 Introduction

The threat from new re-emerging viruses has markedly increased in recent decades due to population growth, urbanization, and the expansion of global travel, facilitating the rapid spread of infection during an outbreak. West Nile virus (WNV), an arbovirus belonging to the flavivirus genus, was firstly isolated in 1937 in Uganda [1] before spreading throughout the world [2]. The enzootic cycle includes mosquitoes and several vertebrate species including birds, allowing long-distance viral spread during migratory seasons [3,4]. Humans are considered WNV dead-end hosts since no human-to-mosquito transmission is reported up to now [5]. If most of WNV infection are either asymptomatic or self-

limiting febrile illness, a very few percentages of cases can develop neuroinvasive disease with a broad range of symptoms and occasionally death [6, 7].

Before 1990, WNV disease was considered a minor public health impact with only sporadic human cases. Since the first outbreaks reported in Algeria and Romania in 1994 and 1996, the virus diffused to cause large epidemics in North America, Northern African, Western and Eastern European countries [7]. In Italy, areas with either proven active asymptomatic WNV circulation or high probability of human infection were previously reported [8, 9], and an increasing number of neuroinvasive human infections is described [10, 11]. In Africa, only few evidence of WNV epidemics were detected. In Senegal where WNV was firstly isolated from an acute human case in 1970, the virus was also detected from mosquitoes, birds, horses, and humans. From 2012 to 2021, active WNV circulation among mosquitoes and humans was documented after a re-introduction event from Europe [12].

WNV exhibits a great genetic diversity with now 8 different lineages (excluding Koutango virus) circulating in the world [13]. The lineages 1 (WNV-L1) and 2 (WNV-L2) are the ones causing the main public health concern [7, 12]. Genetic characterization of the strains detected allow to potentially track the routes of introduction of viruses with a particular interest for public health authorities for designing surveillance and countermeasures plans.

Genome sequencing of viruses has proven to be critical in the management of epidemics. Many approaches can be used to obtain viral whole genomes: i) propagation with cell cultures followed by nucleic acids metagenomic (mNGS), ii) hybrid capture using specific biotinylated probes and iii) a multiplex PCR-based target enrichment or amplicon-based protocol. This last approach became the most used one for the SARS-CoV-2 genomic surveillance during the COVID-19 pandemic due to its

robustness to a large range of input titers allowing to directly sequence clinical samples, as well as its high specificity and scalability under resource-limited conditions with lower cost [15, 16, 17, 18].

Due to the broad range of WNV hosts, many studies within the One Health context are focusing on WNV. Since genomic data is a key information for understanding the mechanisms of emergence and circulation of this virus, it is crucial to develop a fast, reliable, and cost-effective sequencing tool more accessible than isolation methods or mNGS.

We describe here the development and evaluation of a whole genome amplicon-based sequencing approach for WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 by Illumina technology in different types of vertebrate and mosquito species from Senegal and Italy.

3.4 Methods

3.4.1 Primers Design for WNV tiled amplicons-based Sequencing systems

Primer design was made in IPD using a web-based tool entitled Primal Scheme [18] in order to obtain two non-overlapping pools of WNV targeting primers to perform multiplexed PCR reactions, generating approximately 400 bp amplicons tiled along the targeted genome. A WNV reference genome (accession number: NC009942) was chosen as the template. An alignment of WNV wholegenome sequences available on Genbank representative of all WNV lineages in both Africa and Europe was then used to identify nucleotide mismatches for potential correction at ambiguous sites of each primer to ensure both good coverage and high specificity for diverse WNV lineages. Overall, the approach used was a two-pool multiplex amplicon-based sequencing.

3.4.2 WNV primer pools validation

Validation of the primer sets followed several steps: (i) inclusivity test by sequencing attempts on several WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 strains; (ii) specificity and sensitivity tests by sequencing attempts on several flaviviruses and other arboviruses, as well as serial dilutions of WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 culture isolates; and (iii) final validation by sequencing confirmed positive WNV samples derived from different species of vertebrates and mosquitoes from Italy and Senegal.

3.4.2.1 Sequencing of WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 isolates

The designed primer systems were challenged for amplicon-based whole-genome sequencing of wellcharacterized WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 isolates from Senegal and Italy. The experiments were undertaken by both the teams in Senegal and Italy with their local isolates. WNV-L1 (n = 10) and WNV-L2 (n = 8) well-characterized viral isolates from both countries were used to assess the ability of the designed primer pools for whole-genome amplicon-based sequencing. WNV strains from Senegal were obtained after infection of C6/36 monolayer cells with homogenized mosquito pools as previously described [12]. Isolates from Italy were obtained from birds' internal organ homogenates after two to three passages on Vero monolayer cell lines, followed by an infection on C6/36 cell lines. A genome coverage of 95% and above was targeted.

3.4.2.2 Specificity and sensitivity of the WNV amplicon based-sequencing systems

The second step was to assess specificity by performing the experiment on several other arboviruses: Rift Valley fever virus (RVFV); Yellow fever virus (YFV); Zika virus (ZIKV); Dengue 2 virus (DENV-2); Wesselsbron virus (WSLV); Kedougou virus (KDGV); Usutu virus (USUV); and Chikungunya virus (CHIKV). The sensitivity of the approach was evaluated using serial dilutions of WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 culture isolates at different concentrations (10^6-10^2 RNA copy/µL). Each concentration was sequenced in triplicate.

3.4.2.3 Validation on confirmed WNV samples

Finally, sequencing attempts on both WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 positive samples from mosquitoes, birds, and horses from Italy and Senegal were conducted. The CT values of the samples were confirmed by RT-qPCR using a consensus WNV assay [6] in Senegal and a molecular WNV sub-typing assay [19] in Italy, prior to proceeding to the sequencing.

3.4.2.4 Next Generation Sequencing and Genome Assembly

Viral RNAs were extracted using the QIAamp viral RNA mini-kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) and were reverse-transcribed into cDNAs using the Superscript IV Reverse Transcriptase enzyme (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The synthesized cDNAs served as templates for direct amplification to generate approximately 400 bp amplicons tiled along the genome using two non-overlapping pools of WNV targeting primers at 10 nM and Q5® High-Fidelity 2X Master Mix (New England Biolabs) with the following thermal cycling protocol: 98 °C for 30 s; 35 cycles of 95 °C for 15 s and 65 °C for 5 min; and a final cooling step at 4 °C. In Senegal, libraries were then synthesized by tagmentation using the Illumina DNA Prep kit and the IDT® for Illumina PCR Unique Dual Indexes. After a cleaning step with the Agencourt AMPure XP beads (Beckman Coulter, Indianapolis, IN), libraries were quantified using a Qubit 3.0 fluorometer (Invitrogen Inc., Waltham, MA, USA) for manual normalization before pooling in the sequencer. Cluster generation and sequencing were conducted with ab Illumina MiSeq instrument with 2 × 300 nt read length. Consensus genomes were generated using the nextflow-based nf-core viral reconstruction pipeline

(https://github.com/nf-core/viralrecon, accessed on 20 January 2023) from the standardized nf-core pipelines [20,21]. The versions of nextflow and viralrecon used were v21.10.6 and v2.5, respectively. In Italy, amplified DNA was diluted to obtain a concentration of 100–500 ng, then used for library preparation with an Illumina DNA prep kit, and sequenced with a NextSeq 500 (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) using a NextSeq 500/550 Mid Output Reagent Cartridge v2 for 300 cycles with standard 150 bp paired-end reads. After quality control and trimming with the Trimmomatic v0.36 (Usadellab, Düsseldorf, Germany) [22] and FastQC tool v0.11.5 (Bioinformatics Group, Babraham Institute, Cambridge, UK) [23,24], reads were de novo assembled using SPADES v3.11.1 (Algorithmic Biology Lab, St Petersburg, Russia) [25]. The contigs obtained were analyzed with BLASTn to identify the best match reference. Mapping of the trimmed reads was then performed using the iVar computational tool [26] to obtain a consensus sequence.

3.5 Results

3.5.1 WNV oligonucleotide primers sets

A first multiplex primer system was designed based on a WNV-L1 reference genome (accession number: NC009942), generating a set of 35 oligonucleotide primer pairs that amplify overlapping products spanning almost the whole WNV genome. The primers set (set A) was subsequently compared to an alignment of 15 sequences representing the different WNV lineages (Table S3.1). Degeneration was then added in relevant ambiguous sites on each primer in order to cover a maximum of lineages while trying to maintain a balance for specificity. The list of WNV primers in set A can be found in Table 3.1. We should notice that two extra primers (KOUV_2_RIGHT and KOUV_7_LEFT) were incorporated into set A to potentially extend the sequencing to Koutango virus, even if this work was not carried out in this study.

	WNV Primers Set A	W	NV Primers Set B
WNV_1_LEFT	GCCTGTGTGAGCTGACAAACTT	WNV-L2_1_LEFT	GCCTGTGTGAGCTGACAAACTT
WNV_1_RIGHT	TTCTTTTGTTTTGAGCTCCKCC	WNV-L2_1_RIGHT	TTCTTTTGTTTTGTGCTCCGGC
WNV_2_LEFT	ACAGCGATGAAACACCTTCTGA	WNV-L2_2_LEFT	ACAGCGATGAAGCATCTCTTGA
WNV_2_RIGHT	CGTGTCTTGGTGCATCTTCCAT	WNV-L2_2_RIGHT	GBCGDGTYTTDGTGCATCTYCC
KOUV_2_RIGHT	TTYCCTCTGATGCATCTTCCAT	WNV-L2_3_LEFT	GTSYTRGCTGCTGGAAATGAYC
WNV_3_LEFT	CCRGTACTGTCGGCTGGTAATG	WNV-L2_3_RIGHT	CMACCCATGTAGCTCCAGAYAC
WNV_3_RIGHT	CVAGAACCAAATCCACCCAWGT	WNV-L2_4_LEFT	ATNCTATTGCTCCTGGTRGCA
WNV_4_LEFT	ACAGCTTCAACTGCCTTGGAAT	WNV-L2_4_RIGHT	TCCADCCAGTTGCTTTGGTKGW
WNV_4_RIGHT	TGRTTCTTCCTATTGCCTTGGT	WNV-L2_5_LEFT	GTRGACAGRGGATGGGGAAAYG
WNV_5_LEFT	GGYTGCGGACTATTTGGMAAA	WNV-L2_5_RIGHT	GRTTCCTCCAHGYGGTGCTT
WNV_5_RIGHT	CTCCACACAGTACTTCCAGCAC	WNV-L2_6_LEFT	CCTTCCTGGTYCACCGAGARTG
WNV_6_LEFT	GGHACAAAGACGTTCTTGGTYC	WNV-L2_6_RIGHT	KGAVGAAATGGGCACYTTRCAR
WNV_6_RIGHT	GMACTTTGCAAGGTCCATCYGT	WNV-L2_7_LEFT	GCDTTYAAATTCGCYGGGACTC
WNV_7_LEFT	AYGCTTTCAAGTTTCTTGGGACT	WNV-L2_7_RIGHT	GTGTATRGCTTTCCCYACYGAG
KOUV_7_LEFT	AYGCTTTCAAGTTTCTTGGGCAT	WNV-L2_8_LEFT	ACTCAGAGGAGCTCAACGACTC
WNV_7_RIGHT	AASACTTGATGGACAGCCTTCC	WNV-L2_8_RIGHT	ATTYTTGCTAGGCCTTGTGGHG
WNV_8_LEFT	ARMGACTAGCCGCTCTAGGAGA	WNV-L2_9_LEFT	CGGTGYGGAAGTGGAGTGTTYA
WNV_8_RIGHT	TGDGCTTTCTGAATGATCTTGGCT	WNV-L2_9_RIGHT	TRYTRTTCCATGCTCGGTTSR

	WNV Primers Set A	V	VNV Primers Set B
WNV_9_LEFT	AAYGATGTGGAGGCTTGGATGG	WNV-L2_10_LEFT	YGCDCCAGARCTAGCTAACAAYA
WNV_9_RIGHT	AWRCTATTCCAAGCGCGATTSK	WNV-L2_10_RIGHT	CCCTGGYCTCCTGTTRTGRTTGC
WNV_10_LEFT	TMTTTGCACCAGAACTCGCYAA	WNV-L2_11_LEFT	CACHYTGTGGGGTGATGGAGTT
WNV_10_RIGHT	CWGGTCTCCGATTGTGATTGCT	WNV-L2_11_RIGHT	CAGAAGGCCCAACTGAAAAGGA
WNV_11_LEFT	AYACCTTGTGGGGGCGATGGART	WNV-L2_12_LEFT	GAYGAAAAGACCCTCGTGCA
WNV_11_RIGHT	GGCCCAACTGAAAAGGGTCAAT	WNV-L2_12_RIGHT	CCATTTGRAAGAAAGCAGCTGCR
WNV_12_LEFT	TGGARATCAGACCACAGAGRCA	WNV-L2_13_LEFT	CAGTCTTTCTGGTGGCTTCBTT
WNV_12_RIGHT	TTGRAAGAAAACAGCCGCCARC	WNV-L2_13_RIGHT	YCCAGCKGCAAGTATCATBGGA
WNV_13_LEFT	CCAGTGTTTATGGTGGCWTCGT	WNV-L2_14_LEFT	MRGTTGGAAGCYTCATCAARGARA
WNV_13_RIGHT	CHGCAAGGATCATGGGGTTGAA	WNV-L2_14_RIGHT	TGAAAATTTCCATCRTCATCCARCC
WNV_14_LEFT	GVAGCTTGATCAGGGAGAARAG	WNV-L2_15_LEFT	GGACRGCTGAYATYACYTGGGA
WNV_14_RIGHT	TCCBGGATCATTCATGARCTGG	WNV-L2_15_RIGHT	RCTCATGAGAGCRGCTCCCTTR
WNV_15_LEFT	CKGACATTTCCTGGGAAAGTGA	WNV-L2_16_LEFT	ATHATGACTCGAGGTCTGCTYG
WNV_15_RIGHT	TCATCAAAGCGGCTCCTTTWGT	WNV-L2_16_RIGHT	MRCCATTDGGCATGATGACKCC
WNV_16_LEFT	CTYGGCAGTTATCAAGCAGGAG	WNV-L2_17_LEFT	RGACTATCCCACYGGAACRTCA
WNV_16_RIGHT	WATBGCGCTTATGTATGAHCCR	WNV-L2_17_RIGHT	TGGCACATGACATCAACGATYT
WNV_17_LEFT	CMATAGTGGACAAAAACGGTGATGT	WNV-L2_18_LEFT	TKAGAGGACTTCCCATYCGGTA
WNV_17_RIGHT	DGTGAGGGTAGCATGACACATG	WNV-L2_18_RIGHT	TTBCCCATTTTCACACTTGGAACR
WNV_18_LEFT	ATGKCTGAAGCACTGAGRGGA	WNV-L2_19_LEFT	ACMGAGCCTGGAACACTGGVTA
WNV_18_RIGHT	CCCATCTTGACACTAGGCACAA	WNV-L2_19_RIGHT	CCTCCATAGCAATACTCATCACCA

	WINV I IIIIIII SOL A	•••	
WNV_19_LEFT	CGRGCTTGGAACTCTGGATAYG	WNV-L2_20_LEFT	TGATGGAAGAGTCATCCTGGGV
WNV_19_RIGHT	TACTCATCACCAACTTGCGAYG	WNV-L2_20_RIGHT	GTGTTGGTTCGAGGTCCATCAA
WNV_20_LEFT	GGAGAACCATCTGCAGTGACAG	WNV-L2_21_LEFT	CWGTCTGGCTCGCTTACAAAGT
WNV_20_RIGHT	CMACTTCGTTGTTGTCTTCTAAAATTG	WNV-L2_21_RIGHT	ARGCTATTGTCTGAAGGGCRTC
WNV_21_LEFT	CYTACAAGGTTGCAGCRGCT	WNV-L2_22_LEFT	TTKGACACGATGTATGTGGTKG
WNV_21_RIGHT	ACTCCCATGGTCATCACACWCA	WNV-L2_22_RIGHT	CAYTCTTGGTCTTGTCCAGCCA
WNV_22_LEFT	GAGGMAGAGCTCACAGAATGGC	WNV-L2_23_LEFT	YCAGCTYGCCGTGTTTTTGATY
WNV_22_RIGHT	CCTTGACCTCAATTCTTTGCCC	WNV-L2_23_RIGHT	CYGCAGTCACAGTCACAGTCAG
WNV_23_LEFT	TTGTGTCATGACCCTTGTSAGC	WNV-L2_24_LEFT	YTTTGTVGACGTTGGTGTGTCA
WNV_23_RIGHT	GGDACCATGTAGGCATAGTGGC	WNV-L2_24_RIGHT	TYGTTGCRTTCCACACTGARCT
WNV_24_LEFT	TTYGTCGATGTTGGAGTKTCA	WNV-L2_25_LEFT	ARRACTGTCAGAGAGGCYGGAA
WNV_24_RIGHT	GTYGTTGCGTTCCAMACWGAGC	WNV-L2_25_RIGHT	GCCTTTCCACTAACCACCGYAR
WNV_25_LEFT	RGACHGTVCGAGAAGCYGGAAT	WNV-L2_26_LEFT	RHGCCAGGAGAGAGGGAAAYRT
WNV_25_RIGHT	GRTCGAGGAAACBCCGTTCGAC	WNV-L2_26_RIGHT	CCARTCTTCCACCATCTCCARR
WNV_26_LEFT	RAGAAGGCAAYRTCACYGGAGG	WNV-L2_27_LEFT	CACACTGCTCTGTGACATTGGA
WNV_26_RIGHT	ARAATTCCCTTGGCCCTCGG	WNV-L2_27_RIGHT	AGAATTGAGGAGAGGCTTCCCY
WNV_27_LEFT	TCAAGTGCTGAGGTTGAAGAGC	WNV-L2_28_LEFT	AAGAAAACVTGGAAGGGACCYC
WNV_27_RIGHT	GCCTGAGTCGTTCAATCCTGTT	WNV-L2_28_RIGHT	TBGTGGTCTCATTGAGGACGTR
WNV_28_LEFT	TGTAAACTTGGGAAGTGGAACCA	WNV-L2_29_LEFT	CTCCTTTCGGHCAACAACGRGT
WNV_28_RIGHT	TTTWTCKCTGGCCAYAAAVGCC	WNV-L2_29_RIGHT	CYCCBAGCCACATGAACCADAT

WNV Primers Set A

WNV Primers Set B

	WNV Primers Set A	W	VNV Primers Set B
WNV_29_LEFT	GTGGAYACGAAAGCTCCTGARC	WNV-L2_30_LEFT	ACYTGCATCTACAACATGATGGG
WNV_29_RIGHT	ATTGAGAAAACCSAGAGCTTCG	WNV-L2_30_RIGHT	GGBCTCATCACTTTCACGACYT
WNV_30_LEFT	MAARGCCAARGGMAGCAGAG	WNV-L2_31_LEFT	CDAAGGTBCTTGARCTGCTDGR
WNV_30_RIGHT	CCYCTCTGATCTTCTCTGGAGA	WNV-L2_31_RIGHT	GGACCTTTGACATGGCATTBAGR
WNV_31_LEFT	TGAGCTCACCTATCGWCACAAA	WNV-L2_32_LEFT	GGHGATGACTGYGTGGTDAA
WNV_31_RIGHT	CAYCCAGTTGACGGTTTCCACT	WNV-L2_32_RIGHT	GRACCCAGTTVACAGGCACA
WNV_32_LEFT	TGGTRAAGCCCCTGGAYGAY	WNV-L2_33_LEFT	GCAGATGTGGCTGYTGCTTTAT
WNV_32_RIGHT	TCTCCTCCTGCATGGATSGA	WNV-L2_33_RIGHT	YRTCTTCATACCTCCTCARDGA
WNV_33_LEFT	AGWAGAGACCTGMGGYTCAT	WNV-L2_34_LEFT	GCGCHACTTGGGCTGAAAAYAT
WNV_33_RIGHT	TCTACAAAACTGTGTCCTCAACCA	WNV-L2_34_RIGHT	MYCTTCCGAGACGGTTCTGA
WNV_34_LEFT	AGTCAGWKCAATCATCGGRGAWG	WNV-L2_35_LEFT	GGAAGTTGAGTAGACGGTGCTG
WNV_34_RIGHT	CACTATCGCAGACTGCACTCTC	WNV-L2_35_RIGHT	TCCCAGGTGTCAATATGCTGTT
WNV_35_LEFT	CAGGAGGACTGGGTGAACAAAG		
WNV_35_RIGHT	TGGTTGTGCAGAGCAGAAGATC		

A second primer set (set B) was designed based on a WNV-L2 reference genome (accession number: MH021189) and was compared with an alignment of 82 WNV-L2 sequences (Table S3.2) to capture the diversity within the lineage. The list of WNV primers in set B can be found in Table 3.1.

3.5.2 WNV primers sets validation

3.5.2.1 Validation of set A

3.5.2.1.1 Inclusivity test

After the design of set A, seven WNV-L1 and three WNV-L2 isolates from Senegal were selected, and three viral culture supernatants for each lineage from three different Italian regions were processed for amplicon-based sequencing in triplicate. Overall, tiled amplicon whole-genome sequencing undertaken on both strains from Senegal and Italy yielded 99–100% horizontal coverage with genome length between 10,961 nt and 11,018 nt for WNV-L1 and between 10,914 nt and 10,926 nt for WNV-L2 (Table 3.2).

RT-PCR Ct valu	e	# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
	14	2.369.723	649.022	99%	5802.67	10.969
Viral strain WNV L1	14	1.922.532	581.215	99%	5346.85	10.966
Italy	13	2.715.830	754.081	99%	6244.36	10.966
	No	of replicates with Covera	$age \ge 95 \%$	3/3 (100 %)		
	25	623.535	238.259	99%	7997	10.961
	28	5.034.151	1.035.983	99%	6862.12	10.965
	16	5.034.151	547.775	99%	5183.83	10.966
Viral strain WNV L1	19	810.906	327.395	100%	3971.4	11.018
Senegal	17	924.142	363.236	99%	4412.7	10.963
	17	899.818	342.133	99%	3851.34	10.966
	17	819.552	358.631	99%	4306.94	10.961
	No	of replicates with Covera	$ge \ge 95\%$	7/7 (100%)		
	18	2.607.185	546.249	100%	3607.99	10.926
Viral strain WNV L2	18.71	2.466.682	511.381	100%	3488.1	10.926
Italy	18.13	2.061.961	465.844	100%	3445.55	10.926
	No	of replicates with Covera	$age \ge 95 \%$	3/3 (100 %)		
	14	4.861.644	706.114	100%	3519.51	10.914

Table 3.2 Inclusivity test of the West Nile virus set A primers.

		# Total Trimmate	# WNV	%	VC	Consensus Sequence
KI-PCK Ct value		Reads	Reads	HCoverage	v Coverage	Length
	14	4.087.737	835.098	100%	5593.58	10.914
Viral strain WNV L2	14	4.750.250	885.595	100%	5609.34	10.914
Senegal	N of replicates with Coverage ≥ 95 %			3/3 (100 %)		
	10	1.997.126	56.4902	100%	6053.7	10.837
	20	1.909.064	482.135	100%	5360.97	10.835
Viral strain USUV Italy	16	2.056.663	553.137	100%	6041.88	10.837
	N	of replicates with Covera	ge≥95 %	3/3 (100 %)		
	33	694.838	225.462	95%	3041.56	10.494
	28	854.870	304.085	97%	4033.3	10.494
	27	556.582	223.863	97%	3024.04	10.499
	31	523.901	197.085	95%	2715.43	10.494
	29	769.757	247.559	95%	3073.1	10.499
Viral strain USUV	32	3.250.194	605.236	97%	5460.49	10.498
Senegal	13	628.539	281.283	99%	3729.34	10.695
	13	679.204	289.399	100%	3803.38	10.825
	14	379.968	188.337	100%	2479.05	10.836
	14	445.022	221.901	99%	2975.98	10.699
	N	of replicates with Covera	ge≥95 %	10/10 (100%)		

3.5.2.1.2 Sensitivity test

One representative isolate of each lineage, i.e., WNV 15217 (accession number: FJ483548) and WNV Thessaloniki_MC82m/2018 (accession number: MN652880) for WNV-L1 and WNV-L2, respectively, was selected to evaluate the detection limit of the set A primers under optimal conditions. Serial dilutions from 10^6 to 10^2 cp/µL were processed in triplicate for sequencing. The set A primers were able to detect more than 95% of the total WNV-L1 genome up to 10^4 cp/µL. At 10^3 cp/µL, the horizontal coverage was between 91% and 94%, while at 10^2 cp/µL, 80 to 82% of the WNV-L1 sequence was completed. However, poor coverage was observed in the WNV-L2 samples (between 17% and 35% completeness) as shown in Table 3.3.

Viral Strain	Quantity Value (cp/uL)	Quantity Mean Value (Ct)	Illumina Miseq Run Number	Total Number of Trimmate Reads	Number of WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
	10^6		230	1.457.278	503.152	99%	5043.56	10.959
	10^6	18.68	230	1.371.693	476.605	99%	4997.04	10.964
	10^6		230	938.406	375.653	99%	4372.01	10.959
-		N of replica	ates with Cover	rage $\geq 95 \%$		3/3 (100 %)		
-	10^5		230	1.342.407	426.914	99%	4587.33	10.960
WNV L1	10^5	23.45	230	1.174.155	397.215	99%	4435.79	10.959
(reference	10^5		230	825.135	315.219	99%	3776.67	10.956
used for the		N of replica	ates with Cover	$age \ge 95\%$		3/3 (100 %)		
mapping on	10^4		230	906.690	292.718	96%	3456.26	10.964
Genpat:	10^4	27	230	984.952	297.351	97%	3414.38	10.959
WNV L1	10^4		230	1.247.127	327.095	96%	3570.22	10.959
FJ483548		N of replica	ates with Cover	$rage \ge 95 \%$		3/3 (100 %)		
-	10^3		230	1.096.401	249.798	94%	2735.41	10.962
	10^3	30	230	506.380	153.284	93%	1853.42	10.955
	10^3		230	569.039	170.272	91%	2099.54	10.955
-		N of replica	ates with Cover	$age \ge 95\%$		0/3 (0 %)		
_	10^2	33	230	57.229	20.115	82%	295.76	10.366

Table 3.3 Sensitivity test of the West Nile virus set A primers

Viral Strain	Quantity Value (cp/uL)	Quantity Mean Value (Ct)	Illumina Miseq Run Number	Total Number of Trimmate Reads	Number of WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length		
	10^2		230	53.435	18.515	81%	281.027	10.958		
	10^2		230	41426	15.149	80%	227.617	10.951		
-		N of replica	ates with Cover	$age \ge 95 \%$		0/3 (0 %)				
	10^6		230	1.262.167	12.484	35%	391.547	10.028		
	10^6	18.68	230	1.315.568	11.576	33%	383.276	10.928		
	10^6		230	1.103.838	16.652	26%	706.146	10.928		
-		N of replica	ates with Cover	age \geq 95 %		0/3 (0 %)				
-	10^5		230	1.210.495	11.251	36%	347.197	10.928		
WNVL2	10^5	22.87	230	823.025	10.243	33%	345.101	10.928		
(reference	10^5		230	1.478.160	12.253	34%	394.675	10.928		
mapping:		N of replica	ates with Cover	age \geq 95 %		0/3 (0 %)				
11120000000000000000000000000000000000	10^4		230	1.228.945	9.715	32%	337.862	10.928		
$\frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1000$	10^4	26.41	230	1.090.849	9.547	32%	327.57	10.928		
MIN032880)	10^4		230	947.964	4.405	30%	159.122	10.928		
_		N of replica	ates with Cover	age \geq 95 %		0/3 (0 %)				
-	10^3		230	442.063	2.796	26%	121.744	10.928		
	10^3	30	230	577.277	3.500	27%	143.439	10.926		
	10^3		230	369.041	1.615	22%	79.118	10.245		

Viral Strain	Quantity Value (cp/uL)	Quantity Mean Value (Ct)	Illumina Miseq Run Number	Total Number of Trimmate Reads	Number of WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
		N of replica	ates with Cover	rage $\geq 95 \%$		0/3 (0 %)		
-	10^2		230	35.426	1.362	17%	789.157	10.924
	10^2	33.14	230	68.307	627	17%	360.495	10.926
	10^2		230	63.643	731	18%	571.297	10.926
_		N of replica	ates with Cover		0/3 (0 %)			
	10^6		230	1.189.449	376.979	100%	4607.17	10.837
	10^6	19	230	1.269.455	403.033	100%	4838.74	10.836
	10^6		230	1.198.499	392.297	100%	4745.8	10.837
USUV		N of replica	ates with Cover	$age \ge 95 \%$		3/3 (100 %)		
(reference	10^5		230	1.240.823	379.133	99%	4581.63	10.837
used for the	10^5	23	230	1.073.364	351.179	99%	4289.55	10.807
mapping on	10^5		230	1.235.377	386.080	99%	4624.55	10.837
Genpat:		N of replica	ates with Cover	$age \ge 95 \%$		3/3 (100 %)		
USUV	10^4		230	1.392.113	381.234	99%	4339.31	10.838
HM569263)	10^4	27	230	1.169.792	349.199	97%	4178.8	10.499
	10^4		230	1.094.369	334.163	96%	4135.57	10.499
-	QuantityQuantityQuantityIlluminaStrainValueMean ValueMiseq Run (Ct)Number(cp/uL)(Ct)Number 10^{2} 230 10^{2} 33.14230 10^{2} 33.14230 10^{2} 230 10^{2} 230 10^{2} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 19 230 10^{6} 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{5} 230 0 N of replicates with Coverage 10^{5} 23 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{6} 230 10^{7} 230 10^{7} 230 10^{7} 230 10^{7} 230 10^{7} 230			$rage \ge 95 \%$		3/3 (100 %)		
-	10^3	30	230	641.826	223.790	96%	2848.31	10.499

Viral Strain	Quantity Value (cp/uL)	Quantity Mean Value (Ct)	Illumina Miseq Run Number	Total Number of Trimmate Reads	Number of WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
	10^3		230	695.820	238.992	95%	3069.17	10.351
	10^3		230	462.528	182.763	92%	2441.9	10.502
-		N of replica	ates with Cover	$age \ge 95 \%$		2/3 (66 %)		
-	10^2		230	85.909	50.388	88%	709.483	10.348
	10^2	34	230	44.720	28.768	88%	406.636	10.346
	10^2		230	37.560	24.606	83%	366.618	10.340
-		N of replica	ates with Cover	rage $\geq 95 \%$		0/3 (0 %)		

3.5.2.1.3 Specificity test

Amplicon-based whole-genome sequencing with set A primers was conducted on six flavivirus species (YFV, ZIKV, DENV-2, WSLV, KDGV, USUV), as well as RVFV and CHIKV, in order to assess the specificity of this WNV targeted approach. All the samples failed the bowtie2 1000 mapped-read threshold and no consensus genome could be assembled.

3.5.2.1.4 WNV Set A primers validation on real homogenates

Thirty-one (31) WNV-L1 and fifty-four (54) WNV-L2 homogenates with known Ct values by RTqPCR were selected for targeted sequencing using the set A primers. Homogenates were obtained from mosquito pools and the internal organs of birds with low to high viral loads. Among WNV-L1 homogenates, horizontal coverage was between 34% and 100%. A total of 35% of the samples reached above 95% horizontal coverage and about 65% of samples for 90% horizontal coverage. Most complete genomes had Ct values between 16 and 28. However, we also noted that among the least well-covered samples, Ct values ranged from 25 to 35, highlighting that factors other than the viral load could be involved. Additionally, five samples were WNV-L1/WNV-L2 co-infections, and the amplicon-based approach yielded from 87% to 96% WNV-L1 horizontal coverage, even when WNV-L2 had a higher viral load. Relatively correct coverage (between 74% and 92%) was obtained from other four samples from mosquitoes trapped in Senegal, for which viral co-infections with either alphaviruses, mesoniviruses, or flaviviruses were reported. All these results are summarized in Table 3.4.

Viral Homogenate WNV L1 – Sample Number	Host	RT- PCR Ct Value	Co- Infection Ct Value	# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV L1 Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
1	Accipiter gentilis	15	-	2,037,215	591,954	100%	6362.04	11,027
2	Pica pica	16	-	14,648,025	1,333,187	100%	6381.67	11,016
3	Corvus cornix	16	-	6,447,209	657,948	99%	5135.45	10,966
4	Pica pica	18	-	2,923,237	387,986	99%	4264.56	10,966
5	Phalacrocora x carbo	19	-	11,441,518	1,107,291	99%	5888.49	10,961
6	Corvus cornix	19	-	2,347,380	351,292	99%	4177.69	10,963
7	Culex pipiens	20	-	3,495,685	744,562	99%	5560.68	10,968
8	Culex pipiens	22	-	7,571,826	597,499	98%	3973.2	10,967
9	Corvus cornix	22	-	5,382,363	629,364	99%	4806.11	10,960
10	Passer domesticus	22	-	3,942,375	304,215	97%	3084.4	10,962

Table 3.4 Test of the West Nile virus set A primers with WNV-L1 homogenates. (*Samples with multiple viral species/WNV lineage)

Viral Homogenate WNV L1 – Sample Number	Host	RT- PCR Ct Value	Co- Infection Ct Value	# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV L1 Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
11	Culex pipiens	23	-	4,560,711	283,771	93%	2899.47	10,960
12	Corvus Cornix	24	-	3,052,530	342,271	93%	3508.25	10,966
13*	Culex pipiens	25	Lin2 Ct 28	3,576,787	403,166	94%	3761.48	10,966
14*	Culex pipiens	25	Lin 2 Ct 28	1,557,373	263,149	90%	2471.3	10,954
15	Larus michahellis	25	-	1,813,567	129,834	88%	1805.95	10,952
16	Streptopelia decaocto	26	-	1,439,897	203,172	91%	2592.09	10,961
17	Pica pica	26	-	7,677,172	251,982	81%	2920.03	10,963
18	Parus major	26	-	755,951	387,80	69%	747.61	9,389
19*	Culex pipiens	27	Lin2 Ct 32	3,371,541	369,610	96%	3287.31	10,956
20	Turdus merula	27	-	2,710,572	66,229	82%	1039.08	10,954
21	Culex pipiens	28	-	6,865,408	269,727	94%	2618.84	10,962
22*	Culex pipiens	28	Lin 2 Ct 31	3,378,716	190,102	87%	2201.29	10,966
23	Streptopelia decaocto	28	-	1,842,010	22,006	68%	430.494	10,946

Viral Homogenate WNV L1 – Sample Number	Host	RT- PCR Ct Value	Co- Infection Ct Value	# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV L1 Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
24	Equus caballus	28	-	1,805,957	159,703	92%	2101.31	10,960
25	Athene noctua	29	-	3,394,989	15,767	34%	404	10,802
26	Columba palumbus	31	-	835,362	9,948	57%	211.706	10,960
27*	Culex pipiens	33	Lin2 Ct 25	4,662,340	220,508	91%	2381.21	10,963
28*(Alphavirus, Mesonivirus)	Cx. neavei	28,5	-	391,494	1,135,180	92,42%	2514.3	10194
29*(Barkedji, Mesonivirus)	Cx. poicilipes	35,59	-	64,716	616,500	82,35%	1789.36	9083
30*(Barkedji)	Cx. neavei	29,52	-	302,175	1,394,466	89%	2001.3	9819
31*(Alphavirus, Barkedji, Usutu)	Cx. neavei	25,03	-	180,791	484,221	73.89%	822.02	8150

Regarding WNV-L2 homogenates, experiments undertaken with the set A primers were consistent with the data from inclusivity and specificity tests. Indeed, less than 6% of the samples processed had above 95% of the genome covered (3 out 54), and 87% had \leq 64% horizontal coverage whatever the viral load (Table 3.5).

Viral Homogenat e WNV L2 <u></u> – Sample Number	Host	RT- PCR Ct Value	Co- Infection Ct Value	# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
1	Accipiter gentilis	16	-	3.336.278	450.617	100%	3304.6	10.926
2	Accipiter gentilis	16	-	1.773.333	393.125	99%	2982.38	10.926
3	Accipiter gentilis	19	-	2.753.185	225.096	72%	1533.63	10.926
4	Garrulus glandarius	20	-	3.540.566	304.094	96%	1588.44	10.923
5	Cx. pipiens	22	-	1.092.527	517.44	58%	779.912	10.921
6	Cx. pipiens	23	-	568.562	54.658	59%	905.155	10.834
7	Corvus cornix	23	-	1.383.831	85.880	62%	1168.95	10.922
8	Passer italiae	24	-	476.120	45.644	47%	1089.79	10.923
9	Columba palumbus	26	-	1.313.900	76.773	64%	908.822	10.923
10	Columba palumbus	27	-	5.377	7.319	25%	257.256	10.868
11	Columba palumbus	28	-	545.944	5073	23%	281.009	8.425
12	Turdus merula	31	-	514.655	72	4%	26.336	375

Table 3.5 Test of the West Nile virus set A primers with WNV-L2 homogenates. (*Samples with multiple viral species/WNV lineage)

Viral		DT						
Homogenat	Host	RT-	Co-	# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV Reads	0/		Consensus
e WNV L2		PCR	Infection Ct			% UC	VCoverage	Sequence
Sample		Ct	Value			HCoverage		Length
Number		value						
13	Pica pica	31	-	330.374	280	5%	685.197	4.128
14	Phasianus colchicus	32	-	243.656	242	5%	543.463	7.510
15	Pica pica	33	-	341.153	613	9%	760.203	8.413
16	Pica pica	33	-	376.185	128	4%	307.715	3.779
17	Egretta garzetta	34	-	616.781	395	6%	715.396	7.923
18	Culex pipiens	29	-	1.537.448	24.517	33%	676.501	9.393
19	Culex pipiens	28	-	588.313	32.437	49%	749.224	10.924
20	Culex pipiens	27	-	606.886	28.181	52%	494.551	10.923
21	Culex pipiens	25	-	884.756	43.657	52%	864.517	10.891
22	Culex pipiens	30	-	259.173	2.572	3%	989.276	381
23	Culex pipiens	28	-	436.461	14.473	29%	630.097	10.923
24	Culex pipiens	24	-	2.172.952	45.568	45%	716.974	10.923
25*	Culex pipiens	31	L1 Ct 28	3.378.716	9.132	27%	447.986	10.928
26	Culex pipiens	25	-	339.617	33.681	42%	827.229	10.790
27	Culex pipiens	21	-	1.223.422	35.451	23%	1197.74	10.921
28	Culex pipiens	23	-	1.832.341	38.134	15%	1569.34	10.555
29	Culex pipiens	25	-	686.602	25.509	18%	1178.55	10.609
27 28 29	Culex pipiens Culex pipiens Culex pipiens	21 23 25	- - -	1.223.422 1.832.341 686.602	35.451 38.134 25.509	23% 15% 18%	1197.74 1569.34 1178.55	10.92 10.53 10.60

	рл						
Host	RT- PCR Ct Value	Co- Infection Ct Value	# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
Culex pipiens	27	-	502.162	8.253	3%	3113.1	388
Corvus cornix	28	-	1.357.321	7.159	31%	312.307	10.475
Pica pica	20	-	6.417.489	198.613	94%	1616.11	10.927
Culex pipiens	25	L1 Ct 33	4.662.340	33.608	60%	534.955	10.926
Culex pipiens	24	USUV Ct 27	5.133.183	77.022	61%	888.532	10.925
Culex pipiens	24	-	153.601	10	47%	275.337	556
Corvus cornix	29	-	877.218	0	0%	0	0
Culex pipiens	23	-	199.550	99.490	88%	1126.14	10.890
Culex pipiens	24	-	323.115	5.048	23%	308.136	4.395
Culex pipiens	27	L1 Ct 25	3576787	9.461	51%	239.312	10.928
Culex pipiens	22	-	78.378	42.637	63%	824.461	10.922
Larus marinus	23	-	546.215	142.178	81%	1460.97	10.923
Culex pipiens	27	L1 Ct 32	3.371.541	5.603	47%	154.32	10.928
Culex pipiens	29	-	153.413	4.367	31%	187.09	9.364
Culex pipiens	28	-	66.202	7.786	36%	290.742	10.018
Culex pipiens	28	L1 Ct 25	1.557.373	8.945	48%	243.941	10.926
Culex pipiens	28	-	118.396	2.420	15%	219.733	7.809
Culex pipiens	27	USUV Ct 27	1.516.324	230	44%	985.194	7.469
	Host Culex pipiens Corvus cornix Pica pica Culex pipiens Culex pipiens	HostRT- PCR Ct CtHostPCR PCRCtSaleCulex pipiens27Corvus cornix28Pica pica20Culex pipiens25Culex pipiens24Corvus cornix29Culex pipiens23Culex pipiens24Corvus cornix29Culex pipiens23Culex pipiens21Culex pipiens21Culex pipiens22Larus marinus23Culex pipiens27Culex pipiens21Culex pipiens23Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens27Culex pipiens	RT- PCR Ct ValueCo- Infection Ct ValueHostPCR Ct ValueCulex pipiens27Culex pipiens27Pica pica20Pica pica20Culex pipiens25Culex pipiens24Culex pipiens24Culex pipiens24Culex pipiens24Culex pipiens23Culex pipiens24Culex pipiens24Culex pipiens23Culex pipiens24Culex pipiens21Culex pipiens21Culex pipiens22Culex pipiens23Culex pipiens21Culex pipiens23Culex pipiens23Culex pipiens29Culex pipiens29Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens27Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens27Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens27Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens27Culex pipiens27Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens27Culex pipiens27Culex pipiens28Culex pipiens27Culex pipiens27Culex pipien	HostRT- PCR Ct ValueCo- Infection Ct Value# Total Trimmate ReadsCulex pipiens27-502.162Corvus cornix28-1.357.321Pica pica20-6.417.489Culex pipiens25L1 Ct 334.662.340Culex pipiens24USUV Ct 275.133.183Culex pipiens24-153.601Corvus cornix29-877.218Culex pipiens23-199.550Culex pipiens24-323.115Culex pipiens24-323.115Culex pipiens23-78.378Culex pipiens27L1 Ct 253576787Culex pipiens23-546.215Culex pipiens27L1 Ct 323.371.541Culex pipiens29-153.413Culex pipiens28-66.202Culex pipiens28L1 Ct 251.557.373Culex pipiens28L1 Ct 251.557.373Culex pipiens28-118.396Culex pipiens28-1.516.324	Host RT- PCR Ct Ct Value # Co- Infection Ct Value # Total Trimmate Reads # WNV Reads Culex pipiens 27 - 502.162 8.253 Corvus cornix 28 - 1.357.321 7.159 Pica pica 20 - 6.417.489 198.613 Culex pipiens 25 L1 Ct 33 4.662.340 33.608 Culex pipiens 24 USUV Ct 27 5.133.183 77.022 Culex pipiens 24 - 153.601 10 Corvus cornix 29 - 877.218 0 Culex pipiens 24 - 199.550 99.490 Culex pipiens 23 - 199.550 99.490 Culex pipiens 24 - 323.115 5.048 Culex pipiens 27 L1 Ct 25 3576787 9.461 Culex pipiens 23 - 546.215 142.178 Culex pipiens 27 L1 Ct 32 3.371.541 5.603 Culex pipiens <td>Host RT- PCR Ct Value Co- Infection Ct Value # Total Trimmate Reads # WNV Reads % HCoverage Culex pipiens 27 - 502.162 8.253 3% Corvus cornix 28 - 1.357.321 7.159 31% Pica pica 20 - 6.417.489 198.613 94% Culex pipiens 25 L1 Ct 33 4.662.340 33.608 60% Culex pipiens 24 USUV Ct 27 5.133.183 77.022 61% Culex pipiens 24 - 153.601 10 47% Corvus cornix 29 - 877.218 0 0% Culex pipiens 23 - 199.550 99.490 88% Culex pipiens 21 - 323.115 5.048 23% Culex pipiens 22 - 78.378 42.637 63% Culex pipiens 23 - 546.215 142.178 81% Culex pipiens 28 -<!--</td--><td>Host RT- PCR Ct Value Co- Infection Ct Value # Total Frimmate Reads # WNV Reads % HCoverage % HCoverage Culex pipiens 27 - 502.162 8.253 3% 3113.1 Corvus cornix 28 - 1.357.321 7.159 31% 312.307 Pica pica 20 - 6.417.489 198.613 94% 1616.11 Culex pipiens 25 L1 Ct 33 4.662.340 33.608 60% 534.955 Culex pipiens 24 USUV Ct 27 5.133.183 77.022 61% 888.532 Culex pipiens 24 USUV Ct 27 5.133.183 77.022 61% 888.532 Culex pipiens 24 - 153.601 10 47% 275.337 Corvus cornix 29 - 877.218 0 0% 0 Culex pipiens 24 - 323.115 5.048 23% 308.136 Culex pipiens 24 - 323.115 5.043</td></td>	Host RT- PCR Ct Value Co- Infection Ct Value # Total Trimmate Reads # WNV Reads % HCoverage Culex pipiens 27 - 502.162 8.253 3% Corvus cornix 28 - 1.357.321 7.159 31% Pica pica 20 - 6.417.489 198.613 94% Culex pipiens 25 L1 Ct 33 4.662.340 33.608 60% Culex pipiens 24 USUV Ct 27 5.133.183 77.022 61% Culex pipiens 24 - 153.601 10 47% Corvus cornix 29 - 877.218 0 0% Culex pipiens 23 - 199.550 99.490 88% Culex pipiens 21 - 323.115 5.048 23% Culex pipiens 22 - 78.378 42.637 63% Culex pipiens 23 - 546.215 142.178 81% Culex pipiens 28 - </td <td>Host RT- PCR Ct Value Co- Infection Ct Value # Total Frimmate Reads # WNV Reads % HCoverage % HCoverage Culex pipiens 27 - 502.162 8.253 3% 3113.1 Corvus cornix 28 - 1.357.321 7.159 31% 312.307 Pica pica 20 - 6.417.489 198.613 94% 1616.11 Culex pipiens 25 L1 Ct 33 4.662.340 33.608 60% 534.955 Culex pipiens 24 USUV Ct 27 5.133.183 77.022 61% 888.532 Culex pipiens 24 USUV Ct 27 5.133.183 77.022 61% 888.532 Culex pipiens 24 - 153.601 10 47% 275.337 Corvus cornix 29 - 877.218 0 0% 0 Culex pipiens 24 - 323.115 5.048 23% 308.136 Culex pipiens 24 - 323.115 5.043</td>	Host RT- PCR Ct Value Co- Infection Ct Value # Total Frimmate Reads # WNV Reads % HCoverage % HCoverage Culex pipiens 27 - 502.162 8.253 3% 3113.1 Corvus cornix 28 - 1.357.321 7.159 31% 312.307 Pica pica 20 - 6.417.489 198.613 94% 1616.11 Culex pipiens 25 L1 Ct 33 4.662.340 33.608 60% 534.955 Culex pipiens 24 USUV Ct 27 5.133.183 77.022 61% 888.532 Culex pipiens 24 USUV Ct 27 5.133.183 77.022 61% 888.532 Culex pipiens 24 - 153.601 10 47% 275.337 Corvus cornix 29 - 877.218 0 0% 0 Culex pipiens 24 - 323.115 5.048 23% 308.136 Culex pipiens 24 - 323.115 5.043

Viral Homogenat e WNV L2_– Sample Number	Host	RT- PCR Ct Value	Co- Infection Ct Value	# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
48	Corvus cornix	28	-	470.113	6.194	40%	207.827	10.923
49*	Culex pipiens	23	USUV Ct 21	4.272.994	248	29%	941.936	10.806
50	Culex pipiens	15	-	327.238	88.896	61%	1398.22	10.922
51	Ochlerotatus caspius	25	-	361.194	16.436	32%	684.576	10.844
52	Culex pipiens	24	-	401.408	25.091	42%	804.597	9.592
53	Pica pica	23	-	899.597	2.771	24%	150.215	8.402
54*	Culex pipiens	29	USUV Ct 26	117.768	18.204	54%	451.546	10.907

3.5.2.2 Validation of set B

3.5.2.2.1 Inclusivity test

Five WNV-L2 isolates from Italy were selected to assess the set B primers. A total of 100% horizontal coverage was obtained for all the strains after sequencing on an Illumina MiSeq (Table 3.6).

RT-PCR Ct Value		# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
	15	1.218.086	284.232	100%	3820.77	10.926
T 7 T . T	15	1.792.478	402.082	100%	5234.36	10.926
	15	1.440.061	338.706	100%	4543.81	10.926
WNVL2	17	1.711.005	328.182	100%	4374.41	10.926
Italy	18	941.641	224.716	100%	3023.77	10.926
	N	of replicates with Coverage	$ge \ge 95 \%$	5/5 (100%)		

Table 3.6 Inclusivity test of the West Nile virus set B primers

3.5.2.2.2 Sensitivity test

In order to identify the set B primers' detection limit under optimal conditions, serial dilutions from $10^6 \text{ to} 10^2 \text{ cp}/\mu\text{L}$ of the strain WNV Thessaloniki_MC82m/2018 (accession number: MN652880) were processed in triplicate for sequencing (except the to $10^2 \text{ cp}/\mu\text{L}$ concentration, which was carried out in duplicate due to insufficient volume during the experiment). A total of 100% horizontal coverage was obtained between $10^6 \text{ to} 10^3 \text{ cp}/\mu\text{L}$, while the two replicates for to $10^2 \text{ cp}/\mu\text{L}$ covered 93% and 95% of the genome, as shown by Table 3.7.

Viral Strain	Quantity Value (cp/5uL)	Quantity Mean Value (Ct)	Illumina Miseq Run Number	# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length	
	10^6		27	1.808.185	381.930	100%	5038.73	10.913	
	10^6	19	27	4.928.502	673.900	100%	6845.55	10.926	
	10^6		27	3.099.180	511.446	100%	6107.38	10.913	
-		N of replica	tes with Cover	age≥95 %		3/3 (100%)			
-	10^5	22	27	2.665.260	409.989	100%	5157.74	10.914	
	10^5		27	1.049.020	237.471	100%	3194.36	10.926	
	10^5		27	2.820.387	429.662	100%	5335.99	10.912	
-		N of replica	tes with Cover	age≥95 %		3/3 (100%)			
-	10^4		27	1.651.945	261.024	100%	3450.12	10.913	
	10^4	26	27	2.483.786	337.982	100%	4234.91	10.914	
WNV I 2 (reference	10^4		27	2.681.807	356.233	100%	4334.71	10.926	
used for the		N of replica	tes with Cover	age≥95 %	3/3 (100%)				
	10^3		27	1.570.036	236.060	100%	3029.53	10.894	
MN652880)	10^3	30	27	1.153.288	196.257	100%	2614.91	10.904	
WIN032000)	10^3		27	782.424	285.136	99%	3070.47	10.912	
-		N of replica	tes with Cover	age≥95 %		3/3 (100%)			
-	10^2	33	27	1.764.307	159.591	95%	2189.31	10.597	

Table 3.7 Sensitivity test of the West Nile virus set B primers

Viral Strain	Quantity Value (cp/5uL)	Quantity Mean Value (Ct)	Illumina Miseq Run Number	# Total Trimmate Reads	# WNV Reads	% HCoverage	VCoverage	Consensus Sequence Length
	10^2		27	2.082.360	177.212	93%	2389.54	10.800
	10^2		27	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
-		N of replica	tes with Cover	age≥95 %		1/2 (50%)		

3.5.2.2.4 Specificity test

Similar to the test conducted for set A, no amplification was observed using set B on the six flavivirus species mentioned above, as well as RVFV and CHIKV.

3.5.2.2.5 WNV Set B primers validation on real homogenates

Fifteen WNV-L2 homogenates from Italy with known CT values by RT-qPCR were selected for targeted sequencing using the set B primers. Homogenates were obtained from mosquito pools, as well as the internal organs of birds and horses with low to high viral loads. Overall, horizontal coverage between 97% and 100% was obtained on 14 out of 15 homogenates (93.3% with horizontal coverage > 95%). Only the horse sample exhibited 93% horizontal coverage. This sample was also the one with the lowest viral load (CT value: 35). All these results are summarized in Table 3.8.
Viral			# Total					
Homogenate	RT-PCR Ct Value	Host	# 10tal	# WNV	%	VCoverag	Consensus Sequence Length	
WNV L2 –			I riiiiiiate	Reads	HCoverage	e		
Sample Number			Keaus					
1	17	Pica pica	1.134.961	295.649	100%	3977.58	10.892	
2	27	Corvus cornix	1.448.962	284.947	100%	3818.15	10.912	
3	21	Cx. pipiens	1.733.553	385.088	100%	5042.35	10.913	
4	23	Cx. pipiens	1.528.111	339.207	100%	4525.72	10.912	
5	21	Athene noctua	1.801.390	376.213	100%	4946.53	10.878	
6	22	Cx. pipiens	1.407.784	312.376	99%	4201.89	10.879	
7	19	Passer domesticus	1.515.878	205.605	100%	2770.45	10.914	
8	30	Corvus cornix	1.470.367	209.316	98%	2799.57	10.872	
9	30	Pica pica	2.150.396	205.466	99%	2662.61	10.868	
10	27	Sylvia atricapilla	3.649.208	281.102	99%	3426.07	10.880	
11	25	Cx. pipiens	2.094.249	349.710	100%	4076.35	10.878	
12	29	Anopheles maculipennis	3.435.959	563176	100%	5709.14	10.912	
13	25	Cx. pipiens	3.120.601	281.102	100%	4601.81	10.912	
14	27	Cx. pipiens	2.193.040	259.483	97%	3231.74	10.904	
15	35	Horse	1.623.442	133.088	93%	1814.74	10.936	

Table 3.8 Test of the West Nile virus set B primers with WNV-L2 homogenates

3.5.2.4 Validation of set A+B

In order to obtain a system able to efficiently sequence both WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 strains, the first set of primers (set A) was combined with the second one (set B) in equal volume. The new system, set A + B primers, was evaluated and compared in parallel with set A and set B after sequencing the WNV-L1 (n = 4) and WNV-L2 (n = 7) positive samples from internal organs of birds and horses, as well as mosquito homogenates, at different CT values (Table 3.9).

Viral	рт рср		Haad	# Total		0/	VCovorag	Consensus	
Homogenate		Host	Useu	Trimmate		70 	vCoverag	Sequence	
WNV L1	Ct Value		Primers	Reads	Reads	HCoverage	e	Length	
1	1 I I 10	Corvus cornix	Set A	2.347.380	351.292	99%	4177.69	10.963	
1	LI 19		Set A+B	1.118.615	287.672	99%	3987.12	10963	
2	I 1 25	Larus	Set A	1.813.567	129.834	88%	1805.95	10.952	
2	L1 23	michahellis	Set A+B	651.723	91.642	93%	1305.83	10.960	
2	I 1 10	Pica pica	Set A	2.923.237	387.986	99%	4264.56	10.966	
3	LI 18		Set A+B	4.965.722	512.725	99%	4562.28	10.966	
1	I 1 29	Horse	Set A	1.805.957	159.703	92%	2101.31	10.960	
4	L1 28		Set A+B	2.319.560	165.376	92%	2200.39	10.960	
Viral	рт рср		Used Primers	# Total	# WNV	0/2	VCovorag	Consensus	
Homogenate		Host		Dutan and	Trimmate			VCOVELag	Sequence
WNV L2	Ct value			Reads	Reads	HCoverage	e	Length	
1	L2 17	I O 17	Diag piag	Set B	2.059.659	351.670	100%	4232.78	10.892
1		Pica pica	Set A+B	1.134.961	295.649	100%	3977.58	10.892	
2	L2 27	Corvus cornix	Set B	1.793.046	187.826	100%	2156.81	10.926	
			Set A+B	1.448.962	284.947	100%	3818.15	10.912	
2	L2 21	Cx. pipiens	Set B	2.219.785	312.851	100%	3515.05	10.926	
3			Set A+B	1.733.553	385.088	100%	5042.35	10.913	
4	L2 23	Cx. pipiens	Set B	2.045.957	275.354	100%	2943.77	10.926	

Table 3.9 Test of the West Nile virus set A+B primers with WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 homogenates

			Set A+B	1.528.111	339.207	100%	4525.72	10.912
5 L.	I 2 21	A then a poctua	Set B	3.413.467	359.916	100%	4106.39	10.892
		Minene nociuu	Set A+B	1.801.390	376.213	100%	4946.53	10.878
6	1222	Cx. pipiens	Set B	3.109.597	239.795	95%	2761.23	10.892
			Set A+B	1.407.784	312.376	99%	4201.89	10.879
7	I 2 19	Passer	Set B	1.621.442	123.813	89%	1836.85	10.924
,	L2 1)	domesticus	Set A+B	1.515.878	205.605	100%	2770.45	10.914

In WNV-L1 samples, no loss of sensitivity was observed between set A and set A + B for all the samples tested. Notably, for one sample from a yellow-legged gull at CT value 25, a gain of sensitivity was observed at 88% horizontal coverage using set A to 93% using set A + B joined. In the same way, sequencing conducted on WNV-L2 samples worked just as well with set B as with set A + B, regardless of Ct values. Indeed, almost 72% of the samples had 100% full genome (n = 5 out of 7).

3.6 Discussion

NGS is now an essential tool in the study of infectious diseases, both at the fundamental level and in its application to public health. The COVID-19 pandemic has thus been a patent example of the importance of being able to obtain information on the genetic signature of pathogens in real time. However, it should be noted that sequencing technology, and in particular whole-genome sequencing, remains an expensive approach with significant experimental constraints (for instance, the host genome background with a relatively lower amount of genetic material of the pathogen of interest in clinical specimens) in order to have some quality of data generated. A multiplex PCR-based target enrichment or amplicon-based protocol [14] was mostly used to overcome these challenges during SARS-CoV-2 genomic surveillance, yielding more than 14 million genomes in the GISAID platform at the time of writing this manuscript [27]. WNV is becoming a major health problem in Europe and cases have also recently been detected in Africa [7,12]. WNV cases are mainly due to lineages 1 and 2. The mechanisms of diffusion of viral strains, in particular by the migratory movements of birds, are actively studied. The genetic characterization of the identified strains allows better control of the dissemination routes for effective sanitary measures. NGS showed the persistence of a WNV strain after winter in Andalusia in Spain, suggesting endemicity with potential future epidemics in the area [28]. Another recent genomic study evidenced continuous WNV-L2 circulation in Italy throughout the year [29], while a reintroduction event was identified from Europe to Senegal, highlighting a potential threat [12]. Genomic characterization is even more important because it has been shown that West African lineages have higher virulence and replicative efficiency in vitro and in vivo compared to similar lineages circulating in the United States and Europe [6]. Genomic surveillance is thus essential as it allows a better understanding of the dissemination and dynamic of WNV strains. In order to ensure the sustainability of this type of surveillance, we describe here the development and evaluation of a whole-genome amplicon-based sequencing approach for WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 by Illumina technology in different types of vertebrate and mosquito species from Senegal and Italy. Three sets of primers were then designed and assessed with WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 strains. Set A and set B are specific to WNV-L1 and WNV-L2 strains, respectively, while the third one, a mixture of the two previous sets, is able to amplify both lineages. Thus, the use of one set or another depends on the context. Indeed, in the case where the lineage is already well defined, it is appropriate to use the specific sets, whereas set A + B fits more in a context where no lineage characterization could be made before sequencing. The evaluation in this study could only be carried out with the WNV-L1 and WNVL2 strains. Because set A was designed from at least one representative of all the WNV lineages, it would be appropriate to undertake a similar evaluation with at least set A and set A + B on other lineages than WNV-L1 and WNV-L2. Moreover, the repetition of these experiments by other groups allows the observed results to be refined, particularly in terms of correlation with Ct values. Indeed, even if this work was carried out with rigor and with two teams in Senegal and Italy, external factors such as the sample quality after long-term storage or the sample type may have impacted the outputs of the results. In any case, the approach presented in this manuscript could be a valuable tool for any WNV genomic investigation.

3.7 Funding statement

This research was partly funded by the Africa Pathogen Genomics Initiative (Africa PGI) through the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (4306-22-EIPHLSS-GENOMICS), the Institut Pasteur de Dakar internal funds, and an international PhD initiative including Fondazione Edmund Mach, University of Trento, and Istituto Zooprofilattico of Teramo.

3.8 Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

3.9 Author contributions

Conceptualization, M.M.D., M.H.D.N., G.M., O.F., C.C., A.R., G.S., and O.F. (Oumar Faye);
methodology, M.M.D., M.H.D.N., G.M., A.D., M.D.D., C.C., A.R., G.S., and O.F. (Oumar Faye);
software, A.D., M.M.D., G.M., C.C., and C.L.; validation, M.M.D., M.H.D.N., G.M., M.D.D., V.C.,
M.M., C.L., O.F. (Ousmane Faye), and C.C.; formal analysis, M.M.D., M.H.D.N., G.M., A.D., M.K.,
N.M.T., and M.M. (Maïmouna Mbanne); investigation, M.M.D., M.H.D.N., G.M., E.h.N., D.D.,
M.K., N.M.T., M.M. (Maïmouna Mbanne), M.A., B.S., V.D.L., L.T., A.L., I.P., and A.G.; resources,
M.M.D., A.A.S., C.L., M.D., O.F. (Ousmane Faye), C.C., G.S., and O.F. (Oumar Faye); data curation,
M.M.D., M.H.D.N., G.M., A.D., E.h.N., D.D., N.M.T., L.T., A.L., and I.P.; writing—original draft
preparation, M.M.D.; writing—review and editing, M.H.D.N., G.M., M.D.D., V.C., M.M., M.A.,
B.S., V.D.L., L.T., A.L., I.P., R.R., F.M., C.C., A.R., and G.S.; supervision, M.M.D., M.H.D.N.,
M.D.D., V.C., C.C., G.S., and O.F. (Oumar Faye); project administration, A.R., G.S., and O.F.

(Oumar Faye); funding acquisition, M.M.D., A.A.S., O.F. (Ousmane Faye), A.R., G.S., and O.F. (Oumar Faye). All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

3.10 References

1. Smithburn, K.; Hugues, T.; Burke, A.; Paul, J. A neurotropic virus isolated from the blood of a native of uganda. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 1940, s1-20, 471.

2. Kramer, L.D.; Styer, L.M.; Ebel, G.D. A global perspective on the epidemiology of West Nile virus. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 2008, 53, 61–81.

3. Bergsman, L.D.; Hyman, J.M.; Manore, C.A. A mathematical model for the spread of West Nile virus in migratory and resident birds. Math. Biosci. Eng. 2016, 13, 401–424.

4. Komar, N.; Langevin, S.; Hinten, S.; Nemeth, N.; Edwards, E.; Hettler, D.; Davis, B.; Bowen, R.; Bunning, M. Experimental Infection of North American Birds with the New York 1999 Strain of West Nile Virus. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2003, 9, 311–322.

5. Sule, W.F.; Oluwayelu, D.O.; Hernandez-Triana, L.M.; Fooks, A.R.; Venter, M.; Johnson, N. Epidemiology and ecology of West Nile virus in sub-Saharan Africa. Parasit. Vectors 2018, 11, 414.

6. Fall, G.; Di Paola, N.; Faye, M.; Dia, M.; Freire, C.C.d.M.; Loucoubar, C.; Zanotto, P.M.d.A.; Faye,O.; Sall, A.A. Biological and Phylogenetic Characteristics of West African Lineages of West NileVirus. PLoS Negl. Trop Dis. 2017, 11, e0006078.

7. Mencattelli, G.; Ndione, M.H.D.; Rosà, R.; Marini, G.; Diagne, C.T.; Diagne, M.M.; Fall, G.; Faye,
O.; Diallo, M.; Faye, O.; et al. Epidemiology of West Nile virus in Africa: An underestimated threat.
PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 2022, 16, e0010075.

Marchi, S.; Montomoli, E.; Viviani, S.; Giannecchini, S.; Stincarelli, M.A.; Lanave, G.; Camero, M.; Alessio, C.; Coluccio, R.; Trombetta, C.M. West Nile Virus Seroprevalence in the Italian Tuscany Region from 2016 to 2019. Pathogens 2021, 10, 844.

9. Marini, G.; Rosà, R.; Pugliese, A.; Rizzoli, A.; Rizzo, C.; Russo, F.; Montarsi, F.; Capelli, G. West Nile Virus Transmission and Human Infection Risk in Veneto (Italy): A Modelling Analysis. Sci. Rep. 2018, 8, 14005.

10. Falcinella, C.; Allegrini, M.; Gazzola, L.; Mulè, G.; Tomasoni, D.; Viganò, O.; d'Arminio Monforte, A.; Marchetti, G.; Tincati, C. Three case reports of West Nile virus neuroinvasive disease: Lessons from real-life clinical practice. BMC Infect. Dis. 2021, 21, 1132.

Riccardo, F.; Bella, A.; Monaco, F.; Ferraro, F.; Petrone, D.; Mateo-Urdiales, A.; Andrianou, X.D.; del Manso, M.; Venturi, G.; Fortuna, C.; et al. Rapid Increase in Neuroinvasive West Nile Virus Infections in Humans, Italy, July 2022. Eurosurveillance 2022, 27, 2200653.

12. Ndione, M.H.D.; Ndiaye, E.H.; Faye, M.; Diagne, M.M.; Diallo, D.; Diallo, A.; Sall, A.A.; Loucoubar, C.; Faye, O.; Diallo, M.; et al. Re-Introduction of West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Senegal from Europe and Subsequent Circulation in Human and Mosquito Populations between 2012 and 2021. Viruses 2022, 14, 2720.

13. Fall, G.; Diallo, M.; Loucoubar, C.; Faye, O.; Sall, A.A. Vector competence of Culex neavei and Culex quinquefasciatus (Diptera: Culicidae) from Senegal for lineages 1, 2, Koutango and a putative new lineage of West Nile virus. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 2014, 90, 747–754.

14. Tyson, J.R.; James, P.; Stoddart, D.; Sparks, N.; Wickenhagen, A.; Hall, G.; Choi, J.H.; Lapointe,H.; Kamelian, K.; Smith, A.D.; et al. Improvements to the ARTIC multiplex PCR method for SARS-CoV-2 genome sequencing using nanopore. BioRxiv 2020.

15. Arana, C.; Liang, C.; Brock, M.; Zhang, B.; Zhou, J.; Chen, L.; Cantarel, B.; SoRelle, J.; Hooper, L.V.; Raj, P. A short plus longamplicon based sequencing approach improves genomic coverage and variant detection in the SARS-CoV-2 genome. PLoS ONE 2022, 17, e0261014.

16. Liu, H.; Li, J.; Lin, Y.; Bo, X.; Song, H.; Li, K.; Li, P.; Ni, M. Assessment of two-pool multiplex long-amplicon nanopore sequencing of SARS-CoV-2. J. Med. Virol. 2022, 94, 327–334.

17. Lambisia, A.W.; Mohammed, K.S.; Makori, T.O.; Ndwiga, L.; Mburu, M.W.; Morobe, J.M.;
Moraa, E.O.; Musyoki, J.; Murunga, N.; Mwangi, J.N.; et al. Optimization of the SARS-CoV-2
ARTIC Network V4 Primers and Whole Genome Sequencing Protocol. Front Med. (Lausanne) 2022,
9, 836728.

Quick, J.; Grubaugh, N.D.; Pullan, S.T.; Claro, I.M.; Smith, A.D.; Gangavarapu, K.; Oliveira, G.;
 Robles-Sikisaka, R.; Rogers, T.F.; Beutler, N.A.; et al. Multiplex PCR Method for MinION and
 Illumina Sequencing of Zika and Other Virus Genomes Directly from Clinical Samples. Nat. Protoc.
 2017, 12, 1261–1276.

19. Del Amo, J.; Sotelo, E.; Fernández-Pinero, J.; Gallardo, C.; Llorente, F.; Agüero, M.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.A. A novel quantitative multiplex real-time RT-PCR for the simultaneous detection and differentiation of West Nile virus lineages 1 and 2, and of Usutu virus. J. Virol. Methods 2013, 189, 321–327. 20. Ewels, P.A.; Peltzer, A.; Fillinger, S.; Patel, H.; Alneberg, J.; Wilm, A.; Garcia, M.U.; Di Tommaso, P.; Nahnsen, S. The nf-core framework for community-curated bioinformatics pipelines. Nat. Biotechnol. 2020, 38, 276–278.

21. Di Tommaso, P.; Chatzou, M.; Floden, E.W.; Barja, P.P.; Palumbo, E.; Notredame, C. Nextflow enables reproducible computational workflows. Nat. Biotechnol. 2017, 35, 316–319.

22. Bolger, A.M.; Lohse, M.; Usadel, B. Trimmomatic: A Flexible Trimmer for Illumina Sequence Data. Bioinformatics 2014, 30, 2114–2120.

23. Cito, F.; Pasquale, A.D.; Cammà, C.; Cito, P. The Italian Information System for the Collection and Analysis of Complete Genome Sequence of Pathogens Isolated from Animal, Food and Environment. Int. J. Infect. Dis. 2018, 73, 296–297.

24. Aprea, G.; Scattolini, S.; D'Angelantonio, D.; Chiaverini, A.; Di Lollo, V.; Olivieri, S.; Marcacci,
M.; Mangone, I.; Salucci, S.; Antoci, S.; et al. Whole Genome Sequencing Characterization of HEV3e and HEV3-f Subtypes among the Wild Boar Population in the Abruzzo Region, Italy: First Report.
Microorganisms 2020, 8, 1393.

25. Bankevich, A.; Nurk, S.; Antipov, D.; Gurevich, A.A.; Dvorkin, M.; Kulikov, A.S.; Lesin, V.M.; Nikolenko, S.I.; Pham, S.; Prjibelski, A.D.; et al. SPAdes: A New Genome Assembly Algorithm and Its Applications to Single-Cell Sequencing. J. Comput. Biol. 2012, 19, 455–477.

26. Grubaugh, N.D.; Gangavarapu, K.; Quick, J.; Matteson, N.L.; De Jesus, J.G.; Main, B.J.; Tan, A.L.; Paul, L.M.; Brackney, D.E.; Grewal, S.; et al. An Amplicon-Based Sequencing Framework for Accurately Measuring Intrahost Virus Diversity Using PrimalSeq and IVar. Genome Biol. 2019, 20, 8.

27. hCoV-19 Data Sharing via GISAID. Available online: https://gisaid.org/ (accessed on 29 January 2023).

28. Ruiz-López, M.J.; Muñoz-Chimeno, M.; Figuerola, J.; Gavilán, A.M.; Varona, S.; Cuesta, I.; Martínez-de la Puente, J.; Zaballos, Á.; Molero, F.; Soriguer, R.C.; et al. Genomic Analysis of West Nile Virus Lineage 1 Detected in Mosquitoes during the 2020–2021 Outbreaks in Andalusia, Spain. Viruses 2023, 15, 266.

29. Mencattelli, G.; Iapaolo, F.; Polci, A.; Marcacci, M.; Di Gennaro, A.; Teodori, L.; Curini, V.; Di Lollo, V.; Secondini, B.; Scialabba, S.; et al. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Overwintering in Italy. Trop. Med. Infect. Dis. 2022, 7, 160.

3.11 Supplementary materials

The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https: //www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/v15061261/s1, Table S3.1: WNV Sequences aligned for set A primers design, Table S3.2: WNV-L2 Sequences aligned for set B primers design.

WNV Sequences Aligned for Set A Primers Design
KC243146.1 West Nile virus isolate ATH002316 partial genome
AY765264.1 West Nile virus strain Rabensburg isolate 97-103 complete genome
NC 001563.2 West Nile virus lineage 2 complete genome
KC496016.1 West Nile virus strain Novi Sad-2010 complete genome
KC496015.1 West Nile virus strain 578/10 complete genome
MN057643.1 Koutango virus isolate PM148 complete genome
EU082200.2 Koutango virus strain Dak Ar D 5443 polyprotein gene complete cds
MT863559.1 West Nile virus isolate Akela/France/2015 complete genome
MF797870.1 West Nile virus strain WNV Cy2016 complete genome
KT163243.1 West Nile virus isolate 68856-ICDC-4 complete genome
MH244513.1 West Nile virus strain 200.B/2013/Secovce/SVK complete genome
KM052152.1 West Nile virus isolate 349/77 polyprotein gene complete cds
DQ118127.1 West Nile virus isolate goose-Hungary/03 complete genome
DQ318019.1 West Nile virus strain ArD76104 complete genome
NC 009942.1 West Nile virus lineage 1 complete genome

Table S3. 1 List of 15 WNV different lineage sequences used to perform a sequence comparison with primer set A

Table S3. 2 List of 82 WNV L2 sequences used to perform a sequence comparison with primer set B

WNV-L2 Sequences Aligned for Set B Primers Design
AY532665.1 West Nile virus strain B956 polyprotein gene complete genome
EF429200.1 West Nile virus H442 complete genome
HM147824.1 West Nile virus from Democratic Republic of the Congo complete genome
JN393308.1 West Nile virus strain HS101 08 complete genome
KY523178.1 West Nile virus isolate UG2274/Uganda/2009 complete genome
EF429197.1 West Nile virus SPU116/89 complete genome
EF429198.1 West Nile virus SA93/01 complete genome
HQ537483.1 West Nile virus isolate Nea Santa-Greece-2010 complete genome
KJ883345.1 West Nile virus strain Greece/2013/Xanthi 3 complete genome
KU206781.1 West Nile virus strain Bulgaria/2015/Sofia complete genome
KP109691.1 West Nile virus strain blood donor/Vienna/2014 complete genome
MF984347.1 West Nile virus strain Blood donor 2/Austria/2016 (BD2/16) complete genome
MH244511.1 West Nile virus strain 291.B/2013/Velky Biel/SVK complete genome
MF984340.1 West Nile virus strain Blood donor 4/Austria/2015 (BD4/15) complete genome
MF984342.1 West Nile virus strain Patient 1/Austria/2015 (Pa1/15) complete genome
MF984344.1 West Nile virus strain Goshawk/Austria/2015 (Bi1/15) complete genome
MH244512.1 West Nile virus strain 286.B/2013/Velky Biel/SVK complete genome
KF179640.1 West Nile virus strain Austria/2008 gh complete genome
MF984343.1 West Nile virus strain Patient 2/Austria/2015 (Pa2/15) complete genome
KP780838.1 West Nile virus isolate Mismo complete genome

DQ116961.1 West Nile virus isolate goshawk-Hungary/04 complete genome
KF588365.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2013/Rovigo/32.1 complete genome
KF647252.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2013/Rovigo/35.1 complete genome
KP789960.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2013/Mantova/36.1 complete genome
KF647251.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2013/Padova/34.1 complete genome
KF647249.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2013/Rovigo/33.2 complete genome
KP789956.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2014/Verona/35.2 complete genome
MW862081 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Emilia-Romagna
MW862084 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Emilia-Romagna
MW862085 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Emilia-Romagna
MW862087 West Nile virus strain Italy/Emilia-Romagna 02/11/2017
MW862101 West Nile virus strain Italy/Emilia-Romagna Italy15/07/2019
MW862091 West Nile virus strain Italy/Emilia-Romagna 31/07/2018
MW862090 West Nile virus strain Italy/Emilia-Romagna /07/2018
MW862093 West Nile virus strain Italy/Emilia-Romagna 08/09/2018
MW862088 West Nile virus strain Italy/2017/Emilia-Romagna
MW862092 West Nile virus strain Italy/Emilia-Romagna 13/08/2018
KF823806.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2013/Mantova/40.1 polyprotein gene complete cds
KP789953.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2014/Pavia1 complete genome
KP789954.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2014/Cremona2 complete genome
MW862075 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Emilia-Romagna
MW862076 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Emilia-Romagna

MW862077 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Emilia-Romagna
MW862080 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Emilia-Romagna
MW862079 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Piedmont
MW862078 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Piedmont
MW862082 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Lombardi
MW862089 West Nile virus strain Italy/2017/Lombardi
MW862096 West Nile virus strain Italy/Lombardi 31/08/2018
MW862103 West Nile virus strain Italy/Piedmont 23/10/2019
MW862104 West Nile virus strain Italy/Piedmont 26/09/2019
MW862106 West Nile virus strain Italy/Piedmont 26/09/2019
MW862107 West Nile virus strain Italy/Piedmont 26/09/2019
MW862102 West Nile virus strain Italy/Veneto 23/10/2019
MW862108 West Nile virus strain Italy/Piedmont 23/09/2020
KP789959.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2014/Pavia4 complete genome
MW862073 West Nile virus strain Italy/2012/Sardinia
MW862074 West Nile virus strain Italy/2013/Sardinia
MW862083 West Nile virus strain Italy/2015/Sardinia
MW862086 West Nile virus strain Italy/2016/Sardinia
MW862094 Lineage2 West Nile virus strain Italy/Sardinia 15/07/2019
MW862099 West Nile virus strain Italy/Sardinia 06/10/2018
MW862095 West Nile virus strain Italy/Sardinia 19/09/2019
MW862097 West Nile virus strain Italy/Sardinia 05/09/2018

MW862100 West Nile virus strain Italy/Sardinia 2/10/2018

MW862105 West Nile virus strain Italy/Sardinia 18/11/2019

MW862098 West Nile virus strain Italy/Sardinia 13/10/2018

KF647250.1 West Nile virus strain Italy/2013/Rovigo/33.1 complete genome

MH021189.1 West Nile virus isolate WNV/Belgium/2017/Antwerpen complete genome

KC496016.1 West Nile virus strain Novi Sad-2010 complete genome

KP780839.1 West Nile virus isolate Berliner complete genome

KC407673.1 West Nile virus isolate Sad/12 complete genome

MH986055.1 West Nile virus strain 1382/2018/Berlin/Ger complete genome

MH986056.1 West Nile virus strain 1617/2018/Rostock/Ger complete genome

KP780840.1 West Nile virus isolate Tammy complete genome

FJ425721.1 West Nile virus isolate Reb VLG 07 H polyprotein gene complete cds

KJ934710.1 West Nile virus strain Hyalomma/Romania/2013 polyprotein precursor gene complete cds

KT207791.1 West Nile virus isolate 792/14 complete genome

EF429199.1 West Nile virus SA381/00 complete genome

DQ176636.2 West Nile virus strain Madagascar-AnMg798 complete genome

MF797870.1 West Nile virus strain WNV Cy2016 complete genome

CHAPTER 4. WEST NILE VIRUS: A VIRTUAL BRIDGE THAT LINKS AFRICA AND EUROPE

Manuscript

by

Giulia Mencattelli ^{1,2,3,†,*,} Marie Henriette Dior Ndione ^{4,†,} Andrea Silverj ^{2,3,5,†}, Moussa Moise

Diagne⁴, Valentina Curini¹, Liana Teodori¹, Marco Di Domenico¹, Rassoul Mbaye⁴, Alessandra Leone¹, Maurilia Marcacci¹, Alioune Gaye⁶, ElHadji Ndiaye⁶, Massimo Ancora¹, Barbara

Secondini¹, Valeria Di Lollo¹, Iolanda Mangone¹, Andrea Bucciacchio¹, Andrea Polci¹, Giovanni Marini³, Roberto Rosà^{2,3}, Nicola Segata⁵, Gamou Fall⁴, Cesare Cammà¹, Federica Monaco¹, Mawlouth Diallo⁶, Omar Rota-Stabelli^{2,3}, Oumar Faye⁴, Annapaola Rizzoli³, Giovanni Savini¹

¹ Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e del Molise, Teramo, Italy

² Centre Agriculture Food Environment, University of Trento, San Michele all'Adige, Italy

³ Research and Innovation Centre, Fondazione Edmund Mach, San Michele all'Adige, Italy

⁴ Virology Department, Institut Pasteur de Dakar, Senegal

⁵ Department CIBIO, University of Trento, Trento, Italy

⁶ Entomology Department, Institut Pasteur de Dakar, Senegal

[†] These authors contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

* Corresponding author: Giulia Mencattelli (giulia.mencattelli@unitn.it)

4.1 Abstract

Phylogenetic and phylogeographic inferences are considered important tools to uncover the spatial and temporal viral dynamics of viruses. By integrating newly obtained genomic data, previously published NCBI sequences, and detailed geographical observations with phylogenetic and novel phylogeographic inference reconstructions it is nowadays possible to accurately uncover the pattern of viral circulation between countries and continents. Here we focus on West Nile virus (WNV) spread between Africa and Europe, two key continents in the study of this arthropod-borne pathogen that represents an emerging threat to public health worldwide. Particularly, we address our analysis towards lineages 1 (L1) and 2 (L2), considered the most diffused among the eight lineages described until now.

Our study, uncovering the origins and dispersal history of African and European WNV L1 and L2 strains between the two continents, shows two diverse geographical patterns of transmissibility. It highlights: i) a complex structure and unpredictable behavior for WNV L1 strains, with back-and-forth exchanges most between West Africa and Europe, particularly through an ideal corridor connecting Senegal, Morocco, and Southern-Western Mediterranean countries; and ii) WNV L2 homogeneity, with one main independent introduction from South Africa to Hungary, from where the virus spread and established in Europe. Finally, we suggest the two WNV L1 and L2 migratory routes between Africa and Europe to overlap two important Afro-Palearctic bird migratory flyways, making assumptions about the connection between the two lineage's diverse evolutionary history and the role of bird species on L1 and L2 trans-continental diffusion. Future innovative studies coupling bird species susceptibility, migratory connectivity patterns, and viral phylogeographic inferences are suggested to uncover the dynamics of emerging viruses, possibly preventing future outbreaks at a global scale.

4.2 Keywords

West Nile virus lineage; phylogeny; phylogeography; evolution; Europe; Africa

4.3 Introduction

Phylogenetic analyses and phylogeographic inference reconstructions integrating detailed geographical observations at high-resolution scale can provide valuable insight into the spatial dynamics of pathogens in a geographic and temporal context [1]. Starting from virus genome data and inferring continuous phylogeographic diffusion through space and time, Bayesian statistical approaches are nowadays precious for monitoring the viral spread between diverse geographic areas of the world and providing relevant information for epidemic prediction and preparedness [2]. This approach is particularly interesting for viruses known to be carried by migratory birds crossing vast distances across the globe, and playing a crucial role in pathogen ecology, circulation, and spread [3]. West Nile virus (WNV) is one of the most widely distributed viruses in the world, whose geographical expansion has been associated with migrating wild birds [3,4]. Considered one of the main One Health challenges, this arthropod-borne virus belonging to the genus *Flavivirus*, family *Flaviviridae*, and Japanese Encephalitis serocomplex, is maintained in nature through a transmission cycle involving wild birds and vector competent mosquitoes [5]. Although in most bird infection generally does not lead to severe clinical signs, in some susceptible species it might cause severe neurological signs [6,7]. Competent infected mosquitoes, mainly belonging to the Culex genus, can transmit the virus to humans and other animals, with an increasing rate and impact on human and animal health worldwide [8]. Infected humans are mostly asymptomatic, but in 20% of cases the infection can lead to febrile illness (West Nile Fever (WNF)), and in 1% of cases, mainly in elderly or immunocompromised people, to severe and sometimes fatal neurological disease (West Nile virus neuroinvasive disease (WNND)) [9]. Public health concerns also lie with the possible impact that WNV infection might have on blood transfusion and organ transplantation (https://www.cdc.gov/westnile/transmission/bloodorgan.html). WNV might as well represent a serious economic issue and source of emotional distress if horses are infected. In this species, infections can cause severe neurological disorders with a high mortality rate (33%) [10].

First identified in Africa in 1937, WNV is characterized by high genetic diversity. At least 8 lineages are described in the world, 4 of which are circulating in Africa [lineage 1 (L1 or L1a), lineage 2 (L2), lineage 7 (L7 - nowadays classified as the Koutango virus), and putative lineage 8 (L8)] [10]. In Europe, L1 and L2 strains are the most prevalent [11]. According to phylogenetic studies on WNV strains, connections between Africa and Europe appear evident. It seems that some European epidemics were the result of WNV African strain introductions. With regard to WNV L1, the first introduction probably occurred more than 25 years ago from Northern-Western African countries to Italy or France, where the strain was first detected in 1998 and 2000, respectively [10,12]. WNV L2, instead, was first introduced in Hungary in 2004 [11] but its origins are still uncertain [10,13]. Following these first introductions and probably after few other introductory events, both lineages spread and established in many European countries. In 2022, they were responsible for 965 human cases and 115 deaths (https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/west-nile-fever/surveillance-and-disease-data/disease-data-ecdc) [10].

Despite the existence of numerous studies focusing on WNV circulation [14–16,10], little has been revealed about the genetic relationships of WNV L1 and L2 European and African strains. This study aims to uncover the viral spread of the two lineages between Africa and Europe, which are two key continents to study the ecology and evolution of this pathogen. Specifically, we aim to (i) provide a new dataset of genomes, including sequences from Italy collected between 2021 and 2022 and Senegal from 2006 to 2016; and ii) describe the dispersal dynamics of the two lineages in Africa and Europe

through time and space. These data might be very useful for the scientific community and public health authorities to address future research studies and novel control strategies.

4.4 Materials and Methods

4.4.1 Sample collection in Senegal and Italy

In Italy, sample activities were carried out between 2001 and 2022 under the national surveillance plan coordinated by the Ministry of Health, the Istituto Superiore di Sanità (epidemiology and national reference laboratory, human), and the Istituto Zooprofilattico of Abruzzo and Molise (IZS-Teramo) (epidemiology and national reference laboratory, animal/entomology) (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/home, https://www.epicentro.iss.it/westnile/), as previously described [17]. In Senegal, sample activities were carried out by the Institut Pasteur de Dakar (IPD-Dakar) in collaboration with the Ministry of Health, within the mosquito-based arbovirus surveillance system and a sentinel syndromic surveillance network (4S). Both surveillance plans, in place since 1988 [18] and 2015 [19] respectively, aim at better understanding the transmission dynamics of arboviruses including WNV in the country [12].

4.4.2 Sample analysis

4.4.2.1 <u>Tissue Homogenisation, Viral stock preparation, RNA extraction, Real-time RT-PCR</u>

At IZS-Teramo, pools of bird organs and mosquito pools were homogenized in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with antibiotics. WNV strains were obtained from birds' internal organs or mosquito pool homogenates after one passage on C6/36 cell lines and one to two passages on Vero monolayer cell lines followed by an infection [20]. Viral RNA was extracted by using the MagMAX CORE Nucleic Acid Purification KIT (Applied Biosystem, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Life Technologies

Corporation, TX, USA) and amplified by multiplex real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reactions (qRT-PCR) to detect WNV L1, WNV L2, and Usutu virus, by using the Superscript III Platinum OneStep qRT-PCR System (Invitrogen) as previously described [21].

At IPD-Dakar, arthropod and human samples derived from the WHO Collaborating Center for arboviruses and hemorrhagic fever viruses (CRORA) have been collected from the field. WNV strains were obtained after infection of C6/36 monolayer cells with homogenized mosquito pools, followed by indirect Immunofluorescence assay (using in-house hyper immune mouse ascitic fluids, as previously described [12]. To confirm WNV detection, the extraction of viral RNA was performed with the QIAamp viral RNA mini kit (Qiagen, Heiden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Viral RNAs were amplified by qRT-PCR with the Quantitect reverse transcription kit (Qiagen, Heiden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions and a consensus WNV RT-PCR assay [22].

4.4.3 Sequence retrieval and dataset preparation

In Italy and Senegal, 19 WNV L2 Italian samples, collected between 2021 and 2022, and 7 WNV L1 and 3 WNV L2 Senegalese samples, obtained between 2006 and 2016, were processed at IZS-Teramo and IPD-Dakar by Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) technology, as fully described in detail in [12,23]. Briefly, the complete WNV genomes were obtained from RT-PCR positive samples by using the high-throughput sequencing technique in the Miseq device (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). The total RNA was treated with TURBO DNase (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at 37 °C for 20 min, and then purified by an RNA Clean & ConcentratorTM-5 Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA). The purified RNA was used for the assessment of sequencing independent single primer amplification protocol (SISPA) [12,23]. The PCR product was purified using the Molecular Biology Kit BioBasic (Biobasic inc., Markham, ON, Canada), and then quantified by using the Qubit® DNA

HS Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) [23]. The sample was diluted to obtain a concentration of 100–500 ng and used for library preparation by using the Illumina DNA Prep kit (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol [12,23]. Thus, the obtained libraries were each identified by indexes (Nextera XT index kit V2, Illumina) and then pooled at the same concentration. Whole-genome sequencing was performed with paired-end reads using the Illumina MiSeq reagent kit v2 (300 cycles) on an Illumina MiSeq instrument, as previously described [12,23]. The consensus sequences were obtained using iVar v 1.3.1 [24] after trimmed reads were mapped to the WNV L2 MN652880 (Greece, 2018) and WNV L1 FJ483548 (Italy, 2008) reference sequences, by using Snippy (https://github.com/tseemann/snippy).

Furthermore, 10 WNV L1 and 10 WNV L2 whole genome sequences, obtained from samples collected in Senegal between 1985 and 2018, have been shared by the Institut Pasteur Dakar of Senegal and added to the dataset. The final dataset also included 30 WNV L1 and 45 L2 whole genome sequences, obtained at IZS-Teramo between 2008 and 2022, which were downloaded from the Supplementary Materials of [17] and [Origin and evolution of West Nile virus lineage 1 in Italy].

By using a custom R script for automatic sequence retrieval, a new search has been conducted on the NCBI on 04/01/23, and 37 newly published worldwide WNV L1 and 39 WNV L2 sequences ≥ 200 nt have been downloaded.

4.4.4 Sequence quality-filtering and formatting

Quality-filtering was performed as previously described [17], but no sequences were removed because they did not contain a percentage of ambiguous bases above 10%. A total of 229 WNV L1 and 298 WNV L2 genomes, 188 of which came from Italy (81 L1 and 97 L2) and 31 from Senegal (18 L1 and 13 L2), were selected for further analysis. A table of sequence curated metadata can be found in Supplementary Table S4.1.

4.4.5 Alignment, recombination detection and model selection

Sequence alignment was conducted using MAFFTv7 (https://mafft.cbrc.jp/alignment/server/) and aligned sequences were trimmed using trimAlv2 [25]. Suspected recombinant sequences (the L1 sequence OP846974.1 and L2 sequence OK239667.1) were identified by running the RDP4 program [26] and excluded from the final dataset. Modelfinder program [27] was used to carry out a model selection analysis, using parameters "-T AUTO -m TESTONLY". The best-fit model for both the worldwide and the Bayesian down-sampled datasets was GTR+F+I+G4, chosen according to both Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC).

4.4.6 Maximum-likelihood phylogenies

A maximum likelihood phylogeny of the dataset including the 228 WNV L1 and 297 L2 sequences was reconstructed by using RAxMLv8.2.12 [28], with commands "-p 1989 -m GTRGAMMAI -x 2483 -# 100 -f a -T 20". Clades were annotated using the resulting topology when having bootstrap supports \geq 90%.

4.4.7 Molecular clock and phylogeographic analysis

Molecular clock analysis was conducted by sub-selecting 4 sequences of each subclade belonging to the highly supported group shown in the maximum likelihood tree of Supplementary Fig. S4.1. The selection was made based on genetic divergence (as many sequences were almost identical), year and location. Phylogeography was reconstructed by using continuous traits (latitudinal and longitudinal coordinates for each sequence) in BEASTv1.10.4 [29]. Both analyses are accurately described in [17], with the only difference of the tree prior, which was set as constant coalescent due to the large set of parameters to be estimated. Convergence was assessed using Tracer V1.7.1 [30], making sure that all parameters were above a significance threshold of ESS (>200). Spatiotemporal patterns of WNV evolution were visualized using SpreaD3 [31].

A table of geographic coordinates used for the phylogeographic analysis can be found in Supplementary Table S4.2.

4.5 Results

4.5.1 Genome sequence analysis

Illumina sequencing produced an average total number of 2,330,817 trimmed reads. The numbers of mapped reads (151 nucleotides [nt] in length) ranged from 238,259 to 1,035,983, with coverage depth ranging from 2,770.45× to 6,862.12×. Consensus sequences were characterized by 19 WNV L2 Italian samples, collected between 2021 and 2022, and 7 WNV L1 and 3 WNV L2 Senegalese samples, 2006 obtained between and 2016, that were uploaded **BankIT** NCBI to (https://submit.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/about/bankit/) the 20th of June 2022, the 27th of October 2022, and the 15th of November 2022, respectively.

4.5.2 Phylogenetic and phylogeographic inferences of WNV

Two phylogenetic and phylogeographic inferences of the WNV L1 and L2 genome sequences were obtained, separately.

4.5.2.1 <u>Phylogenetic inference of WNV L1</u>

Our maximum likelihood phylogeny and molecular clock analyses highlighted most of the WNV L1 American, European, Middle Eastern, Asian, and African strains to be included inside one major clade, clade 1A (Supplementary Fig. S4.1). Fig. S4.1 identifies seven additional clusters within clade 1A.

Cluster 1 includes the first WNV L1 strain recovered in Africa in Egypt in 1951 (Genbank AF260968) and strains circulating in Israel (1953), Russia (1963), Azerbaijan (1967-70), India (1968, 2015), and Portugal (1971).

Cluster 2 contains more recent isolates. Particularly, three major sub-clusters are defined within this cluster: i) the Western-Mediterranean (W-Med), including strains (the chronological order of detection) of Morocco (1996 and 2003), Italy (1998 - 2022), Israel (2000), France (2000, 2004, and 2015), Portugal (2004), Spain (2007, 2008, 2010, and 2020), and Senegal (2012 - 2018); ii) the Eastern-European, with strains of Romania (1996) and Russia (1999 - 2006); and iii) a group of strains from Kenya (1998 and 2010), Senegal (1990), Zambia (2019), United Arab Emirates (2015), and Cyprus (2016). Our maximum-likelihood identifies two further main groups of sequences (WMed-1 and WMed-2) within the W-Med subtype. These groups are slightly different from the early and less evolved WMed WNV strains of Morocco (1996), France and Israel (2000), already proposed by [32], strains collected in Italy between 2011 and 2013 (Livenza, Ancona, Piave) and the more divergent strain from Senegal of 2012 (Genbank ON813216) (Fig. 4.1 and Supplementary Fig. S4.1).



Figure 4.1 Phylogenetic inference of West Nile virus lineage 1 strains

A) Geographic diffusion pattern of 80 WNV L1 genomes and their ancestors was reconstructed. Black areas correspond to the 80% HPDs of the inferred location. The time of each area or sample is indicated with different shades (black for areas and red for dots), with the oldest samples corresponding to the most intense shade. B) A molecular clock shows phylogenetic relationships between the same 80 WNV L1 genomes. Yellow dots indicate nodes with posterior probability < 0.6, while 95% HPDs of the median ages are indicated with blue bars. The time of the most recent common ancestor (TMRCA) for clade 1A was estimated to be around 1907. On the right, bars highlight 4 groups of interest: cluster 2, Western Mediterranean clade 1 and Western Mediterranean clade 2.

The WMed-1 within the WMed sub-cluster includes most of the strains collected since 2003 from Morocco (2003), Portugal (2004), France (2004), Italy (2008 - 2022), Spain (2010 and 2020), and Senegal (2012 - 2018). The WMed-2 comprises one isolate from Italy (1998) and three from Spain (2007 and 2008) (Fig. 4.1). The WMed-1 and 2 appear to be all rooted in the strain of France of 2000 (Genbank AY268132).

Cluster 3 includes strains from Russia (1999), India (2011), and China (2011) while cluster 4 contains a large group of strains from Senegal (1990), Tunisia (1997), America (1999-2019), Israel (1998 and 2000), Hungary (2003), and Belgium (2014).

Cluster 5 includes strains from Nigeria and Senegal in 1965 and 1979, respectively.

Cluster 6 contains strains from the Central African Republic (CAR; 1967) and Turkey (2011).

Cluster 7 includes strains from Senegal (1996) and Spain (2017).

Our analysis shows clusters 2, 3, 4, 6, and 7 to be rooted in the two ancient sequences from Nigeria and Senegal included in cluster 5 (Fig 4.1 and Supplementary Fig. S4.1). It is also shown that all strains within cluster 2 are rooted by the 1989 Senegalese strain (Genbank OP846971), with bootstrap support = 100. Moreover, within cluster 2 WMed-1 subtype, a close genetic similarity is shown by a group of ten strains of Senegal (2012-18) and one strain of France of 2015, which cluster together, and appear to be closely related to a group of 2021-22 Italian sequences (bootstrap support = 1). Finally, the WNV strains collected in 2020 and 2022 from Campania region (Italy) (Genbank MW627239 and OP850023) are closely related to one strain of Senegal of 2012 (Genbank ON813215), which in turn are genetically similar to a group of strains of Italy (2008, 2009 and 2011) and Spain (2020).

4.5.2.2 <u>Phylogeographic inference of WNV L1</u>

Our phylogeographic inference evidences all strains included in Clade 1A to have originated from the African continent (Fig. 4.1), where the oldest strain recovered appears to be the one of Egypt of 1951 (Genbank AF260968). In particular, it is likely that the WNV L1 clade 1A African ancestor has originated in the 1900s in a North-Western area of Africa (median=1906.85; 95% HPD: 1849.68, 1940.28). From this area, WNV L1 of clade 1A probably spread around the 1940s into two opposite directions, towards Egypt (median=1948.89) and towards Western-Central Africa (median=1943.53), forming genetically related clusters and sub-clusters that are nowadays spread all over the World (Fig. 4.1 and Supplementary Fig. S4.1).

Within cluster 2, the common ancestor of the WNV L1 W-Med sub-cluster appears to be most likely located in North Africa, probably Morocco (median=1992.2; 95% HPD: 1988.55 - 1995.17). From this area, few independent introductions to Western-Mediterranean countries are highlighted around the 1990s, stressing the existence of a corridor between Senegal, Morocco, and Western-Mediterranean European countries, such as France and Italy. Moreover, sporadic back introductions between these countries are pointed out. Particularly, our analysis shows i) the Moroccan strain of 2003 to have originated from an area located in North-East of Spain, from where the sequences of Portugal and France of 2004 also probably arrived; ii) the existence of a genetic flow from an area stretching from the North-west of Italy to the South of France to Senegal.

4.5.2.3 Phylogenetic inference of WNV L2

In support of what was previously shown by the literature [33], our maximum-likelihood phylogeny and molecular clock analyses of the entire WNV L2 dataset stress the presence of four well-supported clades including most African and European strains. Clade 2a includes the most genetically divergent

strain of Madagascar of 1978. Clade 2b contains the oldest WNV L2 strain of South Africa of 1958 closely related to a Namibia strain of 2020, other than a strain from Cyprus of 1968. Clade 2c includes strains of Madagascar of 1988. Clade 2d is the largest and it is rooted in a strain of the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) of 1958 (Genbank HM147824) (bootstrap support = 100) (Fig. 4.2 and Supplementary Fig. S4.2).



Figure 4.2 Phylogenetic inference of West Nile virus lineage 2 strains. Clusters 1-4 are indicated with C1-4 codes.

Phylogenetic inference of West Nile virus lineage 2 strains. A) Geographic diffusion pattern of 80 WNV L2 genomes and their ancestors was reconstructed. Black areas correspond to the 80%HPDs of the inferred location. The time of each area or sample is indicated with different shades (black for areas and red for dots), with the oldest samples corresponding to the most intense shade. B) A molecular clock shows phylogenetic relationships between the same 80 WNV L2 genomes. Yellow dots indicate nodes with posterior probability < 0.6, while 95%HPDs of the median ages are indicated with blue bars. The time of the most recent common ancestor (TMRCA) for all WNV L2 sequences included in the analysis was estimated to be around 1742. On the right, bars highlight 6 groups of interest which are considered relevant to our discussion: clusters 1-5 are indicated with C1-5 codes.

Clade 2d includes strains from (chronologically ordered) South Africa, Senegal, Uganda, CAR, Europe, and Russia (Fig. 4.2). Particularly, we define five well-supported clusters within this clade. Cluster 1 contains the two South Africa strains of 1958 and 1977 and a strain of CAR of 1993. It roots Cluster 2 including strains of Russia (2018), Iran (2017 and 2018), other than a little group of strains from Europe, such as Romania (2013 and 2014), Italy (2014), and Hungary (2017). Cluster 3 contains 13 Senegalese strains (1989 - 2006), other than a strain of Ukraine (1980), and is closely related to clusters 4 and 5. Cluster 4 includes South African strains (1989, 2001, and 2008) other than one strain from Uganda (2009) and one from Namibia (2020). Finally, cluster 5 includes all Central-Southern European strains, rooted by the Hungarian sequence of 2004 (Genbank MZ605382) and is rooted by cluster 4 (Fig. 4.2).

4.5.2.4 WNV L2 phylogeographic inference

Our analysis evidenced the WNV L2 common ancestor to be most likely located in South Africa (Fig. 4.2) and to have originated between the 18th and the 19th century (median=1741.6; 95% HPD: 1594.44 - 1864.61). The existence of corridors between African countries, and, in particular, between

South Africa, DRC, Senegal, CAR, and Uganda is also evident (Fig. 4.2). Two major European introductions from Southern Africa are also shown: i) one in Hungary in 2004, from where most of Central - Southern European strains have originated; and ii) a second introductory event which involved Italy and Bulgaria in 2014 (Fig. 4.2).

4.6 Discussion and conclusions

Numerous studies have drawn attention to the circulation of WNV in Africa and Europe, but little has been revealed about the genetic relationships and the introductory event dynamics of WNV L1 and L2 European and African strains [14–16,10]. In this study, we used phylogenetic and phylogeographic inferences to uncover the origins, genetic connections, dispersal history, and geographical patterns of most of the WNV L1 and L2 strains which have circulated and are circulating in both continents.

Amongst the two, WNV L1 is by far the lineage that appears to have the more complex history, with several clades, clusters and sub-clusters, and genetic flows among countries and continents around the world. Previous studies have described three WNV L1 major clades: 1A, which included strains from Africa, Europe, the Middle East, Asia, and America; 1B, which contained Kunjin virus, a virus circulating in Australia; and 1C, which comprised strains from India [11,34]. Within clade 1A, further WNV L1 sub-classifications have been made in the past [35–37], with seven clusters (clusters 1 to 7) recognised, providing evidence of the very complex structure of this lineage. Our phylogenetic analysis is consistent with the previous classification and contributes to giving novel insights into the hierarchical structure of WNV L1 clade 1A (Fig. 4.1 and Supplementary Fig S4.1).

According to our analyses, the WNV strains included in most of the Clade 1A clusters (2, 3, 4, 6, and 7) are likely to originate from Africa, more specifically from West Africa. Clade 1A clusters 2, 3, 4, 6, and 7 are in fact rooted by the two ancient sequences from Nigeria and Senegal included in cluster

5 (Fig 4.1 and Supplementary Fig. S4.1). Going deeper, it is probably of more interest to see cluster 2, which included most European strains to be rooted by the Senegal strain of 1989 (Genbank OP846971) (Fig. 4.1). This means that the first European introduction probably originated from Senegal around the 1990s, as previously reported by Ndione et al. [12]. This supposition is further validated by our phylogeographic inference which not only confirms the middle of North and West Africa as the location of the common ancestor of all WNV L1 Clade 1A strains but also traces its origin back to the 19th/20th century. From this ancestral location, the virus probably spread towards Egypt and Senegal, the latter being at the origin of all WNV strains within the WMed sub-cluster (20th - 21st centuries) (Fig. 4.1).

The 1996 Morocco strain (Genbank AY701412) at the root of the WMed 1 and 2 subtypes implies a Moroccan origin of most of the Western-Mediterranean European WNV L1 strains. It seems to occur around the 1990s and reinforces the previously hypothesized assumption of the existence of a genetic flow between North of Africa (Morocco) and Italy and France [Origin and evolution of West Nile virus lineage 1 in Italy, unpublished manuscript][38].

These findings confirm the presence of a corridor between Senegal, Morocco, and Western-Mediterranean European countries, such as Portugal, Spain, France, and Italy (Fig. 4.1). According to our phylogenetic inference, this is not a one-way corridor as incursions of WNV strains from Europe to Africa have also shown to occur. The WMed 1 and WMed 2 groups within the WMed sub-cluster which includes European, Moroccan (2003), and Senegalese (2012 - 2018) strains are rooted by the 2000 France strain (Fig. 4.1 and Supplementary Fig. S4.1). It appears evident, from our analyses, that the 2003 Morocco strain has originated from an area located in the South of Spain. This is the first time that such an evolutionary relationship has been disclosed. The genetic similarities observed between i) the 2012-2018 Senegalese and 2015 France strains [12], all closely related to the group of

2021-22 Italian sequences; and ii) the 2020-2022 Italian and 2012 Senegalese strains and those from Italy (2008 and 2011) and Spain (2020) (Fig. 4.1) further support this new reconstructive theory.

The evolutionary history of WNV L2 strains is much simpler to describe, with few introductory events from South Africa to Europe and no genetic flow in the opposite direction. Our maximum-likelihood phylogeny and molecular clock analysis stress the presence of several WNV L2 African clades with common origins (Fig. 4.2 and Supplementary Fig. S4.2). Historically, WNV L2 has circulated in Sub-Saharan Africa and Madagascar [39], before spreading to Europe [11,40]. Malagasy strains appear far apart from all the other strains included in this analysis, highlighting the presence of a local cycle probably sustained by resident birds and vector competent mosquitoes on the island, and independent of annual movements of migratory birds [41].

Evolving from permanent and stable local cycles established after the rare incursions into new areas appear to be the main characteristic of the WNV L2 strains. Often, the WNV L2 clade and cluster genetic similarity appear to be related to the specific geographical areas of circulation. This assumption is sustained by most of our WNV L2 strains grouping within the same geographical areas, as shown by i) clade 2a and c, including Madagascar strains only; ii) clade 2b, with most strains from South Africa and Namibia; and iii) clade 2d, including cluster 1, composed by Southern and Central African strains; clusters 3 and 4, constituted respectively by Senegal and Southern African strains (South Africa, Namibia, Uganda) only; and cluster 5, with most Central-Southern European strains grouping together (Fig. 4.2 and Supplementary Fig. S4.2).

Interestingly, our phylogenetic inference shows clades 2c and 2d to be a sister group of clade 2b, which includes the first strain obtained in South Africa in 1958 (Supplementary Fig. S4.2). Moreover, the clade 2d, including many African and European strains, appears to be rooted in the strain of the DRC of 1958, with high posterior support (Fig. 4.2). Particularly, cluster 5 within clade 2d including

the Central-Southern European strains, all rooted by the Hungarian strain of 2004, appears to be closely related to the South African cluster 4. These results stress the existence of a possible connection between South Africa and Europe.

Our phylogeographic inference also confirms this hypothesis, showing WNV L2 common ancestor to have probably originated in South Africa (Fig. 4.2). From there, the WNV L2 strains have probably started spreading among African countries, heading to Madagascar, DRC, CAR, Uganda, and Senegal in the 20th century, and to Europe in the 21st century. The virus, probably carried by long-distance migratory birds, was introduced in Hungary in 2004, where it was first detected, and then spread to many European countries, as shown by previous studies [11,42].

Overall, while WNV L1 evolution history is characterized by a complex behaviour and due to the constant connections between various continents, WNV L2 seems to be less complicated showing only one main independent introduction from Southern African countries (cluster 4) to Europe (cluster 5) and probably another of minor importance. Our maximum likelihood phylogeny shows the existence of a well-supported separate cluster 2 within clade 2b, which includes three European strains (Italy/2014, Romania/2014, Hungary/2017) closely related to the strains of CAR (1993) and South Africa (1958 and 1977) of cluster 1. Our phylogeographic analysis confirms this assumption, stressing the presence of a second flow between Southern African countries and Europe (Italy, Romania, and Hungary) through the CAR, which probably happened around the 21st century. The lineage, once in Europe, started spreading all over the European continent, founding favorable eco-climatic conditions which allowed it to become endemic and a very serious public health concern in numerous regions and countries [17,40].

According to these findings, it is clear that WNV L1 and L2 strains have had very different ecoepidemiological and genetic evolution features. The more complex genomic heterogeneity of WNV
L1 strains might be a consequence of the different time WNV L1 and L2 strains emerged from Africa [43], which in turn might derive by an apparent less inclination to spread from WNV L2 strains. For this reason, WNV L2 might appear to be more conserved than WNV L1 Clade 1A strains.

If we observe the two main Eastern and Western phylogeography and genomic epidemiology of WNV L1 and L2 strains between Africa and Europe, they perfectly overlap two most important Afro-Palearctic bird migratory flyways [44], strongly evidencing the essential role of migrating bird species in introducing WNV. This assumption is confirmed by several studies showing WNV to be carried around by migratory birds [4,10,45] that make magnificent movements across the globe (https://migrationatlas.org/) and, during this natural process, spread the virus from their original niches to new areas [9]. During their annual cycle, in fact, birds cross the borders of numerous countries having multiple stopovers while heading to their breeding and non-breeding grounds [46]. Each species appears to be characterized by a variability in the patterns of migration, creating a complex network of connectivity between Africa and Europe (https://migrationatlas.org/), which might be the basis of the tremendous and variable spread of WNV L1 and L2 strains worldwide. After saying that, it is still difficult to understand the reason why WNV L1 spreads more efficiently than L2, having both lineages the same chance to infect species of birds. A possible explanation could be that WNV L1 and L2 infection in these species might have a different outcome [7,47]. In other words, WNV L2 infection might result in a severe and fatal disease or in a very mild infection with short and low level of viraemia [48–51]. Either way, the host would reduce their capability of transmitting and spreading the infection.

Future coupled study of WNV L1 and L2 different species migratory bird susceptibility, connectivity patterns, and phylogeographic inferences might i) help uncover the dynamics of the two lineages, helping to understand how they spread and from which reservoirs they might be most carried around,

and ii) to prevent and predict future outbreaks, not only of this pathogen, but also of new emerging viruses.

4.7 Bibliography

1. Dellicour S, Lequime S, Vrancken B, Gill MS, Bastide P, Gangavarapu K, et al. Epidemiological hypothesis testing using a phylogeographic and phylodynamic framework. Nat Commun. 2020 Nov 6;11(1):5620.

2. Baele G, Dellicour S, Suchard MA, Lemey P, Vrancken B. Recent advances in computational phylodynamics. Curr Opin Virol. 2018 Aug;31:24–32.

3. Georgopoulou I, Tsiouris V. The potential role of migratory birds in the transmission of zoonoses. Vet Ital. 2008;44(4):671–7.

4. Mancuso E, Cecere JG, Iapaolo F, Di Gennaro A, Sacchi M, Savini G, et al. West Nile and Usutu Virus Introduction via Migratory Birds: A Retrospective Analysis in Italy. Viruses. 2022 Feb;14(2):416.

5. Komar N. West Nile virus: epidemiology and ecology in North America. Adv Virus Res. 2003;61:185–234.

6. Vidaña B, Busquets N, Napp S, Pérez-Ramírez E, Jiménez-Clavero MÁ, Johnson N. The Role of Birds of Prey in West Nile Virus Epidemiology. Vaccines (Basel) [Internet]. 2020 Sep 21 [cited 2021 May 19];8(3). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7564710/

7. Pérez-Ramírez E, Llorente F, Jiménez-Clavero MÁ. Experimental infections of wild birds with West Nile virus. Viruses. 2014 Feb 13;6(2):752–81.

8. Human biting mosquitoes and implications for West Nile virus transmission - PubMed [Internet]. [cited 2023 Feb 16]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36593496/

9. García-Carrasco JM, Muñoz AR, Olivero J, Segura M, Real R. An African West Nile virus risk map for travellers and clinicians. Travel Med Infect Dis. 2022 Dec 19;52:102529.

10. Mencattelli G, Ndione MHD, Rosà R, Marini G, Diagne CT, Diagne MM, et al. Epidemiology of West Nile virus in Africa: An underestimated threat. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2022 Jan 10;16(1):e0010075.

Bakonyi T, Ivanics É, Erdélyi K, Ursu K, Ferenczi E, Weissenböck H, et al. Lineage 1 and 2
 Strains of Encephalitic West Nile Virus, Central Europe. Emerg Infect Dis. 2006 Apr;12(4):618–23.

12. Ndione MHD, Ndiaye EH, Faye M, Diagne MM, Diallo D, Diallo A, et al. Re-Introduction of West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Senegal from Europe and Subsequent Circulation in Human and Mosquito Populations between 2012 and 2021. Viruses. 2022 Dec 6;14(12):2720.

13. García-Carrasco JM, Muñoz AR, Olivero J, Segura M, Real R. Predicting the spatio-temporal spread of West Nile virus in Europe. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2021 Jan 7;15(1):e0009022.

14. Charrel RN, Brault AC, Gallian P, Lemasson JJ, Murgue B, Murri S, et al. Evolutionary relationship between Old World West Nile virus strains. Evidence for viral gene flow between Africa, the Middle East, and Europe. Virology. 2003 Oct 25;315(2):381–8.

 Hayes EB, Komar N, Nasci RS, Montgomery SP, O'Leary DR, Campbell GL. Epidemiology and Transmission Dynamics of West Nile Virus Disease. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005 Aug;11(8):1167– 73.

16. Dellicour S, Lequime S, Vrancken B, Gill MS, Bastide P, Gangavarapu K, et al.

Epidemiological hypothesis testing using a phylogeographic and phylodynamic framework. Nat Commun. 2020 Nov 6;11(1):5620.

17. Mencattelli G, Silverj A, Iapaolo F, Ippoliti C, Teodori L, Gennaro AD, et al. Epidemiological and Evolutionary Analysis of West Nile Virus Lineage 2 in Italy. Viruses. 2023 Jan;15(1):35.

18. Traoré-Lamizana M, Fontenille D, Diallo M, Bâ Y, Zeller HG, Mondo M, et al. Arbovirus surveillance from 1990 to 1995 in the Barkedji area (Ferlo) of Senegal, a possible natural focus of Rift Valley fever virus. J Med Entomol. 2001 Jul;38(4):480–92.

19. Performance of case definitions and clinical predictors for influenza surveillance among patients followed in a rural cohort in Senegal - PubMed [Internet]. [cited 2023 Feb 14]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33413174/

20. Digoutte JP, Calvo-Wilson MA, Mondo M, Traore-Lamizana M, Adam F. Continuous cell lines and immune ascitic fluid pools in arbovirus detection. Res Virol. 1992;143(6):417–22.

21. Del Amo J, Sotelo E, Fernández-Pinero J, Gallardo C, Llorente F, Agüero M, et al. A novel quantitative multiplex real-time RT-PCR for the simultaneous detection and differentiation of West Nile virus lineages 1 and 2, and of Usutu virus. Journal of Virological Methods. 2013 May 1;189(2):321–7.

22. Fall G, Faye M, Weidmann M, Kaiser M, Dupressoir A, Ndiaye EH, et al. Real-Time RT-PCR Assays for Detection and Genotyping of West Nile Virus Lineages Circulating in Africa. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2016;16(12):781–9.

23. Mencattelli G, Iapaolo F, Monaco F, Fusco G, de Martinis C, Portanti O, et al. West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Italy: Newly Introduced or a Re-Occurrence of a Previously Circulating Strain? Viruses.

2022 Jan;14(1):64.

24. Grubaugh ND, Gangavarapu K, Quick J, Matteson NL, De Jesus JG, Main BJ, et al. An amplicon-based sequencing framework for accurately measuring intrahost virus diversity using PrimalSeq and iVar. Genome Biology. 2019 Jan 8;20(1):8.

25. Capella-Gutiérrez S, Silla-Martínez JM, Gabaldón T. trimAl: a tool for automated alignment trimming in large-scale phylogenetic analyses. Bioinformatics. 2009 Aug 1;25(15):1972–3.

26. Martin DP, Murrell B, Golden M, Khoosal A, Muhire B. RDP4: Detection and analysis of recombination patterns in virus genomes. Virus Evol. 2015;1(1):vev003.

27. Kalyaanamoorthy S, Minh BQ, Wong TKF, von Haeseler A, Jermiin LS. ModelFinder: fast model selection for accurate phylogenetic estimates. Nat Methods. 2017 Jun;14(6):587–9.

28. Stamatakis A. RAxML version 8: a tool for phylogenetic analysis and post-analysis of large phylogenies. Bioinformatics. 2014 May 1;30(9):1312–3.

29. Suchard MA, Lemey P, Baele G, Ayres DL, Drummond AJ, Rambaut A. Bayesian phylogenetic and phylodynamic data integration using BEAST 1.10. Virus Evol. 2018 Jan;4(1):vey016.

30. Rambaut A, Drummond AJ, Xie D, Baele G, Suchard MA. Posterior Summarization in Bayesian Phylogenetics Using Tracer 1.7. Syst Biol. 2018 Sep 1;67(5):901–4.

31. SpreaD3: Interactive Visualization of Spatiotemporal History and Trait Evolutionary
Processes - PubMed [Internet]. [cited 2023 Feb 27]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27189542/

32. Sotelo E, Fernández-Pinero J, Llorente F, Vázquez A, Moreno A, Agüero M, et al. Phylogenetic relationships of Western Mediterranean West Nile virus strains (1996–2010) using full-length genome sequences: single or multiple introductions? Journal of General Virology. 2011;92(11):2512–22.

33. McMullen AR, Albayrak H, May FJ, Davis CT, Beasley DWC, Barrett ADT. Molecular evolution of lineage 2 West Nile virus. J Gen Virol. 2013 Feb;94(Pt 2):318–25.

34. Phylogenetic analysis of West Nile virus genome, Iran - PubMed [Internet]. [cited 2023 Feb
14]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25061976/

35. Aguilera-Sepúlveda P, Gómez-Martín B, Agüero M, Jiménez-Clavero MÁ, Fernández-Pinero J. A new cluster of West Nile virus lineage 1 isolated from a northern goshawk in Spain. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2022 Sep;69(5):3121–7.

36. May FJ, Davis CT, Tesh RB, Barrett ADT. Phylogeography of West Nile virus: from the cradle of evolution in Africa to Eurasia, Australia, and the Americas. J Virol. 2011 Mar;85(6):2964–74.

37. Santos, P. D., Günther, A., Keller, M., Homeier-Bachmann, T., Groschup, M. H., Beer, M., Höper, D., & Ziegler, U. (2023). An advanced sequence clustering and designation workflow reveals the enzootic maintenance of a dominant West Nile virus subclade in Germany. Virus evolution, 9(1), vead013. https://doi.org/10.1093/ve/vead013

38. Schuffenecker I, Peyrefitte CN, el Harrak M, Murri S, Leblond A, Zeller HG. West Nile Virus in Morocco, 2003. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005 Feb;11(2):306–9.

39. Mann BR, McMullen AR, Swetnam DM, Barrett ADT. Molecular Epidemiology and Evolution of West Nile Virus in North America. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2013

40. Hernández-Triana LM, Jeffries CL, Mansfield KL, Carnell G, Fooks AR, Johnson N. Emergence of West Nile Virus Lineage 2 in Europe: A Review on the Introduction and Spread of a Mosquito-Borne Disease. Front Public Health [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2021 Feb 16];2. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2014.00271/full

41. Tantely ML, Goodman SM, Rakotondranaivo T, Boyer S. Review of West Nile virus circulation and outbreak risk in Madagascar: Entomological and ornithological perspectives. Parasite. 2016;23:49.

42. Beck C, Leparc Goffart I, Franke F, Gonzalez G, Dumarest M, Lowenski S, et al. Contrasted Epidemiological Patterns of West Nile Virus Lineages 1 and 2 Infections in France from 2015 to 2019. Pathogens. 2020 Oct 30;9(11).

43. Zehender G, Veo C, Ebranati E, Carta V, Rovida F, Percivalle E, et al. Reconstructing the recent West Nile virus lineage 2 epidemic in Europe and Italy using discrete and continuous phylogeography. PLoS ONE. 2017;12(7):e0179679.

44. Broad-scale patterns of the Afro-Palaearctic landbird migration - Briedis - 2020 - Global Ecology and Biogeography - Wiley Online Library [Internet]. [cited 2023 Feb 25]. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/geb.13063

45. Rappole J. Migratory Birds and Spread of West Nile Virus in the Western Hemisphere. Emerg Infect Dis. 2000 Aug;6(4):319–28.

46. Guilherme JL, Jones VR, Catry I, Beal M, Dias MP, Oppel S, et al. Connectivity between countries established by landbirds and raptors migrating along the African-Eurasian flyway. Conserv

Biol. 2023 Feb;37(1):e14002.

47. Tolsá MJ, García-Peña GE, Rico-Chávez O, Roche B, Suzán G. Macroecology of birds potentially susceptible to West Nile virus. Proc Biol Sci. 2018 Dec 19;285(1893):20182178.

48. Vaughan JA, Newman RA, Turell MJ. Bird species define the relationship between West Nile viremia and infectiousness to Culex pipiens mosquitoes. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2022 Oct 6;16(10):e0010835.

49. Gamino V, Höfle U. Pathology and tissue tropism of natural West Nile virus infection in birds: a review. Vet Res. 2013;44(1):39.

50. Pathogenesis of West Nile Virus Lineage 2 in Domestic Geese after Experimental Infection -PubMed [Internet]. [cited 2023 Feb 27]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35746790/

51. Mencattelli G, Iapaolo F, Polci A, Marcacci M, Di Gennaro A, Teodori L, et al. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Overwintering in Italy. Tropical Medicine and Infectious Disease. 2022 Aug;7(8):160.

4.8 Supplementary Materials

All supplementary files including supplementary Figs. S4.1 and S4.2 (Maximum-likelihood phylogeny of WNV L1 and L2 strains) and Tables S4.1 and S4.2 (curated sequence metadata and geographic coordinates) can be found at 10.6084/m9.figshare.22182490.

Supplementary Figure S4.1. Maximum likelihood phylogeny of 228 WNV L1 genomes. Nodes with bootstrap supports (BS) lower than 50 are depicted with yellow dots. A scale bar at the bottom of the figure indicates the number of substitutions per site. All samples belong to clade 1, which is divided into different clusters (C1-C7) highlighted with colour bars on the right. Other relevant groups mentioned in the discussion are annotated in

the same way: Eastern-European clade (EEC), Western Mediterranean clade (WMed, which is divided into 2 subclades, WMed1 and WMed2) and the Italian clade sampled near Livenza in 2011-2013.

Supplementary Figure S4.2. Maximum likelihood phylogeny of 297 WNV L2 genomes. Nodes with bootstrap supports (BS) lower than 50 are depicted with yellow dots. A scale bar at the bottom of the figure indicates the number of substitutions per site. Clades (2a-d) are indicated by coloured bars on the right side of the figure. Clade 2d is further divided into 5 clusters, annotated with black bars on the right side of the figure.

4.9 Author contributions

Conceptualization, G.M., M.H.D.D., M.M.D., A.R., R.R., O.F., F.M., and G.S.; methodology, G.M., A.S., M.H.D.D., and G.S.; validation, F.M., A.S., G.M., M.H.D.D., M.M.D., O.F., A.R., and G.S.; formal analysis, A.S., and G.M.; investigation, L.T., A.L., V.C., M.D.D., M.H.D.D., M.A., B.S., V.D.L., A.P., M.M.D., M.D., A.G., E.H.N., and G.M.; resources, G.S., A.R., and O.F. ; data curation, F.I., A.S., V.C., I.M., A.B., M.M.D., M.H.D.D., and G.M.; writing G.M.; original draft preparation, G.M., M.H.D.D., A.S., and G.S.; writing—review and editing, F.M., M.H.D.D., A.R., O.F., M.M.D., O.R.T., and G.S.; visualization, A.S., G.M., F.I., L.T., A.L., A.P., I.M., A.B., V.C., M.D.D., M.A., B.S., V.D.L., M.M., C.C., G.Mar., R.R., F.M., N.S., M.D., A.G., E.H.N, G.F., A.R., O.R.S., O.F., and G.S.; supervision, O.R.S., F.M., A.R., O.F., M.H.D.D., M.M.D., and G.S.; project administration, G.S.; funding acquisition, G.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

4.10 Data availability statement

All scripts used to perform this analysis are available at the https://github.com/andrea-silverj/WNV-Afr_Eur GitHub repository. All scripts used to perform this analysis are available at the https://figshare.com/account/home#/projects/160822. Particularly, alignments used for the model selection phylogenetic analysis, analysis, and tree files can be found at 10.6084/m9.figshare.22182418; phylogeographic inference tree files, geographic coordinates, and videos can be found at 10.6084/m9.figshare.22182409; supplementary files including supplementary Figs. S4.1 and S4.2 (Maximum-likelihood phylogeny of WNV L1 and L2 strains) and Tables S4.1 and S4.2 (curated sequence metadata and geographic coordinates) can be found at 10.6084/m9.figshare.22182490. Figures 4.1 and 4.2 can be found at 10.6084/m9.figshare.22182388.

4.11 Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge all personnel in the lab and the field for their skill and technical support. Special thanks to the WHO Collaborating Center for arboviruses and hemorrhagic fever viruses (CRORA) in the Institut Pasteur de Dakar, and in particular to Arame Ba, Moussa Dia, Oumar Ndiaye, Diogop Camara and Chérif Sylla for their constant work and support during the diagnostic activities.

The contents of this publication are the sole responsibility of the authors and don't necessarily reflect the views of the European Commission.

4.12 Funding

This research was funded by the Italian Ministry of Health, the law on 19 January 2001. This research was financially supported by an international Ph.D. initiative including Fondazione Edmund Mach, University of Trento, and Istituto Zooprofilattico of Teramo.

4.13 Conflict of interest

All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

CHAPTER 5. WEST NILE VIRUS LINEAGE 1 IN ITALY: NEWLY INTRODUCED OR A RE-OCCURRENCE OF A PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATING STRAIN?

Viruses, 14(1), 64. https://doi.org/10.3390/v14010064 (2021)

by

Giulia Mencattelli^{1,2,3,*}, Federica Iapaolo¹, Federica Monaco¹, Giovanna Fusco⁴, Claudio de Martinis⁴, Ottavio Portanti¹, Annapia Di Gennaro¹, Valentina Curini¹, Andrea Polci¹, Shadia Berjaoui¹, Elisabetta Di Felice¹, Roberto Rosà², Annapaola Rizzoli³ and Giovanni Savini¹

¹ Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e del Molise, Teramo, 64100, Italy;

² Center Agriculture Food Environment, University of Trento, Trento, 38098, Italy;

³ Fondazione Edmund Mach, San Michele all'Adige, Trento, 38098, Italy;

⁴ Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale del Mezzogiorno, Napoli, 80055, Italy

5.1 Abstract

In Italy, West Nile virus (WNV) appeared for the first time in the Tuscany region in 1998. After 10 years of absence, it re-appeared in the areas surrounding the Po River delta, affecting eight provinces in three regions. Thereafter, WNV epidemics caused by genetically divergent isolates have been documented every year in the country. Since 2018, only WNV Lineage 2 has been reported in the Italian territory. In October 2020, WNV Lineage 1 (WNV-L1) re-emerged in Italy, in the Campania region. This is the first occurrence of WNV-L1 detection in the Italian territory since 2017. WNV was detected in the internal organs of a goshawk (*Accipiter gentilis*) and a kestrel (*Falco tinnunculus*). The RNA extracted in the goshawk tissue samples was sequenced, and a Bayesian phylogenetic analysis was performed by a maximum-likelihood tree. Genome analysis, conducted on the goshawk WNV complete genome sequence, indicates that the strain belongs to the WNV-L1 Western-Mediterranean (WMed) cluster. Moreover, a close phylogenetic similarity is observed between the goshawk strain, the 2008–2011 group of Italian sequences, and European strains belonging to the WMed cluster. Our results evidence the possibility of both a new re-introduction or unnoticed silent circulation in Italy, and the strong importance of keeping the WNV surveillance system in the Italian territory active.

5.2 Keywords

Arbovirus; WNV; WNV-L1; Italy; surveillance; whole genome sequencing; phylogenetic analysis

5.3 Introduction

West Nile virus (WNV) is a mosquito borne single-stranded RNA virus, a member of the Japanese encephalitis (JE) serocomplex belonging to the genus *Flavivirus* within the *Flaviviridae* family [1]. WNV is maintained in nature through an endemic cycle which involves mosquitoes (Diptera; Culicidae) as vectors, and birds as reservoir hosts [2]. Humans and horses are considered "dead-end"

hosts: they may develop disease; however, they are not able to infect vectors, and maintain the virus in the environment [3]. To date, eight different lineages of WNV have been described [4]. Lineages 1 and 2, often associated with cases of encephalitis in humans and horses, are by far those most widespread in Europe and the Mediterranean basin [5–8].

In Europe, WNV lineage 1 (WNV-L1) circulation was first evidenced in the 1960s in France, Portugal, and Cyprus [8–10]. Thirty years later, cases associated to WNV-L1 infection were reported in humans and horses in North African, Western, and Eastern European countries [8]. The WNV-L1 strains responsible for the Morocco (1996), Italy (1998), Israel (1998), and France (2000) human and horse cases [11–16] grouped into the Western-Mediterranean (WMed) clade, whereas those responsible for the Romanian (1996) and Russian (1999) human cases clustered in the Eastern-European clade [17-19]. A strong relationship has been observed between the WNV-L1 Israeli and Northern African strains which emerged in the Mediterranean region in the late 1990s, and the ones responsible for the 1999 New York epidemics, suggesting a viral flow between North Africa and North America via the Middle East [20]. In the early 2000s, WNV-L1 outbreaks were again recorded in Morocco, France, and Romania [16,21–23]. Starting from 2005, however, WNV lineage 2 (WNV-L2) strains belonging to the Hungarian and Volgograd clades started spreading to some South-Eastern and Eastern European countries [24-30]. In some regions, co-circulation of both WNV-L1 and L2 were observed [8,24,29,31–33]. Following the WNV-L2 incursions and spread, the circulation of WNV-L1 strains was less frequently observed. From 2010, it was reported in Morocco, Algeria, Tunisia, Spain, and Portugal [34-39]. Eastern WNV-L1 strains instead kept circulating in Romania, and spread in Bulgaria and Ukraine [27,40,41]. Human and horse infections with Eastern WNV-L1 strains were also reported in Turkey in 2010 and following years [42,43]. In recent years, WNV-L1 circulation appeared to be limited to Northern African countries, the Iberian Peninsula, Cyprus, Turkey, Israel, and Serbia [36-39,44-50].

In Italy, WNV-L1 emerged for the first time in the Tuscany region in 1998 [12,13]. Since then, the Italian Ministry of Health implemented a national veterinary surveillance plan for monitoring WNV in areas at risk of viral introduction and circulation [32]. The surveillance system did not detect any relevant WNV circulation until 2008, when WNV-L1 was identified in mosquitoes, birds, horses, and humans in the area surrounding the Po River delta [51]. Since 2008, WNV epidemics caused by genetically divergent isolates have been registered every year [29,52]. The phylogenetic analysis of the isolates confirmed the hypothesis of the virus overwintering, and the endemization in local host populations [53,54]. Between 2010 and 2011, WNV-L1 circulation further spread into Southern Italy, involving Sicily, Apulia, Calabria, Basilicata, and Sardinia regions [32,52,55]. Partial genome sequencing showed that strains isolated in the same area in 2011 were almost identical, but divergent from those responsible for the outbreak in Northern Italy in 2008–2009 [56,57] which, conversely, appeared strictly related to the WNV strains circulating in Europe and Israel from late 2004 to 2011 [55]. In 2011, WNV-L2 was first reported in Italy [31,58,59]. Since then, WNV-L1 circulation was reported only sporadically in birds and mosquito pools from North-Eastern regions (2012–2014, 2017) and Sardinia (2015–2016) [32]. In Italy, WNV-L1 was last detected in a mosquito pool collected in the Piacenza 2017 province in (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/wndItalia;jsessionid=D0C9EB639E7C322D0EFC34ECEB8E4D8E). According to a risk-based ranking of the Italian provinces, wild birds, mainly corvids (Eurasian jay, Garrulus glandarius; Carrion crow, Corvus corone; and Magpie, Pica pica), poultry, horses, and

mosquitoes, are constantly sampled to obtain an early detection of WNV circulation and reduce the risk of human transmission. To date, 16 out of the 20 Italian regions are considered endemic (Italian epidemiological reports).

In October 2020, the WNV-L1 strain re-emerged in Italy, notably in the Campania region. Within the wildlife monitoring plan of the Campania region (PGMFS) and the National Plan for Prevention,

Surveillance, and Response to Arbovirus 2020–2025, WNV-L1, was detected in two wild birds, a kestrel (*Falco tinnunculus*) and a goshawk (*Accipiter gentilis*), found in Naples and Caserta provinces, respectively. This is the first occurrence of WNV-L1 detection in migratory and resident raptor birds since 2018.

In this paper, we describe the two cases, and characterize by whole genome sequencing (WGS) and phylogenetic analysis the WNV-L1 responsible for the goshawk infection.

5.4 Materials and Methods

5.4.1 Bird conditions and laboratory analyses

In October 2020, two wild birds, a kestrel and a goshawk, were found in critical conditions in Naples (Somma Vesuviana municipality 40.878958, 14.426694) and Caserta (Trentola Ducenta municipality 40.976368, 14.1664) provinces, respectively (Figure 5.1). The two birds, immediately transferred to the Regional Center for Wild Animals (CRAS) for rescue operations, died 48 h after the transfer. In detail, at the time of admission at the clinic, the kestrel was in a comatose state showing mydriasis. The radiography also evidenced the fracture of the tibia, and the presence of two bullet fragments. At the time of acceptance, the goshawk showed head injury, head tilt, and right lower limb ataxia. Necropsies were carried out, and selected tissues (heart, kidney, spleen, and brain) were collected, pooled, and homogenized in a sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Viral RNA was extracted from 200uL supernatants using Qiasymphony® DSP automatic instrumentation according to the manufacturer's instructions. Quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reactions (qRT PCR) to detect WNV-L1 and/or -L2 RNA was performed at the U.O.C. Virology of IZSM as described by Del Amo and colleagues [60]. The samples were sent to the National Reference Centre for Foreign

Animal Diseases (CESME) at the Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale of Abruzzo and Molise in Teramo (IZSAM) for WNV confirmation and further analysis.



Figure 5.1 Geolocation of sites where the two wild birds were found

5.4.2 Virus strain and Laboratory Tests (IZSAM)

Virus RNA of the two samples' homogenates was extracted at IZSAM by using the MagMAX CORE Nucleic Acid Purification KIT (Applied Biosystem, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Life Technologies Corporation, TX, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The virus RNA was tested by two qRT-PCR: (i) a 1-step RT-PCR assay for the simultaneous detection of WNV-L1 and 2 strains, by using the QuantiTect Probe RT-PCR Kit (QIAGEN) [60]; and (ii) an RT-PCR assay for detection of all known lineages of West Nile virus [61], by using the Superscript III Platinum OneStep qRT-PCR System (Invitrogen). The RNA detected in the goshawk tissue samples was further fully sequenced by using next generation sequencing (NGS) technology. Briefly, total RNA was treated with TURBO DNase (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at 37 °C for 20 min, and then purified by an RNA Clean & ConcentratorTM-5 Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA). The purified RNA was used for the assessment of sequencing independent single primer amplification protocol (SISPA) [62,63]. In detail, viral RNA underwent cDNA synthesis using 200 units of the SuperScript® IV Reverse Transcriptase (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), in the presence of 5X SSIV Buffer, 50 μΜ of the random hexamer FR26RV-N 5'-GCCGGAGCTCTGCAGATATCNNNNN-3', 10 mM of dNTPs mix, 100 mM of DTT, and 40U of RNAse OUT RNase inhibitor (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). The reaction was incubated at 23 °C for 10 min, and 50 °C for 50 min. After an inactivation step at 80 °C for 10 min, 12.5 Units of 3'-5' Klenow Polymerase (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) were directly added to the reaction to perform the second strand cDNA synthesis. The incubation was carried out at 37 °C for 1 h, and 75 °C for 10 min. Next, 5 µL of ds cDNA were added to 45uL of PCR master mix containing 5X Q5 Reaction Buffer, 10 mM of dNTPs, 40uM of the random primer FR20 Rv 5'-GCCGGAGCTCTGCAGATATC-3', Q5® High Fidelity DNA polymerase (NEB, New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA), and Q5 High Enhancer [64]. The reaction was incubated at 98 °C for 10 s, 65 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 3 min, and 72 °C for 2 min. The PCR product was purified using the Molecular Biology Kit BioBasic (Biobasic inc., Markham, ON, Canada), and then quantified by using the Qubit® DNA HS Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The sample was diluted to obtain a concentration of 100–500 ng, and used for library preparation by using the Illumina DNA Prep kit (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Deep sequencing was performed on the NextSeq 500 (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) using the NextSeq 500/550 Mid Output Reagent Cartridge v2, 300 cycles, and standard 150 bp paired end reads. FASTQ files were generated using NextSeq Reporter (Illumina). The sequencing run delivered 300 Mb of sequence data. The reads obtained were trimmed using a Trimmomatic script (Trimmomatic v0.36) to remove low quality and short reads [65]. Furthermore, the reads were quality controlled by using FastQC v0.11.5 [63,66]. The resulting 2,149,990 reads were de novo assembled using SPADES v3.11.1 [67]. Based on genome assemblies, a de novo filtering for the scaffolds with a minimum length of 200 nucleotides, and a matching for the best reference for each assembly using Bowtie2 (v.2.1.0) was performed [68]. The length of the final assembly (GenBank accession number MW627239) was of 10,990 bp, and it showed 98.33% nucleotide identity to the reference sequence FJ483548.

5.4.3 Phylogenetic analyses

A total of 64 sequences with information on country and year of isolation were downloaded from Genbank or from the IZSAM database for this study. In particular, the study was conducted using 34 complete genome sequences, 18 polyprotein gene complete coding DNA sequences (cds), and 12 partial cds (polyprotein and envelope glycoprotein gene). Sequences were obtained from mosquitoes (n = 7), birds (n = 24), horses (n = 6), humans (n = 16), and mice (n = 1) (10 sequences were from unknown hosts). They were selected from Italy (n = 27), Portugal (n = 2), France (n = 4), Spain (n = 4), Romania (n = 2), Israel (n = 2), Morocco (n = 2), Nigeria (n = 1), Russia (n = 5), Senegal (n = 3), Cyprus (n = 1), Turkey (n = 1), Japan (n = 1), Americas (n = 7), Kenya (n = 1), and Central African Republic (CAR) (n = 1). With the addition of 1 new sequence, a total of 65 sequences were aligned using the ClustalW algorithm implemented in Ugene v. 37.0 software (available at

http://ugene.net/download.html). Aligned sequences were manually curated using BioEdit v. 7.2 software (available at http://www.mbio.ncsu.edu/BioEdit/bioedit.html). Metadata of all sequences referred to in this manuscript can be found in Table 5.1.

Strain Number	Viral	Isolation	Host	Country	Year of	Accession	
	Species	Material			Isolation	Number	
TE.362447.2020	WNV L1	Homogenate	Northern	Italy	2020	MW627239	
			goshawk				
TE.15803.2008	WNV L1	-	Magpie	Italy	2008	FJ483548	
TE.15217.2008	WNV L1	-	Magpie	Italy	2008	FJ483549	
TE.229892.2008	WNV L1	-	Magpie	Italy	2008	KU573077	
Ita09	WNV L1	Blood	Human	Italy	2009	GU011992	
Italy/2009/J-	WNV L1	C636 cells P1,	Eurasian jay	Italy	2009	JF719068	
225677		Vero cells P3					
Italy/2009/FIN	WNV L1	-	Human	Human Italy 2009		KF234080	
Italy/2008/J-	WNV L1	C636 cells P1,	Eurasian jay	Italy	2008	JF719065	
242853		Vero cells P3					
Italy/2009/G-	WNV L1	C636 cells P1,	Gull	Italy	2009	JF719067	
223184		Vero cells P3					
Italy/2008/M-	WNV L1	C636 cells P1,	Magpie	Italy	2008	JF719066	

Table 5.1 Relevant data regarding the isolates used for the present study

Strain Number	Viral	Isolation	on Host Country Year of		Year of	Accession
	Species	Material			Isolation	Number
203204		Vero cells P3				
204913/2009	WNV L1	-	Culex pipiens mosquito	Italy	2009	KU573078
TE.14444.2011	WNV L1	Organ pool	Organ pool Magpie Italy		2011	MW835356
TE.17196.2011	WNV L1	Organ pool	Owl	Italy	2011	MW835357
TE.17208.2011	WNV L1	Organ pool	Crow	Italy	2011	MW835358
TE.20224/1.2011	WNV L1	Plasma	Chicken	Italy	2011	MW835359
TE.21370.2011	WNV L1	Plasma	sma Horse Italy 2011		2011	MW835361
TE.20875.2011	WNV L1	Organ pool	Eurasian jay Italy 2011		2011	MW835360
TE.23237.2011	WNV L1	Plasma	Chicken	Italy	2011	MW835363
TE.20224/8.2011	WNV L1	Plasma	Chicken	Italy	2011	Under publication
TE.21412.2011	WNV L1	Brain	Owl	Italy	2011	MW835362
04.05	WNV L1	Brain	Horse	Morocco	2003	AY701413

Strain Number	Viral Species	Isolation Material	Host	Country	Year of Isolation	Accession Number
PT5.2	WNV L1	-	-	Portugal	2004	AJ965628
PT6.16	WNV L1	-	-	Portugal	2009	AJ965626
Spain/2010/H-1b	WNV L1	Brain	Horse	Spain	2010	JF719069
WN Italy 1998- equine	WNV L1	-	Equine	Italy	1998	AF404757
96-111	WNV L1	Brain	Equine	Morocco	1996	AY701412
PaAn001	WNV L1	-	-	France	2003	AY268132
France 405/04	WNV L1	Brain	House sparrow	France	2004	DQ786572
WNV_0304h_ISR0 0	WNV L1	-	Human	Israel	Israel 2000	
GE-20/V	WNV L1	Vero cells	Golden eagle	e Spain 2007		FJ766332
GE-1b/B	WNV L1	BSR cells	Golden eagle	Israel	2007	FJ766331
HU6365/08	WNV L1	-	Culex perexiguus	Spain	2008	JF707789

Strain Number	Viral	Isolation	Host	Country	Year of	Accession
	Species	Material			Isolation	Number
			mosquito			
RO97-50	WNV L1	-	Culex pipiens	Romania	1996	AF260969
			mosquito			
KN3829	WNV L1	-	Culex	USA	2003	AY262283
			univittatus			
			mosquito			
VLG-4	WNV L1	Brain	Human	Russia	1999	AF317203
Tomsk/bird/2006/A	WNV L1	-	Blyth's reed	Russia	2006	MN149538
4			warbler			
LEIV-Vlg99-27889	WNV L1	Brain	Human	Russia	1999	AY277252
LEIV-Vlg00-27924	WNV L1	Blood	Human	Human Russia		AY278442
Italy/2012/Livenza/	WNV L1	Urine	Human Italy 2012		2012	KC954092
37.1						
Italy/2012/Livenza/	WNV L1	Culture viral	Human	Italy	2012	JX556213
31.1		isolate from				

Strain Number	Viral	Isolation	Host	Country	Year of	Accession
	Species	Material			Isolation	Number
		blood				
Italy/2013/Livenza/	WNV L1	Plasma	Human	Italy	2013	KF647253
35.1						
Italy/2011/Livenza	WNV L1	Plasma	Human	Italy	Italy2011Italy2013France2015	
Italy/2013/Livenza/	WNV L1	Urine	Human	Italy	2013	KF823807
37.1						
Akela/France/2015	WNV L1	-	Human	France	2015	MT863559
Italy/2011/AN-1	WNV L1	Urine	Human	Italy	Italy 2011	
Italy/2011/Piave	WNV L1	Urine	Human	Italy	Italy 2011	
WNV_Cy2016	WNV L1	Urine	Human	Cyprus 2016		MF797870
T2	WNV L1	Blood	Equine	Turkey	2011	KJ958922
ArB310/67	WNV L1	-	-	Central African 1967		GQ851608
				Republic		
IBAN7019	WNV L1	-	-	Nigeria	1965	GQ851607

Strain Number	Viral	Isolation	Host	Host Country Year		Accession
	Species	Material			Isolation	Number
ArD27875	WNV L1	-	Mosquito	Senegal	1979	GQ851606
PaH001	WNV L1	-	-	France	2003	AY268133
NY99-	WNV L1	Chicken embryo	Flamingo	USA	1999	AF196835
flamingo382-99						
ABB-B13	WNV L1	-	Mouse	Spain	2007	KC407667
NY99	WNV L1	Vero cell P2	-	USA	1999	NC009942
NY99iso-1	WNV L1	Vero cell E6	-	Japan	2007	FJ411043
NY99-crow-V76/1	WNV L1	-	American crow USA 1999		1999	FJ151394
3356K VP2	WNV L1	Kidney	American crow USA 2000		EF657887	
WNV-1/US/BID-	WNV L1	Kidney and	American crow	USA	2001	KJ501343
V6527/2001		Spleen				
WNV-1/US/BID-	WNV L1	Kidney and	American crow	USA	2002	KJ501489
V6506/2002		Spleen				
Ast99-901	WNV L1	Blood	Human	Russia	1999	AY278441

Strain Number	Viral	Isolation	Host	Country	Year of	Accession
	Species	Material			Isolation	Number
KN3829	WNV L1	-	Culex univittatus mosquito	Kenya	1998	AF146082
RO97-50	WNV L1	-	-	Romania	1997	AF130362
SEN-ArD93548	WNV L1	-	Mosquito	Senegal	1993	AF001570
Dak Ar D 5443	KOUTANG O VIRUS	-	-	Senegal	2013	EU082200

The Bayesian phylogenetic analysis was performed through Bayesian Inference (BI) using a general time-reversible with gamma-distributed rate variation, a gamma category count of 4, and an invariant sites model (GTR + Γ + I), as selected by Akaike's information criterion (AICc) in jModelTest 0.1 [69]. A Bayesian MCMC approach using BEAST with JRE v2.6.3 was then employed. Ten independent MCMC runs with up to 100 million generations were performed to ensure the convergence of estimates. Tracer v.1.7.1 (available at http://beast.bio.ed.ac.uk/Tracer) was used to ensure convergence during MCMC by reaching effective sample sizes greater than 100. Trees were summarized in a maximum clade-credibility tree with common ancestor heights after a 10% burn-in [69] using TreeAnnotator v.2.6.3. A maximum likelihood tree was estimated using FigTree v1.4.4 [70] after identical alignment and curating methods. FigTree was run using the GTR + Γ + I nucleotide model with 2000 Γ -rate categories, exhaustive search settings, with 5000 bootstrap replications using the Shimodaira–Hasegawa (SH) test. All sequence alignments referred to in this manuscript can be found in supplementary materials.

5.5 Results

5.5.1 Strain Characterization and Phylogenetic Analysis

5.5.1.1 WNV-L1 Detection

WNV-L1 was detected and confirmed in both the kestrel and the goshawk organs (heart, kidney, spleen, and brain pooled together in PBS).

5.5.1.2 Phylogenetic Tree Inferred with Maximum-Likelihood Analysis

Phylogenetic inference of WNV using a maximum-likelihood tree is shown in Figures 5.2 and 5.3. All Shimodaira–Hasegawa values are displayed at respective nodes.

According to the analysis, WNV-L1 is represented by three main clusters: (1) the Mediterranean-Eastern European-Kenyan WNV cluster, that includes isolates from Senegal (1993), Kenya (1998), Romania (1996–97), Russia (1999, 2000, 2006), and Cyprus (2016); (2) the WMed cluster, including isolates from Europe (Italy 1998, 2008–09–11–20; Spain 2007–08; Portugal 2004–09; France 2003–04 and 2015), Israel 2000–07, and Morocco 1996–2003; and (3) the Israeli-American WNV cluster, including several American strains, isolated between 1999 and 2002 (all phylogenetically very similar among them), in addition to strains from Japan (2007), Europe (France 2003 and Spain 2007), and Africa (Nigeria 1965, CAR 1967, Senegal 1979, and Tunisia 2011), confirming a WNV clusterization already highlighted in the past [71,72] (Figures 5.2 and 5.3).



Figure 5.2 Maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree of the WNV complete and partial genome sequences analyzed in this study.

Violet, red, and green triangles represent the Mediterranean-Eastern European-Kenyan subtype, the Western Mediterranean subtype, and the Israeli-American subtype of WNV sequences, respectively. The Koutango virus strain EU082200 has been chosen as outgroup. The tree with the highest loglikelihood is shown. The Bayesian phylogenetic analysis was performed through Bayesian Inference (BI) using a general time-reversible with gammadistributed rate variation, a gamma category count of 4, and an invariant sites model (GTR + Γ + I). The evolutionary distances were computed using the optimal GTR + Γ + I model, with 2000 Γ -rate categories and 5000 bootstrap replications using the Shimodaira–Hasegawa (SH) test. The percentage of successful bootstrap replicate (n5000) is indicated at nodes. A Bayesian MCMC approach using BEAST with JRE v2.6.3 was employed. Ten independent MCMC runs with up to 100 million generations were performed to ensure the convergence of estimates. Tracer v.1.7.1 was used to ensure convergence during MCMC by reaching effective sample sizes greater than 100. Trees were summarized in a maximum clade-credibility tree with common ancestor heights after a 10% burn-in using TreeAnnotator v2.6.3. The genome analysis includes the new strain TE_362447_2020 (accession number: MW627239 lineage 1, Italy, 2020) into the WMed single monophyletic group (Figure 5.3). A close similarity is observed between the MW627239 and the 2008–2011 groups of sequences clustered separately into the WMed subtype (Figure 5.3). Phylogenetically, a similarity is also observed between the Italian WNV-L1 (2008, 2011, 2020) and the viral strains circulating in Europe in the recent past (Spain 2010, France 2015), although they are less temporally close than the Italian strains [71].



Figure 5.3 Maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree of the WNV complete and partial genome sequences analyzed in this study.

A detailed version of the phylogenetic tree is shown, showing all the Western Mediterranean WNV sequences. GenBank accession numbers are indicated for each strain, with country, lineage, and year of isolation. The WNV-L1 strain TE_362447_2020, obtained from the goshawk found in the Campania region in October 2020, is highlighted in red. The Koutango virus strain EU082200 has been chosen as outgroup. The tree with the highest log-likelihood is shown. The Bayesian phylogenetic analysis was performed through Bayesian Inference using a general time-reversible with gamma-distributed rate variation, a gamma category count of 4, and an invariant sites model (GTR + Γ + I). The evolutionary distances were computed using the optimal GTR + Γ + I model, with 2000 Γ-rate categories and 5000 bootstrap replications using the Shimodaira–Hasegawa (SH) test. The percentage of successful bootstrap replicate (n5000) is indicated at nodes. A Bayesian MCMC approach using BEAST with JRE v2.6.3 was employed. Ten independent MCMC runs with up to 100 million generations were performed to ensure the convergence of estimates. Tracer v.1.7.1 was used to ensure convergence during MCMC by reaching effective sample sizes greater than 100. Trees were summarized in a maximum clade-credibility tree with common ancestor heights after a 10% burn-in using TreeAnnotator v2.6.3.

5.5.1.3 Full-Length Polyprotein Sequencing

Using BioEdit v. 7.2 software (available at http://www.mbio.ncsu.edu/BioEdit/bioedit.html), an amino acid sequence comparison between MW627239 and representative WNV-L1 Italian, European, and American isolates was performed. In particular, the strains (i) 115803 (accession number: FJ483548, Italy, 2008); (ii) WNV Italy 1998-equine (accession number: AF404757, Italy, 1998); (iii) Italy/2008/M-203204 (accession number: JF719066, Italy, 2008); (iv) Italy/2008/J-242853 (accession number: JF719065, Italy, 2008); (v) 21412 (accession number: MW835362, Italy, 2011); (vi) Italy/2013/Livenza/35.1 (accession number: KF647253, Italy, 2013); (vii) Spain/2010/H-1b (accession number: JF719069, Spain, 2010); (viii) GE-20/V (accession number: FJ766332, Spain, 2007); (ix) Akela/France/2015 (accession number: MT863559, France, 2015); and (x) NY99 (accession number: NC009942, USA, 1999) were included in the analysis. Only representative amino acid residues were analyzed [7,52,73–75]. Results are shown in Table 5.2.

Viral Protein	Amino Acid Positio n	MW 6272 39 ITA 2020	AF4 0475 7 ITA 1998	JF71 9066 ITA 2008	FJ7663 32 SPA 2007	JF71906 5 ITA 2008	FJ48354 8 ITA 2008	MW83536 2 ITA 2011	KF647 253 ITA 2013	NC_009 942 USA 1999	JF71906 9 SPA 2010	MT86355 9 FRA 2015
С	34	М	М	М	V	М	Μ	Μ	Μ	Μ	М	М
	100	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
prM	72	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
М	36	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
Е	35	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
	51	<u>T</u>	А	А	<u>T</u>	А	А	А	А	А	А	А
	76	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т
	88	Р	Р	Р	<u>S</u>	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р
	126	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Ī	Т	Т
	153	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G

Table 5.2 Amino acid sequence comparison of MW627239 (goshawk, Italy, 2020) and representative WNV-L1 Italian, European, and American strains, conducted using BioEdit v. 7.2 software
Viral Protein	Amino Acid Positio n	MW 6272 39 ITA 2020	AF4 0475 7 ITA 1998	JF71 9066 ITA 2008	FJ7663 32 SPA 2007	JF71906 5 ITA 2008	FJ48354 8 ITA 2008	MW83536 2 ITA 2011	KF647 253 ITA 2013	NC_009 942 USA 1999	JF71906 9 SPA 2010	MT86355 9 FRA 2015
	159	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	V	Ι	Ι
	278	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т
	312	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L
	442	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V
NS1	17	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
	35	Y	Y	Y	<u>H</u>	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	45	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
	70	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	<u>A</u>	S	S
	94	E	Е	Е	Е	Е	E	E	E	E	Е	Е
	138	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р
	141	K	K	K	K	K	К	К	K	К	K	K

Viral Protein	Amino Acid Positio n	MW 6272 39 ITA 2020	AF4 0475 7 ITA 1998	JF71 9066 ITA 2008	FJ7663 32 SPA 2007	JF71906 5 ITA 2008	FJ48354 8 ITA 2008	MW83536 2 ITA 2011	KF647 253 ITA 2013	NC_009 942 USA 1999	JF71906 9 SPA 2010	MT86355 9 FRA 2015
	188	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V
	208	D	D	D	<u>H</u>	D	D	D	D	D	D	D
	288	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
	289	Е	Е	Е	<u>G</u>	Е	Е	Е	Е	E	Е	Е
NS2A	85	Ι	Ι	<u>V</u>	Ι	V	V	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
	104	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
	119	Η	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н
	128	E	Е	Е	Е	Е	Е	Е	E	E	Е	Е
	138	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V
	165	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G
NS2B	82	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D

Viral Protein	Amino Acid Positio n	MW 6272 39 ITA 2020	AF4 0475 7 ITA 1998	JF71 9066 ITA 2008	FJ7663 32 SPA 2007	JF71906 5 ITA 2008	FJ48354 8 ITA 2008	MW83536 2 ITA 2011	KF647 253 ITA 2013	NC_009 942 USA 1999	JF71906 9 SPA 2010	MT86355 9 FRA 2015
	83	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G	G
	103	А	А	А	А	А	А	А	V	V	А	А
	120	V	Ī	V	V	V	Ī	V	V	V	V	V
NS3	46	F	F	F	F	F	F	F	F	F	F	F
	244	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	<u>H</u>
	249	Т	Т	Т	<u>P</u>	Т	<u>P</u>	Т	<u>P</u>	<u>P</u>	Т	Т
	356	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	T	Ι	Ι
	496	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L
	503	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
	521	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D
NS4A	85	V	V	Ī	V	Ī	Ī	V	V	<u>A</u>	V	V

Viral Protein	Amino Acid Positio n	MW 6272 39 ITA 2020	AF4 0475 7 ITA 1998	JF71 9066 ITA 2008	FJ7663 32 SPA 2007	JF71906 5 ITA 2008	FJ48354 8 ITA 2008	MW83536 2 ITA 2011	KF647 253 ITA 2013	NC_009 942 USA 1999	JF71906 9 SPA 2010	MT86355 9 FRA 2015
	100	Р	Р	<u>S</u>	Р	<u>S</u>	<u>S</u>	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р
	122	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р
NS5	53	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н
	54	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р
	257	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D
	258	V	V	<u>A</u>	V	A	<u>A</u>	<u>A</u>	V	V	V	V
	280	K	K	K	K	K	K	K	K	K	K	K
	372	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V	V
	374	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	422	R	R	<u>K</u>	R	<u>K</u>	<u>K</u>	<u>K</u>	R	R	R	R
	426	Е	Е	Е	A	Е	Е	Е	Е	Е	Е	Е

Viral Protein	Amino Acid Positio n	MW 6272 39 ITA 2020	AF4 0475 7 ITA 1998	JF71 9066 ITA 2008	FJ7663 32 SPA 2007	JF71906 5 ITA 2008	FJ48354 8 ITA 2008	MW83536 2 ITA 2011	KF647 253 ITA 2013	NC_009 942 USA 1999	JF71906 9 SPA 2010	MT86355 9 FRA 2015
	436	М	М	М	Ī	М	М	М	М	М	М	М
	526	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т
	653	F	F	F	F	F	F	F	F	F	F	F
	681	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т

The strains (i) 115803 (accession number: FJ483548, Italy, 2008); (ii) WNV Italy 1998-equine (accession number: AF404757, Italy, 1998); (iii) Italy/2008/M-203204 (accession number: JF719066, Italy, 2008); (iv) Italy/2008/J-242853 (accession number: JF719065, Italy, 2008); (v) 21412 (accession number: MW835362, Italy, 2011); (vi) Italy/2013/Livenza/35.1 (accession number: KF647253, Italy, 2013); (vii) Spain/2010/H-1b (accession number: JF719069, Spain, 2010); (viii) GE-2o/V (accession number: FJ766332, Spain, 2007); (ix) Akela/France/2015 (accession number: MT863559, France, 2015); and (x) NY99 (accession number: NC009942, USA, 1999) were included in the analysis. Only representative amino acid residues were analyzed. C protein: amino acid (aa) 1–105; PreM protein: aa 124–290; M protein: aa 216–290; E protein: aa 291–791; NS1 protein: aa 792–1143; NS2A protein: 1114–1374; NS2B protein: 1375–1505; NS3 protein: 1506–2124; NS4A protein: 2125–2250; NS4B protein: 2274–2528; NS5 protein: 2529–3433. Significant amino acid residue substitutions are highlighted in red.

Using Blast (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi), a nucleotide and amino acid pairwise identity analysis was conducted among MW627239 and the Italian, European, and American sequences listed above, as shown in Table 5.3. Among the Italian representative sequences belonging to the WNV-L1 WMed single monophyletic group in the maximum-likelihood tree, the average nucleotide and amino acid pairwise identity was evidenced to be 98.13% (s.d. = 0.36) and 99.73 % (s.d = 0.07), respectively.

Pairwise identity analyses have been conducted among MW627239 and other WNV L-1 Italian, European, and American sequences, using Blast. Among the Italian representative sequences belonging to the WNV-L1 WMed single monophyletic group in the maximum-likelihood tree, the average nucleotide and amino acid pairwise identity was evidenced to be 98.13% (s.d. = 0.36) and 99.73% (s.d = 0.07), respectively.

	MW6272 39 ITA 2020	AF40475 7 ITA 1998	JF719066 ITA 2008	JF719065 ITA 2008	FJ483548 ITA 2008	MW8353 62 ITA 2011	KF64725 3 ITA 2013	NC_0099 42 USA 1999	FJ766332 SPA 2007	JF719069 SPA 2010
MW6272 39 ITA 2020		98.5%	98.31%	98.33%	98.33%	98.02%	97.67%	95.80%	97.96%	98.27%
AF40475 7 ITA 1998	99.85%		98.50%	98.53%	98.55%	98.18%	98.54%	96.44%	98.93%	98.51%
JF719066 ITA 2008	99.68%	99.77%		99.95%	99.41%	98.93%	98.13%	96.04%	98.37%	98.75%
JF719065 ITA 2008	99.71%	99.80%	99.91%		99.94%	98.95%	98.15%	96.07%	98.41%	98.78%
FJ483548 ITA 2008	99.68%	99.83%	99.88%	99.91%		98.93%	98.15%	96.10%	98.39%	98.76%
MW8353 62 ITA 2011	99.68%	99.77%	99.71%	99.74%	99.71%		97.85%	95.76%	98.00%	98.43%

Table 5.3 Nucleotide versus amino acid similarities of representative WNV Italian, European, and American strains

KF64725 3 ITA 2013	99.74%	99.83%	99.65%	99.68%	99.71%	99.65%		96.03%	98.34%	98.11%
NC_0099 42 USA 1999	99.62%	99.71%	99.56%	99.59%	99.62%	99.53%	99.71%		96.29%	96.16%
FJ766332 SPA 2007	99.65%	99.68%	99.50%	99.53%	99.56%	98.75%	99.62%	99.50%		98.35%
JF719069 SPA 2010	99.65%	99.74%	99.56%	99.59%	99.56%	99.39%	99.62%	99.50%	99.48%	

Results evidence a close genetic relatedness of the WNV-L1 strain that re-emerged in the Campania region in 2020, and the Italian and European strains belonging to the WNV-L1 WMed sub-cluster.

5.6 Discussion

This paper reports the first evidence of WNV-L1 strain circulation in the Campania region, Italy. The strain was detected in October 2020 in two wild birds found moribund in nearby areas, only a few days apart. It was the first detection of WNV-L1 after several years. The last WNV-L1 strain circulation evidenced in Italy dates back to 2017, when it was found in a pool of mosquitoes from Northern Italy (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/wndItalia;jsessionid=D0C9EB639E7C322D0EFC34ECEB8E4D8E).

The last evidence of WNV-L1 circulation in an area most nearby the Campania region dates back to 2016 when the circulation of a WNV-L1 strain was responsible for the death of several wild birds in Sardinia [31]. The first question which clearly came to mind when tackling this finding was: "was this strain the result of a new introduction or was it just a re-occurrence of a strain already circulating?".

The first assumption supposes the virus probably extinguished and reintroduced through migratory birds. The species where the strains were detected did not help in clearing the question. Goshawks and kestrels can in fact be considered either migrant or resident birds. Unfortunately, it was not possible to check the carcasses, and eventually make out the bird behavior from wing, claw, and feather characteristics [74–76]. In support of the re-introduction of WNV-L1 is the lack of detection for consecutive years by the national surveillance program, which has been in place since 2002, and has been drawn to detect virus circulation early. In the same way, a phylogenetic relationship (%), and nucleotide and amino acid similarities are observed between the new sequence, MW627239, and some European sequences obtained in the past (Spain 2010, France 2015) (Figure 5.3, Tables 5.2 and

5.3). This might suggest a possible viral circulation in the Mediterranean followed by a re-introduction in Italy in 2020.

Still on the phylogenic tree, however, the new strain MW627239 shows high nucleotide sequence identity (%) with the 2008–2011 Italian sub-clusters of the WMed single monophyletic group (Figure 5.3). In this respect, the second hypothesis, the WNV-L1 re-occurrence, seems to be the most credible scenario. Even if, in all these years, WNV has repeatedly proven its ability to overwinter and become endemic in many Italian regions, silence periods are factually not unusual for WNV-L1 [53,71]. After its first occurrence in the Tuscany region in 1998, WNV re-appeared in the areas surrounding the Po River delta after 10 years [55]. Similarly, in Sardinia, WNV-L1 was not detected for 3 consecutive 2011 2015 years between and (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/wndItalia;jsessionid=D0C9EB639E7C322D0EFC34ECEB8E4D8E). In this particular case, the WNV-L1 presence was accidentally uncovered in two wild birds when they were in critical conditions. The presence of clinical signs in birds would indeed facilitate the discovery of virus circulation on many occasions, as observed in several WNV epidemics of the early 2000s [16,76,77]. Even though the majority of the WNV infections in birds are usually mild or asymptomatic [78], some species, such as birds of prey, jays, and crows, are highly susceptible, and can develop severe and even fatal encephalitis [78–80]. Clinical symptoms associated to WNV-L1 infection have been mainly reported in the orders of Passeriformes (corvids, blue jays, magpies) and Falconiformes (birds of prey) [81–83]. Fatal infections have been described in European eagles in Spain [84,85], and geese and poultry in Hungary [24]. The two WNV-L1 infected birds found in Campania were in critical conditions. Though the comatose state of the kestrel was likely the consequence of a gunshot wound, the origin of the clinical picture observed in the goshawks is not easy to assess. Head injury, head tilt, and right lower limb ataxia are definitely signs of neurologic pathology. However, whether these symptoms were a consequence of the head injury or vice versa couldn't be determined. In nature, goshawks have been shown to be highly susceptible to WNV infection, probably because of their predatory habits [81]. Oral transmission of WNV by feeding on infected prey has been described and is believed to be an important route of transmission in birds of prey [79,83,86]. Both WNV-L1 and L2 experimental infections conducted in American kestrels (*Falco sparverius*), golden eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*), red-tailed hawks (*Buteo jamaicensis*), barn owls (*Tyto alba*), and great horned owls (*Bubo virginianus*) showed high level of viraemia, and important clinical symptoms, such as lethargy, inappetence, body weight loss, and muscle tremor [82,87,88]. However, looking back over the past 13 years of circulation in Italy, WNV-L1 seems to be unable to cause important clinical manifestations and deaths in birds [52].

The virulence of WNV depends on several factors related to the pathogen, hosts, and their interaction [89,90]. Concerning the pathogen, changes in the amino acid positions may significantly influence the WNV strain virulence [7]. Multiple genetic variations correlated with increased or decreased pathogenicity have been highlighted in genetic and phenotypic studies of WNV mutants [74]. Among the WNV genes, the NS3 helicase domain is considered a virulence determinant [52,91]. In particular, increased avian virulence due to the point mutation NS3-T249P has been reported in American crows (Corvus brachyrhynchos) and in site-directed mutagenesis experiments [73,92–94]. In support of our analysis, the Italian strain MW627239 is not characterized by the NS3-T249P point mutation. A threonine residue was observed at the 249 position in the strain MW627239, as well as in JF719065 and MW835362, circulating in Italy in 2008 (jay) and 2011 (owl), and in JF719069 and MT863559, circulating in Spain (horse) and France (human) in 2010 and 2015, respectively. Furthermore, the amino acid valine at the residue 159 of the E protein is considered a determinant of WNV neurovirulence, influencing viral replication and pathogenesis, and being involved in WNV infection and T-cell infiltration in the brain [75]. This amino acid is observed in the isolate NC009942, circulating in the USA in 1999, but not in the Italian and European strains, all characterized by isoleucine at this residue position. This point mutation might also help explain the low pathogenesis observed among birds in Italy and, more generally, in Europe. It is likely that the WNV pathogenicity is the result of a complex series of events which involve the virus, the vectors, and the hosts. Further studies correlated with the WNV genotype and phenotype may help in understanding the mechanisms underlying WNV clinical signs in birds, and the emergence of new pathogenic phenotypes.

5.7 Conclusions

In recent years, WNV-L2 has been, by far, the most frequent lineage detected in Italy, whereas WNV-L1 was detected only occasionally. Since 2008, about 1500 wild birds and 5000 resident birds belonging to target species (carrion crow, magpie, Eurasian jay) have been annually tested by real time RT-PCR to monitor the circulation of WNV L1 and L2 strains in Italy. Among them, 326 wild birds and 804 target species were found positive to WNV (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/home). Concerning WNV-L1, it was last detected in a sparrow hawk (*Accipiter nisus*) and in two carrion crows in the Sardinia region during the 2016 vector season.

Serological analysis conducted in Italy on humans and horses between 2008 and 2020 identified anti-WNV-IgM in 1189 persons and 1196 horses. No evidence of WNV circulation was detected in the Campania region [95] (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/home). The detection of the WNV-L1 strain in two wild birds described in this study emphasizes the importance of having in place an efficient surveillance system, and, in particular, the early warning function played by some avian species in detecting WNV circulation.

5.8 Supplementary Materials

The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/10 .3390/v14010064/s1, File S5.1: WNV Lineage 1 Sequence Alignment.

Conceptualization, G.M., F.I., G.F., C.d.M. and G.S.; methodology, G.M., F.I. and G.S.; validation, F.M., A.P., V.C. and G.S.; formal analysis, V.C., A.P. and G.M.; investigation, A.D.G., O.P., V.C., A.P., S.B. and G.M.; resources, G.S.; data curation, F.I., V.C., A.P. and G.M.; writing G.S., G.F., C.d.M., F.I. and G.M., original draft preparation, G.F., C.d.M., F.I., G.M. and G.S.; writing— review and editing, F.I., F.M., G.F., C.d.M., V.C., A.P., E.D.F., R.R., A.R., G.M. and G.S.; visualization, G.M., F.I., F.M., G.F., C.d.M., O.P., A.D.G., V.C., A.P., S.B., E.D.F., R.R., A.R. and G.S.; supervision, G.S.; project administration, G.S.; funding acquisition, G.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

5.10 Data Availability Statement

Sequence data are available via NCBI. The accession numbers for the sequences used can be found in Table 5.1.

5.11 Acknowledgments

The authors thank Liana Teodori for their excellent technical assistance. The authors acknowledge all personnel in the lab and in the field for their skill and technical support.

5.12 Funding

This research was funded by the Italian Ministry of Health, law 19 January 2001. This research was financially supported by an international PhD initiative including Fondazione Edmund Mach, University of Trento, and Istituto Zooprofilattico of Teramo.

5.13 Conflicts of Interest

All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

5.14 References

 Llopis, I.V.; Rossi, L.; Di Gennaro, A.; Mosca, A.; Teodori, L.; Tomassone, L.; Grego, E.; Monaco, F.; Lorusso, A.; Savini, G. Further Circulation of West Nile and Usutu Viruses in Wild Birds in Italy. Infect. Genet. Evol. 2015, 32, 292–297, doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2015.03.024.

Marini, G.; Rosà, R.; Pugliese, A.; Rizzoli, A.; Rizzo, C.; Russo, F.; Montarsi, F.; Capelli, G.
 West Nile Virus Transmission and Human Infection Risk in Veneto (Italy): A Modelling Analysis.
 Sci. Rep. 2018, 8, 14005, doi:10.1038/s41598-018-32401-6.

3. Venter, M.; Swanepoel, R. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 as a Cause of Zoonotic Neurological Disease in Humans and Horses in Southern Africa. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2010, 10, 659–664, doi:10.1089/vbz.2009.0230.

4. Pérez-Ramírez, E.; Llorente, F.; Del Amo, J.; Fall, G.; Lubisi, A.; Lecollinet, S.; Vázquez, A.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.Á. Pathogenicity Evaluation of Twelve West Nile Virus Strains Belonging to Four Lineages from Five Continents in a Mouse Model: Discrimination between Three Pathogenicity Categories. J. Gen. Virol. 2017, 98, 662–670.

5. Beck, C.; Jimenez-Clavero, M.A.; Leblond, A.; Durand, B.; Nowotny, N.; Leparc-Goffart, I.; Zientara, S.; Jourdain, E.; Lecollinet, S. Flaviviruses in Europe: Complex Circulation Patterns and Their Consequences for the Diagnosis and Con-trol of West Nile Disease. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2013, 10, 6049–6083.

 Epidemiological History and Phylogeography of West Nile Virus Lineage 2.—Abstract— Europe PMC. Available online: https://europepmc.org/article/med/23542457 (accessed on 22 June 2020).

268

7. Fall, G.; Di Paola, N.; Faye, M.; Dia, M.; Freire, C.C. de M.; Loucoubar, C.; Zanotto, P.M. de A.; Faye, O.; Sall, A.A. Bio-logical and Phylogenetic Characteristics of West African Lineages of West Nile Virus. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 2017, 11, e0006078, doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0006078.

8. Beck, C.; Leparc Goffart, I.; Franke, F.; Gonzalez, G.; Dumarest, M.; Lowenski, S.; Blanchard, Y.; Lucas, P.; de Lamballerie, X.; Grard, G.; et al. Contrasted Epidemiological Patterns of West Nile Virus Lineages 1 and 2 Infections in France from 2015 to 2019. Pathogens 2020, 9, 908, doi:10.3390/pathogens9110908.

9. Filipe, A.R.; Pinto, M.R. Survey for Antibodies to Arboviruses in Serum of Animals from Southern Portugal. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 1969, 18, 423–426, doi:10.4269/ajtmh.1969.18.423.

10. Joubert, L.; Oudar, J.; Hannoun, C.; Beytout, D.; Corniou, B.; Guillon, J.C.; Panthier, R. Epidemiology of the West Nile virus: study of a focus in Camargue. IV. Meningo-encephalomyelitis of the horse. Ann. Inst. Pasteur 1970, 118, 239–247.

 Malkinson, M.; Banet, C.; Weisman, Y. Intercontinental Spread of West Nile Virus by Wild Birds—Recent Epidemiological Findings in Israeli Livestock and Birds. In Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Emerging Zoonoses, Strasbourg, France, 5–9 November 1998; Volume 2.

12. Cantile, C.; Di Guardo, G.; Eleni, C.; Arispici, M. Clinical and Neuropathological Features of West Nile Virus Equine Encephalomyelitis in Italy. Equine Vet. J. 2000, 32, 31–35, doi:10.2746/042516400777612080.

Autorino, G.L.; Battisti, A.; Deubel, V.; Ferrari, G.; Forletta, R.; Giovannini, A.; Lelli, R.;
 Murri, S.; Scicluna, M.T. West Nile Virus Epidemic in Horses, Tuscany Region, Italy. Emerg. Infect.
 Dis. 2002, 8, 1372–1378, doi:10.3201/eid0812.020234.

Murgue, B.; Murri, S.; Triki, H.; Deubel, V.; Zeller, H.G. West Nile in the Mediterranean
Basin: 1950–2000. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 2001, 951, 117–126, doi:10.1111/j.17496632.2001.tb02690.x.

Steinman, A.; Banet, C.; Sutton, G.A.; Yadin, H.; Hadar, S.; Brill, A. Clinical Signs of West
 Nile Virus Encephalomyelitis in Horses during the Outbreak in Israel in 2000. Vet. Rec. 2002, 151,
 47–49, doi:10.1136/vr.151.2.47.

16. Schuffenecker, I.; Peyrefitte, C.N.; el Harrak, M.; Murri, S.; Leblond, A.; Zeller, H.G. West Nile Virus in Morocco, 2003. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2005, 11, 306–309, doi:10.3201/eid1102.040817.

17. Cernescu, C.; Nedelcu, N.-I.; Tardei, G.; Ruta, S.; Tsai, T.F. Continued Transmission of West Nile Virus to Humans in Southeastern Romania, 1997–1998. J. Infect. Dis. 2000, 181, 710–712.

18. Platonov, A.E.; Shipulin, G.A.; Shipulina, O.Y.; Tyutyunnik, E.N.; Frolochkina, T.I.; Lanciotti, R.S.; Yazyshina, S.; Pla-tonova, O.V.; Obukhov, I.L.; Zhukov, A.N.; et al. Outbreak of West Nile Virus Infection, Volgograd Region, Russia, 1999. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2001, 7, 128–132.

Ceianu, C.S.; Ungureanu, A.; Nicolescu, G.; Cernescu, C.; Nitescu, L.; Tardei, G.; Petrescu,
 A.; Pitigoi, D.; Martin, D.; Ciulacu-Purcarea, V. West Nile Virus Surveillance in Romania: 1997–
 2000. Viral Immunol. 2001, 14, 251–262.

20. Charrel, R.N.; Brault, A.C.; Gallian, P.; Lemasson, J.-J.; Murgue, B.; Murri, S.; Pastorino, B.; Zeller, H.; de Chesse, R.; de Micco, P.; et al. Evolutionary Relationship between Old World West

Nile Virus Strains. Evidence for Viral Gene Flow between Africa, the Middle East, and Europe. Virology 2003, 315, 381–388, doi:10.1016/s0042-6822(03)00536-1.

Campbell, G.L.; Ceianu, C.S.; Savage, H.M. Epidemic West Nile Encephalitis in Romania:
 Waiting for History to Repeat Itself. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 2001, 951, 94–101.

22. Del Giudice, P.; Schuffenecker, I.; Vandenbos, F.; Counillon, E.; Zellet, H. Human West Nile Virus, France. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2004, 10, 1885–1886, doi:10.3201/eid1010.031021.

23. Johnson, N.; Fernández de Marco, M.; Giovannini, A.; Ippoliti, C.; Danzetta, M.L.; Svartz, G.; Erster, O.; Groschup, M.H.; Ziegler, U.; Mirazimi, A.; et al. Emerging Mosquito-Borne Threats and the Response from European and Eastern Medi-terranean Countries. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2018, 15, 2775, doi:10.3390/ijerph15122775.

24. Bakonyi, T.; Ivanics, É.; Erdélyi, K.; Ursu, K.; Ferenczi, E.; Weissenböck, H.; Nowotny, N.
Lineage 1 and 2 Strains of Encephalitic West Nile Virus, Central Europe. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2006, 12, 618–623, doi:10.3201/eid1204.051379.

25. Bakonyi, T.; Ferenczi, E.; Erdélyi, K.; Kutasi, O.; Csörgő, T.; Seidel, B.; Weissenböck, H.; Brugger, K.; Bán, E.; Nowotny, N. Explosive Spread of a Neuroinvasive Lineage 2 West Nile Virus in Central Europe, 2008/2009. Vet. Microbiol. 2013, 165, 61–70, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2013.03.005.

26. Papa, A.; Danis, K.; Baka, A.; Bakas, A.; Dougas, G.; Lytras, T.; Theocharopoulos, G.; Chrysagis, D.; Vassiliadou, E.; Kamaria, F.; et al. Ongoing Outbreak of West Nile Virus Infections in Humans in Greece, July–August 2010. Eurosur-veillance 2010, 15, 19644, doi:10.2807/ese.15.34.19644-en.

271

27. Napp, S.; Petrić, D.; Busquets, N. West Nile Virus and Other Mosquito-Borne Viruses Present in Eastern Europe. Pathog. Glob. Health 2018, 112, 233–248.

Merdić, E.; Perić, L.; Pandak, N.; Kurolt, I.C.; Turić, N.; Vignjević, G.; Stolfa, I.; Milas, J.;
 Bogojević, M.S.; Markotić, A. West Nile Virus Outbreak in Humans in Croatia, 2012. Coll. Antropol.
 2013, 37, 943–947.

29. Savini, G.; Capelli, G.; Monaco, F.; Polci, A.; Russo, F.; Di Gennaro, A.; Marini, V.; Teodori,
L.; Montarsi, F.; Pinoni, C.; et al. Evidence of West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Circulation in Northern
Italy. Vet. Microbiol. 2012, 158, 267–273, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.02.018.

30. de Heus, P.; Kolodziejek, J.; Camp, J.V.; Dimmel, K.; Bagó, Z.; Hubálek, Z.; van den Hoven, R.; Cavalleri, J.-M.V.; Nowotny, N. Emergence of West Nile Virus Lineage 2 in Europe: Characteristics of the First Seven Cases of West Nile Neuroinvasive Disease in Horses in Austria. Transbound. Emerg. Dis. 2020, 67, 1189–1197, doi:10.1111/tbed.13452.

31. Magurano, F.; Remoli, M.E.; Baggieri, M.; Fortuna, C.; Marchi, A.; Fiorentini, C.; Bucci, P.; Benedetti, E.; Ciufolini, M.G.; Rizzo, C.; et al. Circulation of West Nile Virus Lineage 1 and 2 during an Outbreak in Italy. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 2012, 18, E545–E547, doi:10.1111/1469-0691.12018.

32. Rizzo, C.; Napoli, C.; Venturi, G.; Pupella, S.; Lombardini, L.; Calistri, P.; Monaco, F.; Cagarelli, R.; Angelini, P.; Bellini, R.; et al. West Nile Virus Transmission: Results from the Integrated Surveillance System in Italy, 2008 to 2015. Eurosurveillance 2016, 21, 30340, doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.37.30340.

33. Zehender, G.; Veo, C.; Ebranati, E.; Carta, V.; Rovida, F.; Percivalle, E.; Moreno, A.; Lelli,D.; Calzolari, M.; Lavazza, A.; et al. Reconstructing the Recent West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Epidemic

in Europe and Italy Using Discrete and Continuous Phylogeography. PLoS ONE 2017, 12, e0179679, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0179679.

34. Vázquez, A.; Sánchez-Seco, M.P.; Ruiz, S.; Molero, F.; Hernández, L.; Moreno, J.;
Magallanes, A.; Tejedor, C.G.; Tenorio, A. Putative New Lineage of West Nile Virus, Spain. Emerg.
Infect. Dis. 2010, 16, 549–552, doi:10.3201/eid1603.091033.

35. Martín-Acebes, M.A.; Saiz, J.-C. West Nile Virus: A Re-Emerging Pathogen Revisited. World
J. Virol. 2012, 1, 51–70, doi:10.5501/wjv.v1.i2.51.

36. Benjelloun, A.; El Harrak, M.; Calistri, P.; Loutfi, C.; Kabbaj, H.; Conte, A.; Ippoliti, C.; Danzetta, M.L.; Belkadi, B. Se-roprevalence of West Nile Virus in Horses in Different Moroccan Regions. Vet. Med. Sci. 2017, 3, 198–207, doi:10.1002/vms3.71.

37. Amdouni, J.; Monaco, F.; Portanti, O.; Sghaier, S.; Conte, A.; Hassine, T.B.; Polci, A.; Valleriani, F.; Gennaro, A.D.; Zoueri, M.; et al. Detection of Enzootic Circulation of a New Strain of West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Sentinel Chickens in the North of Tunisia. Acta Trop. 2020, 202, 105223, doi:10.1016/j.actatropica.2019.105223.

38. Assaid, N.; Mousson, L.; Moutailler, S.; Arich, S.; Akarid, K.; Monier, M.; Beck, C.; Lecollinet, S.; Failloux, A.-B.; Sarih, M. Evidence of Circulation of West Nile Virus in Culex Pipiens Mosquitoes and Horses in Morocco. Acta Trop. 2020, 205, 105414, doi:10.1016/j.actatropica.2020.105414.

39. Bravo-Barriga, D.; Aguilera-Sepúlveda, P.; Guerrero-Carvajal, F.; Llorente, F.; Reina, D.; Pérez-Martín, J.E.; Jimé-nez-Clavero, M.Á.; Frontera, E. West Nile and Usutu Virus Infections in

273

Wild Birds Admitted to Rehabilitation Centres in Extremadura, Western Spain, 2017–2019. Vet. Microbiol. 2021, 255, 109020, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2021.109020.

40. Conte, A.; Candeloro, L.; Ippoliti, C.; Monaco, F.; Massis, F.D.; Bruno, R.; Sabatino, D.D.; Danzetta, M.L.; Benjelloun, A.; Belkadi, B.; et al. Spatio-Temporal Identification of Areas Suitable for West Nile Disease in the Mediterranean Basin and Central Europe. PLoS ONE 2015, 10, e0146024, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0146024.

41. Cotar, A.I.; Fălcuță, E.; Dinu, S.; Necula, A.; Bîrluțiu, V.; Ceianu, C.S.; Prioteasa, F.L. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 in Ro-mania, 2015–2016: Co-Circulation and Strain Replacement. Parasit. Vectors 2018, 11, 562, doi:10.1186/s13071-018-3145-5.

42. Ozkul, A.; Ergunay, K.; Koysuren, A.; Alkan, F.; Arsava, E.M.; Tezcan, S.; Emekdas, G.; Hacioglu, S.; Turan, M.; Us, D. Concurrent Occurrence of Human and Equine West Nile Virus Infections in Central Anatolia, Turkey: The First Evidence for Circulation of Lineage 1 Viruses. Int. J. Infect. Dis. 2013, 17, e546–e551, doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2013.02.005.

43. Ergünay, K.; Litzba, N.; Brinkmann, A.; Günay, F.; Sarıkaya, Y.; Kar, S.; Örsten, S.; Öter, K.; Domingo, C.; Erisoz Kasap, Ö.; et al. Co-Circulation of West Nile Virus and Distinct Insect-Specific Flaviviruses in Turkey. Parasit. Vectors 2017, 10, 149, doi:10.1186/s13071-017-2087-7.

44. Richter, J.; Tryfonos, C.; Tourvas, A.; Floridou, D.; Paphitou, N.I.; Christodoulou, C. Complete Genome Sequence of West Nile Virus (WNV) from the First Human Case of Neuroinvasive WNV Infection in Cyprus. Genome Announc. 2017, 5, e01110-17, doi:10.1128/genomeA.01110-17.

45. López-Ruiz, N.; del Carmen Montaño-Remacha, M.; Durán-Pla, E.; Pérez-Ruiz, M.; Navarro-Marí, J.M.; Salamanca-Rivera, C.; Miranda, B.; Oyonarte-Gómez, S.; Ruiz-Fernández, J. West Nile Virus Outbreak in Humans and Epidemiological Surveillance, West Andalusia, Spain, 2016. Eurosurveillance 2018, 23, 17-00261, doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2018.23.14.17-00261.

46. Yıldırım, Y.; Yılmaz, V.; Yazıcı, K.; Öziç, C.; Ozkul, A.; Çağırgan, A.A. Phylogenetic Analysis of West Nile Virus: First Report of Lineage 1 in Donkey in Turkey. Trop. Anim. Health Prod. 2021, 53, 453, doi:10.1007/s11250-021-02892-z.

47. Akıner, M.M.; Öztürk, M.; Başer, A.B.; Günay, F.; Hacıoğlu, S.; Brinkmann, A.; Emanet, N.; Alten, B.; Özkul, A.; Nitsche, A.; et al. Arboviral Screening of Invasive Aedes Species in Northeastern Turkey: West Nile Virus Circulation and Detec-tion of Insect-Only Viruses. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 2019, 13, e0007334, doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0007334.

48. Lustig, Y.; Gosinov, R.; Zuckerman, N.; Glazer, Y.; Orshan, L.; Sofer, D.; Schwartz, E.; Schvartz, G.; Farnoushi, Y.; Lublin, A.; et al. Epidemiologic and Phylogenetic Analysis of the 2018 West Nile Virus (WNV) Outbreak in Israel Demonstrates Human Infection of WNV Lineage I. Eurosurveillance 2019, 24, 1800662, doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2019.24.1.1800662.

49. Schvartz, G.; Farnoushi, Y.; Berkowitz, A.; Edery, N.; Hahn, S.; Steinman, A.; Lublin, A.; Erster, O. Molecular Charac-terization of the Re-Emerging West Nile Virus in Avian Species and Equids in Israel, 2018, and Pathological Description of the Disease. Parasit. Vectors 2020, 13, 528, doi:10.1186/s13071-020-04399-2.

50. Petrović, T.; Šekler, M.; Petrić, D.; Vidanović, D.; Debeljak, Z.; Lazić, G.; Lupulović, D.; Kavran, M.; Samojlović, M.; Ig-njatović Ćupina, A.; et al. Intensive West Nile Virus Circulation in Serbia in 2018—Results of Integrated Surveillance Program. Pathogens 2021, 10, 1294, doi:10.3390/pathogens10101294.

275

51. Savini, G.; Monaco, F.; Calistri, P.; Lelli, R. Phylogenetic Analysis of West Nile Virus Isolated in Italy in 2008. Eurosur-veillance 2008, 13, 19048.

52. Monaco, F.; Goffredo, M.; Briguglio, P.; Pinoni, C.; Polci, A.; Iannetti, S.; Marruchella, G.; Di Francesco, G.; Di Gennaro, A.P.; Pais, M.; et al. The 2011 West Nile Disease Outbreak in Sardinia Region, Italy. Vet. Ital. 2015, 51, 5–16, doi:10.12834/VetIt.260.2386.2.

Monaco, F.; Savini, G.; Calistri, P.; Polci, A.; Pinoni, C.; Bruno, R.; Lelli, R. 2009 West Nile
Disease Epidemic in Italy: First Evidence of Overwintering in Western Europe? Res. Vet. Sci. 2011,
91, 321–326, doi:10.1016/j.rvsc.2011.01.008.

54. Paternoster, G.; Tomassone, L.; Tamba, M.; Chiari, M.; Lavazza, A.; Piazzi, M.; Favretto, A.R.; Balduzzi, G.; Pautasso, A.; Vogler, B.R. The Degree of One Health Implementation in the West Nile Virus Integrated Surveillance in Northern Italy, 2016. Front. Public Health 2017, 5, 236, doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00236.

55. Calistri, P.; Giovannini, A.; Savini, G.; Monaco, F.; Bonfanti, L.; Ceolin, C.; Terregino, C.; Tamba, M.; Cordioli, P.; Lelli, R. West Nile Virus Transmission in 2008 in North-Eastern Italy. Zoonoses Public Health 2010, 57, 211–219, doi:10.1111/j.1863-2378.2009.01303.x.

56. Barzon, L.; Pacenti, M.; Franchin, E.; Squarzon, L.; Lavezzo, E.; Toppo, S.; Martello, T.; Cattai, M.; Cusinato, R.; Palù, G. Novel West Nile Virus Lineage 1a Full Genome Sequences from Human Cases of Infection in North-Eastern Italy, 2011. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 2012, 18, E541–E544, doi:10.1111/1469-0691.12001.

57. Barzon, L.; Papa, A.; Lavezzo, E.; Franchin, E.; Pacenti, M.; Sinigaglia, A.; Masi, G.; Trevisan, M.; Squarzon, L.; Toppo, S.; et al. Phylogenetic Characterization of Central/Southern

European Lineage 2 West Nile Virus: Analysis of Human Out-breaks in Italy and Greece, 2013–2014. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 2015, 21, 1122.e1–1122.e10, doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2015.07.018.

58. Bagnarelli, P.; Marinelli, K.; Trotta, D.; Monachetti, A.; Tavio, M.; Del Gobbo, R.; Capobianchi, M.; Menzo, S.; Nicoletti, L.; Magurano, F.; et al. Human Case of Autochthonous West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Infection in Italy, September 2011. Euro-surveillance 2011, 16, 20002.

59. Barzon, L.; Pacenti, M.; Franchin, E.; Squarzon, L.; Lavezzo, E.; Cattai, M.; Cusinato, R.; Palù, G. The Complex Epide-miological Scenario of West Nile Virus in Italy. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2013, 10, 4669–4689, doi:10.3390/ijerph10104669.

60. Del Amo, J.; Sotelo, E.; Fernández-Pinero, J.; Gallardo, C.; Llorente, F.; Agüero, M.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.A. A Novel Quantitative Multiplex Real-Time RT-PCR for the Simultaneous Detection and Differentiation of West Nile Virus Line-ages 1 and 2, and of Usutu Virus. J. Virol. Methods 2013, 189, 321–327, doi:10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.02.019.

 Vázquez, A.; Herrero, L.; Negredo, A.; Hernández, L.; Sánchez-Seco, M.P.; Tenorio, A. Real Time PCR Assay for Detec-tion of All Known Lineages of West Nile Virus. J. Virol. Methods 2016, 236, 266–270, doi:10.1016/j.jviromet.2016.07.026.

62. Marcacci, M.; De Luca, E.; Zaccaria, G.; Di Tommaso, M.; Mangone, I.; Aste, G.; Savini, G.; Boari, A.; Lorusso, A. Genome Characterization of Feline Morbillivirus from Italy. J. Virol. Methods 2016, 234, 160–163, doi:10.1016/j.jviromet.2016.05.002.

63. Aprea, G.; Scattolini, S.; D'Angelantonio, D.; Chiaverini, A.; Di Lollo, V.; Olivieri, S.; Marcacci, M.; Mangone, I.; Salucci, S.; Antoci, S.; et al. Whole Genome Sequencing Characterization of HEV3-e and HEV3-f Subtypes among the Wild Boar Population in the Abruzzo Region, Italy: First Report. Microorganisms 2020, 8, 1393, doi:10.3390/microorganisms8091393.

Djikeng, A.; Halpin, R.; Kuzmickas, R.; Depasse, J.; Feldblyum, J.; Sengamalay, N.; Afonso,
C.; Zhang, X.; Anderson, N.G.; Ghedin, E.; et al. Viral Genome Sequencing by Random Priming
Methods. BMC Genom. 2008, 9, 5, doi:10.1186/1471-2164-9-5.

65. Bolger, A.M.; Lohse, M.; Usadel, B. Trimmomatic: A Flexible Trimmer for Illumina Sequence Data. Bioinformatics 2014, 30, 2114–2120, doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btu170.

66. Cito, F.; Pasquale, A.D.; Cammà, C.; Cito, P. The Italian Information System for the Collection and Analysis of Complete Genome Sequence of Pathogens Isolated from Animal, Food and Environment. Int. J. Infect. Dis. 2018, 73, 296–297, doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2018.04.4090.

67. Bankevich, A.; Nurk, S.; Antipov, D.; Gurevich, A.A.; Dvorkin, M.; Kulikov, A.S.; Lesin, V.M.; Nikolenko, S.I.; Pham, S.; Prjibelski, A.D.; et al. SPAdes: A New Genome Assembly Algorithm and Its Applications to Single-Cell Sequencing. J. Comput. Biol. J. Comput. Mol. Cell Biol. 2012, 19, 455–477, doi:10.1089/cmb.2012.0021.

Langmead, B.; Salzberg, S.L. Fast Gapped-Read Alignment with Bowtie 2. Nat. Methods
 2012, 9, 357–359, doi:10.1038/nmeth.1923.

69. Drummond, A.J.; Suchard, M.A.; Xie, D.; Rambaut, A. Bayesian Phylogenetics with BEAUti and the BEAST 1.7. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2012, 29, 1969–1973, doi:10.1093/molbev/mss075.

70. Price, M.N.; Dehal, P.S.; Arkin, A.P. FastTree 2--Approximately Maximum-Likelihood Trees for Large Alignments. PLoS ONE 2010, 5, e9490, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009490.

Sotelo, E.; Fernández-Pinero, J.; Llorente, F.; Vázquez, A.; Moreno, A.; Agüero, M.; Cordioli,
P.; Tenorio, A.; Jimé-nez-Clavero, M.Á. Phylogenetic Relationships of Western Mediterranean West
Nile Virus Strains (1996–2010) Using Full-Length Genome Sequences: Single or Multiple
Introductions? J. Gen. Virol. 2011, 92, 2512–2522, doi:10.1099/vir.0.033829-0.

Monaco, F.; Lelli, R.; Teodori, L.; Pinoni, C.; Di Gennaro, A.; Polci, A.; Calistri, P.; Savini,
G. Re-Emergence of West Nile Virus in Italy. Zoonoses Public Health 2010, 57, 476–486,
doi:10.1111/j.1863-2378.2009.01245.x.

73. Sotelo, E.; Fernandez-Pinero, J.; Llorente, F.; Agüero, M.; Hoefle, U.; Blanco, J.M.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.A. Characteriza-tion of West Nile Virus Isolates from Spain: New Insights into the Distinct West Nile Virus Eco-Epidemiology in the Western Mediterranean. Virology 2009, 395, 289– 297, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2009.09.013.

74. Pesko, K.N.; Ebel, G.D. West Nile Virus Population Genetics and Evolution. Infect. Genet. Evol. 2012, 12, 181–190, doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2011.11.014.

75. Kobayashi, S.; Kaneko, C.; Kawakami, R.; Hasebe, R.; Sawa, H.; Yoshii, K.; Kariwa, H. Amino Acid 159 of the Envelope Protein Affects Viral Replication and T-Cell Infiltration by West Nile Virus in Intracranial Infection. Sci. Rep. 2020, 10, 7168, doi:10.1038/s41598-020-64199-7.

76. Marfin, A.A.; Petersen, L.R.; Eidson, M.; Miller, J.; Hadler, J.; Farello, C.; Werner, B.; Campbell, G.L.; Layton, M.; Smith, P.; et al. Widespread West Nile Virus Activity, Eastern United States, 2000. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2001, 7, 730–735.

77. Banet-Noach, C.; Simanov, L.; Malkinson, M. Direct (Non-Vector) Transmission of West Nile Virus in Geese. Avian Pathol. J. WVPA 2003, 32, 489–494, doi:10.1080/0307945031000154080.

78. Gamino, V.; Höfle, U. Pathology and Tissue Tropism of Natural West Nile Virus Infection in Birds: A Review. Vet. Res. 2013, 44, 39, doi:10.1186/1297-9716-44-39.

Komar, N.; Langevin, S.; Hinten, S.; Nemeth, N.; Edwards, E.; Hettler, D.; Davis, B.; Bowen,
R.; Bunning, M. Experi-mental Infection of North American Birds with the New York 1999 Strain of
West Nile Virus. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2003, 9, 311–322, doi:10.3201/eid0903.020628.

80. Pérez-Ramírez, E.; Llorente, F.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.Á. Experimental Infections of Wild Birds with West Nile Virus. Vi-ruses 2014, 6, 752–781, doi:10.3390/v6020752.

 Nemeth, N.M.; Kratz, G.E.; Bates, R.; Scherpelz, J.A.; Bowen, R.A.; Komar, N. Clinical Evaluation and Outcomes of Naturally Acquired West Nile Virus Infection in Raptors. J. Zoo Wildl. Med. 2009, 40, 51–63, doi:10.1638/2007-0109.1.

82. Ziegler, U.; Angenvoort, J.; Fischer, D.; Fast, C.; Eiden, M.; Rodriguez, A.V.; Revilla-Fernández, S.; Nowotny, N.; de la Fuente, J.G.; Lierz, M.; et al. Pathogenesis of West Nile Virus Lineage 1 and 2 in Experimentally Infected Large Falcons. Vet. Microbiol. 2013, 161, 263–273, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.07.041.

83. Vidaña, B.; Busquets, N.; Napp, S.; Pérez-Ramírez, E.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.Á.; Johnson, N. The Role of Birds of Prey in West Nile Virus Epidemiology. Vaccines 2020, 8, 550, doi:10.3390/vaccines8030550.

84. Höfle, U.; Blanco, J.M.; Crespo, E.; Naranjo, V.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.A.; Sanchez, A.; de la
Fuente, J.; Gortazar, C. West Nile Virus in the Endangered Spanish Imperial Eagle. Vet. Microbiol.
2008, 129, 171–178, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2007.11.006.

85. Jiménez-Clavero, M.A.; Sotelo, E.; Fernandez-Pinero, J.; Llorente, F.; Blanco, J.M.; Rodriguez-Ramos, J.; Perez-Ramirez, E.; Höfle, U. West Nile Virus in Golden Eagles, Spain, 2007. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2008, 14, 1489–1491, doi:10.3201/eid1409.080190.

86. Garmendia, A.E.; Van Kruiningen, H.J.; French, R.A.; Anderson, J.F.; Andreadis, T.G.; Kumar, A.; West, A.B. Recovery and Identification of West Nile Virus from a Hawk in Winter. J. Clin. Microbiol. 2000, 38, 3110–3111, doi:10.1128/JCM.38.8.3110-3111.2000.

87. Wünschmann, A.; Shivers, J.; Bender, J.; Carroll, L.; Fuller, S.; Saggese, M.; van Wettere, A.; Redig, P. Pathologic Findings in Red-Tailed Hawks (Buteo Jamaicensis) and Cooper's Hawks (Accipiter Cooper) Naturally Infected with West Nile Virus. Avian Dis. 2004, 48, 570–580, doi:10.1637/7170-022004R.

88. Wünschmann, A.; Shivers, J.; Bender, J.; Carroll, L.; Fuller, S.; Saggese, M.; van Wettere, A.; Redig, P. Pathologic and Immunohistochemical Findings in Goshawks (Accipiter Gentilis) and Great Horned Owls (Bubo Virginianus) Naturally Infected with West Nile Virus. Avian Dis. 2005, 49, 252– 259, doi:10.1637/7297-103104R.

89. Donadieu, E.; Bahuon, C.; Lowenski, S.; Zientara, S.; Coulpier, M.; Lecollinet, S. Differential Virulence and Pathogenesis of West Nile Viruses. Viruses 2013, 5, 2856–2880, doi:10.3390/v5112856.

90. Saiz, J.-C.; Martín-Acebes, M.A.; Blázquez, A.B.; Escribano-Romero, E.; Poderoso, T.; Jiménez de Oya, N. Pathogenicity and Virulence of West Nile Virus Revisited Eight Decades after Its First Isolation. Virulence 2021, 12, 1145–1173, doi:10.1080/21505594.2021.1908740.

91. Gray, R.R.; Veras, N.M.C.; Santos, L.A.; Salemi, M. Evolutionary Characterization of the West Nile Virus Complete Genome. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 2010, 56, 195–200, doi:10.1016/j.ympev.2010.01.019.

92. Fredericksen, B.L.; Smith, M.; Katze, M.G.; Shi, P.-Y.; Gale, M. The Host Response to West Nile Virus Infection Limits Viral Spread through the Activation of the Interferon Regulatory Factor 3 Pathway. J. Virol. 2004, 78, 7737–7747, doi:10.1128/JVI.78.14.7737-7747.2004.

93. Kinney, R.M.; Huang, C.Y.-H.; Whiteman, M.C.; Bowen, R.A.; Langevin, S.A.; Miller, B.R.; Brault, A.C. Avian Virulence and Thermostable Replication of the North American Strain of West Nile Virus. J. Gen. Virol. 2006, 87, 3611–3622, doi:10.1099/vir.0.82299-0.

94. Brault, A.C.; Huang, C.Y.-H.; Langevin, S.A.; Kinney, R.M.; Bowen, R.A.; Ramey, W.N.; Panella, N.A.; Holmes, E.C.; Powers, A.M.; Miller, B.R. A Single Positively Selected West Nile Viral Mutation Confers Increased Virogenesis in American Crows. Nat. Genet. 2007, 39, 1162–1166, doi:10.1038/ng2097.

95. Montagnaro, S.; Piantedosi, D.; Ciarcia, R.; Loponte, R.; Veneziano, V.; Fusco, G.; Amoroso,
M.G.; Ferrara, G.; Damiano, S.; Iovane, G.; et al. Serological Evidence of Mosquito-Borne
Flaviviruses Circulation in Hunting Dogs in Campania Region, Italy. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis.
2019, 19, 142–147, doi:10.1089/vbz.2018.2337.

CHAPTER 6. ORIGIN AND EVOLUTION OF WEST NILE VIRUS LINEAGE 1 IN ITALY

Manuscript

by

Andrea Silverj^{1,2,3,*,*}, Giulia Mencattelli^{1,2,4,*,*}, Federica Monaco⁴, Federica Iapaolo⁴, Liana Teodori⁴, Alessandra Leone⁴, Andrea Polci⁴, Valentina Curini⁴, Marco Di Domenico⁴, Barbara Secondini⁴, Valeria Di Lollo⁴, Massimo Ancora⁴, Annapia Di Gennaro⁴, Daniela Morelli⁴, Maria Gabriella Perrotta⁵, Giovanni Marini², Roberto Rosà^{1,2}, Nicola Segata³, Omar Rota-Stabelli^{1,2}, Annapaola Rizzoli^{2,6}, Giovanni Savini⁴, and West Nile virus working group⁷

¹Centre Agriculture Food Environment, University of Trento, San Michele all'Adige, Italy,

² Research and Innovation Centre, Fondazione Edmund Mach, San Michele all'Adige, Italy,

³ Department CIBIO, University of Trento, Trento, Italy

⁴ Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e del Molise, Teramo, Italy

⁵ Centro nazionale di lotta ed emergenza contro le malattie animali, Rome, Italy

⁶NBFC, National Biodiversity Future Center, Palermo, Italy

⁷ The members of the West Nile virus working group are listed in the group authorship list, located

in supplementary materials

^{*} These authors contributed equally to this work

* Corresponding authors:

E mail: giulia.mencattelli@unitn.it (GM); andrea.silverj@unitn.it (AS)

6.1 Abstract

5.1.1 Background

West Nile virus (WNV) is a zoonotic mosquito-borne pathogen capable of causing serious disease and death in infected individuals, equids, and some species of birds. Eight lineages are reported, with Lineage 1 (L1) and Lineage 2 (L2) being the most widespread and pathogenic. In 2021 and 2022, after several years of low circulation and sporadic cases, WNV L1 re-emerged in Italy, co-circulating with WNV L2 and causing 330 neurological cases and 37 deaths in humans as well as severe diseases in equids and birds.

5.1.2 Methodology and principal findings

We assembled 31 new WNV L1 genomes from samples collected in Italy between 2008 and 2022 through the national surveillance plan, and we reconstructed their evolutionary history using molecular clocks and phylogeographic methods. Our analysis indicates that the WNV L1 first introduction in Italy might have originated from Northern African countries around 1985. It also evidences in the Italian territory an interregional circulation, possible local endemization, and the presence of two different strains currently circulating in the country. It stresses the existence of a constant connection between Western-Mediterranean countries other than the presence of an ideal line connecting Italy, France, Spain, Portugal, and Morocco. Finally, it shows new genetic mutations possibly associated with increased virulence in humans and horses.

5.1.3 Conclusions

Our work tracks back the geographical spread of WNV L1 strains in Italy uncovering its viral dynamics, makes available a new consistent dataset of complete genome sequences that might be a

reference for future investigations, highlights the strong need for coordinated surveillance activities among Europe and Africa, and underline the need of *ad hoc* trials to confirm the association between point mutations and increased pathogenicity in infected hosts.

6.2 Keywords

West Nile virus lineage 1; neurological disease; phylogeny; phylogeography; evolution; Italy

6.3 Introduction

West Nile virus (WNV) is an arthropod-borne *Flavivirus* member of the Japanese encephalitis virus complex within the *Flaviviridae* family. In nature, it is maintained by several species of birds and competent mosquitoes mainly belonging to the *Culex* species. The former generally act as amplifying hosts while the latter as vectors [1,2]. Humans and other animals are considered incidental dead-end hosts. In humans, most of the infections are mild (flu-like symptoms) or asymptomatic (West Nile fever, WNF) [3]. In some cases (1%), however, especially in old or immunocompromised people, they can cause severe and sometimes fatal neurological disease (WNND) [3].

Since its first identification in Uganda in 1937 [4], WNV has progressively spread to Europe, America, Asia, and Oceania, becoming the most widespread arbovirus in the world [5]. Eight phylogenetic lineages are currently known - Lineage 1 (L1) to Lineage 8 (L8). Of them, WNV L1 and L2 are by far the most widespread and pathogenic. They are often associated with severe outbreaks in humans, horses and birds [6]. Phylogenetic analyses suggest that WNV L1 was introduced in Europe in the middle 1950s [7], and in North America in 1999 [8], from Morocco and the Middle East (Israel), respectively [9,10]. These and many of the subsequent introductions have been probably due to long distance migratory birds [11,12]. As a result, WNV L1 circulation has been observed in several European countries. Two major clades have been characterised: i) the Western Mediterranean clade,

with strains first identified in Italy (1998) and France (2000), and ii) the Eastern European clade which includes strains responsible for the outbreaks in Romania (1996) and Russia (1999) [10,13,14]. The 1998 WNV Italian strain was reported in the Tuscany region. It was able to cause severe neurological disease and deaths in horses, but no cases were recorded in humans [15]. A re-emergence of WNV L1 strains belonging to the Western Mediterranean clade were reported 10 years later in North-Eastern Italian regions (Emilia-Romagna, Veneto, and Lombardy). They were responsible for severe illness in humans and horses. Numerous birds and mosquitoes were also found infected with WNV L1 [16], (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/wndItalia). In 2010, circulation of WNV L1 was also observed in Southern Italy and outbreaks were reported in Sardinia in 2011 [17,18]. In the same year, WNV L2 circulation was detected for the first time in the Italian territory. It soon became the most prevalent lineage circulating in the country [19], meanwhile WNV L1 has been more and more sporadically reported. Evidence of its circulation was, however, observed in North-Eastern regions (2012–2014, 2017), Sardinia (2015–2016), and Campania (2020) [14].

In 2021, unexpectedly, a new WNV L1 incursion re-occurred in the Northern part of Italy (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/docBolletItaPeriodico?annoDocumento=2021). The virus re-emerged in the same area in 2022, co-circulating with WNV L2 and causing nearly 300 WNND cases and 37 deaths in humans. WNV positivities were also reported in 45 horses and 349 wild and target birds. Similarly, numerous mosquito pools were found infected (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/docBolletItaPeriodico?annoDocumento=2022). The Veneto region was the major hotspot area for viral circulation, with 142 human WNND and 17 deaths [20], (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/docBolletItaPeriodico?annoDocumento=2022).

The reappearance of WNV L1 in Italy, the pathogenic differences of the various circulating strains, the increasing incidence of WNND cases in humans, together with the gap of knowledge of several

aspects of WNV biology, ecology and genetics and the lack of safe vaccines and healing therapies, provide the motivation to improve research and deep the understanding of the genetic features of the WNV L1 strains in Italy. To this end, in this study we have deployed a novel phylogenetic and phylogeographic analysis of WNV L1 strains circulating in the country since 1998, displaying the dynamics of the viral circulation in the Italian territory.

6.4 Materials and Methods

6.4.1 Sample collection

WNV L1 positive samples were collected in Italy between 2008 and 2022 within the national surveillance plan, coordinated by the Ministry of Health, the Istituto Superiore di Sanità (epidemiology and national reference laboratory, human) and the Istituto Zooprofilattico of Abruzzo and Molise (IZS-Teramo) (epidemiology and national reference laboratory, animal/entomology) (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/home, https://www.epicentro.iss.it/westnile/).

6.4.2 Sample analysis

6.4.2.1 <u>Tissue homogenization, RNA extraction, Real-time RT-PCR</u>

At IZS-Teramo, pools of mosquitoes and bird organs (heart, kidney, spleen, and brain), collected from either residential or wild birds, were homogenised in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with antibiotics. Viral RNA was extracted by using the MagMAX CORE Nucleic Acid Purification KIT (Applied Biosystem, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Life Technologies Corporation, TX, USA) and amplified by multiplex real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reactions (qRT-PCR) to detect WNV L1, WNV L2, and Usutu virus, by using the Superscript III Platinum OneStep qRT-PCR System (Invitrogen) as previously described [21].
6.4.3 Sequence data preparation and retrieval

Purified nucleic acids were sequenced by Next Generation Sequencing, as described in detail in [22]. Thirty WNV L1 consensus sequences were obtained at IZS-Teramo using iVar v 1.3.1 [23] after trimmed reads were mapped to the WNV L1 reference sequence FJ483548 (Italy, 2008) by using Snippy (https://github.com/tseemann/snippy). A map of WNV L1 sequence geo-localization sites is shown in Fig 6.1.



Figure 6.1 Geo-localization of West Nile virus Lineage 1 sequenced sample collection sites.

The sampling date is indicated by a colour scale. The shape indicates the host from which the sample was extracted.

Metadata for the IZS-Teramo newly generated sequences were obtained from the Laboratory Information Managements Systems (SILAB) at IZS-Teramo (https://www.izs.it/IZS/Engine/RAServePG.php/P/257610010719/L/1). A world-wide dataset of 130 WNV L1 sequences have been downloaded from the Supplementary Materials of [24], including sequences obtained from NCBI on 01/03/2022. By using a custom R script for automatic sequence retrieval, a new search has been conducted on NCBI the 06/11/2022 and 28 newly published WNV L1 sequences >= 200 nt have been downloaded.

6.4.4 Sequence data cleaning and formatting

All sequences were quality-filtered, as described in [24]. After this step, 2 sequences (OP734273, OU953898.1) were removed, as they contained a percentage of ambiguous bases above 10%. A total of 186 WNV L1 genomes, 55 of which coming from Italy, were selected for further analysis. A table of sequence curated metadata can be found in S6.1 Table.

6.4.5 Alignment, recombination detection and model selection

All the datasets were aligned individually using MAFFTv7 (https://mafft.cbrc.jp/alignment/server/) with the "--auto" option and trimmed using trimAlv2 [25]. The presence of recombinant sequences in the final dataset was checked by running the RDP4 program [26], with default options. The sequence AJ965626.2 from Portugal was indicated as suspect recombinant and was therefore excluded from the alignment. Model selection was carried out on all datasets using Modelfinder [27], implemented in IQTREE2 [28], using parameters "-T AUTO -m TESTONLY". The best-fit model for both the worldwide and the Bayesian down-sampled datasets was GTR+F+I+G4, chosen according to both Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC).

6.4.6 Maximum-likelihood phylogenies

A maximum likelihood phylogeny of the dataset including the 185 WNV L1 sequences was reconstructed by using RAxMLv8.2.12 [29], with commands "-p 1989 -m GTRGAMMAI -x 2483 -

100 -f a -T 20". Clades were annotated using the resulting topology when having bootstrap supports \geq 90.

6.4.7 Molecular clock and phylogeographic analysis

We used the results obtained in the maximum-likelihood analysis to subset our dataset for molecular clock analysis. In particular, we selected the highly supported group which includes all Italian genomes, highlighted in Fig 6.2 and part of the C2 cluster, and downsampled it by selecting sequences according to the observed genetic divergence (as many sequences were almost identical), the year and the location, choosing 4 sequences for each subclade. When the exact position was not available, we approximated the location using the coordinates of the municipality from which the sample was collected (S6.2 Table). Phylogeography was reconstructed by using continuous traits (latitudinal and longitudinal coordinates for each sequence) in BEASTv1.10.4 [30]. We divided the analysis into two different partitions (one for sequence data and the other for continuous coordinates) and used the Cauchy RRW substitution model for our location partition, with bivariate traits representing latitude and longitude, adding random jitter to the tips (jitter window size: 0.01). For the location partition, we selected the option to reconstruct states at all ancestors. We employed an uncorrelated relaxed clock with a log-normal distribution and a Coalescent Bayesian Skyline tree prior. We set an MCMC length of 500*10⁶ generations, sampling every 50000 steps. Convergence was assessed using Tracer v1.7.1 [31], making sure that all parameters were above a significance threshold of ESS (>200). A table of sequence metadata used for the phylogeographic analysis can be found in S6.2 Table. Phylogenetic trees and phylogeographic diffusion patterns were represented using custom R scripts, employing the ggtree [32] and SERAPHIM [33] packages, respectively.

6.4.8 Full-Length Polyprotein Sequencing

Using Ugene software v44.0 (https://ugene.net/download.html), a sequence comparison between the amino acid residues of the group of strains included in the phylogeographic analysis was performed. In particular, we compared the 2021-22 group of Italian sequences and the strains: i) OP850023, Italy, Campania region, 2022; ii) MW627239, Italy, Campania region, 2020; iii) Italy, 2008 group; iv) Italy, 2011 group; v) AF404757, Italy, Tuscany region, 1998; vi) MT863559, France, 2015; vii) OU953897, Spain, 2020; viii) JF719069, Spain, 2010; vi) AY701413, Morocco, 2003; x) AJ965628, Portugal, 2004; and xi) DQ786573, France, 2004. We also included in the sequence comparison the strain NC_009942/1999 because, although it is not part of the major Western Mediterranean cluster here analysed, it is representative of all virulent L1 strains from the USA.

6.5 Results

6.5.1 Genome sequence analysis

Illumina sequencing produced an average total number of 5,096,291 trimmed reads. The numbers of mapped reads (151 nucleotides [nt] in length) ranged from 159,703 to 1,333,187, with coverage depth ranging from $2,101.31 \times$ to $6,381.67 \times$. The mean consensus sequence length was 10,966bp. Consensus sequences were characterised by 31 WNV L1 genomes. They were obtained from samples collected Italy between 2008 2022, uploaded BankIT in and and to NCBI were (https://submit.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/about/bankit/) on the 18th of May 2021, the 26th of October 2022, and the 15th of November 2022.

6.5.2 Phylogenetic Tree Inferred with Maximum-Likelihood Analysis

Maximum-likelihood phylogenetic tree of the WNV L1 genomes analysed in this study showed the presence of 7 well supported clusters. All Italian genomes were included in cluster 2, together with a

sequence of a strain from Israel (Genbank HM152775) and one from Morocco (Genbank AY701412), as shown in Fig 6.2.



Figure 6.2 Maximum-likelihood tree of West Nile virus Lineage 1 sequences.

Seven major clusters (C1-C7, bar on the right) can be identified. Mediterranean countries that are part of a major cluster which includes all Italian genomes (highlighted in a black square with rounded corners) are indicated by different colours. Inside this group, 4 Italian clades (Clade 1-4) can be defined based on the

topology of the tree. Bootstrap support values (BS) > 90 are not shown; bootstrap support values between 70 and 90 are represented by a full black circle; low bootstrap supports (BS < 50) are represented with a white circle. Sequences obtained in this study are indicated by the "*" symbol. A scale bar representing substitutions per site is shown at the bottom-left part of the figure.

Sequences from Italy can be divided in 4 highly supported groups (clades 1-4, Fig 6.2). Clade 1 includes the 2008-09 and the 2011 groups of Italian WNV L1 sequences. They are genetically similar to the Spanish sequences of 2020 (bootstrap support = 100), and all are closely related to the 2020 (GenBank MW627239) and 2022 (GenBank OP850023) Campanian sequences (bootstrap support > 80). Clade 2 includes the 2022 WNV L1 Italian strains, originating from Veneto, Emilia-Romagna, Friuli-Venezia Giulia, and Lombardy regions (S6.1 Table). They appear to be in the same monophyletic group of the sequences obtained in the Veneto region in 2021, and closely related to the WNV L1 sequence (GenBank MT863559) obtained from a horse with neurological signs in Southern France in 2015 (bootstrap support = 100). Clade 3 includes Spanish sequences and the first WNV L1 genome ever sampled in Italy (Genbank AF404757), while clade 4 comprises sequences sampled between 2011 and 2013 near Livenza. The 2 remaining Italian genomes (JN858069/Italy/2011/AN-1 and JQ928175/Italy/2011/Piave), which group together, can't be placed confidently in the tree (the signal is too low to place them with sufficient precision).

The strains DQ786572/France/2004 and DQ786573/France/2004 appear to be at the root of clade 1 and 2 (bootstrap support = 68).

The two strains collected in the Campania region in 2020 and 2022 appear to be very closely related (bootstrap support = 100), and distant from the 2021-22 North-Eastern Italian strains.

6.5.3 Phylogeographic analysis of the WNV L1 Western Mediterranean clade

We reconstructed a phylogeographic diffusion pattern for a subsample of the cluster 2 (highlighted in Fig 6.2), including all Italian clades. The common ancestor of the sequences was most likely located in the area stretching from the North-west of Italy to the South of France, with a possible first introduction occurring around 1985 on the border between Italy and France (Fig 6.3).



Figure 6.3 Phylogeographic analysis of the WNV L1 Western Mediterranean clade.

A) Molecular clock of the clade including all Italian sequences. Nodes with posterior probability (PP) below 0.9 are indicated with the "m" letter (medium) close to the node when between 0.7 and 0.9, while the "l" letter (low) represents nodes with a PP < 0.5. The bar on the right indicates the host from which the genome was isolated (mosquito, human, horse or bird). The time scale on the bottom indicates, with a colour scale, the sampling time (blue: old; red: recent) of the genomes (see tips) or the median estimated age of their ancestors

(see nodes). Genomes from the recent outbreaks in Southern Italy (SI) and Northern Italy (NI) are highlighted by a dotted square and a full square, respectively. **B**) Phylogeographic diffusion pattern in continuous scale of the virus in the Mediterranean basin. Genome sampling sites and reconstructed locations are plotted together on a map, showing the connections among all genomes and their inferred ancestors. Again, the same colour scale used in A) indicates the sampling time of the genomes or the median estimated age of their ancestors. The coloured areas in the figure represent the 95% HPDs of the locations and times inferred by the model.

In the following years, the virus moved towards east (Italy) and south-west (Spain). Our phylogeographic analysis also indicates a clear genetic flow connecting Morocco, Spain, France and Italy (Fig 6.3).

6.5.4 Amino acid sequence analysis

Pairwise alignment shows the presence of a new conservative amino acid point mutation (R122H) in the NS2A region of all 2021-22 Italian WNV L1 genomes. This mutation is not present on the strain OP850023 isolated in 2022 in the Campania region (Fig 6.4).

		Non-structural proteins									3'UTR	
5'UTB	Structural pr										\sim	
	C prM	Env	NS1	NS2a	NS	52b N	153	NS4a	NS	4b N	N S5	
	4							\sum				
2021-22 North-Eastern Italian strains	51-A	93-K		122-H		99-M		249-P		96-L		
OP850023 Italy/Campania/2022	51-T	93-R		122-R]	99-T		249-T	1	96-I		
MW627239 Italy/Campania/2020	51-T	93-1	93-R		1	99-T		249-T	1 [96-I		
2008 Italian strains	51-A	93-R		122-R		99-M		249-P	1 [96-L		
2011 Italian strains	51-A	93-R		122-R	1	99-M		249-T	1 [96-L		
AF404757 Italy/Tuscany/1998	51-A	93-R		122-R		99-M		249-T	1 [96-L		
MT863559 France/2015	51-A	93-K		122-R		99-M		249-T][96-L		
OU953897 Spain/2020	51-A	93-R		122-R		99-M		249-T] [96-L		
JF719069 Spain/2010	51-A	93-R		122-R		99-M		249-T	96-L			
AY701413 Morocco/2003	51-A	93-R		122-R		99-M		249-T	96-L			
AJ965628 Portugal/2004	51-A	93-	R	122-R		99-M		249-P		96-L		
DQ786573 France/2004	51-A	93-	R	122-R		99-M		249-T][96-L		
NC_009942 USA/1999	51-A	93-	R	122-R		99-M		249-P		96-L		

Figure 6.4 Amino acid sequence analysis.

Amino acid sequence comparison between West Nile virus lineage 1 Italian strains and other Western-Mediterranean strains included in Cluster 2, other than the 1999 NC_009942 strain representative for the USA genome sequence group included in Cluster 4, is displayed. C = Capsid protein; prM = premembrane protein; M = Membrane protein; NS = non-structural proteins. Common point mutations (51-T, 99-T, 96-I) detected in the two Campanian strains OP850023/2022 and MW627239/2022 are displayed in pink; the point mutation 93-K of the Envelope protein detected in the 2021-22 Northern-Eastern Italian strains and in the 2015 French strain MT863559 is displayed in light green; the 122H amino acid substitution of the NS2a protein detected in the 2021-22 Northern-Eastern Italian strains is displayed in yellow; the 249-P point mutation is displayed in light blue.

Three conservative amino acid changes are observed in the E (A51T), NS2B (M99T), and NS4B (L96I) proteins of the OP850023/Campania/2022 and MW627239/Campania/2020 strains, but not in the other strains. The NS3T249P point mutation is also found in the recent 2021-22 Italian genomes,

in the group of 2008 Italian sequences, in the 2004 strain from Portugal, and in the 1999 American sequence. More details about the amino acid sequence comparison are shown in S6.3 Table.

6.6 Discussion

WNV is the most widespread mosquito-borne pathogen in the world [34]. Currently, it is seriously affecting many European countries [35].

In Italy, WNV L2 has been the most prevalent circulating lineage in the last decade. WNV L1 strains instead have been circulated sporadically, with only few evidences reported in North-Eastern regions (2012–2014, 2017), Sardinia (2015–2016), and Campania (2020) [14], (IZS-Teramo Annual Epidemiological Bulletins, https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/wndItalia, https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/wndItaliaPeriodici). This was the reason why health authorities and scientists involved in the surveillance and control were greatly surprised when it reappeared in the Italian territory in the 2021-22 epidemic seasons, even more as its emergence coincided with an increased incidence of severe WNND in humans [20,36]. This study investigated the possible origin and evolution of the WNV L1 strains circulating in Italy providing insights into the viral circulation dynamics of WNV L1 in the country since 1998. Two different and complementary approaches have been used: the phylogenetic and phylogeographic approaches.

The Bayesian and maximum-likelihood trees reflect the results obtained by other authors [37] which also observed the presence of seven well supported clusters (Fig 6.2). Of the seven identified clusters, cluster 2 contains most of the European strains included in this study. Since the 1996 Moroccan (Genbank AY701412) and the 2000 Israeli (Genbank HM152775) sequences are also in this cluster, it is likely that European and the Israeli WNV L1 strains have had a Northern African (Morocco) origin, as previously suggested [38]. Inside cluster 2, it is also worth noting the close relationship

between the 1998 Italian strain and the 2007-08 group of Spanish sequences (bootstrap support = 100) (clade 3). This evolutionary line if, on the one hand, suggests the existence of a corridor between Italy and Spain permeable to the circulation of WNV L1, on the other hand, considering the 9 year silence period recorded between the 2 epidemics, it supports the hypothesis that in the Western Mediterranean area WNV can circulate unnoticed for long periods [22,39,40]. This latter assumption questions the belief that old strains of clade 3 are not anymore circulating despite the date of their last detection.

The existence of a corridor connecting Italy and Spain is also evident when examining the sequences grouped in clade 1, in which the close genetic relationship existing between the 2008-09 and the 2011 Italian and 2020 Southern Spain strains is very clear [41].

Concerning the 2008-09 Italian group of strains, they re-emerged in Italy after 10 years of silence [40,42]. Unlike the 1998, the 2008 incursion involved a larger area (3 regions and 8 provinces) and caused disease not only in horses, but also in humans. Birds and mosquitoes were found infected too [16,40,43]. The virus later spread to Southern Italy (2010) and Sardinia in 2011 [17,18]. Considering the possibility of unnoticed circulation of WNV in the area, it is not easy to figure out whether this group of Italian sequences derives from a new re-introductory event or is just the re-emergence of a strain already circulating in the past. Previous studies seem to lean towards the latter hypothesis [42]. Nevertheless, our phylogenetic tree shows a close genetic relationship between the 2003 Moroccan strain (AY701413/2003) and other European strains (clade 2, clade 3), suggesting a possible new re-introductory event from Morocco to Italy, through Portugal, Spain, and France (Figs 6.2 and 6.3) [44]. The Campanian strains isolated in 2020 (GenBank MW627239) and 2022 (GenBank OP850023) are also in the clade 1. They are genetically similar to the 2008-11 group of Italian sequences, as well as to the sequence from Spain (Genbank JF719069). It is therefore difficult to determine their origin.

Much easier, instead, is establishing the evolutionary line of clade 2, including the 2021-22 North-Eastern Italian strains and the WNV L1 sequence MT863559, a strain isolated from the Natural reserve of Camargue, in Southern France in 2015 [10]. Their close relatedness sustains the hypothesis of a possible new re-introduction to Northern Italy from Southern France. The existence of a corridor between France and Italy is also suggested by the two 2004 French strains DQ786573 and DQ786573, closely related and sister group (even if with low bootstrap support = 68) of the 2 major Italian clades 1 and 2 described in our phylogenetic tree.

More and much clearer information on the shared ancestry assumed using phylogenetic methods has been obtained when using the phylogeographic reconstructions of WNV L1 diffusion, which provided valuable insight on the WNV L1 dynamics in a geographic and temporal context. According to our analysis, the first European WNV introduction dates back around 1985 (median= 1985.31; HPD 95%: 1978.66, 1990.99) in an area on the border between North-west of Italy and South of France, where an initial and undetected WNV L1 circulation seems to have occurred (Fig 6.3). All strains included in this analysis seem to have originated from this area. The virus has then probably spread eastwards (Italy) and South-westwards (Spain), touching Italy, France, Spain, Portugal, and Morocco (see Results and Fig 6.3). Our analysis supports the existence of a constant circulation in Europe, with possible new re-introductory events from Europe to Africa, although this scenario has to be taken with care, considering the low sample size of Moroccan sequences, which could affect the inferred directionality of the introductory events among countries.

In the European continent, the great abundance of susceptible hosts and vectors already existing in the Western Mediterranean area have indeed facilitated the rapid spread of WNV to the continent despite the diverse landscapes that it had to pass through [45,46]. While the first introduction of WNV L1 in Europe can be attributed to long distance migratory birds along their Western African migration routes

through Northern-western African countries, as Senegal and Morocco [39,47,48], the virus likely moved around the Western Mediterranean countries through short distance migratory birds in their shift between breeding grounds and overwintering quarters [22,39,44,49,50]. This could explain why clades 1-3 group together (Fig 6.2).

As demonstrated by Pesko and Ebel [51], changes to the WNV genome could also affect its pathogenesis. In many epidemics, including those occurring in Italy, there were some WNV L1 strains capable of causing severe neurological cases in humans, horses and birds, some others only in humans and still others only in horses [52],(https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/home). Our pairwise alignment evidenced several point mutations, which might be referable to increased virulence (Fig 6.4 and S6.3 Table) [20]. This could be the case of the mutation observed in the NS2AR122H region of the 2021-22 strains from North-Eastern Italy, which were responsible for numerous severe WNDD cases in humans and horses (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/home). The ecological and climatic Italian conditions of the 2021-22 seasons might have created a favourable environment for a strong viral circulation and many replication events, and, in turn, the appearance of new genetic variants among the group of Italian strains [20]. *Ad hoc* trials with the NS2AR122H motif in mice and/or birds are however required to confirm this hypothesis. These studies might help in the understanding of the mechanisms underlying WNV clinical signs in humans, giving a possible explanation on the new WNV L1 North-Eastern Italian region's pathogenic phenotype.

Interestingly, the genome sequence OP850023, obtained from a horse in the Campania region in October 2022, is not included in the group of North-Eastern Italian sequences, although coming from the same epidemic season. It is closely related (posterior probability = 1) to the sequence MW627239, obtained also in the Campania region from a Northern goshawk 2 years before (October 2020) [44]. They do not carry the NS2AR122H point mutation reported in all 2021-22 North-Eastern strains but

show three common new amino acid substitutions (EA51T, NS2BM99T, and NS4BL96I) (Fig 6.4 and S6.3 Table). As previously evidenced, it is not simple to assess the exact origin of the Campanian introduction. If our Maximum Likelihood tree placed both strains close to the 2008-11 group of Italian sequences and to the 2010 Spanish sequence (Genbank JF719069) (clade 1), making a re-introductory event from Italy (Northern Italy/2008, Sardinia/2011) or Spain possible, our phylogeographic analysis seems to support the Italian introduction hypothesis (Fig 6.3). Anyway, it is likely that once introduced in Campania, these strains might have invaded an available ecological niche, establishing an intra-endemic circulation [44] and accumulating mutations in the newly colonised environment.

Our study provided information on the WNV L1 spatial and temporal dynamics in Italy in the last 24 years and identifies the presence of 2 diverse strains currently circulating in the country (one in the North-East, and one circulating intra-regionally in the Campania region). It evidenced how the different viral circulation observed in the various regions following introduction is strictly dependent on the presence of susceptible vectors and hosts and on the favourable climatic conditions [22,39,40]. Finally, it evoked the existence of a constant connection between Mediterranean countries, and, in particular, between Italy, Southern France, Southern Spain, Southern Portugal, and Morocco, with high risk for WNV to spread into new regions. These results also stress the importance to further intensify surveillance on WNV in the Mediterranean countries and, in particular, in areas where the virus might find favourable conditions for its endemic circulation, either in wetlands inhabited by birds and mosquitoes (Southern France and Spain) [41,53], or in areas where the circulation might seem reduced or absent. This will contribute to build a more consistent and homogeneous European dataset that could help clarify uncertainties related to the WNV dynamics.

6.7 Conclusion

In this study, the 31 new Italian genome sequences obtained by the IZS-Teramo from 2008 to 2022 are used to uncover the phylogenetic and phylogeographic relationships of WNV L1 Italian strains with other strains circulating worldwide. We provide evidence that WNV L1 spreads through an ideal line which connects Morocco, Spain, Southern France and Northern Italy, with further diffusion between diverse regions of the Italian territory, and possible events of endemisation. These results help clarify the WNV L1 dynamics in Europe, provide a new consistent dataset that can be used as reference data for future WNV investigations, and highlight the strong need of constant and coordinated surveillance activities among European and African countries.

6.8 Supporting information

Supporting information can be found at https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.21947681.

S6.1 Table. WNV Lineage 1 genome sequence curated metadata. Metadata of worldwide genome sequences used in this study to perform the Maximum-Likelihood Analysis are shown. Sequences obtained by IZS-Teramo are indicated by the "*" symbol, next to the Accession number; NA = Not available

S6.2 Table. Sequence metadata used for the phylogeographic analysis. Curated metadata of genome sequences used to perform phylogeographic analysis; NA = not available

S6.3 Table. Amino acid pairwise alignment. Amino acid sequence comparison of most strains included in Clade 1, 2, 3 of Cluster 2 and of the strain NC_009942/1999 coming from the USA, included in cluster 4. C = Capsid protein; prM = pre-Membrane protein; M = Membrane protein; NS = non-structural proteins. Protein amino-acid coordinates: C: 1-105; PreM: 124 - 215; M: 216 - 290;

E: 291-791; NS1: 792-1143; NS2A: 1114-1374; NS2B: 1375-1505; NS3: 1506-2124; NS4A: 2125-2250; NS4B: 2274-2528; NS5: 2529-3433. Common point mutations (51-T, 99-T, 96-I) detected in the two Campanian strains OP850023/2022 and MW627239/2022 are displayed in pink; the point mutation 93-K of the Envelope protein detected in the 2021-22 Northern-Eastern Italian strains and in the 2015 French strain MT863559 is displayed in light green; the 122H amino acid substitution of the NS2a protein detected in the 2021-22 Northern-Eastern Italian strains is displayed in yellow; the 249-P point mutation is displayed in light blue.

6.9 Author contribution

Conceptualization, G.M., F.M., and G.S.; methodology, G.M., A.S., and G.S.; validation, F.M., A.S., G.M., O.R.S., A.R., and G.S.; formal analysis, A.S., and G.M.; investigation, L.T., A.L., A.D.G., A.P., V.C., M.A., B.S., V.D.L., M.D.D., and G.M.; resources, G.S.; data curation, F.I., A.S., V.C., A.P., and G.M.; writing – original draft G.M., A.S., and G.S.; writing—review and editing, G.M., A.S., G.Mar., F.M., A.R., and G.S.; visualization, A.S., G.M., F.I., L.T., A.L., A.D.G., A.P., V.C., M.D.D., B.S., V.D.L., M.A., D.M., MG.P., G.Mar., R.R., F.M., N.S., A.R., O.R.S., and G.S.; supervision, O.R.S., F.M., A.R., and G.S.; project administration, G.S.; funding acquisition, G.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

6.10 Data availability statement

All scripts used to perform this analysis are available at the https://github.com/andrea-silverj/WNV-L1_IT GitHub repository. Alignments and tree files can be found at https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.21940931.v1 and https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.21940898.v2.

6.11 Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge all personnel in the lab and in the field for their skill and technical support. Special thanks to the IZS-Teramo staff, and in particular to Andrea Bucciacchio and Iolanda Mangone for their support in the sequencing analysis and genome assembly. This research has been financially supported by an international PhD initiative including Fondazione Edmund Mach, University of Trento, and Istituto Zooprofilattico of Teramo. This study has been partially funded by the EU grant 874850 MOOD and is catalogued as MOOD 060. This work has been partially supported by Italy's Ministry of Health (research grant no. MSRCTE 04/19). This study has been also partially funded by the National Biodiversity Future centre and received funding from the European Union Next-Generation EU (PIANO NAZIONALE DI RIPRESA E RESILIENZA (PNRR) - MISSIONE 4 COMPONENTE 2, INVESTIMENTO 1.4 - D.D. 1034 17/06/2022, CN00000033). AR acknowledges the support of NBFC to Fondazione Edmund Mach, funded by the Italian Ministry of University and Research, PNRR, Missione 4 Componente 2, "Dalla ricerca all'impresa", Investimento 1.4, Project CN00000033. This manuscript reflects only the authors' views and opinions, neither the European Union nor the European Commission can be considered responsible for them.

6.12 Funding

This research was funded by the Italian Ministry of Health, law 19 January 2001.

6.13 Conflict of interest

All the authors declare no conflict of interest. The contents of this publication are the sole responsibility of the authors and don't necessarily reflect the views of the European Commission.

6.14 References

1. Rizzoli A, Jimenez-Clavero MA, Barzon L, Cordioli P, Figuerola J, Koraka P, et al. The challenge of West Nile virus in Europe: knowledge gaps and research priorities. Euro Surveill. 2015 May 21;20(20):21135.

2. Chancey C, Grinev A, Volkova E, Rios M. The global ecology and epidemiology of West Nile virus. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:376230.

3. Kramer LD. West Nile Virus. In: Mahy BWJ, Van Regenmortel MHV, editors. Encyclopedia of Virology (Third Edition) [Internet]. Oxford: Academic Press; 2008 [cited 2022 Nov 7]. p. 440–50. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780123744104006336

4. Smithburn KC, Hughes TP, Burke AW, Paul JH. A Neurotropic Virus Isolated from the Blood of a Native of Uganda. American Journal of Tropical Medicine. 1940;20:471–2.

 Pierson TC, Diamond MS. The continued threat of emerging flaviviruses. Nat Microbiol. 2020 Jun;5(6):796–812.

6. Fall G, Di Paola N, Faye M, Dia M, Freire CC de M, Loucoubar C, et al. Biological and phylogenetic characteristics of West African lineages of West Nile virus. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017 Nov;11(11):e0006078.

7. West Nile virus infection outbreak in humans in Romania [Internet]. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. 2011 [cited 2022 Dec 28]. Available from: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/west-nile-virus-infection-outbreak-humansromania

Nash D, Mostashari F, Fine A, Miller J, O'Leary D, Murray K, et al. The outbreak of West
 Nile virus infection in the New York City area in 1999. N Engl J Med. 2001 Jun 14;344(24):1807–
 14.

9. Mencattelli G, Ndione MHD, Rosà R, Marini G, Diagne CT, Diagne MM, et al. Epidemiology of West Nile virus in Africa: An underestimated threat. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2022 Jan 10;16(1):e0010075.

 Beck C, Leparc Goffart I, Franke F, Gonzalez G, Dumarest M, Lowenski S, et al. Contrasted Epidemiological Patterns of West Nile Virus Lineages 1 and 2 Infections in France from 2015 to 2019. Pathogens. 2020 Oct 30;9(11):E908.

11. Mancuso E, Cecere JG, Iapaolo F, Di Gennaro A, Sacchi M, Savini G, et al. West Nile and Usutu Virus Introduction via Migratory Birds: A Retrospective Analysis in Italy. Viruses. 2022 Feb 17;14(2):416.

12. Rappole J. Migratory Birds and Spread of West Nile Virus in the Western Hemisphere. Emerg Infect Dis. 2000 Aug;6(4):319–28.

13. Sambri V, Capobianchi M, Charrel R, Fyodorova M, Gaibani P, Gould E, et al. West Nile virus in Europe: emergence, epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment, and prevention. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2013 Aug;19(8):699–704.

Mencattelli G, Iapaolo F, Monaco F, Fusco G, de Martinis C, Portanti O, et al. West Nile Virus
Lineage 1 in Italy: Newly Introduced or a Re-Occurrence of a Previously Circulating Strain? Viruses.
2022 Jan;14(1):64.

15. Autorino GL, Battisti A, Deubel V, Ferrari G, Forletta R, Giovannini A, et al. West Nile virus epidemic in horses, Tuscany region, Italy. Emerg Infect Dis. 2002 Dec;8(12):1372–8.

 Savini G, Monaco F, Calistri P, Lelli R. Phylogenetic analysis of West Nile virus isolated in Italy in 2008. Euro Surveill. 2008 Nov 27;13(48).

17. Spissu N, Panichi G, Montisci A, Fiore F. West Nile Virus outbreak in Sardinia, Italy, in 2011.J Infect Dev Ctries. 2013 Jan 15;7(1):6–9.

18. Calistri P, Giovannini A, Hubalek Z, Ionescu A, Monaco F, Savini G, et al. Epidemiology of West Nile in Europe and in the Mediterranean Basin. Open Virol J. 2010 Apr 22;4:29–37.

19. Savini G, Capelli G, Monaco F, Polci A, Russo F, Di Gennaro A, et al. Evidence of West Nile virus lineage 2 circulation in Northern Italy. Vet Microbiol. 2012 Aug 17;158(3–4):267–73.

20. Barzon L, Pacenti M, Montarsi F, Fornasiero D, Gobbo F, Quaranta E, et al. Rapid spread of a new West Nile virus lineage 1 associated with increased risk of neuroinvasive disease during a large outbreak in northern Italy, 2022: One Health analysis. J Travel Med. 2022 Nov 4;taac125.

21. Del Amo J, Sotelo E, Fernández-Pinero J, Gallardo C, Llorente F, Agüero M, et al. A novel quantitative multiplex real-time RT-PCR for the simultaneous detection and differentiation of West Nile virus lineages 1 and 2, and of Usutu virus. Journal of Virological Methods. 2013 May 1;189(2):321–7.

22. Mencattelli G, Iapaolo F, Polci A, Marcacci M, Di Gennaro A, Teodori L, et al. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Overwintering in Italy. Tropical Medicine and Infectious Disease. 2022 Aug;7(8):160.

23. Grubaugh ND, Gangavarapu K, Quick J, Matteson NL, De Jesus JG, Main BJ, et al. An amplicon-based sequencing framework for accurately measuring intrahost virus diversity using PrimalSeq and iVar. Genome Biology. 2019 Jan 8;20(1):8.

24. Mencattelli G, Silverj A, Iapaolo F, Ippoliti C, Teodori L, Gennaro AD, et al. Epidemiological and Evolutionary Analysis of West Nile Virus Lineage 2 in Italy. Viruses. 2023 Jan;15(1):35.

25. Capella-Gutiérrez S, Silla-Martínez JM, Gabaldón T. trimAl: a tool for automated alignment trimming in large-scale phylogenetic analyses. Bioinformatics. 2009 Aug 1;25(15):1972–3.

26. Martin DP, Murrell B, Golden M, Khoosal A, Muhire B. RDP4: Detection and analysis of recombination patterns in virus genomes. Virus Evol. 2015;1(1):vev003.

27. Kalyaanamoorthy S, Minh BQ, Wong TKF, von Haeseler A, Jermiin LS. ModelFinder: fast model selection for accurate phylogenetic estimates. Nat Methods. 2017 Jun;14(6):587–9.

28. Minh BQ, Schmidt HA, Chernomor O, Schrempf D, Woodhams MD, von Haeseler A, et al. IQ-TREE 2: New Models and Efficient Methods for Phylogenetic Inference in the Genomic Era. Mol Biol Evol. 2020 May 1;37(5):1530–4.

29. Stamatakis A. RAxML version 8: a tool for phylogenetic analysis and post-analysis of large phylogenies. Bioinformatics. 2014 May 1;30(9):1312–3.

30. Suchard MA, Lemey P, Baele G, Ayres DL, Drummond AJ, Rambaut A. Bayesian phylogenetic and phylodynamic data integration using BEAST 1.10. Virus Evol. 2018 Jan;4(1):vey016.

31. Rambaut A, Drummond AJ, Xie D, Baele G, Suchard MA. Posterior Summarization in Bayesian Phylogenetics Using Tracer 1.7. Syst Biol. 2018 Sep 1;67(5):901–4.

Yu G. Using ggtree to Visualize Data on Tree-Like Structures. Curr Protoc Bioinformatics.
 2020 Mar;69(1):e96.

33. Dellicour S, Rose R, Faria NR, Lemey P, Pybus OG. SERAPHIM: studying environmental rasters and phylogenetically informed movements. Bioinformatics. 2016 Oct 15;32(20):3204–6.

34. Rizzoli A, Bolzoni L, Chadwick EA, Capelli G, Montarsi F, Grisenti M, et al. Understanding West Nile virus ecology in Europe: Culex pipiens host feeding preference in a hotspot of virus emergence. Parasit Vectors. 2015 Apr 9;8:213.

35. Young JJ, Haussig JM, Aberle SW, Pervanidou D, Riccardo F, Sekulić N, et al. Epidemiology of human West Nile virus infections in the European Union and European Union enlargement countries, 2010 to 2018. Eurosurveillance. 2021 May 13;26(19):2001095.

36. Barzon L, Montarsi F, Quaranta E, Monne I, Pacenti M, Michelutti A, et al. Early start of seasonal transmission and co-circulation of West Nile virus lineage 2 and a newly introduced lineage 1 strain, northern Italy, June 2022. Eurosurveillance. 2022 Jul 21;27(29):2200548.

37. Aguilera-Sepúlveda P, Gómez-Martín B, Agüero M, Jiménez-Clavero MÁ, Fernández-Pinero J. A new cluster of West Nile virus lineage 1 isolated from a northern goshawk in Spain. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2022 Sep;69(5):3121–7.

38. Charrel RN, Brault AC, Gallian P, Lemasson JJ, Murgue B, Murri S, et al. Evolutionary relationship between Old World West Nile virus strains. Evidence for viral gene flow between Africa, the Middle East, and Europe. Virology. 2003 Oct 25;315(2):381–8.

39. Sotelo E, Fernández-Pinero J, Llorente F, Vázquez A, Moreno A, Agüero M, et al. Phylogenetic relationships of Western Mediterranean West Nile virus strains (1996–2010) using full-

length genome sequences: single or multiple introductions? Journal of General Virology. 2011;92(11):2512–22.

40. Monaco F, Lelli R, Teodori L, Pinoni C, Di Gennaro A, Polci A, et al. Re-emergence of West Nile virus in Italy. Zoonoses Public Health. 2010 Dec;57(7–8):476–86.

41. Casimiro-Soriguer CS, Perez-Florido J, Fernandez-Rueda JL, Pedrosa-Corral I, Guillot-Sulay V, Lorusso N, et al. Phylogenetic Analysis of the 2020 West Nile Virus (WNV) Outbreak in Andalusia (Spain). Viruses. 2021 May 5;13(5):836.

42. Monaco F, Savini G, Calistri P, Polci A, Pinoni C, Bruno R, et al. 2009 West Nile disease epidemic in Italy: first evidence of overwintering in Western Europe? Res Vet Sci. 2011 Oct;91(2):321–6.

43. Autorino GL, Battisti A, Deubel V, Ferrari G, Forletta R, Giovannini A, et al. West Nile virus epidemic in horses, Tuscany region, Italy. Emerg Infect Dis. 2002 Dec;8(12):1372–8.

44. Mencattelli G, Iapaolo F, Monaco F, Fusco G, de Martinis C, Portanti O, et al. West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Italy: Newly Introduced or a Re-Occurrence of a Previously Circulating Strain? Viruses. 2022 Jan;14(1):64.

45. De Ascentis M, Quaglia M, D'Alessio SG, Iapaolo F, Pizzurro F, Ruggeri F, et al. Species of mosquitoes present in Abruzzo and Molise and their possible role as vecto of Usutu and West Nile viruses. Vet Ital. 2022 Dec 30;

46. Federici V, Ippoliti C, Goffredo M, Catalani M, Di Provvido A, Santilli A, et al. Epizootic haemorrhagic disease in Italy: vector competence of indigenous Culicoides species and spatial multicriteria evaluation of vulnerability. Vet Ital. 2016 Sep 30;52(3–4):271–9.

47. Ndione MHD, Ndiaye EH, Faye M, Diagne MM, Diallo D, Diallo A, et al. Re-Introduction of West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Senegal from Europe and Subsequent Circulation in Human and Mosquito Populations between 2012 and 2021. Viruses. 2022 Dec 6;14(12):2720.

48. Schuffenecker I, Peyrefitte CN, el Harrak M, Murri S, Leblond A, Zeller HG. West Nile Virus in Morocco, 2003. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005 Feb;11(2):306–9.

49. Mancuso E, Cecere JG, Iapaolo F, Di Gennaro A, Sacchi M, Savini G, et al. West Nile and Usutu Virus Introduction via Migratory Birds: A Retrospective Analysis in Italy. Viruses. 2022 Feb;14(2):416.

50. Mancuso E, Toma L, Pascucci I, d'Alessio SG, Marini V, Quaglia M, et al. Direct and Indirect Role of Migratory Birds in Spreading CCHFV and WNV: A Multidisciplinary Study on Three Stop-Over Islands in Italy. Pathogens. 2022 Sep 16;11(9):1056.

51. Pesko KN, Ebel GD. West Nile virus population genetics and evolution. Infect Genet Evol.2012 Mar;12(2):181–90.

52. Castillo-Olivares J, Wood J. West Nile virus infection of horses. Vet Res. 2004;35(4):467–83.

53. Beck C, Leparc Goffart I, Franke F, Gonzalez G, Dumarest M, Lowenski S, et al. Contrasted Epidemiological Patterns of West Nile Virus Lineages 1 and 2 Infections in France from 2015 to 2019. Pathogens. 2020 Oct 30;9(11).

CHAPTER 7. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Overwintering in Italy

Tropical medicine and infectious disease, 7(8), 160. https://doi.org/10.3390/tropicalmed7080160 (2022)

by

Giulia Mencattelli^{1,2,3,*}, Federica Iapaolo¹, Andrea Polci¹, Maurilia Marcacci¹, Annapia Di Gennaro¹, Liana Teodori¹, Valentina Curini¹, Valeria Di Lollo¹, Barbara Secondini¹, Silvia Scialabba¹, Marco Gobbi⁴, Elisabetta Manuali⁴, Cesare Cammà¹, Roberto Rosà², Annapaola Rizzoli³, Federica Monaco¹ and Giovanni Savini¹

¹ Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e del Molise, 64100 Teramo, Italy;

²Center Agriculture Food Environment, University of Trento, 38098 Trento, Italy;

³ Fondazione Edmund Mach, Research and Innovation Centre, San Michele all'Adige, 38098;

⁴ Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Umbria e delle Marche "Togo Rosati", 06126 Perugia

7.1 Abstract

In January 2022, West Nile virus (WNV) lineage 2 (L2) was detected in an adult female goshawk rescued near Perugia in the region of Umbria (Italy). The animal showed neurological symptoms and died 15 days after its recovery in a wildlife rescue center. This was the second case of WNV infection recorded in birds in the Umbria region during the cold season, when mosquitoes, the main WNV vectors, are usually not active. According to the National Surveillance Plan, the Umbria region is included amongst the WNV low-risk areas. The necropsy evidenced generalized pallor of the mucous membranes, mild splenomegaly, and cerebral edema. WNV L2 was detected in the brain, heart, kidney, and spleen homogenate using specific RT-PCR. Subsequently, the extracted viral RNA was sequenced. A Bayesian phylogenetic analysis performed through a maximum-likelihood tree showed that the genome sequence clustered with the Italian strains within the European WNV strains among the central-southern European WNV L2 clade. These results, on the one hand, confirmed that the WNV L2 strains circulating in Italy are genetically stable and, on the other hand, evidenced a continuous WNV circulation in Italy throughout the year. In this report case, a bird-to bird WNV transmission was suggested to support the virus overwintering. The potential transmission through the oral route in a predatory bird may explain the relatively rapid spread of WNV, as well as other flaviviruses characterized by similar transmission patterns. However, rodent-to bird transmission or mosquito-to bird transmission cannot be excluded, and further research is needed to better understand WNV transmission routes during the winter season in Italy.

7.2 Keywords

West Nile virus; flavivirus; birds of prey; overwintering; bird-to bird transmission; rodent-to bird transmission; hybrid mosquitoes; surveillance

7.3 Introduction

West Nile virus (WNV) is a mosquito-borne flavivirus, belonging to the family *Flaviviridae*, genus Flavivirus [1]. It is part of the Japanese encephalitis serocomplex, which includes other related viruses such as Usutu, Murray Valley encephalitis, Stratford, Alfui, Kunjin, and Saint Louis encephalitis [2]. WNV is transmitted in nature by vector-competent mosquitoes mainly belonging to the *Culex* genus [3]. Its transmission cycle involves several bird species and orders as main amplifier hosts and humans, equids, and other animals as incidental, dead-end hosts [3,4]. In humans, 80% of cases are generally asymptomatic, while in about 20% of cases, infection causes mild, flu-like symptoms known as West Nile fever (WNF). West Nile neuroinvasive disease (WNND) occurs in less than 1% of cases, reporting WNV meningitis, encephalitis, or poliomyelitis [2,5]. Among birds, several avian species can be infected by WNV, but corvids and raptors appear to be the most susceptible ones, showing neurological symptoms and deaths [5]. Once infected, horses usually do not have symptoms. In 20% of cases, they can develop clinical and neurological forms [6], which can lead to 30-50% deaths in unvaccinated animals [5]. The severity of symptoms has been often correlated to WNV genetic diversity [7]. Up to now, 8 lineages have been recognized. Among them, WNV lineage 1 (WNV L1) and lineage 2 (WNV L2) are by far the most widely spread and the most virulent, capable of causing numerous cases worldwide [2,8,9].

Nowadays, WNV represents a serious public health concern in Europe. In the last decades, WNV has expanded its geographical range. The number of West Nile disease (WND) cases have been increasing in animals and humans, especially in southern, central, and eastern Europe, where many countries have become endemic [10,11].

Italy is one of the European countries most affected by WNV circulation [12]. Since 2002, four years after the first incursion in the Tuscany region [13,14], the Italian Ministry of Health has implemented

a veterinary surveillance plan to monitor the viral introduction and circulation of WNV in the whole country. In Italy, the WNV circulation is currently monitored through an annually updated preparedness and response plan, aiming at limiting the risk of WNV transmission to humans either by mosquitoes or by substances of human origin. The current program, modulated on the basis of seasonality and local epidemiology, includes national integrated human, animal (equids and birds), and entomological surveillance (One Health Surveillance). Viral circulation is monitored from April to November by testing vector-competent mosquitoes, resident birds belonging to target species (*Pica* pica, Corvus corone cornix, and Garrulus glandarius) or sentinel chickens, wild birds found dead, horses showing nervous symptoms, and humans presenting neuroinvasive disease signs. On the basis of WNV occurrence and the eco-climatic characteristics of the territory, Italy is divided in three areas: (1) high-risk areas, where WNV is circulating or has circulated in at least one of the previous five years and where, therefore, episodes of infection have been repeatedly observed; (2) low-risk areas, where WNV has circulated sporadically in the past or has never circulated but whose eco-climatic characteristics are favorable for viral circulation; and (3) minimum-risk areas, where WNV has never circulated and where, given the eco-climatic characteristics of the territory, the probability of its circulation is considered as minimal (National Plan for Prevention, Surveillance, and Response to Arbovirus 2020–2025).

The Umbria region is classified as a low-risk area. WNV circulation has never been reported, at least up to 2019, when the death of a little grebe (Tachybaptus ruficollis subsp. ruficollis) was associated with WNV L2 infection [15].

In this report, a second clinical case associated with WNV L2 infection observed in a northern goshawk (*Accipiter gentilis*) in Umbria during the winter season is described.

7.4 Materials and Methods

7.4.1 Case Report

On 4 January 2022, a female adult northern goshawk was rescued in Torgiano, a municipality in the province of Perugia, Italy (Figure 7.1).



Figure 7.1 Map of geo-localization site.

The Northern goshawk was found in the Torgiano municipality (43.0893° N, 12.4410° E) in the Umbria region.

The bird was found on the roof of a private house while trying to defend itself from a mobbing attack by crows. The noise caused by the crows attacking the stunned goshawk attracted the homeowner, who recovered the bird and brought it to a wildlife rescue center (WRC). The northern goshawk showed classical neurological symptoms, including stupor, blepharospasm, and an inability to maintain a normal posture. After an initial improvement of symptoms in which the bird restarted feeding on its own, the clinical signs suddenly worsened, and the bird died on 19 January 2022. The necropsy evidenced a good state of nutrition, generalized pallor of the mucous membranes, and mild splenomegaly. Cerebral edema was also observed. The picture and video of the WNV-infected northern goshawk are reported in Figure S7.1 and Video S7.1 (Supplementary Materials).

7.4.2 Laboratory Analyses

7.4.2.1 Real-Time PCR for WNV and USUV

The brain, heart, kidney, and spleen were collected, pooled, and homogenized in sterile phosphatebuffered saline (PBS). The viral RNA was extracted from 200 µL supernatant using Qiasymphony® DSP automatic instrumentation (Germantown, MD, USA) according to the manufacturer instructions. The extracted RNA was then tested using one-step quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reactions (qRT-PCRs) specific for USUV, all known lineages of West Nile virus, and West Nile virus L1 and L2 [16–18].

7.4.2.2 Illumina and Sanger Sequencing

A WNV-positive sample was selected for Illumina and Sanger sequencing. The total RNA was subjected to Turbo DNase treatment (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at 37 °C for 20 min and then purified with an RNA Clean and Concentrator-5 Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA). The purified RNA was used for the assessment of the sequence independent single primer amplification (SISPA) protocol [19,20]. In detail, a single-strand cDNA was obtained using reverse transcription (RT) in 20 μL reaction mixture with 5X SSIV buffer, 50 μM random hexamer FR26RV-N 50-GCCGGAGCTCTGCAGATATCNNNNN-30, 10 mM dNTPs mix, 100 mM DTT, 200 units

SuperScript® IV Reverse Transcriptase (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), and 40 U RNAse OUT RNase inhibitor (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) following the manufacturer instructions. The reaction was incubated at 23 °C for 10 min, 50 °C for 50 min, and 80 °C for 10 min. To convert the single-stranded cDNA into double-stranded (ds) cDNA, 1 μ L (2.5 U) 3'-5' Klenow Polymerase (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) was directly added to the reaction. The incubation was carried out at 37 °C for 1 h and 75 °C for 10 min. Next, 5 µL of ds cDNA was amplified with a PCR master mix containing 5X Q5 reaction buffer, 10 mM dNTPs, 40 µM random primer FR20 Rv 50-GCCGGAGCTCTGCAGATATC-30, 0.01 U/µL Q5® High Fidelity DNA polymerase (NEB, New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA), and 5X Q5 High Enhancer. The reaction was incubated at 98 °C for 10 s, 65 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 3 min, and 72 °C for 2 min. The PCR product was purified using Expin TM PCR SV (GeneAll Biotechnology CO., Seoul, Korea) and then quantified using a Qubit® DNA HS Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The sample was diluted to obtain a concentration of 100–500 ng, then used for library preparation with an Illumina DNA prep kit, and sequenced with a NextSeq 500 (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) using a NextSeq 500/550 Mid Output Reagent Cartridge v2, 300 cycles, and standard 150 bp paired-end reads. After quality control and trimming with Trimmomatic v0.36 (Usadellab, Düsseldorf, Germany) [21] and FastQC tool v0.11.5 (Bioinformatics Group, Babraham Institute, Cambridge, UK) [22,23], reads were de novo assembled using SPADES v3.11.1 (Algorithmic Biology Lab, St Petersburg, Russia) [24]. The contigs obtained were analyzed with BLASTn to identify the best match reference. Mapping of the trimmed reads was then performed using the iVar computational tool [25] to obtain a consensus sequence. In order to close some large gaps, the WNV-positive sample was further sequenced using the Sanger method [26]. Briefly, the total RNA was extracted from the collected sample using a High Pure Viral Nucleic Acid Kit (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Roche Applied Science, 68298 Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturer instructions and collected in 45

µL elution buffer prewarmed at 72 °C. The complete WNV-coding DNA sequences (cds) of the polyprotein precursor gene was amplified using 13 WNV primer pairs able to amplify 13 overlapping regions of the genome (the primer sequences are available upon request). Gel-based RT-PCR was performed using a Transcriptor One-Step RT-PCR kit (Roche Diagnostics Deutschland GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) as described by the manufacturer instructions. The RT-PCR cycling conditions for the amplification were 50 °C for 15 min and 94 °C for 7 min, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 10 s, annealing at 57.5 °C for 30 s, and extension at 68 °C for 4 min and 30 s, followed by 1 extension cycle performed at 68 °C for 7 min. The gel-based RT-PCR amplicons were purified with a Qiaquick PCR Purification kit (Qiagen, Leipzig, Germany). The purified amplicons and the 13 WNV sequencing primers were sent to an external service, Eurofins Genomics (Eurofins Genomics, Germany GmbH, Anzinger Str. 7a, 85560 Ebersberg, Germany), to perform sequencing in both directions. The obtained sequences were analyzed with SeqScape v3.0 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA).

7.4.2.3 Phylogenetic Analysis

A phylogenetic analysis was conducted including 62 WNV L2 genome sequences publicly available. Specifically, 57 complete and 5 partial genome sequences representative of different geographic regions and identified in different hosts were downloaded from Genbank. In addition, three sequences were added as outgroups: WNV L1 Italy 2020 (MW627239), WNV L1 France 2015 (MT863559), and Koutango virus (KOUTV) Senegal 2013 (EU082200). All 66 sequences were aligned using the MAFFT online alignment program (https://mafft.cbrc.jp/alignment/server/, accessed on: 15 April 2022) and curated using BioEdit v. 7.2.5.0 software (https://bioedit.software.informer.com/7.2/, Bioedit Company, Manchester, UK, accessed on: 15 April 2022). The WNV sequence alignment and the metadata of the WNV strains used for the present study are reported in File S7.1 and Table S7.1,

respectively (Supplementary Materials). Bayesian phylogenetic inference (BI) was performed using a Bayesian Evolutionary Analysis by Sampling Tree (BEAST) software package version 2.6.3 (http://www.beast2.org/, University of Auckland, Auckland 1142

New Zealand) [27,28]. In detail, using the interface program called Bayesian Evolutionary Analysis Utility (BEAUti) included in the BEAST package, the amino acid sequence alignment was uploaded by choosing a gamma-site model with a gamma category count of 4, as well as invariant sites model (GTR + Γ + I) [28]. A family of Bayesian Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) algorithms with 10 independent MCMC runs with up to 100,000,000 generations was used to perform the inference. Using TreeAnnotator v.2.6.3 (https://www.beast2.org/treeannotator/), trees were summarized in a maximum-clade-credibility tree with common ancestor heights after a 10% burnin percentage [28]. Tracer v 1.7.1 (available at http://beast.bio.ed.ac.uk/Tracer, accessed on: 16 April 2022) was used to ensure convergence during the MCMC runs. Finally, the FigTree v2.6.3 program (http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/) allowed the estimation of a maximum-likelihood tree [29].

7.5 Results

The northern goshawk rescued in the Umbria region in January 2022 was positive for WNV L2 (Ct 25) and turned out negative for WNV L1 and USUV.

The Illumina sequencing run produced a total of 15,763,124 reads. BLASTn analysis was performed to identify the closest publicly available sequence in the GenBank database. The best match (99.49%) was with the West Nile virus isolate of Nea Santa-Greece-2010 (accession no. HQ537483), and this sequence was used to perform mapping with the iVar tool [25]. This analysis produced a consensus sequence with a horizontal coverage (HCov) of 57% and a mean vertical coverage of 575,535, probably due to the low quality of the RNA sample.

The large gaps were partially filled with Sanger sequencing data, and a consensus sequence of 11.056 nt in length was obtained (HCov 91%) and published in the NCBI database under acc. no ON032498 and the NCBI sequence name of 15935/22.

Phylogenetic analysis placed 15935/22 NCBI in the same cluster as the other central-southern European WNV L2 sequences [30] (highlighted in pink in Figure 7.2) with a posterior probability of 100%.



Figure 7.2 Evolutionary analysis inferred by using the maximum-likelihood method and the general time reversible model.
The tree with the highest log-likelihood is shown. The percentage of trees in which the associated taxa clustered together is displayed next to the branches. Initial trees for the heuristic search were obtained by applying the neighbor-joining method to a matrix of pairwise distances estimated using the maximum composite likelihood (MCL) approach. A discrete Gamma distribution was used to model evolutionary rate differences among the sites (4 categories). The evolutionary distances were computed using the optimal GTR + Γ + I model, with 2000 Γ -rate categories and 5000 bootstrap replications using the Shimodaira–Hasegawa (SH) test. Ten independent MCMC runs with up to 100 million generations were performed to ensure the convergence of the estimates. GenBank accession numbers are indicated for each strain, with country, lineage, and year of isolation. The genome sequence ON032498 WNV L2 (HCov 91%), obtained from the goshawk organ homogenate, is highlighted in red. The WNV L1 MW627239 (Italy 2020) and MT863559 (France 2015), and Koutango virus (KOUTV) EU082200 (Senegal 2013), chosen as outgroups, are highlighted in blue. The new strain (ON032498) showed high genetic similarity with the central-southern European WNV L2 clade, highlighted in pink, with a posterior probability of 100%.

7.6 Discussion

This study reported the second evidence of WNV L2 circulation in the Umbria region. The current National Surveillance Plan includes Umbria amongst those areas whose eco-climatic characteristics are favorable for viral circulation but where WNV has never or sporadically circulated in the past (National Plan for Prevention, Surveillance, and Response to Arbovirus 2020–2025). In fact, no WNV circulation has ever been reported in the territory, neither in humans [31] nor in animals, before 2019, when the virus was detected for the first time in a little grebe [15]. Interestingly, in both reported Umbrian cases, WNV was detected in the winter months (December and January), a period when, normally, the most common vector, *Culex pipiens*, is less active.

The Northern goshawk (*Accipiter gentilis*) is a medium-sized bird of prey belonging to the family of *Accipitridae*. The family also includes other diurnal raptors, such as eagles, buzzards, and harriers [32]. With regard to WNV infection, Northern goshawks have been demonstrated to be highly susceptible. In fact, following WNV infection, severe clinical symptoms have often been described in this species and, in general, in raptors [19,30,33,34]. The clinical signs described in this report were compatible with WNV infection. Moreover, the absence of fractures in the bird skull excluded a possible traumatic origin of the observed neurological disorders.

The first aspect that needs to be clarified is the time of infection: did it really occur in winter? In this regard, the occurrence of clinical signs and the direct detection of WNV in the goshawk organs indicates that this case was related to a recent infection. WNV infections in periods of mosquito inactivity have been described, particularly in raptors [33,35,36]. This group of birds is, in fact, characterized by predatory habits [32] and the transmission of WNV by the predation of infected birds has been frequently observed [33,37]. In this reported case, it is then highly probable that the Umbrian goshawk became infected by eating an infected bird. If, on the one hand this explanation indeed clarifies the way the goshawk obtained the infection, on the other hand, it does not explain how the supposed goshawk prey was still infectious in a period of mosquito inactivity. The persistence of infectious WNV for prolonged periods in the organs of birds and, in particular, of Passeriformes has been evidenced by many authors [35,38–42]. Persistent infection has been defined as the detection of a virus in host tissues after viremia has subsided [43]. The persistent, high viral loads in organs of birds and, in particular, in those belonging to prey species might sustain WNV transmission to predators also months after mosquito season. The recent finding of WNV L2 in a little grebe collected in the winter months in Umbria [15] indicates that finding birds with WNV-infected organs in the winter months is not uncommon [33,34,38,41,43]. Thus, the symptomatic goshawk found in Umbria last January can be regarded as a case of bird-to bird WNV oral transmission.

This transmission route has been considered as one of the possible ways of overwintering for WNV [33,34,38,41,43]. Bearing in mind that common preys of goshawks also include rodents and that, also, in these animals infectious WNV has been detected months after infection [44,45], a possible rodent-to bird transmission cannot be excluded.

Further attention should be given to the *Culex pipiens* complex because of its vector role in WNV transmission [46,47]. Among this complex, the *Culex pipiens* (rural, mainly ornithophilic) and Culex molestus (urban, mainly mammophilic) biotypes can interbreed, giving birth to a hybrid form with intermediate ecological features found in a wide set of environments and acting as a WNV bridge-vector from birds to humans [46,47]. Interestingly, while *Cx. pipiens* are well-known to enter diapause during winter, *Cx. molestus* and *Cx. Pipiens–Cx. molestus* hybrids actively feed all year round [46] and might, for this reason, have been responsible for the goshawk WNV infection.

Irrespective of whether the goshawk was infected by hybrid mosquitoes or by the predation of infected animals, WNV has indeed been circulating in the winter months. Therefore, the second important issue to be clarified in this report is where the goshawk was infected. According to the National Surveillance Plan, Umbria is classified as a WNV low-risk area, while the neighboring regions (parts of Tuscany, Marche, and Lazio) are high-risk areas (National Plan for Prevention, Surveillance, and Response to Arbovirus 2020–2025). In most parts of Europe, the northern goshawk is a sedentary species [32,48]. In Italy, it is a rather scarce, localized breeder, mainly present in mature forests of the Apennines and the Alps that are especially rich in large trees and are particularly suitable for nestbuilding, where its common prey are abundant (e.g., squirrels, wood pigeons, woodpeckers, corvids, and rabbits) [32]. In January, even if it further reduces its movements, it can still keep moving for hundreds of kilometers [32]. Because of that and in view of the fact that Umbria has a very small surface (8.456 Km2), it is very difficult to determine whether the goshawk became infected in Umbria

or in the neighboring regions. Interestingly, during the WNV season 2021, there was no evidence for the circulation of WNV, not only in Umbria but also in the nearby area of central Italy [49]. The lack of WNV infection cases in high-risk areas (Latium and Tuscany) also in wintertime [15,50], when mosquitoes are less active, might suggest that birds have an important role in WNV overwintering. The potential transmission through the oral route in a predatory bird might explain the relatively rapid spread of WNV and of other similar flaviviruses, such as Tick-borne encephalitis virus and Usutu virus (USUV) [50–52]. It has to be said that Umbria is endemic for USUV [53] (National Plan for Prevention, Surveillance, and Response to Arbovirus 2020–2025), which is a mosquito-borne virus that shares the same life cycle and patterns of transmissibility with WNV [4]. If the eco-climatic conditions of Umbria are suitable for maintaining the USUV life cycle, they should also be favorable for WNV.

Based on these features and due to recent WNV positivities detected in the territory, the Umbria region was included among the high-risk areas in 2022 by the WNV National Surveillance Plan (National Plan for Prevention, Surveillance, and Response to Arbovirus 2020–2025).

7.7 Conclusions

In conclusion, our study highlighted the circulation of WNV L2 during the winter in Italy. Even though the reported cases remain rare during the cold season, this report is of fundamental importance because it evidences the potential for human transmission when veterinary active surveillance is suspended. It means that we cannot rely on the early warning system for WNV circulation mainly provided by mosquito and bird surveillance to prevent human infection. Further research is needed to better understand the transmission routes and the role of overwintering birds, rodents, and mosquitoes, as well as WNV infection per *os*. in WNV transmission and epidemiology in Italy. Considering the strong WNV circulation in the Italian territory and the observed changes in the seasonal and regional

patterns of WNV, with the virus observed lately in winter times, as well as in WNV low-risk areas, this work also highlighted the strong importance of the passive surveillance of wildlife. This should be coupled with the implementation of a harmonized protocol for necroscopies and biological sample collection, including gastro-intestinal contents, in order to obtain additional data needed to clarify the potential cause of death, especially in winter, when the National Surveillance Plan does not include an active search for the virus.

7.8 Supplementary Materials

The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/tropicalmed7080160/s1, Figure S7.1: Picture of WNV-infected Northern goshawk; Video S7.1: Video of WNV-infected Northern goshawk; File S7.1: WNV List of Sequence dataset; Table S7.1: Metadata of WNV strains used for the present study.

7.9 Author Contributions

Conceptualization, G.M., F.I., F.M., and G.S.; methodology, G.M., F.M., A.P., M.M., and G.S.; validation, F.M., A.P., M.M., V.C., and G.S.; formal analysis, G.M., A.P., F.M., and M.M.; investigation, A.D.G., L.T., A.P., M.M., M.G., E.M., S.S., B.S., V.D.L., and G.M.; resources, F.M. and G.S.; data curation, M.G., E.M., A.P., and G.M.; writing—original draft, G.M., F.I., F.M., and G.S.; writing—review and editing, G.M., F.M., M.M., R.R., A.R., and G.S.; visual-ization, G.M., F.I., F.M., A.D.G., L.T., V.C., M.M., A.P., M.G., E.M., V.D.L., S.S., B.S., C.C., R.R., A.R., and G.S.; supervision, F.M. and G.S.; project administration, G.S.; funding acquisition, G.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

7.10 Funding

This research was funded by the Italian Ministry of Health (law 19 January 2001). This research was financially supported by an international PhD initiative including the Fondazione Edmund Mach, the University of Trento, and the Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e Molise.

7.11 Data Availability Statement

Sequence data are available via NCBI. The accession numbers for the sequences used can be found in Table S7.1, supplementary materials.

7.12 Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge all personnel in the lab and in the field for their skill and technical support. The authors also wish to thank Sandro Pelini for the creation of the map included in the text, as well as Massimo Balducci and CRAS Lipu Umbria for providing the iconographic material.

7.13 Conflicts of Interest

All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

7.14 References

1. Habarugira, G.; Suen, W.W.; Hobson-Peters, J.; Hall, R.A.; Bielefeldt-Ohmann, H. West Nile Virus: An Update on Pathobiology, Epidemiology, Diagnostics, Control and "One Health" Implications. Pathogens 2020, 9, 589. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens9070589.

Mencattelli, G.; Ndione, M.H.D.; Rosà, R.; Marini, G.; Diagne, C.T.; Diagne, M.M.; Fall, G.;
 Faye, O.; Diallo, M.; Faye, O.; et al. Epidemiology of West Nile Virus in Africa: An Underestimated
 Threat. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 2022, 16, e0010075. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0010075.

Popescu, C.P.; Florescu, S.A.; Ruta, S.M. West Nile Virus in Central Europe—Pandora's Box
 Is Wide Open! Travel Med. Infect. Dis. 2020, 37, 101864.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101864.

4. Mancuso, E.; Cecere, J.G.; Iapaolo, F.; Di Gennaro, A.; Sacchi, M.; Savini, G.; Spina, F.; Monaco, F. West Nile and Usutu Virus Introduction via Migratory Birds: A Retrospective Analysis in Italy. Viruses 2022, 14, 416. https://doi.org/10.3390/v14020416.

5. Byas, A.D.; Ebel, G.D. Comparative Pathology of West Nile Virus in Humans and Non-Human Animals. Pathogens 2020, 9, 48. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens9010048.

 Reisen, W.K.; Hahn, D.C. Comparison of Immune Responses of Brown-Headed Cowbird and Related Blackbirds to West Nile and Other Mosquito-Borne Encephalitis Viruses. J. Wildl. Dis. 2007, 43, 439–449. https://doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-43.3.439.

7. Fall, G.; Di Paola, N.; Faye, M.; Dia, M.; Freire, C.C.d.M.; Loucoubar, C.; Zanotto, P.M.d.A.; Faye, O.; Sall, A.A. Biological and Phylogenetic Characteristics of West African Lineages of West Nile Virus. PLoS Negl. Trop Dis. 2017, 11, e0006078. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0006078.

Bakonyi, T.; Ivanics, É.; Erdélyi, K.; Ursu, K.; Ferenczi, E.; Weissenböck, H.; Nowotny, N.
 Lineage 1 and 2 Strains of Encephalitic West Nile Virus, Central Europe. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2006, 12, 618–623. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1204.051379.

Beck, C.; Leparc Goffart, I.; Franke, F.; Gonzalez, G.; Dumarest, M.; Lowenski, S.; Blanchard,
 Y.; Lucas, P.; de Lamballerie, X.; Grard, G.; et al. Contrasted Epidemiological Patterns of West Nile
 Virus Lineages 1 and 2 Infections in France from 2015 to 2019. Pathogens 2020, 9, 908.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens9110908.

10. West Nile Virus Infection. Available online: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/west-nile-virusinfection (accessed on 3 May 2022).

Bakonyi, T.; Haussig, J.M. West Nile Virus Keeps on Moving up in Europe. Euro Surveill
 2020, 25, 2001938. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.46.2001938.

12. Rizzo, C.; Napoli, C.; Venturi, G.; Pupella, S.; Lombardini, L.; Calistri, P.; Monaco, F.; Cagarelli, R.; Angelini, P.; Bellini, R.; et al. West Nile Virus Transmission: Results from the Integrated Surveillance System in Italy, 2008 to 2015. Eurosurveillance 2016, 21, 30340. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.37.30340.

13. Cantile, C.; Di Guardo, G.; Eleni, C.; Arispici, M. Clinical and Neuropathological Features of West Nile Virus Equine Encephalomyelitis in Italy. Equine Vet. J. 2000, 32, 31–35. https://doi.org/10.2746/042516400777612080.

Monaco, F.; Lelli, R.; Teodori, L.; Pinoni, C.; Di Gennaro, A.; Polci, A.; Calistri, P.; Savini,
G. Re-Emergence of West Nile Virus in Italy. Zoonoses Public Health 2010, 57, 476–486. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1863-2378.2009.01245.x.

15. Giglia, G.; Mencattelli, G.; Lepri, E.; Agliani, G.; Gobbi, M.; Gröne, A.; van den Brand, J.M.A.; Savini, G.; Mandara, M.T. West Nile Virus and Usutu Virus in Wild Birds from Rescue Centers, a Post-Mortem Monitoring Study from Central Italy. bioRxiv 2022, https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.07.19.500416.

16. Del Amo, J.; Sotelo, E.; Fernández-Pinero, J.; Gallardo, C.; Llorente, F.; Agüero, M.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.A. A Novel Quantitative Multiplex Real-Time RT-PCR for the Simultaneous Detection

332

and Differentiation of West Nile Virus Lineages 1 and 2, and of Usutu Virus. J. Virol. Methods 2013, 189, 321–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.02.019.

 Vázquez, A.; Herrero, L.; Negredo, A.; Hernández, L.; Sánchez-Seco, M.P.; Tenorio, A. Real Time PCR Assay for Detection of All Known Lineages of West Nile Virus. J. Virol. Methods 2016, 236, 266–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2016.07.026.

Cavrini, F.; Della Pepa, M.E.; Gaibani, P.; Pierro, A.M.; Rossini, G.; Landini, M.P.; Sambri,
 V. A Rapid and Specific Real-Time RT-PCR Assay to Identify Usutu Virus in Human Plasma, Serum,
 and Cerebrospinal Fluid. J. Clin. Virol. 2011, 50, 221–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2010.11.008.

Mencattelli, G.; Iapaolo, F.; Monaco, F.; Fusco, G.; de Martinis, C.; Portanti, O.; Di Gennaro,
A.; Curini, V.; Polci, A.; Berjaoui, S.; et al. West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Italy: Newly Introduced or
a Re-Occurrence of a Previously Circulating Strain? Viruses 2022, 14, 64.
https://doi.org/10.3390/v14010064.

20. Marcacci, M.; De Luca, E.; Zaccaria, G.; Di Tommaso, M.; Mangone, I.; Aste, G.; Savini, G.; Boari, A.; Lorusso, A. Genome Characterization of Feline Morbillivirus from Italy. J. Virol. Methods 2016, 234, 160–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2016.05.002.

21. Bolger, A.M.; Lohse, M.; Usadel, B. Trimmomatic: A Flexible Trimmer for Illumina Sequence Data. Bioinformatics 2014, 30, 2114–2120. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu170.

22. Cito, F.; Pasquale, A.D.; Cammà, C.; Cito, P. The Italian Information System for the Collection and Analysis of Complete Genome Sequence of Pathogens Isolated from Animal, Food and Environment. Int. J. Infect. Dis. 2018, 73, 296–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2018.04.4090.

23. Aprea, G.; Scattolini, S.; D'Angelantonio, D.; Chiaverini, A.; Di Lollo, V.; Olivieri, S.; Marcacci, M.; Mangone, I.; Salucci, S.; Antoci, S.; et al. Whole Genome Sequencing Characterization of HEV3-e and HEV3-f Subtypes among the Wild Boar Population in the Abruzzo Region, Italy: First Report. Microorganisms 2020, 8, 1393. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8091393.

24. Bankevich, A.; Nurk, S.; Antipov, D.; Gurevich, A.A.; Dvorkin, M.; Kulikov, A.S.; Lesin, V.M.; Nikolenko, S.I.; Pham, S.; Prjibelski, A.D.; et al. SPAdes: A New Genome Assembly Algorithm and Its Applications to Single-Cell Sequencing. J. Comput. Biol. 2012, 19, 455–477. https://doi.org/10.1089/cmb.2012.0021.

25. Grubaugh, N.D.; Gangavarapu, K.; Quick, J.; Matteson, N.L.; De Jesus, J.G.; Main, B.J.; Tan, A.L.; Paul, L.M.; Brackney, D.E.; Grewal, S.; et al. An Amplicon-Based Sequencing Framework for Accurately Measuring Intrahost Virus Diversity Using PrimalSeq and IVar. Genome Biol. 2019, 20, 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-018-1618-7.

26. Verma, M.; Kulshrestha, S.; Puri, A. Genome Sequencing. Methods Mol. Biol .2017, 1525,
3–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6622-6_1.

27. Nei, M.; Kumar, S. Molecular Evolution and Phylogenetics; Oxford University Press: New York, NY, USA, 2000.

28. Drummond, A.J.; Suchard, M.A.; Xie, D.; Rambaut, A. Bayesian Phylogenetics with BEAUti and the BEAST 1.7. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2012, 29, 1969–1973. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/mss075.

29. Price, M.N.; Dehal, P.S.; Arkin, A.P. FastTree 2—Approximately Maximum-Likelihood Trees for Large Alignments. PLoS ONE 2010, 5, e9490. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009490.

334

30. Aguilera-Sepúlveda, P.; Napp, S.; Llorente, F.; Solano-Manrique, C.; Molina-López, R.; Obón, E.; Solé, A.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.Á.; Fernández-Pinero, J.; Busquets, N. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Spreads Westwards in Europe and Overwinters in North-Eastern Spain (2017–2020). Viruses 2022, 14, 569. https://doi.org/10.3390/v14030569.

31. Riccò, M.; Peruzzi, S.; Balzarini, F. Epidemiology of West Nile Virus Infections in Humans, Italy, 2012-2020: A Summary of Available Evidences. Trop Med. Infect. Dis. 2021, 6, 61. https://doi.org/10.3390/tropicalmed6020061.

32. Peterson, R.; Mountfort, G.; Hollom, P.A.; Pandolfi, M.; Frugis, S. Guida Degli Uccelli d'Europa. Atlante Illustrato a Colori. Libri—Amazon.It. Available online: https://www.amazon.it/uccelli-dEuropa-Atlante-illustrato-colori/dp/8874130473 (accessed on 28 April 2022).

33. Vidaña, B.; Busquets, N.; Napp, S.; Pérez-Ramírez, E.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.Á.; Johnson, N. The Role of Birds of Prey in West Nile Virus Epidemiology. Vaccines 2020, 8, 550. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines8030550.

Nemeth, N.M.; Kratz, G.E.; Bates, R.; Scherpelz, J.A.; Bowen, R.A.; Komar, N. Clinical Evaluation and Outcomes of Naturally Acquired West Nile Virus Infection in Raptors. J. Zoo Wildl. Med. 2009, 40, 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1638/2007-0109.1.

35. Garmendia, A.E.; Van Kruiningen, H.J.; French, R.A.; Anderson, J.F.; Andreadis, T.G.; Kumar, A.; West, A.B. Recovery and Identification of West Nile Virus from a Hawk in Winter. J. Clin. Microbiol. 2000, 38, 3110–3111. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.38.8.3110-3111.2000.

36. Ip, H.S.; Van Wettere, A.J.; McFarlane, L.; Shearn-Bochsler, V.; Dickson, S.L.; Baker, J.; Hatch, G.; Cavender, K.; Long, R.; Bodenstein, B. West Nile Virus Transmission in Winter: The 2013 Great Salt Lake Bald Eagle and Eared Grebes Mortality Event. PLoS Curr. 2014, 6,. https://doi.org/10.1371/currents.outbreaks.b0f031fc8db2a827d9da0f30f0766871.

37. Nemeth, N.; Gould, D.; Bowen, R.; Komar, N. Natural and Experimental West Nile Virus Infection in Five Raptor Species. J. Wildl. Dis. 2006, 42, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-42.1.1.

38. Komar, N.; Langevin, S.; Hinten, S.; Nemeth, N.; Edwards, E.; Hettler, D.; Davis, B.; Bowen, R.; Bunning, M. Experimental Infection of North American Birds with the New York 1999 Strain of West Nile Virus. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2003, 9, 311–322. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0903.020628.

39. Montecino-Latorre, D.; Barker, C.M. Overwintering of West Nile Virus in a Bird Community with a Communal Crow Roost. Sci. Rep. 2018, 8, 6088. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24133-4.

40. Wheeler, S.S.; Vineyard, M.P.; Woods, L.W.; Reisen, W.K. Dynamics of West Nile Virus Persistence in House Sparrows (Passer Domesticus). PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 2012, 6, e1860. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0001860.

41. Reisen, W.K.; Fang, Y.; Lothrop, H.D.; Martinez, V.M.; Wilson, J.; Oconnor, P.; Carney, R.;
Cahoon-Young, B.; Shafii, M.; Brault, A.C. Overwintering of West Nile Virus in Southern California.
J. Med. Entomol. 2006, 43, 344–355. https://doi.org/10.1603/0022-2585(2006)043[0344:oownvi]2.0.co;2.

336

42. Conte, A.; Candeloro, L.; Ippoliti, C.; Monaco, F.; Massis, F.D.; Bruno, R.; Sabatino, D.D.; Danzetta, M.L.; Benjelloun, A.; Belkadi, B.; et al. Spatio-Temporal Identification of Areas Suitable for West Nile Disease in the Mediterranean Basin and Central Europe. PLoS ONE 2015, 10, e0146024. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146024.

43. Wheeler, S.S.; Langevin, S.A.; Brault, A.C.; Woods, L.; Carroll, B.D.; Reisen, W.K. Detection of Persistent West Nile Virus RNA in Experimentally and Naturally Infected Avian Hosts. Am. J. Trop Med. Hyg. 2012, 87, 559–564. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.2012.11-0654.

44. Tesh, R.B.; Siirin, M.; Guzman, H.; Travassos da Rosa, A.P.A.; Wu, X.; Duan, T.; Lei, H.; Nunes, M.R.; Xiao, S.-Y. Persistent West Nile Virus Infection in the Golden Hamster: Studies on Its Mechanism and Possible Implications for Other Flavivirus Infections. J. Infect. Dis. 2005, 192, 287–295. https://doi.org/10.1086/431153.

45. Appler, K.K.; Brown, A.N.; Stewart, B.S.; Behr, M.J.; Demarest, V.L.; Wong, S.J.; Bernard, K.A. Persistence of West Nile Virus in the Central Nervous System and Periphery of Mice. PLoS ONE 2010, 5, e10649. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010649.

46. Vogels, C.B.F.; van de Peppel, L.J.J.; van Vliet, A.J.H.; Westenberg, M.; Ibañez-Justicia, A.; Stroo, A.; Buijs, J.A.; Visser, T.M.; Koenraadt, C.J.M. Winter Activity and Aboveground Hybridization Between the Two Biotypes of the West Nile Virus Vector Culex Pipiens. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2015, 15, 619–626. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2015.1820.

47. Di Luca, M.; Toma, L.; Boccolini, D.; Severini, F.; La Rosa, G.; Minelli, G.; Bongiorno, G.; Montarsi, F.; Arnoldi, D.; Capelli, G.; et al. Ecological Distribution and CQ11 Genetic Structure of Culex Pipiens Complex (Diptera: Culicidae) in Italy. PLoS ONE 2016, 11, e0146476. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146476. 48. Brown, L.; Amadon, D. Eagles, Hawks and Falcons of the World; Wellfleet: Secaucus, NJ, USA, 1989; ISBN 978-1-55521-472-2.

49. Bollettino_WND_2021_19 (1).Pdf—Adobe Cloud Storage. Available online: https://acrobat.adobe.com/link/file/?x_api_client_id=chrome_extension_viewer&uri=urn%3Aaaid% 3Asc%3AUS%3A9868069d-ee54-4d0a-9351-

4da5a42ffa6b&filetype=application%2Fpdf&size=1302218 (accessed on 25 July 2022).

50. Bollettino_WND_2022_3.Pdf—Adobe Cloud Storage. Available online: https://acrobat.adobe.com/link/file/?x_api_client_id=chrome_extension_viewer&uri=urn%3Aaaid% 3Asc%3AUS%3A359a79f6-a813-4fdd-90b8-

b52904f3ca1b&filetype=application%2Fpdf&size=1468985 (accessed on 25 July 2022).

51. Riccò, M. Epidemiology of Tick-Borne Encephalitis in North-Eastern Italy (2017–2020): International Insights from National Notification Reports. Acta Biomed. 2021, 92, e2021229. https://doi.org/10.23750/abm.v92i5.11474.

52.Toscana_2020.Pdf—AdobeCloudStorage.Availableonline:https://acrobat.adobe.com/link/file/?x_api_client_id=chrome_extension_viewer&uri=urn%3Aaaid%3Asc%3AUS%3A35ca9c99-25e9-406b-b502-

28c485af700&filetype=application%2Fpdf&size=344881 (accessed on 25 July 2022).

53. Mancini Mosquito Species Involved in the Circulation of West Nile and Usutu Viruses in Italy.
Vet. Ital. 2017, 53, 97–110. https://doi.org/10.12834/VetIt.114.933.4764.2.

CHAPTER 8. EPIDEMIOLOGICAL AND EVOLUTIONARY ANALYSIS OF WEST NILE VIRUS LINEAGE 2 IN ITALY

Viruses, 15, 35. https://doi.org/10.3390/v15010035 (2023)

by

Giulia Mencattelli^{1,2,3,*,†}, Andrea Silverj^{2,3,4,*,†}, Federica Iapaolo¹, Carla Ippoliti¹, Liana Teodori¹,

Annapia Di Gennaro¹, Valentina Curini¹, Luca Candeloro¹, Annamaria Conte¹, Andrea Polci¹,

Daniela Morelli¹, Maria Gabriella Perrotta⁵, Giovanni Marini³, Roberto Rosà^{2,3}, Federica Monaco¹,

Nicola Segata⁴, Annapaola Rizzoli³, Omar Rota-Stabelli^{2,3}, Giovanni Savini¹ and West Nile

Working Group[‡]

¹Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e del Molise, 64100 Teramo, Italy ²Centre Agriculture Food Environment, University of Trento, 38010 San Michele all'Adige, Italy ³Research and Innovation Centre, Fondazione Edmund Mach, 38010 San Michele all'Adige, Italy

⁴Department CIBIO, University of Trento, 38123 Trento, Italy

⁵Centro Nazionale di Lotta ed Emergenza Contro le Malattie Animali, 00161 Rome, Italy

[†]These authors contributed equally to this work and are both co-first and corresponding authors

[‡]The members of the West Nile Virus working group are listed in the group authorship list, located

in Supplementary Materials.

8.1 Abstract

West Nile virus (WNV) is a mosquito-borne virus potentially causing serious illness in humans and other animals. Since 2004, several studies have highlighted the progressive spread of WNV Lineage 2 (L2) in Europe, with Italy being one of the countries with the highest number of cases of West Nile disease reported. In this paper, we give an overview of the epidemiological and genetic features characterising the spread and evolution of WNV L2 in Italy, leveraging data obtained from national surveillance activities between 2011 and 2021, including 46 newly assembled genomes that were analysed under both phylogeographic and phylodynamic frameworks. In addition, to better understand the seasonal patterns of the virus, we used a machine learning model predicting areas at high-risk of WNV spread. Our results show a progressive increase in WNV L2 in Italy, clarifying the dynamics of interregional circulation, with no significant introductions from other countries in recent years. Moreover, the predicting model identified the presence of suitable conditions for the 2022 earlier and wider spread of WNV in Italy, underlining the importance of using quantitative models for early warning detection of WNV outbreaks. Taken together, these findings can be used as a reference to develop new strategies to mitigate the impact of the pathogen on human and other animal health in endemic areas and new regions.

8.2 Keywords

West Nile virus lineage 2; epidemiology; evolution; early-warning; Italy

8.3 Introduction

West Nile virus (WNV) is a positive strand RNA virus, belonging to the Flaviviridae family, genus Flavivirus, within the Japanese encephalitis virus serocomplex [1,2]. It is maintained in nature through a transmission cycle involving competent mosquitoes and birds acting as main vectors and major amplifiers, respectively [3,4]. Amongst the group of birds, corvids and raptors are highly susceptible. In these groups, WNV infection can result in severe, sometimes fatal neurological disorders [2,5,6]. In other groups, symptoms are less frequently observed, and in some cases chronic infection may develop [5,7,8,9]. Migratory birds can play a key role in introducing the virus to new regions, while resident competent birds are mostly involved in local transmission, which might eventually lead to the endemic circulation of the virus [5,10,11]. Humans, horses, and other vertebrates, such as reptiles, amphibians, and several mammals, are regarded as WNV incidental dead-end hosts [2,4]. In equids, only the minority of cases have severe clinical signs, associated to neurological symptoms, resulting in substantial economic costs and serious emotional distress [12,13]. In humans, WNV infection is generally asymptomatic (80%) [14]. In 20% of cases, however, it can lead to West Nile fever (WNF), characterised by flu-like symptoms. In a lower percentage of cases, mainly in old or immunocompromised people, infections can also cause severe and even fatal diseases characterised by neurological manifestations [2,15].

WNV was first detected in 1937 in Uganda. It has been circulating outside East Africa since the 1950s [2,3,4,15] and nowadays is reported in many countries worldwide [2,4,16]. Phylogenetic studies have revealed that WNV comprises at least eight lineages. WNV lineage 1 (L1) and lineage 2 (L2) are the most pathogenic and widespread, causing several outbreaks in birds, humans, and horses around the world [17]. From the 1960s to 2004, L1 was the main lineage circulating in Europe [18]. Since its first appearance in Hungary in 2004, L2 quickly spread throughout Europe, becoming endemic in many European countries [19]. Nowadays, it is the most prevalent WNV lineage circulating in the continent [20,21].

In Italy, the first West Nile disease (WND) outbreak was reported in the Tuscany region in 1998. The strain belonged to the WNV L1 genotype and was responsible for severe neurological cases and deaths among horses [22].

The virus has been monitored in the country since 2001. The surveillance plan did not detect any relevant circulation until 2005, when WNV antibodies were detected in sentinel chickens in northern Italy (see Material and Methods, as well as sample and data collection sections, for the details of the surveillance plan) [23]. Following the first years in which the surveillance plan was tackled almost separately by the human and veterinary health systems, a One-Health integrated surveillance program has been implemented since 2016. It integrates human, animal, and entomological surveillance to detect seasonal WNV circulation early. The detection of WNV in any host/vector is confirmed by a network of reference laboratories coordinated by the Ministry of Health, the Istituto Superiore di Sanità (National Reference Laboratory for WND in humans), and the Istituto Zooprofilattico of Abruzzo and Molise (IZS-Teramo) (National Reference Laboratory for WND in animals) (https://westnile.izs.it/j6 wnd/home, https://www.epicentro.iss.it/westnile/, accessed on 15 November 2022). The surveillance activities are refined every year according to the new WNV epidemiological findings in the country.

In 2008, several WNV L1 cases were reported in Emilia-Romagna, Veneto, and Lombardy [24]. In the following years, the virus became endemic in the northern part of the country and between 2010 and 2011 spread to the south [15]. Evidence of WNV L2 circulation in Italy was first reported in 2011 [25,26]. After its first appearance, it rapidly spread all over the country replacing WNV L1, which was only sporadically detected until October 2020, when it re-emerged in Italy in the Campania region [18]. The current 2022 vector season is characterised by an intense co-circulation of WNV L1 and L2 virulent strains, detected at the same time in mosquitoes, birds, horses, and humans [27], as reported

in the Annual Epidemiological bulletins produced for Italy by IZS-Teramo (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/periodicalItaly, accessed on 10 November 2022).

An exceptional number of WNV L2 cases were observed in Italy between June and November 2018 [21], with 577 human cases confirmed, including 230 neuroinvasive diseases (39.86%), 279 fevers (48.35%), and 42 deaths (7.27%). They occurred in Veneto, Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy, Piedmont, Sardinia, Friuli-Venezia Giulia, and Molise (only 1 case imported from Greece) regions. An abnormal number of WND cases were also observed in horses, birds, and mosquitoes, with 238 cases reported in equids (IgM or molecular test), while WNV L2 RNA was detected in 239 resident target birds (Pica, Corvus corone cornix, and Garrulus glandarius), 109 wild birds, and 433 mosquito pools in the Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy, Piedmont, Friuli-Venezia Giulia, Veneto, Sardinia, Lazio, Basilicata, and Puglia regions (https://storymaps.arcgis.com/collections/b50666024702441dac792d0cb3aee32c, year 2018, accessed on 10 November 2022). Currently, Italy is the European country with the highest number of WNV cases, and most of them are associated with WNV L2 infections (see Italian Epidemiological reports https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/home, accessed on 10 November 2022).

In this paper, we reconstructed the phylogeny, phylogeography, and phylodynamics of WNV L2 in Italy to better characterise its spread and evolution. The epidemiological trend of WNV L2, since its first appearance in the country in 2011, is also described by analysing the seasonal patterns and the viral prevalence in mosquitoes, birds, horses, and humans over the years. These analyses gave us the opportunity to assess the accuracy of the recent early warning system based on the environmental and climate model [28] in predicting WND epidemic behaviour during the 2021 and 2022 vector seasons.

8.4 Materials and Methods

8.4.1 Sample and Data Collection

In 2001, following the first outbreaks of WNV L1 reported in Tuscany in the late '90s, a WNV and Usutu virus integrated surveillance plan was implemented in Italy. At that time, the plan aimed to detect the introduction and local spread of these viruses. Fifteen WNV-at-risk areas were selected according to their suitable eco-climatic conditions and monitored by using an approach based on serological screening in sentinel animals (horses and poultry), wild bird mortality, and mosquito surveillance. In 2002, hospitalised human cases of fever with rash or encephalitis and meningitis recorded in regions where virus circulation was evidenced by the animal surveillance, started being reported. No WNV L2 cases were detected until 2011, when the lineage first appeared in northern regions, soon becoming endemic. Since this year, WNV L2 samples were collected under an integrated surveillance on birds, mosquitoes, and humans, activated on a regional scale, in northern regions [29], while WNV monitoring in the rest of Italy was based on serological screening in sentinel horses and chickens. Since this year, samples were collected.

In 2016, the first national plan integrating human, animal (equids, resident, and wild birds), and mosquito surveillance was issued. Its evolution in the following years led to the 2020–2025 Integrated Surveillance and Response Plan for Arboviruses (PNA), which is currently still in place (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/ministeriale, accessed on 10 November 2022). Seasonal surveillance activities are defined on the basis of the previous year's virus circulation (risk areas), while any WNV detection in birds, mosquitoes, equids, and humans triggers the activation of prevention measures (blood and transplant measures including nucleic acid testing, vector control, and risk communication campaigns aimed at citizens). Therefore, the start date of these measures can vary each year and, in each province, depending on the viral circulation.

Any positive results from local surveillance activities are confirmed by the National Reference Centre for Foreign Animal Diseases (CESME) at IZS-Teramo. Notifications of outbreaks are registered by the official veterinary authorities in the national information system for the notification of outbreaks in animals (SIMAN) [30]. The notification system is designed to register and document the occurrence and evolution of important infectious animal diseases according to Council Directive 82/894/EC [29].

8.4.2 Sample Analysis

8.4.2.1 <u>Tissue Homogenisation, RNA Extraction, and Real-Time RT-PCR</u>

At IZS-Teramo, bird tissue samples (heart, kidney, spleen, and brain) and pools of mosquitoes were homogenised in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with antibiotics. WNV RNA was extracted by using the MagMAX CORE Nucleic Acid Purification KIT (Applied Biosystem, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Life Technologies Corporation, Waltham, MA, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Every extracted RNA was subjected to one-step quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reactions (qRT-PCR) to detect WNV-L1 and/or -L2, and all known lineages of WNV by using the Superscript III Platinum OneStep qRT-PCR System (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Life Technologies Corporation, Waltham, MA, USA) [31].

8.4.3 Epidemiological Data Analysis

All data collected within the Italian WNV surveillance plan between 2011 and 2021 (see Table S8.1) have been processed using LibreOffice Calc v 365 [32] and Microsoft Excel v 4.2.2 [33]. Data collected between 2011 and 2021 were analysed with LibreOffice Calc, Microsoft Excel, and R version 4.1.2 [34].

8.4.4 Sequence Data Preparation and Retrieval

8.4.4.1 Whole Genome Sequencing, Genome Assembly, and Sequence Processing at NCBI

Purified nucleic acids were sequenced by Next Generation Sequencing, as described in detail in [35]. WNV L2 consensus sequences were obtained using iVar v 1.3.1 [36] after reads were mapped to various WNV L2 reference sequences (KU573082_Italy_2013, MN652880_Greece_2018, KT207792_Italy_2014, KP789954_Italy_2014, and HQ537483_Greece_2010) by using Snippy (https://github.com/tseemann/snippy, accessed on 1 November 2022). A map showing the geo-localisation of the collection sites of the sequenced samples can be found in Figure 8.1.



Figure 8.1 Geo-localization of WNV L2 sequenced sample collection sites

In blue, the WNV L2 circulation municipalities obtained from veterinary sample collection performed between 2011 and 2021 are displayed. The collection sites of samples from which sequences were obtained are shown in green.

8.4.4.2 Download of Reference Genomes

All available WNV sequences ≥ 200 nt have been downloaded from NCBI by using a custom R script for automatic sequence retrieval, which allows one to select sequences of the desired length by leveraging the "rentrez" R package (https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/rentrez/index.html, accessed on 25 October 2022).

8.4.4.3 Sequence Metadata Collection and Curation

Metadata for the newly generated sequences were obtained from the Laboratory Information Managements Systems (SILAB) at IZS-Teramo. SILAB is a web application designed by IZS-Teramo IT staff that uses an automated electronic recording function to support all diagnostic activities performed on the incoming samples, from their registration to the report release (https://www.izs.it/IZS/Engine/RAServePG.php/P/257610010719/L/1, accessed on 20 October 2022). All the information recorded in SILAB is originally collected and presented in the Vetinfo portal (https://www.vetinfo.it/, accessed on 20 October 2022) and subsequently reported in the PNA (https://www.vetinfo.it/, https://www.salute.gov.it/imgs/C_17_pubblicazioni_2947_allegato.pdf, accessed on 20 October 2022).

Metadata of all WNV sequences present in NCBI were downloaded from the NCBI virus platform (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/labs/virus/vssi/#/, accessed on 20 October 2022) as a single csv file, including all available fields.

8.4.4.4 Sequence Data Cleaning and Formatting

Only data for sequences longer than 10 kb (i.e., sequences covering almost the entire WNV genome) were retained for subsequent steps. All sequences were filtered for quality, converting all unusual

nucleotides into "N" letters, and then sequences which contained a percentage of ambiguous bases superior to 10% were removed. After this step, a total of 2478 genomes, 95 of which came from Italy, were selected for further analysis. For these sequences, we checked the cases lacking in information regarding the collection date and host, attempting to retrieve it from the corresponding paper, if available. When unable to identify the collection date, we put a putative date, if at least the year was known, choosing 15/06 (i.e., approximately the half of the year). We filled in all fields lacking in data with "NA" values, obtaining a resulting table of curated metadata (Table S8.2). All sequences were annotated using custom Python scripts and the newly generated tables with curated metadata, formatting the headers in a ">id|country|yyyy/mm/dd" format.

8.4.5 Phylogenetic Analysis

8.4.5.1 Subsampling for Molecular Clock Analysis

In order to reduce redundancy and make data suitable for molecular clock analysis, we carried out a subsampling of our main dataset. First, a maximum-likelihood phylogeny using FastTreev2.1.10 [37] (as specified in the next sections of this study) was reconstructed. As all American genomes (representing 83.9% of our dataset, 2079 sequences out of 2478) belonged to the same clade and were part of the L1 lineage, a subsampling of these sequences was carried out as well. Genome-sampler [38] was used to perform our selection. A total of 49 selected sequences resulted by sampling according to collection date (with a 1095-day sampling frequency) and viral diversity (50%). These sequences were then merged with the remaining quality-checked genomes from all possible world locations, and the sampling step was repeated with the same tool by using them as context sequences (defined as genomes obtained from a global community resource), while using our selection of Italian genomes as focal sequences (i.e., genomes obtained locally). We sampled every 90 days, with a diversity threshold of 0.95 and sampling near neighbours of the focal sequences at 0.99 percent

genome diversity, picking up 3 sequences per cluster. A final dataset of 370 sequences (95 genomes from Italy and 275 from 43 other countries) was generated and used for further analysis.

8.4.5.2 Alignment and Recombination Detection

All the datasets were aligned individually using MAFFTv7.490 [39], with the "--auto" option. All the datasets, excluding the one comprising all WNV L2 Italian sequences (very similar to each other), were trimmed using trimAlv1.2 [40] with the option "-automated1". The presence of recombinant sequences in the final dataset was checked by running the RDP4 program [41], with default options. This program uses phylogenetic-based (BootScan, RDP, Siscan) and substitution-based (GenConv, Maxchi, Chimaera, 3SEQ) methods to infer recombination events. A recombination event was regarded as true when detected by at least 5 methods out of 7. The sequences EF429199.1 from South Africa and GQ851604.1 from India were excluded from our final set, as they were indicated as suspected recombinants. The dataset without recombinant sequences (n = 368) was realigned and trimmed using the same methods.

8.4.5.3 Model Selection

Model selection was carried out on all datasets using Modelfinder [42], implemented in IQTREEv2.1.2 [43], using parameters "-T AUTO -m TESTONLY". The best-fit model for both the worldwide and the Bayesian down-sampled datasets was GTR + F + I + G4, chosen according to both Akaike information criterion (AIC) and Bayesian information criterion (BIC).

8.4.5.4 Maximum-Likelihood Phylogenies

To have an initial estimation of the phylogenetic signal in our dataset, FastTree 2 [35] was used to reconstruct a worldwide phylogeny of all WNV sequences (n = 2478) that passed our quality control,

with the command "FastTreeDbl -nt -gtr -gamma -log logfile -pseudo". A maximum likelihood phylogeny of the subset dataset (n = 368) was reconstructed by using RAxMLv8.2.12 [44], with commands "-p 1989 -m GTRGAMMAI -x 2483 -# 100 -f a -T 20". Clades were annotated using the resulting topology when having bootstrap supports \geq 90%.

8.4.5.5 Molecular Clock

BEASTv2.7 [45] was used to obtain phylogenies of the sequences using different sets of priors and models (Table S8.3) to explore their effect and influence on our phylogenetic reconstruction. Our subsampled dataset of 368 genomes was employed to reconstruct the overall genome evolution of WNV. The topologies of all trees obtained were compared together and with the maximum-likelihood tree to test the robustness of the reconstruction.

8.4.5.6 Phylogeographic and Phylodynamic Analysis of the Italian Clade of WNV L2

A clade comprising almost all Italian sequences of WNV was found in each tree, with bootstrap = 100 and posterior probability = 1. The sequences belonging to this Italian clade (n = 74) were re-annotated, including the name of the specific region of origin and, for those lacking an exact date, a refined estimation of the collection date based on the median of the collection dates of the sequences with complete metadata. The previous steps (alignment, trimming, model selection and tree building with RAxML and BEAST2) were therefore repeated. Phylogeography was reconstructed by using continuous traits (latitudinal and longitudinal coordinates for each sequence) in BEASTv1.10.4 [46]. When the exact position was not available, we approximated the location using the coordinates of the municipality from which the sample was collected (for detailed information about coordinates please contact the authors). We divided the analysis into two different partitions (one for sequence data and the other for continuous coordinates) and used the Cauchy RRW substitution model for our location

partition, with bivariate traits representing latitude and longitude, adding random jitter to the tips (jitter window size: 0.01). For the location partition, we selected the option to reconstruct states for all ancestors. We employed an uncorrelated relaxed clock with a log-normal distribution and a coalescent Bayesian skyline tree prior. We set a MCMC length of 500 × 106 generations, sampling every 50,000 steps. Convergence was assessed using Tracerv1.7.1 [47], ensuring that all parameters were above a significant threshold of ESS (>200). In parallel, a phylogeographic reconstruction using discrete characters was carried out using BEAST2 for the same dataset and under the same set of parameters (excluding the modelling of the character state), obtaining posterior probability estimates for each location at each node. To characterise the dynamic of the viral population in Italy, coalescent Bayesian skyline and birth–death skyline serial analyses were performed using different sets of models and parameters implemented in BEAST2 (see Table S8.3). The birth–death skyline serial model made it possible to estimate the effective reproductive number (Re), which is the average number of secondary infections caused by an infected individual at a given time during the epidemic.

8.4.6 Ecological and Epidemiological Modelling

In [28], the authors presented a model based on climatic and environmental factors (daytime and nighttime land surface temperature, normalised difference vegetation index, and surface soil moisture) that produces, two weeks in advance, risk maps for WNV circulation throughout Italy using a decision-tree-based ensemble machine learning algorithm (XGBoost, https://xgboost.readthedocs.io/en/latest/build.html, accessed on 20 October 2022).

This model, initially based on 2017–2019 data, was later updated and calibrated using the additional 2020 epidemic data and here applied for a comparison between risk maps in 2021 and 2022.

8.5 Results

8.5.1 Epidemiological Scenario

Based on all the data collected by the national surveillance plan between 2011 and 2021 in Italy (see Table S8.1), WNV cases recorded in mosquito pools, birds, horses, and humans were mapped as shown in Figure 8.2.



Figure 8.2 Mapped WNV cases recorded in mosquito pools, birds, horses, and humans

Total yearly number (from 2011 to 2021) of: (A) WNV L2 rt-PCR positive mosquito pools; (B) WNV L2 rt-PCR positive wild and target birds; (C) Total WNV IgM+ cases, IgM+ West Nile neuroinvasive disease (WNND), and IgM+ deaths among equids, not lineage specific; (D) Human WNND, West Nile fever (WNF), donors, deaths, and molecular and/or serological positive tests. For (A,B), the temporal distribution is shown per month and year, with cases reported in the months of: January (Jan); March (Mar); May; June (Jun); July (Jul); August (Aug); September (Sep); October (Oct); November (Nov); and December (Dec). Different colours representing each month are displayed in the legend. In (C,D), the temporal distribution is shown per year.

WNV L2 typically circulates in the environment among birds and mosquitoes between July and October, with peak activities shown in August (mosquitoes, birds) and September (birds). In mosquito vectors, an increased viral transmission was observed in 2013, 2016, and 2018, a tendency also confirmed by human data (not lineage-specific). The 2018 epidemic season was characterised by a strong recrudescence in mosquitoes, birds, horses, and human cases, with earlier and higher incidence of infections already registered in the month of June. In recent years (2016–2021), an increased viral transmission in birds was observed in November. Serological studies (not lineage-specific) conducted among equids highlighted an intense viral circulation in these animals in 2011.

8.5.2 Genetic Scenario

8.5.2.1 Genome Sequence Analysis

Illumina sequencing produced an average total number of raw reads per sample of about 1,647,235, and the average total numbers of trimmed reads is 1,618,180. The numbers of mapped reads (151 nucleotides [nt] in length) ranged from 252,431 to 289,804, with coverage depth ranging from 1267× to 6858×. Overall, consensus sequences were characterised by complete WNV L2 whole genomes. The 45 WNV L2 whole genome sequences obtained at the CESME were uploaded to BankIT NCBI (https://submit.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/about/bankit/, accessed on 20 October 2022) in May 2021 and March 2022.

8.5.2.2 World Scale Phylogenomics of WNV

Phylogenetic reconstructions for the worldwide dataset comprising 368 sequences were similar across maximum-likelihood and Bayesian methods. For Bayesian trees, evolutionary rates and divergence

times were different according to the specific combination of models used (see Table S8.3 and Figure S8.1). The majority of WNV L2 Italian genomes (74 out of a total of 95 included in the analysis) clustered together in a large clade (Figure 8.3, highlighted in red), which was retrieved with high support in each tree that was reconstructed, independently of the framework and of the models employed (see Table S8.3).



Figure 8.3 West Nile virus worldwide time tree

(A) Worldwide time tree of 368 WNV genome sequences from 44 different countries. WNV lineages are indicated with different colours. Uncertain dates are represented with blue bars showing the 95% HPDs. Nodes

defining the major lineages have all posteriors > 70 (in most cases > 90). A clade which includes the majority of the WNV L2 sequences from Italy is highlighted in red, inside the general WNV L2 subtree (in grey). (B) A magnification of the tree, showing the position of the Italian clade of WNV L2 among the central European clade (CEC). A WNV L2 genome sampled in Italy (JN858070.1, sampled in 2011 in the city of Ancona) and not belonging to the identified clade is shown with a red dotted line. The south-eastern European clade (SEEC), sister of the CEC, is also shown in the tree. Nodes with posterior probability < 50 are indicated with a circled cross.

This group also included two sequences from France (MT863560.1, MT863561.1) and one from Germany (MH910045.1), both from the year 2018. The genomes from France clustered with sequences mostly from Piedmont, while the German sequence was part of a group of sequences from Veneto and Sardinia. Only one Italian sequence (JN858070.1, sampled in 2011 in the city of Ancona) of WNV L2 was not included in the clade, forming a poorly supported group with the German clade of the virus and other sequences from Austria and Slovakia (Figure 8.3B).

8.5.2.3 <u>Phylodynamic and Phylogeographic Analysis of the WNV L2 Italian Clade</u>

Phylogenies built for the identified monophyletic Italian clade were consistent among methods and models, always showing the presence of the same four main well supported clades (Figure 8.4).



Figure 8.4 Phylogeographic analysis of WNV L2 sequences, part of the identified Italian clade

Colours indicate samples originating from five different Italian regions where the virus was detected. (A) The geographic position and the connection between all genomes analysed are shown. (B) Uncertain dates are represented with light blue bars showing the 95% HPDs. Nodes with high posterior probabilities (\geq 90) are indicated with black dots. The host from which the sample was reconstructed is indicated in a column on the right with bars of different colours. The blue curve at the root represents the posterior density. (C) A table showing posterior probabilities for the location state of the root and the four highly supported clades.

Clade 1, at the base of the tree, contained variants that were not sampled anymore in the following years. A group of sequences only from Sardinia defines clade 2. Clade 3 included sequences from northern Italian regions (Piedmont, Emilia-Romagna, and Lombardy), while clade 4 had genomes

from Veneto and Sardinia. Some sequences cannot be placed steadily in a group (their position changes among different trees) and come from different regions. The diffusion of the virus in the early years seemed to have started from two main areas (Sardinia and Veneto; Figures S8.2 and S8.3, Videos S8.1 and S8.2), moving further towards nearby regions in the following seasons and bursting in 2018 with an unusually large epidemic. The state of the character at the root suggests that the last common ancestor of these sequences was in Sardinia (posterior probability = 68.59), even though the signal is not highly supported and competes with the one from the Veneto region (posterior probability = 27.9). The ancestors of the other clades have a clearer geographic location (Veneto for clade 1 and 4, Sardinia for clade 2, Emilia-Romagna for clade 3).

Bayesian skyline plot analysis was used to investigate population dynamics of WNV L2 circulating in Italy. Plots reconstructed under both coalescent (Figure S8.4) and birth–death models (Figure 8.5) gave similar results, indicating an increase in the circulation of the virus for the 2013 and 2018 epidemic seasons.



Figure 8.5 Birth–death skyline serial analysis of WNV L2 sequences of the identified Italian clade Reproductive number (Re) is plotted for a timespan that goes from 2012 to 2021. (Re) > 1 indicates a growth of the epidemic.

A more modest growth is observed in 2016 and 2021, whilst a decline is shown for all the other years. The estimates of the Re were in line with this scenario (Figure 8.5). The peaks of 2013 and 2018 are preceded by a phase of some months in which population growth seems to increase constantly.

8.5.3 Epidemiological and Ecological Modelling

The eco-climatic model developed by Candeloro et al. [28] confirms the presence of suitable conditions for WNV L2 2022 early spread. Compared to 2021, the 2022 epidemic season is characterised by a higher probability of WNV circulation and by an earlier start of the vector season (1–1.5 months). The most endangered regions are considered Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy, and Veneto, where the median values of WNV circulation suitability range from 0.56 to 0.84 already at the end of June. Results are shown in Figure 8.6.


Year 🔶 2021 🔷 2022

Figure 8.6 WNV circulation suitability

Median values of WNV circulation suitability (probability ranging from 0 to 100%) in five Italian regions during the epidemic season in 2021 (orange line) and 2022 (light blue line). The spatial distribution of the probability across Italy is accessible through the web application https://mapserver.izs.it/gis_wn_predictions/, accessed on 20 October 2022, in which it is possible to view the risk map for WNV throughout the Italian territory with forecast periods of 16 days.

According to these predictions, preliminary data analysis performed on notified outbreaks in SIMAN occurred in the 2022 epidemic season, which confirmed an earlier and wider WNV circulation in Italy compared to 2021.

8.6 Discussion

Italy is one of the European countries reporting the highest numbers of human and animal WND cases. WNV L1 constantly circulated in the area from 2008 until 2011. Since 2012, the epidemiological scenario has been primarily dominated by WNV L2—at least until 2022, when L1 and L2 WNV strains surprisingly started co-circulating again, with numerous infections and co-infections reported in humans, horses, birds, and mosquitoes [27], (https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/periodicalItalyDocs?docYear=2022, accessed on 20 October 2022).

Since its first appearance, WNV L2 has been reported every year in Italy. Monitoring activities detected WNV L2 infections in 10 out of 20 Italian regions (Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy, Piedmont, Liguria, Veneto, Friuli-Venezia Giulia, Umbria, Tuscany, Lazio, and Sardinia), as well as IgM positive horses in 12 regions (Emilia-Romagna, Friuli-Venezia Giulia, Veneto, Piedmont, Sardinia, Lombardy, Tuscany, Lazio, Basilicata, Puglia, Calabria, and Sicily), evidencing a wide viral diffusion all over the country. Northern Italy and Sardinia stand out as the most affected areas and are nowadays considered endemic (Figure 8.1), (IZS-Teramo Annual Epidemiological Bulletins, https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/wndItalia, https://westnile.izs.it/j6_wnd/wndItaliaPeriodici, accessed on 20 October 2022). According to the data, WNV L2 typically circulates between July and October in Italy, with peaks observed in the months of August and September. However, variations in WNV transmission patterns are not unusual in the country: (i) the 2018 and 2022 epidemic seasons were characterised by an earlier and increased incidence of transmission, with infections detected as early as June [27], (IZS-Teramo Annual Epidemiological Bulletins, Figure 8.2); (ii) in the last years (2016– 2021), an increasing number of cases have been reported in November, showing a right shift in WND epidemiological curve's tail-end (Results, Figure 8.2); (iii) WNV-L2 strains have been detected among birds in December and January (2017, 2019, 2022), even in low-risk areas (i.e., Umbria region—2019, 2022) (IZS-Teramo Annual Epidemiological Bulletins) [9,35]; and (iv) an elevated number of WND cases (serological findings, not lineage specific) were observed in horses in 2011, likely due to WNV L1 infection, the most prevalent lineage circulating in Italy in that year [29], or vaccine seroconversion.

Differences in the WNV transmission patterns in the WND epidemics also emerged clearly from the investigation on the population dynamics of the WNV L2 clade inferred using Bayesian skyline plots, under both a coalescent (Figure S8.4) and a birth–death model (Figure 8.5). The results derived from this investigation in fact highlighted, in consistency with the observed surveillance activity data, the increased viral transmission which occurred during the 2013, 2016, and 2018 epidemic seasons (IZS-Teramo Annual Epidemiological Bulletins). According to the Bayesian skyline plots, in case of favourable events (e.g., temperature and humidity), the vector and viral population abnormal growth might be evident before summer, well ahead of the epidemic season.

All reconstructed trees gave comparable results despite the method used. All confirmed the overall scenario described in previous studies, in which different lineages of WNV were defined [17]. As revealed by the molecular clocks and phylogeographic analysis, the first introduction of L2 strains in the Italian territory likely occurred between 2008 and 2011 in Sardinia or Veneto (Figure 8.4; Figures S8.2 and S8.3; Supplementary Videos S8.1 and S8.2). In line with other studies [48], in all our phylogenetic reconstructions WNV L2 Italian genomes tended to cluster together within the Central and Eastern European clades (Figure 8.3), excluding any recent external introduction of the virus, but at the same time confirming the existence of an endemicity status of WNV L2 in Italy. Viral endemicity is most probably assured by the establishment of an endemic cycle through resident birds and vector competent mosquitoes and by overwintering strategies put in place by the virus to survive the winter season [35,49,50].

Phylogenetic analysis indicated the presence of a main WNV L2 Italian group, which was highly supported across all our different phylogenies. Our phylogeographic analysis and ancestral character state reconstruction suggest that the origin of the sequences included in this group was most likely in Sardinia, with a posterior probability of 68.59 for this region as ancestral location. This is an

interesting possible scenario that had not been suggested by previous studies, but which could be the result of a bias due to our sequence dataset, which only includes data for complete genomes and excludes the partial genome sequences obtained in northeast Italy in 2011 [26]. As described by previous studies, the most probable scenario is a southward expansion of the WNV L2 from Central European countries [19,51] to north-eastern regions of Italy—possibly to the Veneto region (for which the support in our ancestral character state reconstruction is 27.9), later expanding to other regions [26,51], with a genetic flow probably sustained by birds migrating either along the south-eastern migration route from Europe and western Asia to Africa, or along short migration routes from Central to Southern Europe [26]. Our molecular clock displayed in Figure 8.2 also suggests this to be the most likely scenario, as the sister group and other closely related genomes of the Italian L2 clade are from central European countries (Austria, Germany, Slovakia, Czech Republic, Serbia, and Hungary), as can be checked by looking at the full tree used to generate Figure 8.2 (see the file "wnv world368 clock trimmed tipd gtr gamma4 strict cc.tre" in Data Availability Statement section, https://figshare.com/articles/dataset/West_Nile_virus_lineage_2_tree_files/21518541/1, accessed on 20 October 2022). Further studies are required to clarify the first introductory events of this lineage in Italy.

Our phylogeographic analysis shows four main Italian groups that were highly supported, regardless of the framework (maximum-likelihood or Bayesian) and on the models used: (i) clade 1, characterised by sequences mostly from Veneto that became extinct in 2013–2014, as previously described in the literature [20]; (ii) clade 2, including only Sardinian strains, which probably arrived in Italy via infected birds from neighbouring countries [52] and then possibly spread to north-western Italy, indicating a possible local variant from Sardinia; (iii) clade 3, with genomes circulating in Emilia-Romagna and Piedmont, with a few sequences from Lombardy; and iv) clade 4, including mostly genomes from Veneto and Sardinia. The group division is mostly related to the diverse regions

of Italy, as also presented in the results (Figure 8.4), suggesting initial viral interregional circulation followed by a local establishment and adaptation to diverse eco-climatic conditions and maintenance hosts, which lead to strain genetic diversity and constant intra-regional WNV L2 circulation.

These findings underline the importance of the national surveillance plan and the urgent need for the development of mathematical models able to predict, early on, the WNV behaviour in the following vector season [28,53]. The eco-climatic model developed by Candeloro et al. [28], which is based on environmental covariates such as daytime and nighttime land surface temperature, normalised difference vegetation index, and surface soil moisture, is capable of generating risk maps for WNV spatial distribution probability throughout the Italian territory with 16 day-forecast periods (https://mapserver.izs.it/gis_wn_predictions/, accessed on 20 October 2022). In the 2022 WNV epidemic, it was able to indicate the presence of suitable conditions for an earlier (1–1.5 months) and wider spread of WNV in Italy (in particular, in Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy and Veneto regions (Results, Figure 8.6).

Despite the progress achieved in understanding the ecology and dynamics of West Nile virus in Italy, there are still significant knowledge gaps, especially on the role of different bird hosts as reservoirs and amplifiers of the infection and on the immune response of different species, which could affect the viral circulation among hosts and vectors. Therefore, new investigations to clarify the transmission and dynamics of viral spread are called for, as is the presence of overwintering phenomena that might allow a constant circulation of the virus from one season to the next.

8.7 Conclusions

Our findings show that WNV L2 can persist in Italy, indicating an endemic circulation, which is probably sustained or amplified by several different reservoir species. Contrary to WNV L1, which

mostly circulated in Italy between 2008 and 2011, and re-appeared on the Italian territory in the 2020– 2022 epidemic seasons, WNV L2 has been constantly circulating in many regions of Italy. The substantial amount of WNV L2 data collected between 2011 and 2021 underline the fundamental importance of the Italian surveillance system in understanding the epidemiological scenario and in early detection of viral circulation (also in WNV-low risk areas and especially in regions presenting wild populations of birds subject to WNV infection). Additional epidemiological plans for active surveillance of animals received at rescue centres in Italy might also be important to promptly identify diseased birds, as suggested by Giglia et al. [9]. Deepening the knowledge on WNV ecology and transmission in wildlife would help the set-up of predictive epidemiological models for a better understanding of the viral dynamics in order to detect local spreads early on and to support the prompt implementation of response measures.

8.8 Supplementary Materials

The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/v15010035/s1, Figure S8.1: Molecular clocks of WNV genomes belonging to all known lineages; Figure S8.2: Phylogeography of WNV L2 in Italy for the seasons from 2010 to 2021; Figure S8.3: Phylogeography of WNV L2 in Italy for the seasons from 2010 to 2021; Figure S8.4: Coalescent Bayesian Skyline analysis of WNV L2 sequences; Table S8.1: Molecular and serological tests among bird, mosquitoes, horses, and humans; Table S8.2: Metadata of WNV sequences included in the study; Table S8.3: Dataset of models used; Video S8.1: Phylogeographic analysis of WNV L2 sequences_1; Video S8.2: Phylogeographic analysis of WNV L2 sequences_2; File S8.1: Group authorship list.

Conceptualization, G.M. (Giulia Mencattelli), F.M. and G.S.; methodology, G.M. (Giulia Mencattelli), A.S. and G.S.; validation, F.M., G.S., A.S., G.M. (Giulia Mencattelli) and G.S.; formal analysis, A.S., L.C., C.I., A.C. and G.M. (Giulia Mencattelli); investigation, L.T., A.D.G., A.P., V.C. and G.M. (Giulia Mencattelli); resources, G.S.; data curation, F.I., A.S., L.C., C.I., A.C., V.C., A.P. and G.M. (Giulia Mencattelli); writing G.S., A.S. and G.M. (Giulia Mencattelli); original draft preparation, G.M. (Giulia Mencattelli), A.S. and G.S.; writing—review and editing, F.M., F.I., C.I., A.C., O.R.-S., A.R., R.R., N.S., A.S., G.M. (Giovanni Marini), C.I. and G.S.; visualization, A.S., G.M. (Giulia Mencattelli), F.I., L.T., A.D.G., A.P., V.C., L.C., C.I., A.C., R.R., G.M. (Giovanni Marini), F.M., N.S., D.M., M.G.P., A.R., O.R.-S., West Nile working group and G.S.; supervision, O.R.-S., F.M., N.S., R.R., A.R. and G.S.; project administration, G.S.; funding acquisition, G.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

8.10 Funding

This research was funded by the Italian Ministry of Health, law 19 January 2001. This research was financially supported by an international PhD initiative including Fondazione Edmund Mach, University of Trento, and Istituto Zooprofilattico of Teramo.

8.11 Data Availability Statement

The data presented in this study, including sequence alignments and tree files, are openly available in FigShare at https://figshare.com/articles/dataset/WNV_L2_sequence_alignments/21518529, and https://figshare.com/articles/dataset/West_Nile_virus_lineage_2_tree_files/21518541/1, respectively, both accessed on 20 October 2022. All scripts used to perform this analysis are available

at the https://github.com/andrea-silverj/WNV-L2_IT GitHub repository, accessed on 20 October 2022.

8.12 Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge all personnel in the lab and in the field for their skill and technical support. Thanks are given to the IZS-Teramo IT staff and, in particular, to Andrea Bucciacchio and Iolanda Mangone for their support in the data analysis. Special thanks are given to Sandro Pelini (IZS-Teramo) for the creation of the Italian map shown in Figure 8.1 and to Luca Rossi for the technical support in the epidemiological data analysis. Thanks are given to Sophie Amanda Revell Townsend, Luca Rossi, and Louis Potter for proofreading the article. This study was partially funded by EU grant 874850 MOOD and is catalogued as MOOD 54. The contents of this publication are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Commission.

8.13 Conflicts of Interest

All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

8.14 References

- Zannoli, S.; Sambri, V. West Nile Virus and Usutu Virus Co-Circulation in Europe: Epidemiology and Implications. Microorganisms 2019, 7, 184.
- Chancey, C.; Grinev, A.; Volkova, E.; Rios, M. The Global Ecology and Epidemiology of West Nile Virus. BioMed Res. Int. 2015, 2015, 376230.
- Rizzoli, A.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.A.; Barzon, L.; Cordioli, P.; Figuerola, J.; Koraka, P.; Martina, B.; Moreno, A.; Nowotny, N.; Pardigon, N.; et al. The challenge of West Nile virus in Europe: Knowledge gaps and research priorities. Eurosurveillance 2015, 20, 21135.

- Mencattelli, G.; Ndione, M.H.D.; Rosà, R.; Marini, G.; Diagne, C.T.; Diagne, M.M.; Fall, G.; Faye, O.; Diallo, M.; Faye, O.; et al. Epidemiology of West Nile virus in Africa: An underestimated threat. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 2022, 16, e0010075.
- 5. Byas, A.D.; Ebel, G.D. Comparative Pathology of West Nile Virus in Humans and Non-Human Animals. Pathogens 2020, 9, 48.
- Komar, N.; Langevin, S.; Hinten, S.; Nemeth, N.; Edwards, E.; Hettler, D.; Davis, B.; Bowen,
 R.; Bunning, M. Experimental Infection of North American Birds with the New York 1999
 Strain of West Nile Virus. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2003, 9, 311–322.
- Reisen, W.K.; Padgett, K.; Fang, Y.; Woods, L.; Foss, L.; Anderson, J.; Kramer, V. Chronic Infections of West Nile Virus Detected in California Dead Birds. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2013, 13, 401–405.
- Wheeler, S.S.; Langevin, S.A.; Brault, A.C.; Woods, L.; Carroll, B.D.; Reisen, W.K. Detection of Persistent West Nile Virus RNA in Experimentally and Naturally Infected Avian Hosts. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 2012, 87, 559–564.
- Giglia, G.; Mencattelli, G.; Lepri, E.; Agliani, G.; Gobbi, M.; Gröne, A.; van den Brand, J.M.; Savini, G.; Mandara, M.T. West Nile Virus and Usutu Virus: A Post-Mortem Moni-toring Study in Wild Birds from Rescue Centers, Central Italy. Viruses 2022, 14, 1994.
- Hubálek, Z.; Halouzka, J. West Nile Fever–a Reemerging Mosquito-Borne Viral Disease in Europe. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 1999, 5, 643–650.

- Mancuso, E.; Cecere, J.G.; Iapaolo, F.; Di Gennaro, A.; Sacchi, M.; Savini, G.; Spina, F.; Monaco, F. West Nile and Usutu Virus Introduction via Mi-gratory Birds: A Retrospective Analysis in Italy. Viruses 2022, 14, 416.
- 12. Paré, J.; Moore, A. West Nile virus in horses—What do you need to know to diagnose the disease? Can. Vet. J. 2018, 59, 1119–1120.
- Silva, A.S.G.; Matos, A.C.D.; da Cunha, M.A.C.R.; Rehfeld, I.S.; Galinari, G.C.F.; Marcelino, S.A.C.; Saraiva, L.H.G.; Martins, N.R.D.S.; Maranhão, R.D.P.A.; Lobato, Z.I.P.; et al. West Nile virus associated with equid encephalitis in Brazil, 2018. Transbound. Emerg. Dis. 2018, 66, 445–453.
- 14. Riccò, M.; Peruzzi, S.; Balzarini, F. Epidemiology of West Nile Virus Infections in Humans, Italy, 2012-2020: A Summary of Available Evidences. Trop Med Infect Dis 2021, 6, 61.
- Calistri, P.; Giovannini, A.; Hubalek, Z.; Ionescu, A.; Monaco, F.; Savini, G.; Lelli, R. Epidemiology of West Nile in Europe and in the Mediterranean Basin. Open Virol. J. 2010, 4, 29–37.
- 16. García-Carrasco, J.M.; Muñoz, A.R.; Olivero, J.; Segura, M.; Real, R. Predicting the spatiotemporal spread of West Nile virus in Eu-rope. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 2021, 15, e0009022.
- Fall, G.; Di Paola, N.; Faye, M.; Dia, M.; Freire, C.C.D.M.; Loucoubar, C.; Zanotto, P.M.D.A.;
 Faye, O.; Sall, A.A. Biological and phylogenetic characteristics of West African lineages of
 West Nile virus. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 2017, 11, e0006078.

- Mencattelli, G.; Iapaolo, F.; Monaco, F.; Fusco, G.; de Martinis, C.; Portanti, O.; Di Gennaro,
 A.; Curini, V.; Polci, A.; Berjaoui, S.; et al. West Nile Virus Lineage 1 in Italy: Newly Introduced or a Re-Occurrence of a Previously Circulating Strain? Viruses 2022, 14, 64.
- Bakonyi, T.; Ferenczi, E.; Erdélyi, K.; Kutasi, O.; Csörgő, T.; Seidel, B.; Weissenböck, H.; Brugger, K.; Bán, E.; Nowotny, N. Explosive spread of a neuroinvasive lineage 2 West Nile virus in Central Europe, 2008/2009. Veter-Microbiol. 2013, 165, 61–70.
- 20. Beck, C.; Goffart, I.L.; Franke, F.; Gonzalez, G.; Dumarest, M.; Lowenski, S.; Blanchard, Y.; Lucas, P.; Lamballerie, X.; Grard, G.; et al. Contrasted Epidemiological Patterns of West Nile Virus Lineages 1 and 2 Infections in France from 2015 to 2019. Pathogens 2020, 9, 908.
- 21. Veo, C.; della Ventura, C.; Moreno, A.; Rovida, F.; Percivalle, E.; Canziani, S.; Torri, D.; Calzolari, M.; Baldanti, F.; Galli, M.; et al. Evolutionary Dynamics of the Lineage 2 West Nile Virus That Caused the Largest European Epidemic: Italy 2011–2018. Viruses 2019, 11, 814.
- Autorino, G.L.; Battisti, A.; Deubel, V.; Ferrari, G.; Forletta, R.; Giovannini, A.; Lelli, R.; Murri, S.; Scicluna, M.T. West Nile virus Epidemic in Horses, Tuscany Region, Italy. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2002, 8, 1372–1378.
- 23. Rizzoli, A.; Rosà, R.; Rosso, F.; Buckley, A.; Gould, E. West Nile Virus Circulation Detected in Northern Italy in Sentinel Chickens. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2007, 7, 411–417.
- 24. Monaco, F.; Lelli, R.; Teodori, L.; Pinoni, C.; Di Gennaro, A.; Polci, A.; Calistri, P.; Savini, G. Re-Emergence of West Nile Virus in Italy. Zoonoses Public Health 2009, 57, 476–486.

- 25. Bagnarelli, P.; Marinelli, K.; Trotta, D.; Monachetti, A.; Tavio, M.; Del Gobbo, R.; Capobianchi, M.R.; Menzo, S.; Nicoletti, L.; Magurano, F.; et al. case of autochthonous West Nile virus lineage 2 infection in Italy, September 2011. Eurosurveillance 2011, 16, 20002.
- 26. Savini, G.; Capelli, G.; Monaco, F.; Polci, A.; Russo, F.; Di Gennaro, A.; Marini, V.; Teodori, L.; Montarsi, F.; Pinoni, C.; et al. Evidence of West Nile virus lineage 2 circulation in Northern Italy. Veter-Microbiol. 2012, 158, 267–273.
- 27. Barzon, L.; Montarsi, F.; Quaranta, E.; Monne, I.; Pacenti, M.; Michelutti, A.; Toniolo, F.; Danesi, P.; Marchetti, G.; Gobbo, F.; et al. Early start of seasonal transmission and cocirculation of West Nile virus lineage 2 and a newly introduced lineage 1 strain, northern Italy, June 2022. Eurosurveillance 2022, 27, 2200548.
- 28. Candeloro, L.; Ippoliti, C.; Iapaolo, F.; Monaco, F.; Morelli, D.; Cuccu, R.; Fronte, P.; Calderara, S.; Vincenzi, S.; Porrello, A.; et al. Predicting WNV Circulation in Italy Using Earth Ob-servation Data and Extreme Gradient Boosting Model. Remote Sensing 2020, 12, 3064.
- 29. Rizzo, C.; Napoli, C.; Venturi, G.; Pupella, S.; Lombardini, L.; Calistri, P.; Monaco, F.; Cagarelli, R.; Angelini, P.; Bellini, R.; et al. West Nile virus transmission: Results from the integrated surveillance system in Italy, 2008 to 2015. Eurosurveillance 2016, 21, 30340.
- 30. Colangeli, P.; Iannetti, S.; Cerella, A.; Ippoliti, C.; Di Lorenzo, A.; Santucci, U.; Simonetti, P.; Calistri, P.; Lelli, R. The national information system for the notification of animal diseases in Italy. Veter-Ital. 2011, 47, 303–312.

- 31. Del Amo, J.; Sotelo, E.; Fernández-Pinero, J.; Gallardo, C.; Llorente, F.; Agüero, M.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.A. A novel quantitative multiplex real-time RT-PCR for the simultaneous detection and differentiation of West Nile virus lineages 1 and 2, and of Usutu virus. J. Virol. Methods 2013, 189, 321–327.
- 32. Calc|LibreOffice—Free Office Suite—Based on OpenOffice—Compatible with Microsoft. Available online: https://www.libreoffice.org/discover/calc/ (accessed on 2 November 2022).
- 33. Microsoft Excel, Software di Foglio di Calcolo|Microsoft 365. Available online: https://www.microsoft.com/it-it/microsoft-365/excel (accessed on 2 November 2022).
- 34. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2013; Available online: https://www.R-project.org/ (accessed on 2 November 2022).
- 35. Mencattelli, G.; Iapaolo, F.; Polci, A.; Marcacci, M.; Di Gennaro, A.; Teodori, L.; Curini, V.; Di Lollo, V.; Secondini, B.; Scialabba, S.; et al. West Nile Virus Lineage 2 Overwintering in Italy. Trop. Med. Infect. Dis. 2022, 7, 160.
- 36. Grubaugh, N.D.; Gangavarapu, K.; Quick, J.; Matteson, N.L.; De Jesus, J.G.; Main, B.J.; Tan, A.L.; Paul, L.M.; Brackney, D.E.; Grewal, S.; et al. An amplicon-based sequencing framework for accurately measuring intrahost virus diversity using PrimalSeq and iVar. Genome Biol. 2019, 20, 8.
- 37. Price, M.N.; Dehal, P.S.; Arkin, A.P. FastTree 2—Approximately Maximum-Likelihood Trees for Large Alignments. PLoS ONE 2010, 5, e9490.

- 38. Bolyen, E.; Dillon, M.R.; Bokulich, N.A.; Ladner, J.T.; Larsen, B.B.; Hepp, C.M.; Lemmer,
 D.; Sahl, J.W.; Sanchez, A.; Holdgraf, C.; et al. Reproducibly sampling SARS-CoV-2 genomes across time, geography, and viral diversity. F1000Research 2020, 9, 657.
- 39. Katoh, K.; Standley, D.M. MAFFT Multiple Sequence Alignment Software Version 7: Improvements in Performance and Usability. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2013, 30, 772–780.
- 40. Capella-Gutiérrez, S.; Silla-Martínez, J.M.; Gabaldón, T. trimAl: A tool for automated alignment trimming in large-scale phyloge-netic analyses. Bioinformatics 2009, 25, 1972–1973.
- 41. Martin, D.P.; Murrell, B.; Golden, M.; Khoosal, A.; Muhire, B. RDP4: Detection and analysis of recombination patterns in virus ge-nomes. Virus Evol. 2015, 1, vev003.
- 42. Kalyaanamoorthy, S.; Minh, B.Q.; Wong, T.K.F.; von Haeseler, A.; Jermiin, L.S. ModelFinder: Fast model selection for accurate phylogenetic estimates. Nat. Methods 2017, 14, 587–589.
- 43. Minh, B.Q.; Schmidt, H.A.; Chernomor, O.; Schrempf, D.; Woodhams, M.D.; Von Haeseler, A.; Lanfear, R. IQ-TREE 2: New Models and Ef-ficient Methods for Phylogenetic Inference in the Genomic Era. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2020, 37, 1530–1534.
- 44. Stamatakis, A. RAxML version 8: A tool for phylogenetic analysis and post-analysis of large phylogenies. Bioinformatics 2014, 30, 1312–1313.
- 45. Bouckaert, R.; Vaughan, T.G.; Barido-Sottani, J.; Duchêne, S.; Fourment, M.; Gavryushkina,
 A.; Heled, J.; Jones, G.; Kühnert, D.; De Maio, N.; et al. BEAST 2.5: An advanced software
 platform for Bayesian evolutionary analysis. PLoS Comput. Biol. 2019, 15, e1006650.

- 46. Suchard, M.A.; Lemey, P.; Baele, G.; Ayres, D.L.; Drummond, A.J.; Rambaut, A. Bayesian phylogenetic and phylodynamic data inte-gration using BEAST 1.10. Virus Evol. 2018, 4, vey016.
- Rambaut, A.; Drummond, A.J.; Xie, D.; Baele, G.; Suchard, M.A. Posterior Summarization in Bayesian Phylogenetics Using Tracer 1.7. Syst. Biol. 2018, 67, 901–904.
- 48. Ziegler, U.; Santos, P.D.; Groschup, M.H.; Hattendorf, C.; Eiden, M.; Höper, D.; Eisermann,
 P.; Keller, M.; Michel, F.; Klopfleisch, R.; et al. West Nile Virus Epidemic in Germany
 Triggered by Epizootic Emergence, 2019. Viruses 2020, 12, 448.
- 49. Reisen, W.K.; Wheeler, S.S. Overwintering of West Nile Virus in the United States. J. Med. Èntomol. 2019, 56, 1498–1507.
- 50. Marini, G.; Rosà, R.; Pugliese, A.; Rizzoli, A.; Rizzo, C.; Russo, F.; Montarsi, F.; Capelli, G.
 West Nile virus transmission and human infection risk in Veneto (Italy): A modelling analysis.
 Sci. Rep. 2018, 8, 14005.
- 51. Bakonyi, T.; Ivanics, É.; Erdélyi, K.; Ursu, K.; Ferenczi, E.; Weissenböck, H.; Nowotny, N. Lineage 1 and 2 Strains of Encephalitic West Nile Virus, Central Europe. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2006, 12, 618–623.
- 52. Marini, G.; Calzolari, M.; Angelini, P.; Bellini, R.; Bellini, S.; Bolzoni, L.; Torri, D.; Defilippo, F.; Dorigatti, I.; Nikolay, B.; et al. A quantitative comparison of West Nile virus incidence from 2013 to 2018 in Emilia-Romagna, Italy. PLoS Neglected Trop. Dis. 2020, 14, e0007953.

53. Marini, G.; Manica, M.; Delucchi, L.; Pugliese, A.; Rosà, R. Spring temperature shapes West Nile virus transmission in Europe. Acta Trop. 2020, 215, 105796.

CHAPTER 9. WEST NILE VIRUS AND USUTU VIRUS: A POST-MORTEM MONITORING STUDY IN WILD BIRDS FROM RESCUE CENTERS, CENTRAL ITALY

Viruses 2022, 14, 1994. https://doi.org/10.3390/v14091994 (2022)

by

Giuseppe Giglia^{1,2,*}, Giulia Mencattelli^{3,4,5}, Elvio Lepri², Gianfilippo Agliani¹, Marco Gobbi^{2,6},

Andrea Gröne^{1,7}, Judith M. A. van den Brand^{1,7}, Giovanni Savini³ and Maria Teresa Mandara²

¹Division of Pathology, Department of Biomolecular Health Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Utrecht University, 3584 CL Utrecht, The Netherlands

²Department of Veterinary Medicine, University of Perugia, 06126 Perugia, Italy

³OIE National Reference Center for West Nile Disease, Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e Molise "G. Caporale", 64100 Teramo, Italy

⁴Center Agriculture Food Environment, University of Trento, 38098 San Michele all'Adige, Italy

⁵Research and Innovation Centre, Fondazione Edmund Mach, 38098 San Michele all'Adige, Italy

⁶Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Umbria e delle Marche "T. Rosati", 06126 Perugia, Italy

⁷Dutch Wildlife Health Centre, Utrecht University, 358 CL Utrecht, The Netherlands

9.1 Abstract

West Nile virus (WNV) and Usutu virus (USUV) are mosquito-borne flaviviruses that have been associated with neurological diseases in humans and wild birds. Wild bird rescue centers are potential significant hotspots for avian infection surveillance, as recognized in the Italian Integrate National Surveillance Plan for Arboviruses. Here we report the results of a post-mortem active monitoring study conducted from November 2017 to October 2020 on animals hosted in five wild bird rescue centers of Central Italy. Five hundred seventy-six (n = 576) wild birds were tested by real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) for the presence of WNV or USUV RNA fragments. No birds tested positive for USUV RNA (n = 0; 0.00%). Evidence of WNV RNA (Ct value = 34.36) was found in one bird (n = 1; 0.17%), an adult little grebe (*Tachybaptus ruficollis* subsp. ruficollis), that tested WNV positive in December 2019. This study highlights the strategic role of wildlife rescue centers in monitoring both the introduction and circulation of avian emerging zoonotic diseases. In addition, the presence of WNV during the cold season evidences the possible role of birds in overwintering mechanisms in the Italian territory and requires further investigations.

9.2 Keywords

Arboviruses; West Nile; Usutu; monitoring; wild birds; Central Italy

9.3 Introduction

The family Flaviviridae includes several viral species [1]. Most recent outbreaks have been caused by West Nile and Usutu viruses, two species belonging to the Flavivirus genus. Included in the Japanese Encephalitis group, they are genetically closely related and share many traits of their transmission cycle which involves birds (amplifying host) and mosquitoes (vector). Mammals, including humans, might be infected through mosquito bites and represent dead-end hosts of these infections. When infected, humans usually develop flu-like syndrome, although sometimes cases of neuroinvasive disease can occur [2,3,4]. In Italy, WNV and USUV infections, sometimes associated with clinical neuroinvasive disease, have been reported in wild birds, horses and humans since the late 1990s [4,5,6,7,8,9,10,11,12,13]. Since 2020, an integrated National Plan for Prevention, Surveillance and Response to Arbovirus (PNA) has been in place as a five-year plan [14] and includes, among other things, the activity of WNV and USUV. PNA aims to early detect viral circulation in Italy to minimize the risk of human infections. In the plan, the Italian territory has been classified in three types of areas (high, low and minimum risk) according to the epidemiological-environmental conditions and, consequently, the transmission risk: (1) High risk areas are those where WNV is circulating or has circulated in at least one of the 5 previous years. (2) Low risk areas are those where WNV has never been or has been rarely reported and where eco-climatic conditions are favorable to viral circulation. (3) Minimum risk areas are those where WNV has never been reported and where eco-climatic conditions are not suitable for WNV circulation [14]. In all three types of areas, the surveillance includes monitoring of wild bird mortality. Wild bird rescue centers (WRCs) are scattered in the territory. They are the main providers of medical support in emergency and wild diseased animal care and may represent an important source of information on WNV and USUV circulation and their virulence characteristics. This study aims to examine carcasses from WRCs of Central Italy to monitor the circulation and introduction of WNV and USUV. Additionally, to obtain possible new insights on the role of wild birds in facilitating the overwintering of USUV and WNV in the study area, bird samples were collected and examined throughout the year.

9.4 Materials and Methods

9.4.1 Animals

Carcasses of wild birds (n = 576) collected by 5 rescue centers located in Umbria, Latium, and Tuscany (Central Italy) from November 2017 to October 2020 were used in this study. All birds died spontaneously or were humanely euthanized for clinical conditions compromising animal welfare (e.g., gunshot lesions, head trauma and fractures). The animals were submitted for necropsy at the Department of Veterinary Medicine, University of Perugia, Umbria, Italy. During necropsy, the cadaver condition was scored as follows: Code 1 (absent autolysis), Code 2 (mild autolysis), Code 3 (moderate autolysis), Code 4 to Code 5 (marked autolysis or corruption, respectively) [15]. For animals with Codes 1 to 3, tissue samples (1 cm3) collected during the necropsy were submitted to RT-PCR, histopathology, and immunohistochemistry analyses to investigate either the presence of WNV or USUV or eventual related lesions; for birds with cadaver condition Code 4 or 5, the collected tissues were submitted only for RT-PCR analyses [16]. Ethical approval was not required for this study.

9.4.2 WNV and USUV Molecular Detection

Samples of heart, liver, spleen, kidney, and brain were collected, stored at -80 °C and sent to the WOAH (formerly OIE) Reference Laboratory for West Nile Fever at the Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale "G. Caporale" (Teramo, Italy) for molecular detection of WNV and USUV RNA by RT-PCR analyses. Tissues (brain, heart, liver, spleen, and kidney) were homogenized in phosphate-buffered saline solution. Briefly, after tissue homogenization, RNA extraction was performed by using the MagMAX CORE Nucleic Acid Purification KIT (Applied Biosystem, Termofisher Scientific, Life technologies corporation, Austin, TX, USA), following the manufacturer's instructions.

The extracted RNA was amplified as described in the literature, using a double RT-PCR approach, one aiming for simultaneous detection of WNV lineages 1 and 2 [16] and the other aiming for detection of all WNV lineages [17]. For USUV, the RT-PCR was performed as previously described by Cavrini et al., 2011 [18].

9.4.3 Histopathology and Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

For animals with Code 1 to 3, routine histological examination was performed on formaline-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissues collected during necropsy. For the immunohistochemistry, 3 µm sections were obtained from FFPE tissues; the sections were deparaffinized and rehydrated in alcohols. Endogenous peroxidases were blocked by 3% H2O2 in methanol incubation for 10 min and antigen was retrieved by proteinase K digestion for 10 min at 37 °C. A goat serum block was applied before incubation with the primary antibody. For primary incubation, anti-WNV serum (FLI, Jena, Germany) was used with 1:1700 dilution. As secondary antibody, Bright vision 1 step detection system anti-rabbit HRP was used, with the aminoethyl carbazole (AEC) as substrate. For USUV, IHC was performed as previously described [19]. Primary polyclonal Rabbit Anti-CD3 antibody was used at a dilution of 1:200 (A0452, Dako, Italy) to mark T-cells as a common player of adaptive immunity to intracellular agents in inflammatory infiltrates [20]. As secondary antibody, Mouse Envision HRP kit was used (Ab93697; Abcam, Italy) with the AEC as substrate.

9.4.4 Geographical Distribution Analysis

To map geographical distribution of the rescued animals, collection sites were registered, and coordinates recorded. If the exact collection site was not available, data of the rescue center were used. To visualize the geographical distribution of the collected animals and the location of identified cases,

the open-source Quantum Geographic Information System (QGIS®) (v. 3.16.10) was used. The geographical distribution of sampling sites and positive case location is shown in Figure 9.1.



Figure 9.1 Geographical distribution of sampling sites and positive case location (QGIS map).

The map shows the sites of wild birds sampling (white dots) distributed in Umbria, Lazio, Tuscany, and the location of the WNV-positive little grebe (Tachybaptus ruficollis subsp. ruficollis) (red dot).

9.5 Results

One out of 576 (0.17%) wild birds tested for the presence of WNV and USUV RNA was found positive for WNV (Ct value: 34.36), while none of the wild birds tested were positive for USUV (Table 9.1). The only WNV-positive bird was a little grebe (*Tachybaptus ruficollis* subsp. ruficollis) belonging to the Order Podicipediformes, Family Podicipedidae. The bird was found on the street side

in the Umbria region at the end of December 2019 and admitted to the Veterinary Teaching Hospital of the Department of Veterinary Medicine of the University of Perugia (Italy). It showed depression and difficulties in its movements, partially justified by the presence of a complete luxation of the 3rd phalanx of the 3rd digit, confirmed by radiography. The bird died spontaneously during the day after admission. At necropsy, a mild hepatomegaly and multiorgan congestion were observed. At microscopy, the heart showed mild multifocal loss of cardiomyocytes and interstitial oedema. In the kidneys, tubulo-interstitial nephritis and tubular necrosis were observed, while in the brain, scattered in the meninges perivascular lymphocytes were seen and neuroparenchyma. At immunohistochemistry, leukocyte infiltration consisted of CD3-positive lymphocytes. WNV and USUV antigens were not detected. Additional data regarding the number and percentages of birds collected for the three regions, and for the four seasons of each year of monitoring, are reported in the Supplementary Materials (Figures S9.1, S9.2 and Table S9.1).

Table 9.1 Summary of examined avian species, migratory behavior and WNV RT-PCR results. Data on USUV RT-PCR are not included as results were negative for all the birds

Order	Family	Species	Migratory/Resid ent	WNV RT- PCR
Accipitriformes	Accipitridae	Booted eagle (Hieraaetus pennatus)	L	0/1
		Golden eagle (Aquila chrysaetos)	R/S	0/2
		Northern goshawk (Accipiter gentilis)	R/S	0/3
		Indian vulture (Gyps indicus)	R	0/1
		Short-toed snake eagle (Circaetus gallicus)	L	0/2
		Western marsh harrier (Circus aeruginosus)	Р	0/1

		European honey buzzard (Pernis apivorus)	L	0/6
		Rough-legged buzzard (Buteo lagopus)	S	0/1
		Common buzzard (<i>Buteo buteo</i>)	S	0/37
		Harris's hawk (Parabuteo unicinctus)	R	0/1
		Eurasian sparrowhawk (Accipiter nisus)	Р	0/21
Anseriformes	Anatidae	Mute swan (Cygnus olor)	R	0/1
		Mallard (Anas platyrhynchos)	R/S	0/1
Apodiformes	Apodidae	Common swift (Apus apus)	L	0/16

Bucerotiformes	Upupidae	Eurasian hoopoe (Upupa epops)	R	0/1
Caprimulgiformes	Caprimulgidae	European nightjar (Caprimulgus europaeus)	L	0/2
Charadriiformes	Scolopacidae	Woodcocks (Scolopax rusticola)	L	0/2
	Laridae	Common gull (Larus canus)	R/S	0/28
		Yellow-legged gull (Larus michahellis)	R	0/9
Columbiformes	Columbidae	Common wood pigeon (Columba palumbus)	Р	0/4
		Rock dove (Columba livia)	R	0/10

		Eurasian collared dove (Streptopelia decaocto)	R	0/7
Coraciiformes	Meropidae	European bee-eater (Merops apiaster)	L	0/3
	Alcedinidae	Kingfisher (Alcedo atthis)	S	0/1
Falconiformes	Falconidae	Lanner falcon (Falco biarmicus)	R	0/1
		Peregrine falcon (Falco peregrinus)	R/L	0/8
		Kestrel (Falco tinnunculus)	R/L	0/43
		Eurasian hobby (Falco subbuteo)	L	0/4
		Merlin (Falco columbarius)	R/L	0/1

Gruiformes	Rallidae	Eurasian coot (Fulica atra)	R/P	0/1
Passeriformes	Corvidae	Carrion crow (Corvus corone)	R	0/25
		Eurasian magpie (<i>Pica pica</i>)	R	0/93
		Eurasian jay (<i>Pica pica</i>)	R	0/4
		Western jackdaw (Coloeus monedula)	R/P	0/2
	Fringillidae	Canary (Serinus canaria)	R	0/12
		European goldfinch (Carduelis carduelis)	R/P	0/1
		Hawfinch (<i>Coccothraustes coccothraustes</i>)	R/S	0/1

	European greenfinch (Chloris chloris)	R	0/1
Hirundinidae	Common house martin (Delichon urbicum)	L	0/5
	Barn swallow (<i>Hirundo rustica</i>)	L	0/6
Muscicapidae	European robin (Erithacus rubecula)	R/P	0/8
Passeridae	House sparrow (Passer domesticus)	R	0/17
Phylloscopidae	Common chiffchaff (Phylloscopus collybita)	L	0/1
Sturnidae	Common starling (Sturnus vulgaris)	R/S	0/6

	Sylviidae	Eurasian blackcap (Sylvia atricapilla)	Р	0/4
	Turdidae	Eurasian blackbird (<i>Turdus merula</i>)	R/P	0/16
		Song thrush (Turdus philomelos)	Р	0/7
Pelecaniformes	Ardeidae	Grey heron (Ardea cinerea)	Р	0/7
		Cattle egret (Bubulcus ibis)	S/L	0/5
		Heron NI	-	0/3
		Eurasian bittern (<i>Botaurus stellaris</i>)	Р	0/1
Piciformes	Picidae	European green woodpecker (Picus viridis)	R	0/7

Podicipediformes	Podicipedidae	Little grebe (Tachybaptus ruficollis)	R/S	0/1
Strigiformes	Strigidae	Tawny owl (<i>Stirx aluco</i>)	R	0/22
		Eurasian scops owl (Otus scops)	L	0/3
		Little owl (Athene noctua)	R	0/72
		Long-eared owl (Asio otus)	Р	0/15
		Eurasian eagle-owl (Bubo bubo)	R	0/1
		NI owl	-	0/2
	Tytonidae	Barn owl (<i>Tyto alba</i>)	R	0/6
Suliformes	Phalacrocoraci dae	Great cormorant (Phalacrocorax carbo)	P/L	0/2

NI = Not further identifiable; L = long-distance migrant, S = short-distance migrant, P = partial migrant, Irr = irregular migrant, R = resident.

9.6 Discussion

Epornitic mosquito-borne zoonotic flaviviruses associated with cases in animals and humans have significantly increased their impact on public health in the last decades [21,22]. Their continuous circulation throughout Europe have raised the attention and supported the development of National Surveillance Systems to early detect virus circulation and limit its spread [6]. For mosquito-borne zoonotic flavivirus circulation, birds, being the amplifying hosts, are the major target of surveillance strategies [21,23]. This study reports a post-mortem monitoring on wild birds admitted in WRCs of Central Italy between November 2017 and October 2020. According to the WNV risk classification areas as established in the PNA [14], the WRCs involved in this study were located in the low (Umbria) and in the high-risk areas (Latium and Tuscany). WNV lineage 2 was detected in a little grebe. The little grebe is in the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (2019) reported as a leastconcern species for the risk of extinction. It inhabits small and shallow wetlands, and it is considered resident in Italy. Being a resident species year-round implies that it has probably been infected within the rescue area. In other words, it implies that the infection likely occurred in Umbria. As far as we know, this was the first evidence of WNV circulation in Umbria, an area classified as low risk for WNV circulation. However, looking further, finding a WNV-positive bird in Umbria was somewhat expected, as USUV, which shares the same ecological niche of WNV, has been repeatedly detected by the PNA in this region [24]. Conversely, finding a WNV-positive case at the end of December, when vectors are not flying, was rather surprising. In this case, the histological lesions were mild, antigen could not be detected, and the Ct values were quite high (34.36 cycles). These results, on the one hand, exclude the hypothesis of a recent infection, but on the other hand, they might instead suggest the presence of a persistent infection [25]. Persistent infection has been defined as the detection of a virus in host tissues after viremia has receded [26]. The persistent viral load in organs of birds, and in particular in those belonging to prey species like the little grebe, might sustain the

WNV transmission to predators (e.g., birds of prey) months after the mosquito season [27,28]. The little grebe was the only bird out of 576 (0.17%) found positive for WNV RT-qPCR. None of the birds tested positive for USUV RT-qPCR. The lack of WNV and USUV infection cases in high-risk areas (Latium and Tuscany) also during low vector activity periods, additionally support the idea previously suggested in the literature that, contrarily to vectors, birds seem have a minor role in the overwintering of these viruses [29]. Additionally, the high number of negative results and of those found in the highrisk areas might be indicative of the low virulence of most of the WNV and USUV strains circulating in these regions. In the same year of WNV detection in the little grebe, no WNV was detected in mosquitoes as reported from the reports of the OIE national reference lab in Italy (https://www.epicentro.iss.it/westnile/bollettino (accessed on 19 August 2022)). For this reason, our results demonstrate that, even if not ideal to be used alone in a surveillance program because of rescuing only diseased or injured animals, WRCs can be very useful to the National Surveillance Plan in the early detection of the introduction and circulation of emerging zoonotic diseases, improving its sensitivity, expanding the period of surveillance by including the winter months, and providing important information on the virulence of the circulating strains. As a final point, considering that the little grebe is a threatened species, we cannot underestimate that WNV might play a role in this species' loss.

9.7 Conclusions

For the first time, a case of WNV infection in Umbria (Central Italy), a region currently classified as low-risk area for WNV, was detected during a low-vector activity season (winter). This result suggests that the active monitoring performed through the National Plan of Surveillance on wild birds from wild bird rescue centers can help to better detect the introduction and circulation of WNV. The lack of detection of USUV circulation among mosquitoes and birds needs to be monitored to keep assuring early detection in humans and animals. To ensure WNV circulation and infections of animals and humans are kept under control, additional systematic epidemiological plans of active surveillance on animals received at rescue centers in Italy are highly recommended.

9.8 Supplementary Materials

The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/v14091994/s1, Table S9.1. Summary of the birds examined for each season in each year of monitoring, Figure S9.1. Clustered bar chart on the percentages of birds examined in each season per year. For the year 2017 and 2021 the distribution of the birds examined for each season was affected from the starting and ending period of the study. For the year 2019, year of detection of WNV in the little grebe, the monitoring was more uniformly distributed throughout the four seasons. In general, for 2018, 2019, and 2020, most birds were examined in autumn and summer, Figure S9.2. Pie chart on the number and percentages of birds examined in each region. The majority of birds examined were collected in Umbria, site of the were the post-mortem investigation and sampling was performed.

9.9 Author Contributions

Conceptualization and design of the work, data collection and analysis, manuscript draft-preparation, G.G.; Data collection and analysis, manuscript draft-preparation and revision, G.M.; Data collection and analysis, manuscript-revision, E.L., G.A. and M.G.; supervision, manuscript draft-revision, A.G. and J.M.A.v.d.B.; Conceptualization and design of the work, supervision, manuscript draft-revision, G.S. and M.T.M. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.
9.10 Funding

This research received no external funding.

9.11 Institutional Review Board Statement

The study did not require ethical approval.

9.12 Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank for their precious help, Ceccherelli Renato and the staff of the rescue center, C.R.U.M.A.—LIPU, Livorno, the staff of the rescue center (C.R.A.S.) in Mugello, Italy; the Raggruppamento Carabinieri Biodiversità of Viterbo and the C.R.A.S. "Lago di Vico" in Viterbo, Italy, the Raggruppamento Carabinieri Biodiversità of Perugia and the C.R.A.S. "Formichella" in Orvieto, Italy, the C.R.A.S. "Wild Umbria" in Perugia, Italy and the lab staff members at the Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale (IZS) "G. Caporale", in Teramo and at the Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Umbria e delle Marche "T. Rosati" in Perugia.

9.13 Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

9.14 References

- Petersen, L.; Medicine, A. Shifting epidemiology of Flaviviridae. J. Travel. Med. 2005, 12 (Suppl. S1), S3–S11.
- 2. Patz, J.A.; Campbell-Lendrum, D.; Holloway, T.; Foley, J.A. Impact of regional climate change on human health. Nature 2005, 438, 310–317.

- Moirano, G.; Gasparrini, A.; Acquaotta, F.; Fratianni, S.; Merletti, F.; Maule, M.; Richiardi, L. West Nile Virus infection in Northern Italy: Case-crossover study on the short-term effect of climatic parameters. Environ. Res. 2018, 167, 544–549.
- Grottola, A.; Marcacci, M.; Tagliazucchi, S.; Gennari, W.; Di Gennaro, A.; Orsini, M.; Monaco, F.; Marchegiano, P.; Marini, V.; Meacci, M.; et al. Usutu virus infections in humans: A retrospective analysis in the municipality of Modena, Italy. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 2017, 23, 33–37.
- Pacenti, M.; Sinigaglia, A.; Martello, T.; De Rui, M.E.; Franchin, E.; Pagni, S.; Peta, E.; Riccetti, S.; Milani, A.; Montarsi, F.; et al. Clinical and virological findings in patients with Usutu virus infection, northern Italy, 2018. Eurosurveillance 2019, 24, 1900180.
- Pautasso, A.; Radaelli, M.C.; Ballardini, M.; Francese, D.R.; Verna, F.; Modesto, P.; Grattarola, C.; Desiato, R.; Bertolini, S.; Vitale, N.; et al. Detection of West Nile and Usutu Viruses in Italian Free Areas: Entomological Surveillance in Piemonte and Liguria Regions, 2014. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2016, 16, 292–294.
- Percivalle, E.; Cassaniti, I.; Sarasini, A.; Rovida, F.; Adzasehoun, K.M.G.; Colombini, I.; Isernia,
 P.; Cuppari, I.; Baldanti, F. West Nile or Usutu Virus? A Three-Year Follow-Up of Humoral and
 Cellular Response in a Group of Asymptomatic Blood Donors. Viruses 2020, 12, 157.
- Scaramozzino, P.; Carvelli, A.; Bruni, G.; Cappiello, G.; Censi, F.; Magliano, A.; Manna, G.; Ricci, I.; Rombolà, P.; Romiti, F.; et al. West Nile and Usutu viruses co-circulation in central Italy: Outcomes of the 2018 integrated surveillance. Parasit. Vectors 2021, 14, 243.

- Manarolla, G.; Bakonyi, T.; Gallazzi, D.; Crosta, L.; Weissenböck, H.; Dorrestein, G.M.; Nowotny, N. Usutu virus in wild birds in northern Italy. Vet. Microbiol. 2010, 141, 159–163.
- 10. Tamba, M.; Bonilauri, P.; Bellini, R.; Calzolari, M.; Albieri, A.; Sambri, V.; Dottori, M.; Angelini,
 P. Detection of Usutu Virus Within a West Nile Virus Surveillance Program in Northern Italy.
 Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2011, 11, 551–557.
- Percivalle, E.; Sassera, D.; Rovida, F.; Isernia, P.; Fabbi, M.; Baldanti, F.; Marone, P. Usutu Virus Antibodies in Blood Donors and Healthy Forestry Workers in the Lombardy Region, Northern Italy. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2017, 17, 658–661.
- Sinigaglia, A.; Pacenti, M.; Martello, T.; Pagni, S.; Franchin, E.; Barzon, L. West Nile virus infection in individuals with pre-existing Usutu virus immunity, northern Italy, 2018. Eurosurveillance 2019, 24, 1900261.
- Cantile, C.; Del Piero, F.; Di Guardo, G.; Arispici, M. Pathologic and Immunohistochemical Findings in Naturally Occurring West Nile Virus Infection in Horses. Vet. Pathol. 2001, 38, 414– 421.
- 14. Piano Nazionale di prevenzione, sorveglianza e risposta alle Arbovirosi (PNA) 2020–2025.
 Available online: https://www.salute.gov.it/imgs/C_17_pubblicazioni_2947_allegato.pdf (accessed on 3 August 2020).
- 15. Mcaloose, D.; Judy, S.; Leger, K.A.T. Wildlife Necropsy. In Pathology of Wildlife and Zoo Animals; Elsevier Science: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2018; p. 1136. ISBN 9780128092194.
- 16. Del Amo, J.; Sotelo, E.; Fernández-Pinero, J.; Gallardo, C.; Llorente, F.; Agüero, M.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.A. A novel quantitative multiplex real-time RT-PCR for the simultaneous detection

and differentiation of West Nile virus lineages 1 and 2, and of Usutu virus. J. Virol. Methods 2013, 189, 321–327.

- Vázquez, A.; Herrero, L.; Negredo, A.; Hernández, L.; Sánchez-Seco, M.P.; Tenorio, A. Real time PCR assay for detection of all known lineages of West Nile virus. J. Virol. Methods 2016, 236, 266–270.
- Cavrini, F.; Della Pepa, M.E.; Gaibani, P.; Pierro, A.M.; Rossini, G.; Landini, M.P.; Sambri, V. A rapid and specific real-time RT-PCR assay to identify Usutu virus in human plasma, serum, and cerebrospinal fluid. J. Clin. Virol. 2011, 50, 221–223.
- Giglia, G.; Agliani, G.; Munnink, B.B.O.; Sikkema, R.S.; Mandara, M.T.; Lepri, E.; Kik, M.; Ijzer, J.; Rijks, J.M.; Fast, C.; et al. Pathology and Pathogenesis of Eurasian Blackbirds (Turdus merula) Naturally Infected with Usutu Virus. Viruses 2021, 13, 1481.
- 20. Kapczynski, D.R.; Segovia, K. Techniques for the Measurement of Cell Mediated Immune Responses to Avian Influenza Virus. Methods Mol. Biol. 2020, 2123, 227–245.
- Vilibic-Cavlek, T.; Petrovic, T.; Savic, V.; Barbic, L.; Tabain, I.; Stevanovic, V.; Klobucar, A.; Mrzljak, A.; Ilic, M.; Bogdanic, M.; et al. Epidemiology of Usutu Virus: The European Scenario. Pathogens 2020, 9, 699.
- 22. Benzarti, E.; Linden, A.; Desmecht, D.; Garigliany, M. Mosquito-borne epornitic flaviviruses: An update and review. J. Gen. Virol. 2019, 100, 119–132.
- Hubálek, Z.; Rudolf, I.; Nowotny, N. Arboviruses Pathogenic for Domestic and Wild Animals. Adv. Virus Res. 2014, 89, 201–275.

- 24. Mancini, G.; Montarsi, F.; Calzolari, M.; Capelli, G.; Dottori, M.; Ravagnan, S.; Lelli, D.; Chiari, M.; Santilli, A.; Quaglia, M.; et al. Mosquito species involved in the circulation of West Nile and Usutu viruses in Italy. Vet. Ital. 2017, 53, 97–110.
- 25. Reisen, W.K.; Padgett, K.; Fang, Y.; Woods, L.; Foss, L.; Anderson, J.; Kramer, V. Chronic Infections of West Nile Virus Detected in California Dead Birds. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2013, 13, 401–405.
- 26. Wheeler, S.S.; Langevin, S.A.; Brault, A.C.; Woods, L.; Carroll, B.D.; Reisen, W.K. Detection of Persistent West Nile Virus RNA in Experimentally and Naturally Infected Avian Hosts. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 2012, 87, 559–564.
- 27. Mencattelli, G.; Iapaolo, F.; Polci, A.; Marcacci, M.; Di Gennaro, A.; Teodori, L.; Curini, V.; Di Lollo, V.; Secondini, B.; Scialabba, S.; et al. WestNile Virus Lineage 2 Overwintering in Italy. Trop. Med. Infect. Dis. 2022, 7, 160.
- 28. Vidaña, B.; Busquets, N.; Napp, S.; Pérez-Ramírez, E.; Jiménez-Clavero, M.Á.; Johnson, N. The role of birds of prey in West Nile virus epidemiology. Vaccines 2020, 8, 550.
- **29.**Rudolf, I.; Betášová, L.; Blažejová, H.; Venclíková, K.; Straková, P.; Šebesta, O.; Mendel, J.; Bakonyi, T.; Schaffner, F.; Nowotny, N.; et al. West Nile virus in overwintering mosquitoes, central Europe. Parasit. Vectors 2017, 10, 452.

CHAPTER 10. GENERAL DISCUSSION

The following general discussion summarizes the content and principal findings of the thesis, discusses some relevant issues, and draws overall conclusions.

10.1 Recapitulation

Chapter 1 introduces Arthropod-Borne Diseases with a special focus on West Nile virus and elucidates the three main objectives of the thesis.

Chapter 2 provides the state of art on WNV investigation carried out in Africa, characterizing the geographical distribution within specific host and vector populations in the Continent (objective 1).

Chapter 3 describes the development and evaluation of a whole genome amplicon-based sequencing approach for WNV L1 and L2 strains (objectives 2 & 3).

Chapter 4 describes WNV phylogenetic and phylogeographical patterns between Africa and Europe, uncovering the viral dynamics of WNV L1 and L2 strains between the two Continents (objective 2).

Chapters 5 –9 define the genetic structure and epidemiology of Italian WNV L1 and L2 strains, giving an insight into the viral circulation dynamics in the Italian territory (objective 3).

Chapter 10 discusses the major finding of the thesis and identifies future perspectives.

10.2 Main findings

In this Section, I discuss the main findings of the thesis in relation to the aim set out at the beginning of the thesis, detailed for each chapter.

Chapter 2. The aim was to characterize the geographical distribution within specific host and vector populations in Africa. Since its discovery in 1937 in Uganda [3], little is known about WNV distribution in Africa, especially due to the difficulty of its diagnosis with clinical signs usually similar to those of many *Flaviviruses* and other pathogens co-circulating in the Continent [4], and to the lack of appropriate fundings, resources and surveillance systems of many African countries [5]. Despite this, Africa is still the Continent where the number of tourists is expected to double from 2010 to 2030 [6], accelerating the contact between travelers and endemic areas for WNV disease [7]. Moreover, it is the Continent hosting millions of migratory birds [8], which could act as amplifiers and spread the virus from native areas to new ones. For all these reasons I considered very important to fill current knowledge gaps on WNV circulation in the African Continent.

Results provide new insights on: (i) the presence of WNV in many mosquito species in Africa, with viral isolation reported in 46 species naturally infected; the low number of vector-competent studies in the Continent, with only eight experimentations conducted in Madagascar, Algeria, Morocco, Tunisia, Senegal, Kenya, and South Africa so far [2,9–14]; (ii) the vectorial capacity of *Cx. pipiens, Cx. quinquefasciatus, Cx. vansomereni, Cx. univittatus, Cx. theileri*, and *Cx. neavei* mosquitoes in the African Continent [2,9,12,14–16]; (iii) the WNV parenteral infection in *O. savignyi* and vertical and horizontal transmission in *A. arboreus* ticks in Egypt [17,18]. In addition, chapter 2 points out the existence of WNV vectorial competency in diverse arthropods, and the need for more vector-competent studies to be conducted in these animals. It also stresses the presence of numerous seroprevalence studies in humans and other animals, providing evidence of WNV circulation in at least 28 African countries, and the lack of knowledge for 19 countries. Moreover, it shows the existence of possible bias in many of these studies due to the non-specificity of the methods used, leading to possible cross-reactivity with other *Flaviviruses* widely diffused in the Continent. Finally, it highlights the co-circulation of the following four WNV lineages in Africa:

L1, most diffused in Western-Northern African countries, with evidence reported in Senegal, Ivory Coast, Morocco, Algeria, Tunisia, Egypt, Central African Republic, Kenya, and South Africa [1,2,19– 23];

L2, most diffused in Southern African countries, with reports in Congo, Uganda, Tanzania, Mozambique, Namibia, Botswana, Madagascar, South Africa, Senegal, Djibouti, CAR, and Kenya [1,2,19,23–29];

L7, nowadays known as a different virus called KOUTV, diffused in Senegal, Gabon, Niger, and Somalia [30];

putative L8, detected only in Senegal so far [2] and considered a good candidate for a future WNV vaccine due to its low viraemia [1].

Chapter 3. Of the four lineages present in Africa, only two - L1 and L2 - spread to Europe [21]. Many studies suggested a possible introduction of WNV L1 in Italy and France in 1998 and 2000 [31,32], respectively, from Morocco [33,34], while other studies stressed the unknown origin of WNV L2 [35,34], which appeared for the first time in Hungary in 2004 [21]. These areas are along the migratory routes of birds migrating along the African-Eurasian flyways [8], stressing their importance in viral introduction and spread in Europe. To describe WNV phylogenetic and phylogeographical patterns between Africa and Europe, we designed two novel WNV L1 and L2 set of primers for an amplicon-based sequencing approach.

Chapter 3 describes the development and evaluation of the two set of primers which made possible: (i) the direct, highly specific, and low-cost sequencing of clinical samples, under resource-limited conditions too; (ii) the production of a consistent dataset of WNV L1 and WNV L2 genome sequences obtained from samples collected in Italy and Senegal between 2006 and 2022. By integrating our dataset into a wider dataset of WNV L1 and WNV L2 worldwide genomes with detailed geographical observations, we performed novel phylogenetic and phylogeographic inference reconstructions.

Chapter 4. This work aimed at better understanding of the migratory patterns of WNV L1 and L2 between Africa and Europe. It stresses the existence of WNV L1 and L2 transmission events among diverse African countries. Furthermore, it proposes WNV L1 strain spread through an ideal line that connects Senegal, Morocco, Spain, Southern France, and Northern Italy between the 1980s and 1990s, and WNV L2 spread from South Africa to Hungary through DRC around the 2000s. Also, it confirms the existence of sporadic WNV L1 back introductions between Western-Mediterranean European countries (Italy, France, and Spain) and Northern-Western Africa (Morocco and Senegal), as recently suggested by Ndione et al. [37]. Finally, it points out the overlapping of bird migratory patterns between breeding and nonbreeding countries in Europe and Africa [6] with WNV L1 and L2 viral dispersal dynamics.

While in Africa no clinical signs are usually detected [2], the efficiency of the surveillance systems of many European countries uncovers the WNV serious impact on public and animal health [34,35]. In Europe, Italy is one of the most seriously affected countries [36–45], with nearly 300 WNND cases and 37 deaths in humans and WNV L1-L2 positivities reported in 45 horses and 349 wild and target birds, in the 2022 epidemic season only (https://westnile.izs.it/j6 wnd/docBolletItaPeriodico?annoDocumento=2022).

Chapters 5 – 9. This part of the work aimed at investigating WNV L1 and L2 viral dynamics in Italy, giving deep insights into the epidemiology and genetic features of the two viral strains. It stresses a different behavior of the two strains, showing: (i) WNV L1 first introduction in Italy from Northern-Western African countries around 1985; (ii) possible sporadic back and-forth re-introductions

between these areas; and (iii) silent periods with unnoticed circulation lasting sometimes for more than 10 years in Italy. The contents of these chapters also evidence: (iv) WNV L2 first introduction in Italy between 2008 and 2010 from Central-Eastern Europe, where the strain was possibly first introduced in Hungary from South Africa through DRC around the 2000s; (v) initial viral interregional circulation and local establishment and adaptation to diverse eco-climatic conditions in ten out of 20 Italian regions; (vi) constant intra-regional circulation throughout the time, with no significant novel introductory events from other countries in recent years.

In addition, chapters 5 - 9 show: (vii) the existence of WNV L1 preferred corridors connecting Italy and Western-Mediterranean countries, such as France, Spain, and Portugal; (viii) the current presence of two diverse WNV L1 strains in Italy, one in the North-East, and one intra-regionally in the Campania region; (ix) an increasing incidence of neurological disease cases in humans in 2022, possibly due to new genetic mutations, previously highlighted by Barzon et al. [38]; (x) the existence of co-infections with WNV L2 in birds and mosquitoes.

These chapters also point out (xi) the occurrence of WNV overwintering mechanisms in Italy, probably supported by bird-to-bird, rodent-to-bird, or mosquito-to-bird transmission routes, which contributes to WNV local endemization and viral transmission from one epidemic season to the next.

Furthermore, chapters 5 - 9 highlight for both strains: (xii) an introduction from Africa to Europe through long-distance migratory birds; (xiii) a continuous transmission between Western Mediterranean countries, probably sustained by short-distance migratory birds; (xiv) the presence of both strain interregional circulation and local endemization in some Italian regions, supported by resident wild birds and vector competent mosquitoes mainly belonging to the Culex genus; (xv) the possibility of new re-introduction or unnoticed silent circulation events. Finally, they show the crucial importance of the surveillance system and the strategic role of wildlife rescue centers in monitoring

both the introduction and circulation of avian emerging zoonotic diseases in Italy. Specifically, chapter 8 validates a predictive model identifying the presence of suitable conditions for 2022 earlier and wider spread in Italy, stressing the importance of this type of model for the early warning detection of WNV outbreaks.

10.3 Conclusion and future perspectives

We built a new consistent dataset of complete L1 and L2 genome sequences available that might be a reference for future investigations and would help in shaping public health novel strategies to reduce WNV impact. We pointed out the existence of knowledge gaps in many African countries, stressing the strong need for coordinated surveillance activities and investments in research within Africa, and for further phylogenetics, ecological and epidemiological studies to be conducted. Moreover, we highlighted the spread of the virus between Africa and Europe and the circulation between diverse European countries through long and short-distance bird migration, respectively. We evidenced the presence of a strong transmission cycle and overwintering mechanisms mostly involving resident birds and vector-competent mosquitoes in some Italian regions.

Despite the progress achieved in understanding the ecology and dynamics of WNV, there are still significant knowledge gaps, especially on: (i) the role of different bird hosts as reservoirs and amplifiers of the infection and on the immune response of different species, which could affect the viral circulation among hosts and vectors either in Europe and in Africa; (ii) the relation between new conservative amino acid point mutation and increased virulence in humans and other animals. Further research is needed in this direction, both in Italy and Africa.

Finally, we emphasized the importance of including wildlife rescue centers in the National surveillance plan, to better monitor both the introduction and circulation of avian emerging zoonotic

diseases also during wintertime, and the importance of coordinated surveillance activities implementation between Africa and Europe.

10.4 References

- Fall G, Di Paola N, Faye M, Dia M, Freire CC de M, Loucoubar C, et al. Biological and phylogenetic characteristics of West African lineages of West Nile virus. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017 Nov;11(11):e0006078.
- Fall G, Diallo M, Loucoubar C, Faye O, Sall AA. Vector competence of Culex neavei and Culex quinquefasciatus (Diptera: Culicidae) from Senegal for lineages 1, 2, Koutango and a putative new lineage of West Nile virus. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2014 Apr;90(4):747–54.
- Smithburn KC, Hughes TP, Burke AW, Paul JH. A Neurotropic Virus Isolated from the Blood of a Native of Uganda1. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 1940 Jul 1;s1-20(4):471–92.
- 4. García-Carrasco JM, Muñoz AR, Olivero J, Segura M, Real R. An African West Nile virus risk map for travellers and clinicians. Travel Med Infect Dis. 2022 Dec 19;52:102529.
- Abubakar AT, Ogundijo OA, Al-Mustapha AI. Animal Disease Surveillance System key to understanding disease dynamics. natafrica [Internet]. 2022 Oct 14 [cited 2023 Feb 2]; Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/d44148-022-00142-4
- Glaesser D, Kester J, Paulose H, Alizadeh A, Valentin B. Global travel patterns: an overview. J Travel Med. 2017 Jul 1;24(4).
- Dwyer L. Globalization of tourism: Drivers and outcomes. Tourism Recreation Research. 2015 Sep 2;40(3):326–39.

- Guilherme JL, Jones VR, Catry I, Beal M, Dias MP, Oppel S, et al. Connectivity between countries established by landbirds and raptors migrating along the African-Eurasian flyway. Conserv Biol. 2023 Feb;37(1):e14002.
- Amraoui F, Krida G, Bouattour A, Rhim A, Daaboub J, Harrat Z, et al. Culex pipiens, an experimental efficient vector of West Nile and Rift Valley fever viruses in the Maghreb region. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(5):e36757.
- Jupp PG, McIntosh BM, Dickinson DB. Quantitative Experiments on the Vector Capability of Culex (Culex) Theileri Theobald With West Nile and Sindbis Viruses. J Med Entomol. 1972 Sep 30;9(5):393–5.
- Jupp PG, McIntosh BM, Blackburn NK. Experimental assessment of the vector competence of Culex (Culex) neavei Theobald with West Nile and Sindbis viruses in South Africa. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1986;80(2):226–30.
- 12. Jupp PG. The ecology of West Nile virus in South Africa and the occurrence of outbreaks in humans. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001 Dec;951:143–52.
- Lutomiah JL, Koka H, Mutisya J, Yalwala S, Muthoni M, Makio A, et al. Ability of selected Kenyan mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) species to transmit West Nile virus under laboratory conditions. J Med Entomol. 2011 Nov;48(6):1197–201.
- Tantely ML, Goodman SM, Rakotondranaivo T, Boyer S. Review of West Nile virus circulation and outbreak risk in Madagascar: Entomological and ornithological perspectives. Parasite. 2016;23:49.

- Becker N, Jöst A, Weitzel T. The Culex pipiens complex in Europe. J Am Mosq Control Assoc.
 2012 Dec;28(4 Suppl):53–67.
- Taylor RM, Hurlbut HS. Isolation of West Nile Virus from Culex Mosquitoes. Journal of the Egyptian Medical Association. 1953;36(3):199–208.
- 17. Hurlbut HS. West Nile Virus Infection in Arthropods1. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene. 1956;5(1):76–85.
- Abbassy MM, Osman M, Marzouk AS. West Nile virus (Flaviviridae:Flavivirus) in experimentally infected Argas ticks (Acari:Argasidae). Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1993 May;48(5):726–37.
- 19. May FJ, Davis CT, Tesh RB, Barrett ADT. Phylogeography of West Nile virus: from the cradle of evolution in Africa to Eurasia, Australia, and the Americas. J Virol. 2011 Mar;85(6):2964–74.
- 20. Charrel RN, Brault AC, Gallian P, Lemasson JJ, Murgue B, Murri S, et al. Evolutionary relationship between Old World West Nile virus strains. Evidence for viral gene flow between Africa, the Middle East, and Europe. Virology. 2003 Oct 25;315(2):381–8.
- Bakonyi T, Ivanics É, Erdélyi K, Ursu K, Ferenczi E, Weissenböck H, et al. Lineage 1 and 2 Strains of Encephalitic West Nile Virus, Central Europe. Emerg Infect Dis. 2006 Apr;12(4):618– 23.
- 22. Fares W, Gdoura M, Dhrif H, Touzi H, Hogga N, Hannachi N, et al. Genetic characterization of West Nile Virus strains during neuroinvasives infection outbreak in Tunisia, 2018. Transbound Emerg Dis. 2020 Oct 30;

- 23. Failloux AB, Bouattour A, Faraj C, Gunay F, Haddad N, Harrat Z, et al. Surveillance of Arthropod-Borne Viruses and Their Vectors in the Mediterranean and Black Sea Regions Within the MediLabSecure Network. Curr Trop Med Rep. 2017;4(1):27–39.
- 24. Venter M, Human S, Zaayman D, Gerdes GH, Williams J, Steyl J, et al. Lineage 2 West Nile Virus as Cause of Fatal Neurologic Disease in Horses, South Africa. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009 Jun;15(6):877–84.
- 25. Ciccozzi M, Peletto S, Cella E, Giovanetti M, Lai A, Gabanelli E, et al. Epidemiological history and phylogeography of West Nile virus lineage 2. Infect Genet Evol. 2013 Jul;17:46–50.
- 26. Burt FJ, Grobbelaar AA, Leman PA, Anthony FS, Gibson GVF, Swanepoel R. Phylogenetic relationships of southern African West Nile virus isolates. Emerging Infect Dis. 2002 Aug;8(8):820–6.
- 27. Berthet FX, Zeller HG, Drouet MT, Rauzier J, Digoutte JP, Deubel V. Extensive nucleotide changes and deletions within the envelope glycoprotein gene of Euro-African West Nile viruses. J Gen Virol. 1997 Sep;78 (Pt 9):2293–7.
- 28. Faulde MK, Spiesberger M, Abbas B. Sentinel site-enhanced near-real time surveillance documenting West Nile virus circulation in two Culex mosquito species indicating different transmission characteristics, Djibouti City, Djibouti. J Egypt Soc Parasitol. 2012 Aug;42(2):461– 74.
- 29. Guggemos HD, Fendt M, Hieke C, Heyde V, Mfune JKE, Borgemeister C, et al. Simultaneous circulation of two West Nile virus lineage 2 clades and Bagaza virus in the Zambezi region, Namibia. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2021 Apr 2;15(4):e0009311.

- 30. Fall G, Diallo D, Soumaila H, Ndiaye EH, Lagare A, Sadio BD, et al. First Detection of the West Nile Virus Koutango Lineage in Sandflies in Niger. Pathogens. 2021 Feb 24;10(3):257.
- 31. Autorino GL, Battisti A, Deubel V, Ferrari G, Forletta R, Giovannini A, et al. West Nile virus epidemic in horses, Tuscany region, Italy. Emerg Infect Dis. 2002 Dec;8(12):1372–8.
- 32. Murgue B, Murri S, Zientara S, Durand B, Durand JP, Zeller H. West Nile outbreak in horses in southern France, 2000: the return after 35 years. Emerg Infect Dis. 2001;7(4):692–6.
- Schuffenecker I, Peyrefitte CN, el Harrak M, Murri S, Leblond A, Zeller HG. West Nile Virus in Morocco, 2003. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005 Feb;11(2):306–9.
- 34. Beck C, Leparc Goffart I, Franke F, Gonzalez G, Dumarest M, Lowenski S, et al. Contrasted Epidemiological Patterns of West Nile Virus Lineages 1 and 2 Infections in France from 2015 to 2019. Pathogens. 2020 Oct 30;9(11).
- 35. Hernández-Triana LM, Jeffries CL, Mansfield KL, Carnell G, Fooks AR, Johnson N. Emergence of West Nile Virus Lineage 2 in Europe: A Review on the Introduction and Spread of a Mosquito-Borne Disease. Front Public Health [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2021 Feb 16];2. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2014.00271/full